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About us

We are

a leading
global
retailer

WH Smith PLC is a leading
global Travel retailer for
news, books, convenience

and tech accessories with a
smaller business on the UK
High Street. At the heart of
both our businesses are our
people and our customers.
We aim to deliver our goals |
through our strategic priorities
and initiatives by: constantly
Innaovating, expanding globally,
improving our profitability and
delivering sustainable returns.

Find out more about WHSmith at
whsmithplc.co.uk

WHSmith Travel is a world-leading travel retailer with a presence in over

30 countries

across the globe, mainly in arrports

Travel is in a wide range of
locations including

airports,
hospitals,
railway stations
and motorway
service areas

@whsmithofficial

W @whsmih

u youtube.com/WHSmithDirect

m linkedin.com/company/whsmith

Diselalmer .

This Annuak report has been prepared for, and only lor, the
members ol the Company, a5 3 bady, zru no other persans,
The Company, its directors, employees, agenls or advisers do
not accepl or assume responsibility (o any alher person to
whom this document is shewn or inla whose hands il may
£ome ang any such responsibility or liabilily is expressly
disclaimeg, By their nature, the stalements cancerning lhe
risks andg uncertainlies lacing the Graup in this Annual repart
involve uncertainly since future evenls and circumstances can
cause results and developments to dilfer materiatly from lhose
anticipated, The forward -\coking stalements reflect knowtedge
and informgtion availabile a¢ the date of preparation of this.
Annual report and the Company undartakes no obligation to
update these lorward-looking statements. Nothing in this
Annual repont shoutd be construed as a profil forecast.

WHSmith High Street is present
on most of the sigaificant high
streets and shopping centres

in the UK, mainly in

prime locations

As WHSmith continues on its
journey to be a better business,
we have a strong commitment
to the principles of .

sustainability
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Strategit report

Group at a glance

WH Smith PLC is a leading travel retailer with a smaller high street business

Travel Our goal
to be the leading retailer in
travel essentials for the world's

WHSrmith Travel s a global travel retailer with a strong presence in UK travel .
travelling customer.

locations and an increasing portfolio of stores around the world. including our
fast-growing North American businesses, Marshall Retail Group [MRG] for . )
speciality retail, and InMotion, the market-leading global technology retailer Hightights
in travel locations. L
Operating in

WHSmith Travel sells a range of products serving customers in travel locations 1 .t
orin need of a convenience offer. 166
166 units

As at 31 August 2021, the business operated from 1,166 units (2020: 1,174 (2020: 1,174
unitsl, in airports, hospitals, railway stations and motorway service areas. »
595 of these units [2020: 584 units] are outside the UK across 30 countries 30 Ccou ntrles

and mainly in airports.
Revenue

During the year, the business has continued to be impacted by the Cowd-19
pandernic with a significant number of stores temperarily closed across the £401 m
globe. Further to the easing of government restrictions around the world,
we have been encouraged by the improving trends in each of our channels,
and we are well positioned to benefit irom the opportunities that exist as our
markets recover

[2020: £553m]
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High Street

High Street sells a wide range of Stationery, Books, Newspapers, Magazines
and Impulse products.

As at 31 August 2021, the business operated from 544 WHSmith High Street
stores! [2020: 568 stores'), located on most of the UK's significant high streets
and shopping centres. We operate over 200 Post Cffices from within our High
Street stores, further cementing our position on the high street and at the heart
of the communities we serve,

Our online digital business operates through five websites:
funkypigeon.com, whsmith.co.uk, cultpens.com, treeofhearts.co.uk and
dottyaboutpaper.co.uk.

During the year, High Street was impacted by reduced footfall as a result

of the Covid-19 pandemic. In line with governrent guidance, we kept the vast
majority of our High Street stores open throughout the lockdown periods

in order to provide access ta essential products and services, including

Pest Offices.

Our goal

to be Britain's most popular
high street stationer, bookseller.
and newsagent.

Highlights

WHSmith Stores'

544

|2020: 568)

Revenue

£485m

{2020 £448ml

1 Exctudes gne Cardmarket slere 42020: 3 Cardmarkel slores).
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Strategic report

Our business model and strategy to create value

WHSmith is a global travel retailer with a smaller business based on UK
high streets. Our business model and strategy seeks to create value for all
stakeholders through improving our profitability and cash flow to deliver
sustainable returns.

Our business model

High Street

Focused use of cash

Travel

Our goal

N\

To be the leading retailer of trave! essentiats for the

-travelling customer

%

'Qur goal

To be Britain's most
,popular staticner, - -
*bookseiler and newsagent

,Our goal
Disciplined approach i

+te cash generation

and capital allocation _i

Driving like-for-like sales in
existing stores through
increasing average transaction
value and expanding the range
and number of categories

we sel|

Investment in store
environments and layouts

A forensic store by store
focus on space and
categary management

Winning new space and
retaining existing space

Developing new formats

Expanding profitability outside
of the UK

~ North America

- Building critical mass in our
emerging hubs

- Utilising the same space
management and
operational disciplines
as we have in the UK

Growing InMation, now the
teading global retailer of
technology stores in

travel locations

Investing in digital solutions
to enhance the customer
experience

Adopting a forensic store
by store focus on space
rmanagement to optimise
the returns from our care
categaries, particularly
Stationery

Driving margin growth through

category mix management

Reducing our cost base
to reflect our changing
sales profile and
productivity mitiatives

Building online propesitions
compiementary to our stores
and categories: funkypigeon.
corn, cultpens.com and
whsrmith.co.uk

Investing in the business
where returns are greater
than our cost of capital

Value accretive acguisitions
in attractive markets with good
growth prospects

Return surplus cash to
shareholders through a
progressive dwidend policy
and share buybacks

N

Operating responsibly

You can read more about our appraach to
Environmental, Social and Corporate
Governance [ESG) on pages 29 to 36.

N

Right people and skills
You can read more about our values,
employees and-dversily on pages 32 to 34.

Our customers

You can read more about our markets
on pages 5and 6.
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Our markets

edar nbajeulg

Travel

Travel sells a range of products serving customers
in travel locations and in need of a convenience offer.
Travel's typical customer has less time to browse
and is mare interested in purchasing convenience
and impulse products such as food, drink and
confectionery, travel and tech accessories and
souvenirs, as well as reading materials for a journey.

Travel units are typically located in high footfall locations with
higher gperating and occupation costs with rents paid as a
percentage of sales [often subject to mimmum guarantees]‘
Travel is tess affected by the Chnistmas trading period than
high street retailers. Increased passenger traffic during the
summer holiday seasan, particularly in airports, contributes
to a summer peak in sales. Mast passengers are traveliing for
leisure purposes.

Our main markets are 1n the UK lair, hospitals and raill and in
North America (air and resorts in Las Vegas). All our markets
have been impacted by government actions following the
outbreak of Covid-19. The rate at which passengers return to
travel [ocations will have the biggest impact on our markets.

As restrictions have eased, we have seen a return to travelling led
first by domestic travel and then short-haul. Long-haul travel will
be the last to recover. Most industry forecasts, for example,
Airports Councit International |ACI) expect passenger numbers
to return to 2019 levels by 2024.

!n the UK, air passenger nurnbers have been significantly
impacted. However, as restrictions have eased, we have seen a
recovery in passenger numbers, Accarding to ACI, UK passenger

numbers were down 49 per cent in October 2021 compared to
2019. This compares to down 80 per cent in' October 2020
compared to October 2019. Rail passenger numbers have also
been significantly impacted by government restrictions and have
recovered as restrictions have eased. Concourse data from
Network Rail suggests that rail passengers were down 34 per
cent in October 2021 compared to October 2019. This has
improved from down 45 to 70 per cent in October 2020.
Hospitals are impacted by changes in the number of visitors
and elective surgeries. The UK Government continues to invest
in the National Health Service and in building new and
extended hospitals.

In North America, due to the domestic nature of the market,
airport passenger numbers have recovered quickly. Based on
TSA data, passenger numbers had recovered to 84 per cent of
2019 by the end of Dctober 2021. In Las Vegas, visitor numbers
have also recovered with occupancy levels at 85 per cent of 2019
levels in September 2021.

The speed of the recovery in each market in which we cperate
will depend on the successful rotl-out of vaccines around the
world, the emergence of new variants and their response to
vaccines, and the way governments chgose to relax or impase
restrictions in the face of these changes. Over the longer term,
Travel will be impacted by macroeconomic trends and other
factors which influence the number and nationality of travelling
customers. These include levels of employment and investment,
the cost of travelling. specific calegory trends such as the growth
of consumable products and tech accessories, and policy
intervention to tackle climate change.
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Strategic report

Our markets continued

High Street

High Street sells a wide range of products in the
following categories: Stationery (including greetings
cards, general stationery, art and craft, and giftingl,
News and Impulse lincluding newspapers,
magazines, confectionery and drinks] and Boaks.
High Street’s trading is seasonal, peaking at
Christmas and in August/September for ‘Back

to School'.

We also have a number of online businesses:

* {unkypigeon.com - our personalised cards and gifts site.

* whsmith.co.uk ~ which sells a range of Stationery. Books,
Magazines and Gifts.

* cultpens.com - our specialist pen site,

* treeothearts.co.uk and dottyaboutpaper.co.uk — our specialist
wedding stationery sites.

These websites complement our core in-store and stationery
offers and have accelerated during the Covid-19 pandemic.

v Company estimates/OC8E 2019

High Street's performance is dependent upon overall growth

in consumer spending and the levels of footfalt on the UK high
street. Since Covid-19. we have seen further declines in the level
of footfall on UK high streets. There is a wide discrepancy in store
performance depending on the location. with smaller market
towns and more affluent catchments performing better than city
centre locations, reflecting the level of government restrictions
imposed due to Covid-19. Going forward, further lockdowns or
restrictions in the UK would impact the performance of our

High Street stores.

Funkypigeon.cam is our online personalised greeting card and
gifting website. The market for greetings cards in the UK is
substantial and estimated at £1.6bn' with online penetration
estirnated at ¢.15 per cent’ with OC&C forecasting online growth
of single cards over the next three years, taking penetration to
¢.20 per cent’ of the card market by 2024. The UK greetings card
market has been stable with a culture of sending greetings cards
in the UK, with aduits sending on average 20 greetings cards per
person each year.
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Chairman’s statement

We are now in a strong position to capitalise on the
growth opportunities that exist in our markets.”

Henry Staunton
Chairman

Despite the ongoing uncertainty throughout the
financial year, the Group has delivered a robust
performance. We have taken decisive actions to
secure the financial positian of the Group and we are
now in a strong position to capitalise on the growth
opportunities that exist in our markets. Within Travel,
despite the significant impact on passenger numbers
In the year, we have won strategically important
business in the UK, with 30 technology stores won?
across UK airports.

This is a significant step farward for the Group as we introduce

our market-leading technology business in travel locations in the
US, InMation, to the UK, making it the largest, glabat technology
retailer in travel locations. '

In addition, the growth opportunities in the North American travel
market are substantial During the year, we have won some
significant new business at major US airports and we are in a
strong position as the market recavers.

White the easing of government-imposed restrictions had a
positive impact on the Group's performance in the secand hatf of
the financial year, the Group has continued to be significantly
impacted by the Covid- 19 pandemic. Acress our global travel
business. passenger numbers have been significantly impacted.
in our High Street business, we have seen a structural shiftin
consumer behaviour accelerated by the pandemic, resulting in
reduced high street footfall. Oespite these challenges, our teams
have acted fast and responded ta the evolving trading
environment by focusing on initiatives within our control that
support us in the short term and put us in a better position to
emerge operationally stronger as our markets recover,

Once again, | feel immense pride for how our colleagues have
responded to the pandemic and the resulting challenges.
Buring the year, we committed to playing our part in the
communities we serve to provide access to vital postal and
banking services from our High Street stores with Post Offices.
Similarly, we kept the majority of our stores apen in hospitals
In orger to support frantline NHS workers. This would not
have been possible without the extraordinary commitment

of our store colleagues and | remain grateful for their
cutstanding contribution.

2 As gl 10 November 2024

Jodas nbajes

Looking ahead, value creation remains central to our plans and
we will continue to invest for the longer term where we see
aliractive opportunities for profitable growth.

Corporate governance

Corporate governance remains an important area of focus for the
Board and underpins the sustanability of our business and the
achievement of our strategy. A more detailed explanation of our
approach to corporate governance can be found in our Corporate
governance report on pages 41 to 88.

Sustainability

We are committed to adopting @ markel-leading position on
responsible business practices, and seek to make a positive
irmpact on the planet, the lives of our people and the communities
in which we operate This year, we met our target to reach carbon
neutrality for our UK operations by 2021. We continued our work
to reduce plastic packaging and ensure no deforestation from the
manufacture of our stationery products. In addition, we extended
our programme te provide books and reading support to
disadvantaged children, continuing our work with the National
Literacy Trust and others.

Further information on all aspects of our sustainability
programmes can be {ound on pages 2910 36

People

It has been anather challenging year for our colleagues across
the Group and | am sincerely gratefut for thewr ongoing
contribution. We have a very strong team at WHSmith and this
year has proven that despite the many chatlenges we have faced,
we have outstanding talent to lead our business.

Outlook

While we remain cautious in cur approach, we are a resilient
and versatile business, We are financially strong and are well
placed 1o benefit in due course from further opportunities as our
markets recover. We remain very disciplined with aur capital
allocation and going forward remain committed to delivering
value for our shareholders.

Henry Staunton
Chatrman N

i1 November 2021
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Strategic report

Chief Executive’'s review

hé

We are a financially strong Group in a robust
position to emerge operationally stronger.”

Cari Cowling
Group Chief Executive

Covid-19 continues to have a significant impact on
the performance of the Group. Over the last year,
we have worked hard throughout the world to
navigate our way through the changing government
restrictions in each country. The imposition and
subsequent easing of fockdowns &nd restrictions
has meant we have developed a flexible and dynamic
approach to operating our stores, opening up when
we had sufficient customer traffic to generate
tncremental cash or, in line with government
guidelines, remaining open to provige essential
products and services to our customers,

As at 31 Gctober 2021, we had 1.540 stores open around the
world cut of a total portfolio of 1,711 stores.

Our overriding priority during the year has been the health and
wellbeing of all our colleagues and customers. Al stares,
distribution centres and head offices had appropriate safety
measures in place in line with the relevant government guidance
at any one time, including social distancing measures, PPE for
colleagues’ use, protective screens and guidelines to limit the
number of customers in store. In addition, all head office staff,
having initially worked at home, are now operating a hybrid
model, combining home and office working.

Group overview

Throughout the year, the trading environment remained impacted
by Covid- 19 with extensive restrictions in place. We focused on
initiatives within our control that have supporied us in the
immediate term and put us in a good position to emerge
operationally stronger as our markets continue to recover.
These key areas of focus are:
= Securing our financial position through the new banking
arrangements and convertible bond issuance announced
in April 2021. This gwves us a strong balance sheet, extends
maturity dates to 2025 and increases our revalving credit
facitity to £250m,

» Driving average transaction value and sales per passenger,

1 Liguidity is delined as ¢ash on deposit plus undrawn facifities

2 Equivalent manth in 2019

 Extending our categories and ranges to reflect the specific
needs of our customers in each location where we operate.
For examgle, health and beauty products across our Travel
stores and working from home and electrnical accessories
ranges across our High Street slores.

Working with landlords and building on our strang
relationships to create oppartunities for winning new business,
extending key contracts and improving the quality and location
of the space where we operate. The expansion of InMotion into
the UK through Lhe winning of every technolegy store in UK
airparts is a good example of this in practice, reflecting the
combination of our core travel retail expertise, strang brand
and landlord relationships, and builds on the learnings from
operating InMotion in the US,

« Investing capex in strategically impartant projects which set
us up well for the future, such as our refitted stores at London
Heathraw Terminal 5 and our stares at the new terminal at
Manchester Airport,

Building our internet proposition by extending ranges, investing
in the websites, marketing, fulfitment and distribution and
building custorner engagement through social media.
Forensic focus on costs and cash, minimising discretionary
spend and managing our cash burn resulting in cash on
deposit of £107m and access to £357m of liquidity' as at the
end of October 2021

Total Group revenue as a percentage of 2019 total revenue

has been:

Percentage of 2019 Revenue?

FY 2021 FY 2022
Fweeks t
o a2 0 8 34 octaver 2021
High Street B8% 83% 86% 87% 88%
Travel 39% 35% £5% 3% 79%
Group 59% 58% 61% 1% 82%

Covid-19 continued to have a significant impact on the Group.
Total Group revenue at £886m [2020: £1,021m] was down

13 per cent compared to last year [which included six months
pre-pandemic) and was 62 per cent of 20197 Travel remained
impacted by the government enforced travel restrictions
throughout the year. However, we saw an improved performance

Tha Group adupted IFRS 14 Leases wilh efiect fram | Sepiember Z019. The Group continues 1o monitor performanta and allotate resaurces based on pre-IFRS 16 lapplying the principies of IAS 17)informalion, ond
iherefare the resulls lar Ihe years ended 31 August 2021 and 1 Augusl 2020 have been presented on both an IFRS 16 and 2 pre-IFRS 14 basis. Measuras described 8s Headtine” ara presented pre-JFRS 16, For the

purpases of narrative commentary on the Group’s performantce and linancial pasilion, bath pre-JFRS 16 and IFRS 16 measures are provided, Re¢onciliations from pre-FRS 14 measures o IFAS 16 measures are
provided in e Glossary on page 154. Group revenue was not atfected by Ihe adaptien of IFRS 16, and tharelors ali references to and discussion of rovenye, and like-tar-lika revenue are basad an slatutory measures.

4w e w——— .. — -

v
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across all channels in the second half as restrictions were eased
M most countries where we operate and which has continued
into Q1 of the current financizal year We saw a consisiently
robust performance in High Street throughout the year, despite
footfall dectines, with the important Cecember trading period at
92 per cent of 2019. Our internet businesses have continued to
perform strongly.

The Headline Group loss from trading operations? for the year
was £20m (2020: loss of £43m] with Headline Group loss before
tax and non-underlying items? at £55m [2020: loss of £6%m].
This includes 2 second hall performance over £110m Letler than
the prior year. Including non-underlying items, the Headline
Group loss before tax® was £104m [2020: loss of £226m).

The Group loss before tax, after non-underlying items and
including IFRS 16, was €116m 12020: loss of £280m).

On 28 April 2021, the Group announced new financing
arrangements which inctuded a £250m Revalving Credit Facility
(RCF] [increased Irom £200m) with maturity extended to 2025.
At the same time, the Group launched an offering of convertible
bonds which mature in 2026, The bonds raised £327m, of which
£50rn was retained by the Group to fund new and existing growth
oppartunities, including the InMotion stores won in the UK and
the further 100 stores won and yet to open in Travel.

The remaining £267m was used to pay down a significant
proportion of the Group's term debt with its commercial banks,
which now stands at £133m with a maturity in 2025.

The Group had the following cash, committed facilities and drawn
debt as at 31 August 2021:

31 August 2021 Maturity
Cash and cash equivalents £130m
Revolving Credit Facility* £250m April 2025
Term Loan £133m April 2025
Convertible Bond €327m April 2026

As at 31 August 2021, Headline net debt® was £291m
[2020: £301rm). We continued to focus on cash. Group free
cash flow? was an inflow of £14m [2020: outflow of £41m).

As at 30 October 2021, access to liquidity was £357m being
cash on deposit of £107m and the undrawn RCF.

The Board has announced that it will not be paying a dividend
In respect of the financial year ending 31 August 2021

The Group's approach to capital allocation remains unchanged:

* investing in our existing business and in new opportunities
where we see atiractive rates of return ahead of the cost
of capital;

* re-establishing a dividend for our shareholders;

* undertaking attractive value-creating acquisitions in strong
and growing markets; and

= returning surptus capital {o shareholders by way of
share buybacks.

In normalised conditions, we have a leverage target of between
0.79x ang 1.25x EBITDA.

3 Alternauve Performance Measure defined and exglained in the Glossary on page 154
& Undrawn as at 10 November 2021

Travel performance

Covid-19 continued to significantly impact the business across
our UK, North America and Rest of the World markets. This has
resulted in a total Headline trading loss? of £3%m (2020: loss of
£33ml in the year, which is comgprised of a loss of E32m in the
UK [2020- loss of £, a profit of £6m [2020: loss of £18m] in
North America and a loss of £13m [2020: less of £14m] in the
Rest of the World. Total revenue was £401m [2020: £553m),
down 27 per cent campared to last year.

edas iBajeng

In Travel, we have focused on initiatives within our control, that
have supported us in the immediate term, and positioned us well
to emerge operationally stronger as our markets recover.

As restrictions have eased, we have seen a return to travetling,
led first by domestic travel and then short-haul. Long-haul travel
will be the 1ast to recover. Most industry forecasts including
Airports Council International |ACI} expect passenger numbers to
return to 2019 levels by 2024.

We continue to invest in the business where we see attractive
opportunities for profitable growth.

High Street performance

We have managed this business very tightly throughout the year
given the uncertain trading environment, with an ongoing focus
on cost control and cash generation. High Street delivered a
resilient performance with a full year Headline trading profit®

of £19m [2020: toss of £10m). Total revenue was up four per cent.
Cost savings of £30m were delivered in the year. An additicnal
E459m of cast savings have been identified over the next three
years, of which £35m are planned for 2021/22.

Environmentat, Sociat and Corporate Governance {'ESG')
During the ficst half of the financial year, we launched our new
sustamnability strategy, Our journey to a better business’, and we
have cantinued to focus on our ESG performance.

During the year, we have met our target to reach carbon
neutrality for our UK operations, reducing our energy
consumption by over 60 per cent since 2007, switching to

100 per cent renewable electricity and investing in tree planting
projects to neutralise residual emissions

Dver the next few years. we intend to extend this approach to our
international operations and encourage our supply chain to jein
us on the pathway to net zero. We will be seeking independent
assessment and approval of our carbon targets from the Science
Based Target Initiative in the next year,

We continue to focus on more environmentally responsible
sourcing practices and we have remaved plastic glitter from all
our own-brand ranges. This is in addition to our work to redesign
and remove ptastic packaging from our seasonal ranges
wherever possible.

One of the greatest impacts of the pandemic has been the
Increasing gap in children's titeracy levels. We are therefore
proud to continue our partnership with the National Literacy
Trusl al such an important time,

We are committed {c continuing to play our part te address some
of the key challenges facing society and the environment over the
years ahead.
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Strategic report

Review of operations .

Total Travel

Highlights

Revenue

£40Tm

12020: £553m

Headline trading loss'

£(39)Im

(2620: £{33)m

Total reveniue

(27)%

[2020: {321%

Retail selling space [sq ft ‘000s] and Number of stores?

In Travel, we have focused on
initiatives within our control that have
supported us in the immediate term,
and put us in a good position to
emerge operationally stronger as
our markets recover.”

Allernative Performance Measure delined and explained in Lhe Giessary an page 154

7 Travel stores include motorway and internalional joint ventures and lranchise wnits and
excluda kiosks in China and India, ang Wild Cards and Gills in Ausiralia

3 Equivalent month in 2019

Performance review 2020/21

Our Travel business comprises three divisians: UK, North
America tNA) and Rest of the World IROWL Going forward

we will split Travel inta these three segments when reporting

our results.

Covid- 19 continued to significantly impact the business across all
our markets. This has resulted in a total Headline trading loss® in
the year of £39m (2020: loss of £33m). Total revenue was £401m
{2020: £553m), down 27 per cent compared to the previous year.

Heagline trading fless)/

Trading Hoss)/profit’ prafitt

£m IFRS 16 pre-iFRS 16 Revenue

021 2020 021 2020 200 2020
Travel UK 129 tl [32] (m 195 344
North Armerica 2 {14] b (18l 166 116
Rest of the 117 (12] 13) (14) 40 93
World
Total Travel 6z) (27} (390 (33} 401 553

In all our markets, we have focused on initiatives within our
control which support us in the immediate term and put us
in a good position to emerge operationally stronger as our
markets recover:

i Business development and winning new business
We da this through building and managing relationships with
allour landlord partners to win new space, impreve the quality
and amount of space, develop new farmats and extend
contracts As at 31 October 2021, we had over 100 stores won
and yet to open across our global Travel business, including
22 InMotion stores in UK air,

ii. ATV growth and spend per passenger

We do this through our forensic attention {0 space, cross

category promotions, merchandising, store layouts and

store refits.

Category development

We do this by developing adjacent product categories relevant

for our customers, such as health and beauty and electrical

accessories ranges; and expanding exisling Categories,

e.g. premium food ranges.

iv. Minimising costs
We remain focused on cost contrel and minimising our cost
base ta reflect the level of sales in each channel and country
whilst retamning our ability to trade as recovery occurs.

As restrictions have eased, we have seen a gradual improvement
in passenger numbers, led first by domestic travel and then
short-haul. We expect long-haul travel to return last.

Consensus of industry forecasts including the Airports Council
International [AC) expect passenger numbers to return to 2019
levels by 2024, although the speed and shape of the recovery
remains unclear and variable. We concur with this view of

the recovery.

10 WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021



As at 31 August 2021, our global Travel bustmess, including

MRG and InMation, operated from 1,166 uniis [31 August

2020: 1174 units]. Of these, 996 were open as at 31 October 2021.
Outside of the UK, as at 31 August 2021 we are present in over
100 airports and 30 countries with 291 stores in North America,
84 stores in Europe. 98 in the Middle East and India and 122 in
Asia Pacific.

Excluding franchise wimts, Travel accupies 1.0r square feet.

Travel UK

Our Travel UK business continued to be impacted by a significant
decline in passenger numbers as a result of government-
imposed travel restrictions in place throughout the financial year.
Total revenue in the year was £195m, 12020: £344m), down 43 per
cent on the previous year. Compared to 20197, revenue in air was
17 per cent, our hospital channel was 76 per cent, and rail was
32 per cent_ This resulted in a Headline trading loss' of £32m
{2020: loss of E£1m).

While first half trading in Travel UK was impacted by lockdown
restrictions, quarantine measures, and resultant reduced
passengers an public transport, we saw encouraging signs of
recovery across atl our channels in the second half as restrictions
were progressively eased. This improved performance has
continued into the new financial year. Revenue in September 2021
was 60 per cent. In Qctober 2021, revenue was 71 per cent of
2M9 revenue, with air at 59 per cent, hospitals at 92 per cent and
rail at 74 per cent. .

In air, we saw a significant improvement in passenger numbers
in the second half as restrictions eased and more countries were
3dded to the UK Government’s green list. We saw an
irprovement in cur hospital performance, with higher levels of
visitors, as hospitals returned to more general medical care

with more elective surgeries. Similarly, we saw an improved
performance in our rail business as restrictions eased over the
summer months and commuter traffic increased. Since the
beginning of the new financial year, we have seen a notable shift
in rail passenger numbers with strong performances particularly
over the weekends and an improving weekday performance,
albeit still betow pre-pandemic levels.

We have worked hard across zll our channels to detiver against
our plan, focusing on key priorities within our control, Al three
channels saw a double digit increase in ATV during the year.

Ag at 31 August 2021, Travel UK operated from 571 stores of
which 518 were open as al 31 October 2021. Over the next three
years, we expect to open an additional ten to 15 stores each year.

Air

In Air, where leisure passengers have been the most impontant
customer segment before and during the pandemic, we have
continued ta build on our strong pesition in this channel,
including successiully winning all the technology stores across
UK airports, including London Heathrow, London Gatwick and
London Stansted airports. These business wins comprise

30 stores and witl irade under the InMetion brand. Combining the
learnings and expertise from our InMation stores in the US, these
stores will provide a first-class customer service experience and
showcase a range of premium brands, such as Appie, Bose and
Samsung, as well as an extensive range of tech accessories.

As at 31 Octeber 2021, we have eight InMation stares trading in
UK airports. These include a combined WHSmith and InMotion
store at London Stansted airport which forms part of a format
trial. combining under ene roof @ news, books and convenience
offer by WHSmith with a lechnology range from InMotion,

Similar to our flagship store at Londen Heathrow Terminal 2,

this store boasts a large digital fascia which complements further
digital signage in store, creating an attractive look and feel while
promoting key offers and products. While it is still early days,
there is scope to further develop this new combined format
across our existing large airport stores going forward. In addition,
we will launch a new reserve and collect service later this year in
our new InMotion stores to provide gur customers with another
guick and convenient way to shop.

wodau nbaeng

Technalogy and accessories is a strong growth market and

in a fully recovered travel market we would anticipate that these
stores will deliver c.£80m of incremental sales per year.
Investment in capex and working capital relaling to these stores
in the year will be ¢ £18m. We expect most of the remaining
stores to open by the end of the first hatf of the current

financial year.

Wa have also continued to invest in our stores, develop new
formats and win new business in this channel. This has included:
major refits across London Heathrow Terminal 3 10 our 'store of
the future’ format, the opening of three stores in the new
terminal at Manchester airport in October 2021, our first shared
space store with M&S Food at Liverpool Airport, the opening of

a new standalone Bookshop at London Heathrow Terminal 2,
and, under a franchise agreement, new Costa Coffee stores in
Aberdeen and Southampton airports

Our ongoing investment in format development puts us in a
stronger position 1o win more new business while benefiting
from higher levels of customer penetration, delivering a greater
return on our space. Going forward, we expect more space to
become available.

Category development remains a key part of the strategy and we
have made good progress in the year, extending our ranges into
new categories such as health and beauty, tech accessories,
premium souvenirs and premium food trials, The premium food
trials include YO! Sushi and Crussh which have delivered a 25 per
cent increase in ATV and have been rolled out to further stores.

As expected, we have seen a faster return of leisure passengers
over the period. We saw anather step change in sales over the
hatf-term holiday in Octeber, with sales at 70 per cent of the
comparable period in 2019,

During the year, we have also successfully extended 3 number
of key contracts.
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Strategic reporl

Review of operations continued

Hospitals

The Hospitals channel is an important channel for us and it is
our second largest channel by revenue in Travel UK. While sales
were clearly impacted in the first hatf of the financial year,

with ne hospital visitors and elective surgeries cancelled,

we saw an improvement in the second half as restrictions eased
and these stores performed well. This strength in performance
has extended to the new financial year with sales in October

at 92 per cent of 2019 levels.

The hospital market continues to grow with additional
government investment and we are well placed to service the
increased demand for retail services in hospitals resulting from
extended operating times to compensate for department
backlogs. In addition, there are considerable space opportunities
for us to imprave the retait offer across UK hospitals.

As at 31 August 2021 we operated from 138 stores in 100
hospitals and we betieve there is scope for around 300 hospitals
in the UK that are able to support at least one of our three store
formats [WHSmith, M&S Food and Costa Coffee).

This channel is a good example of haw we continue ta innovate
with a strong proposition tailored to each location, and a broad
suite of formats and brands; including mast recently. our first
WHSrmith store with a Post Office in Travel.

As at 31 August 2021 we operated 49 M&S standalone or
shared space stores across hospitals, including a recently
opened M&S Café at St Thomas” hospital in London.

Looking zhead. we would expect to return to opening on average
circa ten new stores each year in this channel over the
medium term.

Rail

Rail remains an attractive channel. According to the Department
for Transport, pre-pandemic, rail had approximately 1.7bn
passenger journeys with leisure passengers accounting for
around 40 per cent of these journeys.

Duning the year, we have seen a gradual improvement in sales as
restrictions have eased. Concourse data for October suggested
passenger numbers in October were 64 per cent of 2019 levels.
Revenue in rail in October was at 74 per cent of 2019 levels.

As we have done across all our channels, we continue to focus
on driving ATV and we have seen some good results with a

¢ 25 per cent increase from expanding categories |such as
premium food as we have in air] and changing store layouts.

We also cantinue to invest and develop new farmats in this
channel. We have recently opened our first shared space store -
in rail with M&S Foad at Bristol Templermeads Statian. While it
is still early days, both custemer and landlord feedback has
been positive,

I Aliernative Pertormance Measure dehined and explained in the Glossary on page 154
2 Excludes one-noff milegratian cosls. See Noie &
3 dncludes prolarma MRS far 2019

In addition, we will be launching a new ‘blended essentials’
store at Euston Station in London later this month. This store
will combine our traditional news, books and convenience offer
with electrical accessories, health and beauty products and

a pharmacy.

North America

We saw a strong performance from North America, where there
was a steady recovery in passenger numbers and alsc visitors to
Las Vegas over the spring and summer months. Total revenue for
the year in North America was E166m (2020: £116m]. wath a
Headline trading profit' of £6m [2020: lass of £18m). The Headline
trading profit’ of £6m? reflects the recovery in passenger
numbers and tight cost cantrol inctuding the benefits from
merging the MRG and InMotion head offices into Las Vegas.

The growth opportunities in North America are substantial,

The US is the largest travel retail market in the world with annual
sales, pre-pandemic, at $3 2bn. Approximately 85 per cent of
passengers are damestic, with leisure passengers the biggest
segment. TSA (Transportation Security Administration] data
continues to show the gradual recovery in passenger numbers
week on week, with passenger numbers at the end of October
2021 at 84 per cent of 2019 levels.

MRG has a strong track record of winning new business and we
have 58 new stores [including InMotion) won and due to apen in
North America over the next three years with 17 stores won this
financial year. including significant wins at major US airports.
During the year, MRG opened eight airpert stores, including
slores at La Guardia and San Francisco airports InMotien has
an excetlent store portfolio with 117 stores located across

41 airports in North America and three stores in Resorts.
Ouring the year, InMation opened seven slares, including three
InMotion stares in Resort locations.

' Differentiated from its competitors by its strategy of developing

highly customised retail experiences tailored to local customers
and landlords, which we also now use in tenders around the
world, MRG has a highly successful and proven business model.
The combhination of WHSmith, MRG and InMotion now enables
the Group to participate in the entire North American airpgrt
specially retail market. We expect a substantial amount of retail
space to be offered for tender over the next ten years.

Qutside of the airport business, the Resorts channel continues
to be resilient. MRG are a leading player in this channelin

Las Vegas and other resarts with very longstanding relationships
and a significant amiount of expertise. The Rescrts channel has
similar dynamics to our Travel business with a high number of
short-stay wisitors who tend to stay around the Las Vegas Strip
and Fremont Street areas, where most of our stores are localed.
This market has proven resilient as a lesure location over the
summer with occupancy levels according to the Las Vegas
Conventior and Visitors Authorily at 87 per cent of 2019 over
July and August. Whilst many people drive to Las Vegas, we are
also seeing an increase in passenger numbers at McCarran
International Airport. :
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Our sales performance has reflected these trends with overalt
sales in North America at 90 per cent® of 2019 levels in October.
We are currently trading from 264 stares (151 MRG and

113 InMgtian),

We continue to invest in digital technology to erthance the
customer experience in our stores, and we will be opening

our first frictionless, check-out free store in the coming weeks.
The WHSmith branded store will provide US custormners with

a quick and easy way to shop using Amazon's Just Watk Out’
technology. :

Rest of the World

Total revenue for the year in ROW was £40m (2020: £93m], down
57 per cent versus the previous year. The Headline trading loss*
for the year was £13m {2020. loss of €14m]. The ROW has seen
broadly similar trends to the LUK, with passenger numbers
significantly down year on year. The pace of recovery has varied by
gebgraphy, as expected, with Europe and the Middle East the best
performing regions in the second half. As we have done in Travel
UK, we remain focused on areas within our control, including
ncreasing ATV,

As this market recovers, we expect to see more space become
available. Our very low market share of the News Books and
Convenience market cutside of the UK and NA means there is
significant oppartunity to grow this business further. We atso see
good opportunities to win new business in the technology market
under gur InMotion brand. We are delighted Lo have been
awarded preferred bidder status for two [nMotion stores at Dublin
Airport. This win in a significant Eurcpean airport witl bring the
total number of InMotion stores in the Rest of the World to ten,

As at 31 October 2021, we had 214 stores tradeng [c.70 per cent
of the totat].

Quring the year we opened 17 new stores. In addition, we won
21 new stores, including significant tenders at Adelaide Airport,
Australia, Melbourne Airport Terminal t and Bali.

In total, as at 31 August 2021, we operated 304 stores (2020: 307).
40 per cent are directly run, 52 per cent are franchised with the
balance being joint ventures. We will continue to use these

three economic models flexibly in order to create value and

win new business.
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Strategic report

Review of operations continued

High Street '

Highlights .

Revenue

£485m

[2020: £448m)

Headline trading profit / \oss)’

£19m

{2020: loss £110)m|

Total revenue

+4%

© (2020: 191%I

Retail selling space [sq 1 '000st and Number of stores?

During the year, we have acted quickly
and taken a number of actions which

means the cashflow and profits of this
business are robust and sustainable.”

1 Alternative Perfarmance Measure defined and explained in the Glossary an page 154

2 Excluding | Cardmarkel slore thal has aot yel ctosed (2020, 3 Cardmarkel stores| and
intluding branches i Guernsey and Ihe Isle of Man

Performance review 2020/21

Our High Street business comprises our store portiotio on UK
high streets and includes our websites whsmith co uk, cultpens.
com and our personalised greeting cards and gifts business,

-funkypigeon.com. During the year, High Street delivered &

resilient performance with Headline trading profit’ of £19m
{2020: loss of £10m) on revenue of £485m, four per cent higher
than 2020. Trading profit’ [including IFRS 16) was £36m

(2020: loss of £4ml| We managed the business tighlly in an
uncertain trading environment, keeping focused on costs and
cash generation.

The market has changed significantly during the pandemic,
resulting in a shift in consumer hehaviour over the past

18 months. High street feotfall is down 25 per cent versus 2019
levels with internet retailing growing. The speed of this change
has accelerated during the pandemic. As a consequence, we
have acted quickly to this changing market in a number of ways:

* We have reviewed our categories and extended them where
appropriate to ensure we have greater relevance in this market
and where competitors have closed. New categores include
warking from home ranges and tech accessories, and we have
increased our ranges of cards where competition
has weakened.

« We have invested in our whsmith.co.uk. funkypigeon.com and
cultpens.com websites where we are seeing significant growth.

* We restructured the cost base to reduce costs and also to
increase the level of flexibility in our business madel, for
example tabour costs in stores, head offices and the
distribution centres, and in eccupancy costs reducing rent and
keeping leases short and flexible.

We closed 24 stores over the last 12 months where leases had
become uneconemic and naw have a clasure process where
the costs of closure are largely cash neutral. While closing
stores is not an easy decision to make for our colleagues or
the communities we serve, it s vital we relain a strang and
cash-generative high street portfolio going forward

The strategy we have in place in our High Street business
remains as relevant today as it has ever been, fecusing on space
and category management, increasing margins and reducing
costs. Qur slores are well located with 99 per cent in prime
pitch locations.

We consider retail space as a strateqic asset and we utilise our
space to maximise return n the current year, in ways that are
sustainable for future years. We have extensive and detailed
space and range elasticity data for every stare, built up over many
years and we ulilise our space ta maximise the return on every
metre drop of display space in every store. This approach
remains as appropriate today.

Driving efficiencies rermains a core part of our strategy and

we continue to focus on atl areas of cost in the business.

We achieved cost savings of £30m in the year. These savings
come from nght across the business, including rent savings

at lease renewal [on average over 50 per cent), which continue to
be a significant proportion, government business rates

holiday, marketing efficiencies and productivity gains from

our distribution centres.
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An agditional £45m of cost savings have been identified over the
next three years of which £35m are planned for 2022

Over the years, we have actively looked to put as much flexibility
into aur store leases as we can, and this leaves us well positioned
in the current environment. The average lease length in our High
Street business, including where we are currently holding over at
lease end, is under two and a half years. We only renew a lease
where we are confident of delivering economic value over the life
of that lease. We have c.430 leases due for renewal over the next
three years. including 150 where we are holding over and in
negotiation with our landlord.

As at 31 August 2021, the High Street business operated from
544 WHSmith stores? {2020: 568 which occupy 2.6m square feet
{2020 2.7m square feet]. 24 WHSmith stores were closed in the
year [2020: eight).

Specialist websites

During the year, we have increased our investment and focus on
whsmith.co.uk and have seen rapid growth through investing in
the site. This has included improving customer conversion and
praduct presentation; broadening our approach to marketing;
and investing in fulfilment using our Swindon Distribution Centre.
This enables us to have a credible multi-channel offer which is
complementary for our customers.

Our specialist pen website, cultpens.com, has continued to
perform well During the year, we have invested further in the
site, adding international functionality to build on our existing
international sales, and we have extended our fulfilment centre
to meet demand. In addition. we have continued to focus on our
tuxury pen ranges with increased marketing investrnent in
ranges such as Montblanc.

Funkypigeon.com delivered a record performance in the year,
Total revenue was £54m with EBITDA of £14m for the year.

The market for greetings cards in the UK is substantial and
estimated at £1.6bn* wilh online penetration estimated at

.15 per cent® with OC&C forecasting online growth of single
cards over the next three years, taking penetration to

¢ 20per cent? of the card market by 2024, The UK greetings card
market has been stable with adults sending on average

20° greetings cards per person each year. We therefore see
significant growth opportunities with funkypigeon.com.

We continue to invest in the site. During the year, we have
developed the funkypigeon.com app to improve customer
conversion, and invested in platform enhancements, including
Improving our customer relationship management capabitity.
We have further extended the fulfilment capability to meet
demand, supporting the signiticant increase in new customers
over the past 18 menths, with a new production facility in
Swindon and leveraging the Group’s existing assets. In additian,
we have strengthened the management team with a new
Managing Director.

3 Company estimalesfOCRC 2019

4 Includes acquisitions and new wins

We have also recently iaunched a new next-day delivery service,
operational seven days a week, to further enhance our customer
proposition. Orders placed before 9:30pm witl be fulfilled the
following day. This has received very positive customer feedback.

10das nbayesg

Whilst the current year will see a lower sales and EBITDA

as we anniversary the lockdown periods, we believe there are
substantial opportunities to grow the platform further and
significantly grow sales and profits,

Outlook

The Group has responded quickly to the changing trading
envircnment despite the challenges and uncertainties faced
during the year. We have managed our cash position well,
refinanced our debt. and have sufficient liquidity to capitalise on
the significant growth opportunities that have hecome available
as a result of the pandemic.

We continue to make good pregress in winning new space in
Travel both in the UK, North America and the Rest of the World,
In UK air, we have now won 30 technology steres. These stores
will trade under the brand InMation, further strengthening our
presence in this category in Travel As well as the 117 stores in
North America, these 30 (nMotion stares in the UK, including at
London Heathrow, London Gatwick and London Stansted
airports, will make InMotion the leading technology retailer in
travel locations. In addition, we are delighted to have been
awarded preferred bidder status for a further two InMotion stores
at Dublin Airport. :

We have also made good progress investing in our existing
stores, opening new formats and winning new business.

We anticipate further growth opportunities across all our
markets. All this puts us in a robust pesition to contmue to
recover and emerge operationally stronger from the pandemic,

We are financially strong and are an (mpartant retail partner far
our travel landlords. As a result, we are well positioned to benefit
from further opportunities, including extending our user clauses
to drive spend per passenger.

Our High Street business has delivered a robust performance
and is well placed to continue ta generate cash from its pertfolio
of well-located stores and grawing internet businesses.

Across our digital channels over the medium-term, we expect to
see strong grawth, particularly fromn funkypigeon.com, and we
are well positioned to grow this platform further.

Subject ta uncertainties in our markets, which continue to be
impacted by government actions, we are optimistic that we will
be able to achieve 2019 sales levels in the current financial year®.

»

Carl Cowling
Group Chief Executivé

11 November 2021
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Strategic report

Financial review

While we will continue to ptan cautiously,
we expect to continue to see improving trends

across all our key channels.”

Robert Moorhead
Chiet Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer

Group

The Group generated a Headline loss before tax and non-
underlying items’ of £55m [2020° £69m} and, after non-underlying
items and IFRS 16, a Group loss befare tax of £116m

(2020: £280m]. Buring the year, the Group received a total of
£11m from the UK Government's Job Hetention Scheme and
similar schemes in other countries. The Group also benefited
from the business rates holiday implemented by the UK
Government which was worth £40m in the year

Healdine*

IFRS pre-IFRS 14
£m 21 2020 TR
Travel trading loss' {29] n [y 1
North America trading ) . .
profit/(loss) 2 (14] I3 (18l
Rest of the World trading loss' [17) 02l (3l (14}
Total Travel trading loss' a4 271 (39 133
High Sireet trading profit/{loss)’ 35 [4) 19 (10
Group loss from trading
operations’ 8} (31 (200 {43)
Unallocated costs' ne - N7l 9l 17
Group operating loss (270 48] [39)  (sD}
Net finance costs (24 (20) 4) L]
Group loss before tax 51) s8) {55 (69
Non-underlying items (65] 1212)  149] [157)
Group loss before tax (1t6) 1280) [(104) (228)

Non-underlying items’

ltemns which are not considered part of the normal operating
costs of the business, are non-recurring and are exceptional
because of their size, nature and incidence, are treated as
non-underlying items and disclosed separately. As in 2020, mast
non-underlying items are directly attributable to Covid-19, and
are detailed in the following table. Mast do not impact eash.

1 Alternalive Performance Measure defined and exptained in the Glossary on page 156

The cash spend refating to non-underlying iterns in the 2021
financial year was £38m and mainly related to activity annaunced

in 2020.

_ See reconciliation of Headline net debt’ on page 18 for the

cash spend in the year ended 31 August 2021 in relation to
non-underlying items.

Headline ' Headtne'
IFRS pre-IFRS 14 FRS  pre-iFRS 16
2021 2021 2020 220
£m Ref. income statement Income stalement
Costs directly attributable to Covid-19
Impairment (e 42 18 135 55
Onerous leases 12, - 5 . n/a 13
Stock provisions, write-offs '
and other costs (3, 3 6 15 15
Restructuring 4 9 9 25 5
Other property costs [2) - - nfa 12
Costs associated with ‘
refinancing activity (5) & 6 - -
Other non-underlying costs
Transaction costs . - - 1" 1
Integration costs 16) 2 2 9 9
Armortisation m, 3 3 3 3
Pensions past ! .
service cost 8) - - 14 14
&5 L9 212 157

lterns 1-5 in the above table have arisen as a direct consequence
of Covid-19, and reflect the impact of lost revenues as a result of
store closures, and downward revisions to budgeted revenues
based on expectations of the rate of return 1o pre-pandemic
levels of footfall and passenger numbers.

(1) Impair ment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

The impact on the Group’s operations of Covid-19 is expected to

continue during the next year and beyond. As a result, the Group

has carried out a review for potential impairment across the

entire stare portfolie. The impairment review compared the

value-in-use of Individual store cash-generating units, based

on managements’ assumptions regarding likely future trading

performance taking into account the effect of Covid-19 to the

carrying values at 31 August 2021, Following this review, a charge
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of £18m (2020: £55m] was recorded for impairment of retail store
assets on a pre-IFRS 16 basis, and £42m (2020: £135m] on an
IFRS 16 basis which includes an impairment of right-of-use
assets of £27m {2020: £95m).

(2) Onerous leases and other property costs

As 3 result of the impact of Covid-19. the Group has carried out
a review of leases where the obligations of those leases exceed
the potential economic benetts expected to be receved under
them. This resulted in a charge for the year of £5m {2020: £13m).
This concept relates to pre-IFRS 16 numbers only and does

not exist under IFRS 16.

Other property costs of £12m in the prior year relate to
reinstaternent tiabilities for stores where the long-term viability
has been impacted by Covid-19. Under IFRS 14 these costs are
included in right-of-use assets and are therefore included within
the impairment figure.

(3] Stock provisions, write-offs and other

Curing the year. non-underlying provisions of £5m have been
recorded against inventory, in addition to underlying pravisions
of £13m, and relates to dated and perishable stock and stock
subject to obsolescence where the sell through rate has
significantly reduced due to store closures and tower footfall.
Cther costs relate to international franchisees. and under IFRS
16 only. the derecognition of lease liabitities relating to the
disposal of WHSmith France.

{4) Restructuring costs

The charge of £9m [2020: £25m) is principally attributable to
redundancies and restructuring costs fotlowing a review of store
operations across our High Street business, as a result of the
impact of Covid-1% on footfall on the UK high street. These costs
are presented as a non-underlying item as they are part of a
Board-agreed restructuring programime, and are considered
material and one-off in nature.

(5] Costs associated with refinancing activity

Cosls associated with refinancing nclude £1m of non-cash
charges relating to unamaortised fees connected with
extinguished liabilittes, £3m of fees incurred in relation to
amengment and extension of the Group's previous financing
arrangements incurred in March 2021 prior to the issuance

of the convertible bond, and £2m of professional fees relating to
refinancing and debt structuring activity required as a result of
Covid-19. Gther fees incurred relating to refinancing activity have
been recognised in underlying finance costs or recognised as

a deduction from the value of liabilities recognised, and will be
amortised over the period of the arrangement threcugh underlying
finance costs.

(6) Integration costs

During the year. the Group incurred further costs of £2m in
relation to the integration of MRG into the Group. and the
merging of the InMotion and MRG corporate offices into Las
Vegas. which has now been completed. In the prior year,
transaction and integration costs of £20m were incurred in
relation to the acguisition of MRG.

[7) Amortisation of acquired intangible assets

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets primarily relates to the
MRG and InMotion brands, which are recognised separately from
goodwill. This amortisation is not censidered to be part of the
underlying opefating casts of the business and has no associated
cash flows.

1odas nbaieng

{8] Pension past service cost

Past service cost of £14m was recognised in the prior year.

This related to the equalisation of pension benefits between men
and women for the period frem 1 April 1992 to 29 July 1993
[‘Barber equalisation’}.

A tax credit of £12m (2020: £29m) has been recognised in relation
to the above items {£9m pre-IFRS 1612020: £18mi}.

Net finance costs

Headline'
IFRS pre-IFRS 16

&m 200 2020 021 2020
Interest payable on bank loans

and overdrafts 1 9 10 9
Interest on convertible bonds 4 - 4 -
Unwind of discount on onerous

(ease provisions - - 2 _
Interest on lease liabilites 10 11 - -
Net finance costs 2 20 16 9

Net finance costs for the year were £16m (2020: £2m) with the
year an year increase reflecting the relinancing actiwvity during
the year.

The intereslt on the convertible bands includes the accrued

. coupon and ¢.£2m on the non-cash accretion charge.

Locking forward, in the current financial year ending 31 August
2022, net finance costs witl include the coupon on the canvertible
bonds and ¢ £8m aof non-cash debt accretion charges.

The £2m non-cash unwind of discount on onerous lease
provisions relates to onerous lease provisions recognised in the
current and prior year as a result of Covid-19. This relates to
pre-IFRS 16 only and does not exist under IFRS 16.

Lease interest of £10m arises on lease liabilties recognised
under IFRS 16, bringing the total net finance costs under IFRS 16
to £24m (2020: £20m).

We expecl finance costs on a pre-IFRS 16 basis to be
approximately £25m in the current year, with cash finance
costs approximately £10m lower than this. These costs are
considerably lower than had the April refinancing not occurred.

Tax

The effective tax rate’ was 47 per cent an the loss before
non-underlying items made in the year [2020: 23 per cent).

The effective tax rate is higher than the prior year rate due to the
profite of losses incurred in the UK and overseas, and includes

a credit of £8m arising on the substantive enactment of a change
in UK fax rate from 19 to 25 per cent. This new law was
substantively enacted on 24 May 2021.

The tax rate on the IFRS 16 Group statutory loss was 31 per cent
(2020: 15 per cent)
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Strategic report

Financial review continued

During the year, the Group received a corporation tax refund
of E10m fallowing the carry back of 2020 losses against prior
year prahts.

Fixed Charges Cover’

pre-IFRS 16
£m 2 2020
Headline net finance charges’ . 16 9
Net operating lease rentals [pre-IFRS 16] 151 210
Total fixed charges ' 167 219
Headline loss before tax' (55) [69)
Headline profit before tax and . {
fixed charges' ' 112- 150
Fixed charges cover - imes 0.7x. 0.7x

Fr'xec_f charges, comprising property operating tease rentals and
net finance charges, were covered 0.7 times [2020: 0.7 times] by
Headline profit before tax and fixed charges.

Loss per share

Headline loss per share, before nan-underlying stems! was 23.7p
12020:44 2p) reftecting the reduction in the loss year on year.
Loss per share, after non-underlying items and including IFRS
16, was 62 6p [2020: 199.2pl.

Cash flow

Free cash flow' reconciliation
Em 201 0x

Headling Group operating loss belore

non-underlying iterrs’ 39 (60}
Depreciation, amortisation and . '

impairment (pre-IFRS 14] . 50 60
Nen-cash items | 8 3
Operating cash flow® : 19 3
Capital expenditure : {44} (79)
Working capital [pre-IFRS 162 3r. 40
Net tax refunded : 10, 5
Net interest paid (pre-IFRS 14] ' {8) (7)
Other ! - (3]
Free cash flow i 1% i41)

The free cash inflow for the year was £14m. The operating cash
inflow was £19m (2020: £3m] driven by a good trading
performance from High Street. We continued to focus on
managing gur working capital, making appropriate buying
decisions for stores we have open, and generated an inflow of
£37m in the year, which also includes the working capital benefit
frarn the improved trading over the summer.

1 Aliernative Performance Measure detined and explained in the Glossary on page 154
2 Excludes cash Now impacs of non-undertying ilems.

Net corporation tax refunded in the year was £10m [2020: £5m)
fallowing the carry back af 2020 losses against prior year profits,

Capital expenditure was £44m (2020: £79m}. We continue to
invest in strategically important projects, such as Lendon
Heathrow Airport Terminal 5 and the new terminal at Manchester
Airport, as well as opening stores around the world. We expect
capex spend for the current iinancial year to be around £100m.

em 200 2020
New stores and store development S ¥ 34
Refurbished stores i 17 17
Systemns N 9 14
Other 1 1 14
Tota! capital expenditure . o 79

Reconciliation of Headline net debt’

Headline net debt’ is presented on a pre-IFRS 16 basis.

See Note 19 of the Financial statements for the impact of IFRS 14
on net debt’.

As al 31 August 2021, the Group had Headline net debt' of £291m
comgprising convertible bonds of £283m. term loans of £132m
[net of fees), £6m of finance lease liabilities {pre-IFRS 16] and net
cash? of £130m [2020: net debt of E301m, comprising term loan
of £400m relating to the acquisition of InMotion and MRC. £9m
of finance lease Liabilities and net ¢cash of £108m].

Headline'
pre-iFRS 16
Em 2001 020
Opening net debt ; (301l (1801
Mavement in year N
_Free cash flow ; 14 {41
Divicends ! - 47)
Pensions (3 {3
Non-underlying iterms t (38 (20}
Net purchase of own shares for employee
share schemes ) 21 12)
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash f
acquired - MRG/inMotion { 1: (316)
Net proceeds from placings ! ) - 312
Equily component of convertible band i . -
Other ‘ (3 4)
Closing net debt ! 291) {301
Cash ! 130 108
Term loans [net of fees) ! (132) 400)
Convertible bond i (283] -
Finance leases i (s) 9]
i (291) [301)

3 Headtine Group operating #ossl/profil before depreciation, amortisation and impairment |pre-iFRS 141 and other nan-cash ilems
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In addition to the free cash flow, the Group paid defined benefit
pension funding of £3m {see Nate 5 on pensions); and £38m of
non-underiying items which mainly relate to restructuring costs
following the review of store and head office operations,

as previously reported and charged to the income statement

in the prior year

As part of the Group’s refinancing in April 2021, the Group issued
convertible bonds maturing in 2026, The convertible bonds raised
£327m which was used to partially pay down the existing £400m
of term loans from both the Marshall Retail Group [MRG) and

- InMotion acquisitions. The converhble bond is 2 compound
instrument, which includes an equity option. As a censequence,
the debt is bifurcated intc an equity component, reported in
equity. and a debt component. The debt component accretes up
to par over the lfe of the bond, so for each 12 month period we
will have ¢.£8m non-cash debt accretion in finance costs.
In addition, the Group increased the RCF from £200m to £250m
and extended its tenor to April 2025.

On an IFRS 154 basis, net debt was £755m, which includes an
additional £E464m of lease liabilities.

Balance sheet

Headline'
IFRS pre-IFRS 14

Em 2021 2020 2021 2020
Goodwill and ather ' ’
ntangible assets &7 493, 474 495
Property, plant and equiprment 174, 192 167 190
Right-of-use assels V1 BATCR - -
Investments in joint ventures 2 2 2 2

977 11007 643 687
lnventories 135 150 138 150
Payables tess receivables 2140 (183 (23 (224]
Working capital {79 (33] fwez) (74
Net current and deferred tax !
asset 56 281 4é 17
Provisions T4 (4 (28) [27)
Operating assets ernployed 940 1081, 559 401
Net debt {755) (8511 (291 (301
Net assets excluding ' !
pension liability 185 230 ; 268' 360
Pension liability : 3 14) 3 (4]
Deferred tax asset on 1 ' ; E
pension Liability ‘ 1 1 1 ]
Total net assets 183 2271 266+ 297

The Group had Headline net assets of £268m before pension
liabilities angd associated delerred tax assets, £32m lower than
last year end refiecting the lower level of capex and the impact of
impairment reviews as a result of Covid,19. Headline net assets
after the pension liability and associated deferred tax asset were
£266m compared to £297m at 31 August 2020. Under IFRS 14 the
Group had net assets of £183m.

Pensions

The latest actuarial revaluation of the main defined benefit
pension scheme, the WHSmith Pension Trust, was at 31 March
2020 at which point the deficit was £9m {31 March 2017 actuarsal
revaluation deficit of £11m). The Group has agreed a continuation
of the annuat funding schedule with the Trustees from March
2020 far the next five years. which includes the deficit recovery
contributions and other running costs, of just under £3m per
annum. During the year ended 31 August 2021, the Group made
a contribution of £3m to the scherne.

The scheme has been closed 10 new members since 1996 and
closed to defined benefit service accrual since 2007. The Liability
Driven Investment {LDI} policy adopted by the scheme continues
to perform well with 100 per cent of the inflation and interest rate
risks hedged.

As at 31 August 2021, the Group has an IFRIC 14 minimum
funding requirement in respect of the WH5Smith Pension Trust
of £2m [2020: £3m) and an associated deferred lax asset of £1m
[2020: £1m) based on the latest schedule of contributions agreed
with the Trustees. As at 31 August 2021, the scheme had an 145
19 surplus of £284m [2020: surplus of £268m) which the Group
has continued not to recognise. There is an actuarial deficit due
to the different assumptions and calculation methodologies used
cormnpared to those under 1AS 19. .

The 1AS 19 pension deficit on the relatively small UNS defined
benefit pension scheme was £1m [2020: £1m].

Robert Moorhead .
Chief Financial Offiger and Chief Operating Officer

11 November 20
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Strategic report

Our performance

Key performance indicators

Revenue (Em)

Total revenue including retail sales.
wholesale sales 1o [ranchisees, and
commission and fee income on
concession and franchise arrangements.

Total Travel

Headline (lossl/profit! (Em)]

The below profit/lloss) measures are
slated un a pe-IFRS 16 basis.

Travel Headline trading loss’

Headline Group loss

per share before
non-underlying items' [p]
Diluted and stated an a pre-IFRS 16 basis.

£40Tm

£(39)m

[2020; £553m) 12020: £[331ml
High Street Headline trading
High Street profit/[loss]|'
12020: £468m) [2020: £110)m)
Headline Group (loss)/profit before tax
Group and non-underlying items'

£886m

(2020: £1.021m)

£(55)m

[2020: €l6%Im]

(23.7)p

(2020. [44 2]p}

Free cash flow’ (Em]

Free cash flow is defined as net cash
inflow from operating activities before the
cash flow effect of non-underlying items
and penston funding, less capital
expenditure. See reconciliation of free
cash ilow on page 18.

£14m

{2020 £(41)m]

Dividend per share (p
Total dividend per share.

Nil

[2020: Nill

1 Allernauve Perfarmance Measure defined and explained in the Glossary on page 154
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Risk management framework

Our risk management iramework is designed sa that malerial
husiness risks throughout the Group can be identified, assessed
and effectively managed. This framework incorparates the
following core elements:

Identify - Risk mapping to identify emerging issues:
- Risk registers are compiled by each
business function;

Assess - Evaluating the potential impact and determining
the likelihood of rsk occurrence;

Mitigate — Agreeing actions ta manage the identified risks
and ensuring appropriate controls are in place;

Monitor - Maintaining continued oversight and tracking
the effectiveness of the cantrols.

All principal business functions compile risk registers and
summary risk maps to identify key risks, assess them in terms of
their likelihood and potential impact, and determine appropriate
control strategics to mitigate the impact of these risks, {aking
account of risk appetite. The ongoing monitoring of this
framework 1s overseen by the respective Business Risk
Cormmittees and the Group Audit Committee.

During the year, the Board reviewed the effectiveness of the
Group's risk management and internal controls systems.

This review included the discussion and review af the risk
registers and the internal controls across all business functions,
as part of an annual exercise facilitated by the Internal Audit
team. During the year, the Board aliso received presentations
from management on specific risk areas such as the impact

and actions taken in relation to Covid-19, cyber risk, international
expansion, the ongeing risk monitoring processes and
appropriate mitigating centrols.

Board review of principal risks and uncertainties

The Board has undertaken a robust assessment of the emerging
and principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, including
those that would threaten its business model, future
performance, selvency or liquidity. Those emerging and principal
risks are described on the following pages, along with
explanations of how they are managed and mitigated. The Group
recognises that the profile of risks constantly changes and
additional risks not presently known, or that may be currently
deemed immaterial, may also impact the Group’s business
objectives and performance. Qur risk management framework
15 therefore designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives, and, as such. can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against these
principal uncertainties impacting on business performance.

Changes in principal risks compared to last year

The following section summarises the principal risks and
uncertainties agreed by the Board. These incorperate further
information retating to the movement in the level of these risk
exposures during the year, to highlight whether, in our view,
exposure to each of the principal risks is increasing, decreasing
or remains broadly the same. Where the consequences of the
Covid- 19 pandemic may impact the business, we have
incorporated these considerations into our assessment in
relation to each of these principal risk headings. in addition

to the specific commentary provided overleaf.
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Strategic report

Principal risks and uncertainties continued :

Overriding risk impact from Covid-19

:Impact on Pﬁncipal risks and uncertainties

b

How the Gr&uphasresponded; .

Covid-19 is the most significant pre-eminent risk currently facing
the Group, impacting all aspects of the business; our customers,
colleagues. stores, supply chain and offices, and across all of the
markets in which we operale. Areas of uncertainty include:

the extent and timing of lifting of International and locAl travel
restrictions and hence the reopening of our stores; the speed and
extent of recavery in the trave! industry more widely and the
resulting impact on passenger numbers and sales; and the speed
and confidence of customers in restoring previous shopping habits
across all of the channels in which we operate.

To the extent that the gandemic may have a longer and more
prolonged impact on global ecanomic conditions, this may have a
further negative impact on consumer spending, customer footfall
and sales, the efficient working of our supply chain, and therefore
create further potential disruption to all of our areas of operation.
During the course of the pandemic, the safety of our customers

and colleagues has been at the forefront of our response and has
shaped all of the measures we have taken across the business.

In order to Imit the impact of the pandemic on the Group we have
continued to pursue a series of mitigating actions to protect our
customers, colleagues, and our financial position.

These have included:

» Maintaining regular communications across the Executive team
to monitor all aspects of our response;

= Operating some of our stares continuously through the lockdowns

serving those communities which mast need our services,

including steres in hospitals supporting NHS key workers, and

Post Offices providing vitat postal and banking services in the

communities where we operate;

We have underlaken a phased recpening across the rest of our

global store estate, ensuring that appropriate safety measures are

in place, including hand sanitiser stations, providing PPE for
colleagues. protective screens at till points. and enhanced
cleaning regimes;

Working with our suppliers to adjust our sourcing and supply

chains to mitigale any disruption;

Ensuring our offices and distribution centres are Covid safe

with reduced capacity reflecting controlled access and exit,

freely available hand sanitiser and a rigorously maintained

cleaning regime;

Reducing the Group’s cost base, capex and discretionary

expenditure and managing our cash flow and ongaing

commitments wherever possible:

Restructuring our corporate offices and stores o increase

efficiency, speed of decision-making and reflecting lower levels

of sales;

Engaging with landlords to manage rental obligaticns and property

costs, and agree amended lease terms where possible;

Successfully implernenting our existing business continuity plans,

to facilitate a transition 1o more agile working, with remote access

to core systems and use of technalogy to manage ongoing .

communications;

* Re-tinancing te provide medium-term funding through a
convertible bond and term loans, and increasing our access to
liquidity; and

» Continuing to adapt aur Covid response measures to cornply with
developing government and regulatory guidance in each of the
territories inwhich we operate, as this continues to be updated.
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Changes to the risk profile due to Covid-19
The grid below explains where the potential risk implications of the pandemic link with, and impact upon, our other principal risks
that are further summarised on the pages that {ollow.

j10das 31bajens

"Relevant principal risk

Covid-19 impact ' | .o ' ’ |

Economic, politicat,
competitive and market risks

The Group may fail to effectively respond to the pressures of an increasingly changing retait
environment, where Covid-1% materially changes consumer spending patterns and habits, such as
shitting from physical to antine shopping, and from any longer-term damage to the travel industry
and reductions in the level of international travet.

Brand and reputation

The reputation of the brand may be impacted in the event that customers were tc perceive that our
store environments are insufficiently safe and secure in response to the continuing experience of
the virus.

Key suppliers and supply chain
management

Given that large elerents of our sourcing rely on factories and shipment from the Far East. these
supply chains and principal product flows could be negatively impacted by any interruptions due to any
further shutdown of factories and supply routes or international outbreaks.

Store gortfolio

The Group's performance is reliant upon trading from our wide portfolio of premier sfiopping tocations,
where our performance may be negatively impacted in the event of lurther store closures, constraints
on trading and travel restrictions, or further extensions in the scale and nature of local lockdowns.

Business interruption

The business could be negatively impacted by any concentration of dlness in a particular location such
as heall office, distribution centres or particular stores, should these need to close tempararily and
large numbers of staff were required to self-isolate.

Reliance on key personnel

The business could be negatively impacted in the event that any of the senior leadership tearm were to
fall ill or be personally impacted by the virus.

International expansion

The business cantinues to grow outside of the UK. Such angaing growth could therefare be negatively
impacted from further enforced store closures, constraints on trading and the longer-term canlinuation
of international travel restrictions or curtaitment in passenger numbers.

Treasury, financial and credit
risk management

Significantly reduced trading over an extended period from further outbreaks of new Cowid stiains and
the inability for effective vaccines to be distributed and keep pace with newly identified variants could
cause further negative impact on the Group's financial position in the longer term.

Cyber risk, data security and
GDPR compliance

Further risks from significant increases in industry wide phishing activity and cyber threats could pose
additional risks of potential systerns interruption.

Environment and sustainability

Continued uncertainty and business interruption from the Covid- 19 pandenvc could provide further
challenges to the delivery of cur ongomng sustainzbility programme.
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Strategic report

Principal risks and uncertainties continued

The table below summarises our other continuing Principal risks and uncertainties.

Key: Change in risk level@ higher @ no change @ lower

Risk/description

Mitigation

LChange in risk level

Economic, political, competitive and market risks

The Group aperates in highly competitive markets and
in the event of failing to compete effectively with travel,
convenience and other similar product category
retailers, this may affect revenues obtained through our
stores. Failure lo keep abreast of market developments,
inctuding the use of new technology, could threaten our
competitive position.

Factors such as the economic climate, tevels of
household disposable income, seascnality of sales,
changing demographics, custormer shopping patterns
and raw material costs could impact on profit
performance.

The Group may also be impacted by political
developrents both in the UK and Internatienally such
as from the UK's éxit from the European Union,
requlatory and tax changes, increasing scrutiny by
competition authorities and other changes in the
general condition of retail and trave! markets.

The Group's performance is dependent en the tevels of
consurner confidence and upon effectively predicting and
quickly respanding to changing consurmer dermands, both in
the UK and internationally. The Group conducts customer
research to understand current demands and preferences
in order to help translate market trends into saleable
merchandise and store formats.

The Group continues to manitor the implications arising from
the UK's exit from the European Union and is a member of 2
number of key industry bodies which provide insight and
updates on this process.

®.

Uncertainties
relating to
angoing
effects of
Covid-1% an
store trading,
footiall, travel
restrichons
and consumer
confidence
and shopping
habits.

Brand and reputation

The WHSmith brand is an impartant asset and failure to
protect it from unfavourable pubiicity could materially
darmage its standing and the wider reputation of the
business, adversely affecting revenues.

As the Group continues Lo expand its corvenience feod
offer in travel locations, associated risks include
compliance with foad hygiene and health and salety
procedures, product and service quality, environmental
and ethical scurcing, and associated legislative and
regulatory requirements.

The Group monitors the Company’s reputation, brand
standards and key service and compliance measures to
ensure the maintenance of operating standards and
regulatory compliance across all our operations.

We undertake regular customer engagernent to understand
and adapt our product, offer and store environment.

We operate a framework for manitoring compliance with all
regulatory, hygiene and safety standards, encompassing
supplier and store audits and clearly defined sourcing
nolicies and procedures. Qur corporate responsibility
programme manitors our performance in respect of our key
themes of the Marketplace. Workplace, Environment and
impact on the Community,

‘Key suppliers and supply chain management

The Group has agreements with key suppliers in the
UK, Europe and the Far East and other countries in
which it operates. The interruption or 10ss of supply of
core category products from these suppliers to our
stores may affect our ability to trade.

Quality of supply issues may also impact the Group's
reputation and impact our ability to trade.

The Group conducts risk assessments of ait its key suppliers
to identify alternatwes and develop cantingency plans in the
event that any of these key suppliers fail

Suppliers are required to comply with the conditions laid out
i our Supplier Code of Canduct thai covers areas such as
production methods, employee working conditions and
quality control.

The Group has contractual and other arrangements with
numerous third parties in support of its business activities.
None of these arrangements alone are individually
considered to be essential to the business of the Group.

0]

Uncertainties
refating to
sourcing from
Far East
locations and
distributign
into our key
markets.
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Risk/description

Mitigation

Change in risk level

Store portfolio - -

oo Ve ey mm

The quality and location of the Group’s store portfolio
are key contributors to the Group's strategy. Retailing

. from a portfolio of geod quality real estate in prime
retail areas and key travel hubs at commercially
reasonable rates remains critical to the performance
of the Group.

All of High Street’s stores are held under operating
leases, and conseguently the Group is exposed, to the
extent that any store becomes unvisble as a result of
rental costs. Most Travel stores are held under

concession agreements, on average for five to ten years,

although there is no guarantee that concessions will be
renewed or that Travel will be able to bid successfully
for new contracts.

The Group undertakes research of key markets and
dernagraphics to ensure that we continue to occupy prime
sites and identify appropriate locations to acquire new space.
We maintain regular dialogue and good retationships with all
our key landlords. The Group also condurts extensive
customner research and analysis to gather feedback on
changing consumer requirements, which is shared with
landlords as part of this ongoing relationship management
proegramme.

©

Business interruption

An act of terrorism or war, or an outbreak of a
pandemic disease, could reduce the number of
custorners visiting WHSmith outlets, causing a decline
in revenue and profit. In the past, our Travel business
has been particularly impacted by geopolitical events
such as major terronst attacks, which have led to
reductions in customer traffic. Closure of travel routes
both planned and unplanned, such as the disruption
caused Dy natural disasters or weather-related events,
may also have a malerial effect on business.

The Group operates from three distribution centres
and the closure of any one of them may cause
disruption to the business.

In common with most retail businesses, the Group
also relies on a number of important IT systems,
where any systemn performance problems, cyber risks .
or other breaches in data security could affect our
ability to trade.

The Group has a framework of operational procedures and
business continuity plans that are regularly reviewed,
updated and tested. The Group also has a comprehensive
insurance prograrmime covering our globat assets, providing
cover ranging from property damage and praduct and public
liability, to business interruption and terrensm. Back-up
facilities and contingency plans are in place and are reviewed
and tested reqularly to ensure that business interruptions
are minimised.

The Group's IT systems receive ongoing investment to
ensure that they are able to respond to the needs of the
business. Back-up facilities and contingency plans are in
place and are tested regularly to ensure that data 15
protected from corruption or unauthorised use.

®

Interruptions
oceurring due
to the ongaing
effect of
Covid-19,
causing
temporary
closure of
offices and
stores.

Reliance on key personnel

The performance of the Group depends on its ability to

continue to attract, motivate and retain key head office

and store staff. The retail sector is very competitive and
the Group’s personnel are frequently targeted by other
companies for recruitment.

The Graup reviews key roles and succession plans.
The Remuneratitan Committee monitors the levels and
structure of remuneration for directors and senior
management and seeks to ensure that they are designed to
attract, retain and motivate the key personnel to run the
Group successfully.

Llﬁternalionalexﬁansion T Ce

- . ¥

The Group continues io expand internationally. In each
country in which the Group operates, the Group may be
impacted by political or regulatory developments, or
changes in the economic climate or the generat
condition ot the travel market.

The Group utilises three business models to manage

risk in our overseas locations: directly run, joint venture

and franchise.

The Group uses external consultants to advise on compliance
with international legistative and regulatory requirements,

to monitor developrnents that may impact our operations in
overseas territories and to conduct reputational due diligence
on potential new business partners. Our geographical spread
of activity mitigates against the material concentration of risk
inany one area.

Centinued
growth of

international
operations.
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Strategic repart

Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Risk/description

Mitigation

Change in risk level

.Cyber risk and data security

The Group is subject to the risk of systems breach or
data loss from various sources including external
hackers or the infiltration of computer viruses. Theft or
loss of Company or custorner data or potential damage
to any systems from viruses, ransomware or other
malware, or non-compliance with data protection
legistation, could result in fines and reputational
damage to the business that could negatively impact
our sales.

The Group employs a framework of IT cantrols to protect
against unauthorised access to our systems and data,
including monitaring developments in cyber security.

This control framework encompasses the maintenance of
firewalls and intruder detection, encryption of data, reqular
penetration testing conducted by our appointed external
quality assurance providers and engagement with third party
specialists, where appropriate.

We have a Steering Group overseeing our approach and
respense to cyber risk, and monitoring our programme of
ongoing compliance with the Payment Card industry Data
Security Standard and the GDPR.

®

Continuing
increase in
number of
externally
reported
cyber attacks.

; Treasury, financial and credit risk management

The Group’s exposure to and management of capital,
liquidity, credit, interest rate and foreign currency risk
are analysed further in Note 22 on page 137 of the
financial statements. .

The Group atso has credit risk in relation (o its trade
and ather receivables and sale or return contracts
with suppliers.

The Group's Treasury function seeks to reduce exposures to
interest rates, foreign exchange and other financial nisks,

to ensure sufficient liquidity is available to meet foreseeable

needs and ta invest cash assets safely and profitably.

The Group does not engage in speculative trading in financial
instruments and transacts only in relation to underlying
business requirements. The value of any deposit that can be
placed with any approved counterparty is based on short-
term and long-term credit ratings and, in accordance with
the Group's treasury policy, it is lirmited to @ maximum of
£75m for each approved counterparty.

The Group’s Treasury policies and procedures are
periodically reviewed and approved by the Audit Cammittee
and are subject to Group Internal Audit review.

The Group announced a refinancing in April, where the
Group issued £327m of convertible bonds. The proceeds
were used to pay £267m of term debt, {leaving £133m of
term debt rermaining). £10m was used to pay the costs
associated with the refinancing and the residuat £50m was
retained by the Group to fund the opening of over 100 new
Travel stores won and yet to open over the next three years
and new growth opportunities.

As part of the refinancing. the Group also increased its
committed multi-currency revolving credil facility to £250m
[previously £200m. provided by an expanded syndicate of
lending banks, which is due to mature in April 2025,

This facility is currently undrawn.

Environment and sustainability

P L »

Our investors, custorners and colleagues expect us to
conduct our business in a responsible and sustainable
way. Climate change is now recognised as a globat
emergency. Failure to deliver our stated sustainability
commitments could damage our reputation,

introduce higher casts and impact our ability ta meet
strategic objectives.

Our sustainabitity strategy, @ Journey to a Better Business,
sets out policies, objectives and action plans to address our
key isswes. It is overseen by Board and Executive level
commiltees. We are taking action across the business to
increase our climate resilience, have reduced carbon
emissions for aur UK estate to zero and have targets in place
to decarbonise our international estate and supply chain.

We cantinue to focus on mare environmentally sourcing
practices, reducing and redesigning packaging where
possible and ensuring traceability for forestry products.

New risk.
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Assessing the impact of our principal risks on our strategic priorities
The tabte beiow maps our strategic priorities with our principal risks, to demonstrate where these nsks may impact the angoing

achievement of these stralegic priorities.

Economic,
political, Key suppliers Treasury,
competitive and supply Retiance financialand  Cyberrisk  Environment
Covid-1% and market  Brand and chain Store Business on key International  credit risk and data and
pandemic rigks repulation  management portfolic  Interruption  personnel expansion  management security  sustainability

1. Travel

I. Winning new space/
developing new
formats in UK and
internationally

v

v

v

v

v

v

v v

v

v

v

Il. Managing our
space to meet the
changing needs of
our customers

iii. Driving like-for-
like sales; increasing
average transaction
value and expanding
the range and
number of categories
we sell

. Expanding
profitability outside of
the UK

v. Growing InMaotion

2.High Street
. Optimise returns
on space

il Margin growth
from mix
managernent

iii. Cost efficiency

iv. Building online
propositions and third
party partnerships
complermentary to
our stores and
categories

3. Focused use
of cash
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Strategic repart

Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Viability statement

In accordance with the UK Corporate Governance Code 2018,

the directors are required to issue a ‘viability staternent” declaring
whether we believe the Company is able to continue to operate
and meet ils Liabilities over a period greater than 12 menths,
taking into account its current position and principal risks.

The Group’s strategy is highlighted on page 4. The key faciors are
In Travei:

= driving like-for-tike sales in existing steres threugh increasing
average iransaction value, expanding the range, and number
of categaries we sell;

investing in store environments and layauts,

a forensic store by store focus on space and
category management;

winning new space and retaining existing space:

developing new formats;

expanding profitably outside of the UK;
growing InMation, the leading global technology retaiter
in travel locations, and

= invesling in digital solutions e enhance the
customer experience

In High Street:

* adopting a forensic store by store facus on space management
to optimise the returns from our core categories,
particularly stationery;
* driving margin growth through category mix management;
reducing cur cost base to reflect aur changing sales profile
and productivity initiatives, and

building online propositions complementary to our stores
and categories: funkypigeon.com, ciltpens.com and
whsmith,.co.uk.

The Strategic report incorporates plans at both the Group and
operating diwision level, The plans consider the Group's cash
flows. committed funding Liquidity positions, forecast future
funding and key financial metrics.

Athree-year period is considered the appropriate timeframe to
assess the Group's prospects as it will cover the impact of the
current Covid-19 pandemic and it is consistent with the Group's
strategic planning and review period.

Following the Group's refinancing, announced on 28 April 2021,
the balance sheet has been significantly strengthened.

The refinancing arrangements included a £250m multi-currency
revolving credit facility [RCF') [increased from £200m} with an
extended maturity from December 2023 to April 2025. As at

31 Octaber 2021, the Group had not drawn down on the RCF and
has £107m cash on deposit.

As part of the refinancing, the Group also raised £327m from the
issue of convertible bonds, of which £50m was retained by the
Group to fund the opening of over 100 new Travel stores won and
yet to open over the next three years, including thirty new
InMotion stores in Travel UK. The remainder of the proceeds. net
of costs, was used to partially pay down the term loans from both
the MRG and InMation acquisitions, leaving the Group with a
term loan of £333m. The maturity of the term loan has been
extended from 2023 to 2025, in line with the RCF.

The directors have assessed the prospects of the Group over

the three year period, taking into account its recent histarical
performance, forecasts, a robust assessment of the emerging
and principal risks facing the Group and mitigating factors, all of
which consider the impact of Covid-1% given its impact on the
Group's trading. In assessing viability, the directors considered
the position presented in the budget and three year plan recently
approved by the Board Ithe ‘base case’). These plans include
management’s forecast of the hinancial impact of the current
pandemic over the next three years.

In the context of the current challenging environment, we also
used the same severe but plausible assumptions madelled as
part of the going concern assessment [refer to page 103) with a
return to the base case in the three year viability assessment
period Under both these scenarios the Group would continue to
have sufficient liquidity headroom on its existing facilities and
would meet its covenant tests.

In order to understand the impact of an extreme stress test we
modelled the impact of an additional ten per cent sales decline
across the strategic growth areas of our business; Travel UK and
North America, following the lockdown modelled within the
severe but plausible scenano and without turther mitigating
actions. Under these extreme circumstances, whilst liquidity
headroom on the existing facility exists, mitigating action wauld
be required in order to meet the covenant tests. We consider this
scenario to be highly unlikely and are confident in the Group’s
ability to apply mitigating actions some of which would include

a reduction in capitat expenditure, further restructuring and a
reduction in other discretionary spend

As disclosed in the Strategic report on pages 21 tg 2B, the Board
has underlaken a robust assessment of the ermerging and
principal risks facing the Group, including those that would
threaten its business model, future performance. solvency ar
liquidity.. The process of mitigating and managing these risks is
described on pages 21 to 28 of the Strategic report.

Taking account of the above matters. and the Group's current
positian and principal risks, the directors have a reasonable
expectation that the Graup will be able to continue in operation
and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the three-year period
ending 31 August 2024.

28 WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021



Our journey to a better business

Our strategy

Our customers and wider stakeholders expect us to be 3
responsible, sustainable business. We believe we can make a
meaningful contribution to a better society and a cleaner
environment, We have been serving customers for nearly

230 years and, to maintain their trust, we need to adapt ta shifting
patterns in sustainable production and consumption and to
changes in the glebal envirenment in which we operate.

WiHSmith has a long-standing commitment to high standards of
ernvironmental, social and corporate governance, Our approach
has played an important role in risk management, business
development and delivering the expectations of our stakeholders.

Our sustainability strategy concentrates on those areas that cur
stakeholders have told us are important and where we believe we
can make a meaningful difference. The three areas of planet,
people and communilies provide the framework far our activities
and reporting, underpinned by a strong foundation of respansible
business principles and practices. We have defined a series of
objectives for each of these areas that will drive our activities at
least until 2025,

Our Journey to a Better Business
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Packaging inclusion and literacy
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Forests our supply chain local causes
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L wellbeing

Principles and respensible practice

This year, the Board has taken the decision to set up a sub-
committee o monitor our ESG activities and performance.

Itwill oversee the work of our Environmental, Social and
Corparate Governance (ESG) Steering Group, chaired by our
Group Chief Executive. which meets monthly to monitor progress
of our sustainability activities. More detailed information,
including governance, performance data and future targets,

is @vailable on our website and in aur full Sustainability Report at
whsmithple.co.uk/sustainability/.

Planet

Urgent and sustained action is needed to address the threat to
the health of our planet. The impacts of climate change are
being felt around the world and long-term business success
is dependent on a healthy and sustainable environrment.

Qur Environmental Policy, avaifable on our website at
whsmithplc.co.uk/sustainability, sets out our commitments to
minimise our business impacts on the planet, including those
relating to climate change, wasle management and resource
use. We regularly review progress against our objectives and
targets and aim for continual improvement year on year,

wodal nfaens

Climate change

Climate change remains one of the most pressing. challenging
issues facing our world and we acknowledge we need L play our
part. We have a long-standing commitment to reduce carbon
emissians from our cperations and have been improving energy
efficiency and minimising fuel use for over a decade.

We are committed to implernenting the recommendations of
the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclasures [TCFDI
and continue to integrate them into our reporting. The following
section also fulfils our reporting obligations in relation to
Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting [SECRI.

Strategy and risk management

The Group will be required to report under the TCFD framework
for the year ending 31 August 2022. In line with the TCFD's
recommendations, as part of our pragress towards adoption of
the framewark we have performed a qualitative scenario analysis
of the risks and opportunities that our business may face in 2030,
using two climate scenarios: a scenario where the world
intraduces the changes that are needed to limit global warming
to below two degrees; and a scenario where policy and requlatory
interventions are limited, and global warming exceeds four
degrees. Qur quantitative assessment is ongoing, and based on
our qualitative assessment do not anticipate the impact of
climate change in the short-term to be material.

Under the betow two-deqgree scenario, there would be
widespread interventions to timit global warming, including the
implementation of a global carbon price at a (evel which results
in universal change, a rapid shift in energy sector mix from fossil
fuels to renewabtes and a reversal of global deforestation.
Afforestation and a rapid growth in biofuels may lead to pressure
on tand for other uses. In the transport sector, electric vehicles
wauld be widely adopted, there would be systemic improvements
in operations and logistics and internaticnat fiscal and regulatory
support would be increased for the use of alternative fuels for
road freight and aviation,
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Strategic report

Our journey to a better business continued

Our initial qualitative assessment of the main potential risks to
WHSmith under a below two-degree scenario include increased
operational costs from higher electricity and fuel prices caused
by a higher carbon price. There could be higher trading costs for
certain products because of more expensive raw materials
caused by land use pressures, together with policy disincentives
for carban-intensive or unsustainable materals such as
singte-use plastics. Changes in cansumer behaviour such as
reductions in business travel could ledd Lo lower footfatl in some
of our stores. A switch to lower-carbon products could lead $o
reduced sales of some of our current lines.

Under the four-degree scenarig, the warld fails 1o address
climate change. leading to global temperatures continuing to rise
to four degrees or more by the end of the century. There would be
no new policy or regulatory interventions and the physical
impacts of climate change would be much greater under this
scenario. Winters would generally be warmer and wetter in the
Northern Hemisphere and there would be more frequent
extreme weather events such as heavy rainfatl and heatwaves.
Water scarcity would be exacerbated in many regions and many
coastal cities would be inundated because of rising sea levels

Under a gualitative assessment of a four-degree scenario,
incidences of major flooding or extreme heat could have a
significant impact on our warehouses, stores or distribution
retworks. Changes in precipitation patterns could exacerbate
water scarcity, leading to shortages in key raw materials for
products such as bottled drinks or paper, causing supply
disruption and the potential for higher costs. There could also
be higher costs to pay for renewable energy if demand outstrips
supply. The pressure from customers and other stakeholders
for businesses to 4o more are also likely to be greater

Our initizl qualitative assesment shows that bath scenarios
present potential financial and operatioral risks toa WHSmith by
2030, predominantly due to increased costs. However, while these
risks would need to be managed, we would not have to materially
change our business model. We are taking action to manage
climate-related risk by:

* investing in energy efficiency lo reduce consumption, and
switching to renewable sources of electricity,

* optimising route planning and logistics operations to minimise
fuel consumption;

* reviewing our risk management processes to ensure they

include the climate-risks identified n our scenario znalysis;

ensuring business continuity plans include any disruption from

major weather events, such as flooding and extreme heat;

factoring the impact of higher carbon prices into decision-
making for long-term projects; and

* continying to diversify products and packaging away from
carbon-intensive single-use and hard 1o recycle

plastic materials.

Energy management

We have taken a number of measures to improve enargy
efficiency in our buildings. We cantinue to upgrade building
management systems across our estate to menitor energy
consumption and to optimise energy settings for lighting, heating
and air conditioning to reduce consumption, whilst maintaining a
welcoming and comfortable enviranment for all. We are
replacing our current LED lights which are corning to the end of
their life with new equipment, investing tn newer moere efficient
refrigerators and introducing aercfoils to the front of our
refrigeration units to minimise additional energy consurnption

to deal with cold air losses. This year, we have switched

our electricity consumption in the UK to 100 per cent

renewable electricity.

Climate change governance

Climate change is an important cornponent of WHSmith's
sustainabitity programme which inctudes carbon ermission
reduction targets for our own aperations and our wider value
chain. Our ESG Steering Group is responsible for climate change
related issues and for monitoring perfermance against objectives
and targets. Cimate change forms part of a bi-annual update
report to the Board on our sustainability activities. fr addition,
climate-related risks and opportunities are integrated into the
management processes and reporting frameworks which feed
into the Group Risk report to the Audit Committee as described
on page 52. This year, the Board introduced a new E5G
sub-committee, and oversight of climate change strategy

will be part of its rernit. -

Management of climate-related risks

Identification, assessment and management of the risks fram
climate change follow our eslablished risk management process,
as described on page 21. Emerging climate change risks are part
of the Brand and reputation principal risk on page 24 and the
Business interruption principal risk on page 25. These principal
risks are manitored by the Audit Committee to ensure effective
management and risk mitigation through appropriate policies,
processes and perfarmance improvements.,

Metrics and targets

WHSmith has a long history of reducing Scope 1 and 2 emissions
in line with the trajectory needed to limit globat warming to

1.5 degrees. Since 2007, we have reduced location-based Scope
and 2 ernissions by over 60 per cent.

Last year we set a target to reduce Scope 1and 2 emissions from
our UK buildings to net zero by the end of 2021 and from aur
international buildings by the end of 2025, Our target included
emissions reductions from energy efficiency. investmentin
energy saving equipment and a switch to renewable electricity.
Only once all these measures had been taken, would we use
investment in third party carbon removal schemes, such as
sfforestation. to neutralise any residual emissions. We achieved
the target for our UK operations for this year {see overleaf].

Going forwards, we are amending our use of terminology to
reflect the latest quidance from international standards
organisations such as the Science Based Jarget Initiative [SBTIL.
Our approach is in line with a 1.5 degree reduction pathway and
we will be seeking SBT! approval far our targets during the next
financial year.
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Our Scope 1 and 2 market-based carbon emissions decreased
this year to 6,684 tennes {20620: 29,695 tonnes) of COe as a
result of:

= areduction in energy consumption because of store closures
due to Covid-19;

energy reduction measures such as investment in more
efficient lighting and cooling systemns;

a swilch to 100 per cent renewable electricity contracts for all
sites where we purchase the power; and

investment in renewable electricity certificates to negate any

emissions from sites where landlords control the power supply.

All certificates were provided under the Renewable Guarantees
of Origin scherne, which is & UK and Eurepean reqgulated
initiabive to prowide transparency to consumers about the
proportion of electricity that suppliers source from renewable
generation. The certificates were retired on our behalf to avoid
double-counting.

Emissions from our UK aperations were 2,688 tonnes

(2020: 24,382 tonnes] of COze. These residual emissions arise
from the combustion of natural gas and to date, we have been
unable 1o remove them completely as alternative technologies
appropriate for our buildings do not yet exist. In order to
neutralise these residual ermissions and reduce net emissians
from our UK buildings to zero, we purchased carbon reduction
certificates from a Venfied Carbon Standard afforestation
scheme which is acting as a carbon sink for an equivalent
amount of emissions to the residual emissions from our

gas supply.

The largest proportion of our oversll carbon footprint lies within
our Scope 3 emissions and principally from the praduction of
goods and services which we procure from Gur suppliers.

We undertook analysis to estimate these emissions in 2019,
when sales were at pre-pandemic levels and emissions were
therefore higher than they have been this year. These Scope 3
emissions are more than 15 limes greater than aur Scope

and Z emissions across our worldwide Group and 3 major part of
our overall carbon footprint. We have set a target that by 2025,
we will engage with suppliers covering 50 per cent of our carbon
footprint from purchased goods and services to encourage them
to have plans in place to decarbonise in line with a 1.5 degree
pathway and ultimately reach net zero by 2040,

In addition to emissions from purchased qoods and services,
we also measure and track Scope 3 emissions from other
material sources, including from the combustion of fuel for the
transport of products frem distribution centres to stores and
from business travel.

Further information on climate change metrics and our approach
15 available :n our Sustainability Report 2021 available on our
website whsmithple.co.uk/sustainability.

Global greenhouse gas emissions [tonnes of C0.e)

202

2020

2009

Scope 1 emissions

Combustion of gas te heat and
cool WHSmith stores, ofiices
and distribution centres,

2,688
!

6025

2653

Percentage of emissions from
UK-based operations.

100%,

100%

100%

Scope 2 emissions
Imarket-based)

Fram electricity purchased to
power WHSmith stores, offices
and distribution centres.

3,996
{

23.670

28,098

Percentage of emissions from
UK-based operations.

0%

8%

73%

Tolal Scope 1and 2 emissions
{market-based}

6,684

29.6495

30.751

Percentage of emisstons from
UK-based operatians,

40%

82%

76%

Carbon intensity metric
{tonnes CO,e per £m revenue)

75,

2

220

Total Scope 1 and 2 emissions
{market-based) after
neutralisation via carbon
removal certificates

3,996,
'

29.695

30,75

Scope 2 emissions
llocation-based)

14,491

17,629

22,192

Scape 3 emissions [selected)

Indirect emissions from the
combustion of fuel for the
transport of products from

j

distribution centres to stores and}
from business travet [UK onlyl. .

3,351

4,687

6,940

Percentage of emissions fram

UK-based operations (UK onlyl.

100% .

100%

100%

Total

10,035

34,382

37,6591

We engaged Corporate Citizenship o provide independent Umited assurance of 1he greenfouse
gas emissions dala in the lable above in accordance wilh assurance standards ISAE 3000 and
3410.Corporate Citizenship's Tull assurance slandard is available in our Sustaipability Repart
2024, Ermissitnis have been calculaled using Ihe melhodology defined in Lhe GHG Prolocol
Corporate Slandand. We use the markel-based meihod lor calcuiating Scope 2 emissions tor our
lotal emissions to aceounl or bur purchasing of low-carbop energy. In provipus years, we have
reporied Scope 2 locatian-hased emissians and they are prowided here for disciosure only. 2020
Scope 2 emissions have heen restated to remove US stores which are run as franchises or jaint
vantures in ling with the rest of our reporting. Qur reporling boundary includes our operalians in
the UK and our directiy-run intgrnational businesses where we have operaional control,

d hnancial

cansistent wilh those included in our con

- Sebacled Scope 3

emissions are for UK only and have been cakulated in accardance with the Corporate Value
Lhain (Scope 3) Accounting and Reporling Slandard. Further data and lull detauds o the scope
inability Report 202t

ilabte v our 5

and methodotogy for reparting carbon

Energy consumption [MWh)

are

irrdl 20z 2m9
UK IOs4737 86,782 77619
Non-UK ! 7,855 9849 12695
Total U 72592 95431 90,314

1 Figures for 2020 have been resiated (o remove US stores which are run as franchises ar joint
veniyres in ling wilh the resl of our regorting
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Strategic repert

Our journey to a better business continued

Waste management

Waste is not only damaging to the environment but adds
adaitional cost ta our business. so we are focused on reducing
excess materials and maximising recycling wherever we can.

In our High Street stores. we operate a recycling system which
enables us to recycle most forms of waste, including cardboard,
paper, plastics and metals. Wasle is also segregated in our
distribubion centres and offices. Overall, 93 per cent of our
waste was diverted from landfill during this financial year
(2020: 88 per cent).

The number of food lines that we sell s growing. and we are
waorking hard to eliminate food waste. One of the main sources of
fond waste is from unsold sandwiches which have reached their
use-by date. We have implemented a number of initiatives,
including stock control systems to improve ferecasting of chilled
food sales. so that we only stock food that we expect to sell,
reducing waste volumes. We operate a discounting strategy in all
our stores, engaging store colleagues to reduce the price of any
sandwiches that are approaching but have not yet exceeded their
use-by date. .

Packaging materials are designed ta protect items to maintain
quality and enhance product shelf life. However, excessive
packaging can negatively impact the environment, because
energy and raw materials such as forestry products or oil are
used in the manufacturing process. Inappropriate disposal of
packaging can alse impact the air, land and marine.environments
when it is no longer needed.

We regularly review the type and quantities of packaging we use,
including primary packaging of our awn-brand products and the
secondary packaging used to protect goods during transit and
distribution. We seek to identify opportunities to mimmise
packagmng where possible and use more environmentally-
sustainable sotutions such as cardboard for products, and
re-usable skips for internal transfer of stock.

This year, we have redesigned the packaging for our seasonal
ranges, including Christmas and Back to School, remaeving
unnecessary packaging where possible, and switching from
mixed plastics to paper, card or easier-to-recycle plastic where
packaging is needed. In our own-brand products, we have also
maved away from the use of locse plastic glitter that could make
its way into the water or land environmenis. We are continuing
discussions with our suppliers to look for further oppartunities to
reduce the quantity of materials we use.

All plain, bottled water ranges are now contained in 100 per cent
recycled plastic and we have introduced a much wider range of
refillable water bottles into our stores. A number of our London
Heathrow Airport Terminal stores now host water refilling
stations, where customers can refill their re-usable water bottles
free of charge.

Sustainable forestry

Paper-based products are a core part of WHSmith's business
and we are committed to minimising the environmental impacts
from paper sourcing for our own-brand products. We will only
use recycled matera{ or virgin li.e. non-recycled] material from
known, legal, well-managed and credibly-certfied farests.

As part of our work towards this objective, and in line with the
requirements of naticnal and international timber regulations,
we carry out an in-depth and rigoreus assessment of supplier
timber-sourcing systems. We have set recycled or certified
timber materials as a minimum standard, which gives additional
assurance that materials originate from low risk sources.

A copy of our Sustainable Forests Policy is avallable on our
website at whsmithplc.co.uk/sustainability.

Qur sourcing teams work with our suppliers to help them
understand our requirements and how the data they provide is
needed to demonstrate that any paper, card or wood used in a
WHSmith product is sourced from a certified or recycled source.
We can now demanstrate through certification that 99.3 per cent
of our stationery products contain materials originating from
certified and recycled material, and we are airning for

100 per cent by next year.

People

Our employees and those who work for us in gur supply chain
and for our business partners are vital lo our success. They make
our business and are critical Lo our customers’ experiences and
perceptions of WHSmith. We want to attract, maotivate and retain
the best people to deliver great custormer service and help our
business to grow. :

The Graup employs approximately 11,000 people, primarily in the
UK. and is proud of its long history of being regarded as &
responsible and respecled employer. We have a full suite af
employee policies and further information is produced below and
in our Code of Business Conduct available on our website at
whsmithplc.co.uk/sustainability.

Diversity and inclusion

WHSmith recognises that talented peogle are core to the success
of our business, whatever their age, race. religion, gender, sexual
orientation or physical ability. We are commitled to promoting a
culture of equality and diversity through our policies, procedures
and working practices. We want to ensure that all our employees
receive equal and fair treatment, and this applies to recruitment
and selection, terms and conditions of employment, premation,
training, developrment opportunities and employment benefits.
We believe in creating a culture throughout the Company that is
free from discrimination and harassment and will not peromt or
tolerate discrimination in any form.
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We have developed a new diversity and inclusion action plan to
deliver our goal of creating an environment where everybody is
welcome, can thrive, and is valued for their contribution. Itis
focused on data and systems. communication and engagement,
and partnership and collaboration. We have improved the quality
of data and nformation that we hold in relation to employee
diversity and developed our internal communication processes
with greater use of relatable, personal staries tn riiltivate A
shared understanding of different perspectives,

We have signed several industry charters, committing to making
progress on improving diversity and inclusion in our business.
This year we hecame one of eight founding members of a
collaboration community called Diversity in Retait, which is
dedicated to increasing diversity and inclusion at all levels within
organisations in the retatl sector. We are also signatories to the
British Retail Consertium’s Diversity and Inclusion Charter.

We have a range of activities designed to promote more women
into senior positions, including a batanced successtan planning
process. Mentaring plays a critical role in the development of our
talent pipeline at all levels, providing targeted one-ta-one support
from a more senior role model. We continue to work with
‘Everywoman’ who provide a hast of personal development tools
aimed at women, including monthly webinars, workbooks and
relevant career development articles. The partnership also
provides our emptoyees with Links to an externat network of
professional women in other organisations so that contact,
connections and relationships can be made easily.

We are conbinuing to build our understanding of diversity and
inclusion and to look at ways to increase ethnic diversity at senior
tevels in our organisation We have signed the Race at Work
Charter and have established a Diversity Forum. chaired by our
Group Chief Executive, where employees are encouraged to
provide feedback, commentary and suggestions for imgroving
diversity and inclusion in WHSmith,

We benchmark our diversity profile versus our peers and the
national average te ensure that our employee profile and that
of our management team reflect our commitment to diversity.
Our latest gender pay gap report can be found on our website.

In terims of equal opportunities, the Company gives full and fair
consideration to applications for employment when these are
received fram disabled people. Should an employee becorne
disabled when warking for the Company, we will endeavour to
adapt the work envirenment and provide retraining if appropriate
so that they may continue their employment. Training, career
development and pramotion epportunities are equally applied for
all our employees, regardless of disability.

Learning and development

Our learning and development programmes are designed to
support our employees as they develop their careers. We provide
a range of learning opportunities and initiatives that are designed
to help our employees develop their skills and experience.

These include online courses, workshops, mentaring and
coaching. We review and develop these activities to ensure that
they continue 1o meet the requiremenits of our business and the
tearning and development needs for our employees.

Individuals have regular career conversations with their
managers dunng the year, with more formal periormance
reviews taking place annually. In addition to monitoring
performance, we als0 use a madel of employee potential to help
us to identify, develap and retain our talent within the business.

To ensure the safety of employees and customers guring the
Covid- 19 outbreak, we rotled out online training for all store
colleagues to ensure they were fully aware of the operational
changes and health and safety precautions intreduced in
respanse to the pandernic. All employees in store-based roles
were required to complete and pass the Lraining course prior to
returning to work,

Employee share ownership

The Company operates an HM Revenue & Customs Approved
Save-As-You-Earn share option scheme [ Sharesave Scheme')
which provides employees with the opportunity to acquire shares
in the Company. Appraximately 660 emptoyees participate in

the scheme.

Our employees: key information

The tables below show a breakdown of the composition of the
Board as at year end, and gender diversity statistics for different
coharts including all employees, both UK and non-UK based.

Gender diversity for the Board lyear end headcount)

Tentire Male/Female

0-1year 1 Male 5 63%

1-3years 4 Female 3 37%

3-byears 0

6-9 years 1 Executlve/non-executive

1)+ years 2 Executive 25%
Non-executive b 75%

Male Femate

Group Executive 7 78% 2 22%

Committee

Members'

Senior managers? 4b 58% 22 32%

Managers® 315 48% 345 52%

All employees 4052 35% 7.688 5%

¥ Group Execulive Cemmaties Members are those who have respansibility lor planning, directing ar controlling he actiaties of the Company

2 Includes Group Execulive Committee Members and colleagues graded at levels ane and two below

3 Includes head olfice colleagues graded as the level below | plus Stere Managers, Cluster Managers and Posl Office Managers.
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Strategic repart

Our journey to a better business continued

Safety and wellbeing

We are committed ta maintaining high standards of health and
safety. The management team monitors key safety performance
indicators; and an Annual report detailing trends, performance
and recommendations is presented to the Board. The business
has g Health and Safety Committee that comprises employee
representatives and professional health and safety advisers.

We provide an ongoing programme for staff in stores, consisting
of safety training tailored to specific roles within store that focus
on key issues such as fire safety, manual handling and slips, trips
and fslis, A copy of our Health and Safety at Work Palicy is
available on our website at whsmithplc.co.uk/sustainability and
I5 the basis for gur health and salety management system which
sets gut our procedures and processes.

We believe that supporting the mental wellbeing of our
employees is just as imiportant as looking alter their physical
heatth and safety. Our strategy to promate mental wellbeing has
three main objectives: to improve awareness and reduce stigma;
to raise the level of mental health support across the business;
and develop a culture which promates gond mental health.

We work in partnership with accredited organisations, such as
Time to Change, and mental health charities including MQ, the
mental health research charity; Place2Be, the leading national
children’s mental health charity; and CALM, a movement against
male suicide.

We worked closely with Mental Health First Aid [MHFA] England
to create a tailored approach to training and over 1,100 line
managers have received a half-day MHFA awareness course.
We have an equal number of mental and physical health

first aiders.

This year, we also launched a new scheme in association with
Salary Finance, through which employees can access free
financial education and loans at lower interest rales than those
offered by traditional lenders. Employees pay down their existing
debts by replacing them with a single, low-interest emplayee loan
which enables them to build a positive credit hustory

Human rights

We are cormmitted to ensuring full respect for the human rights
of anyone working for us in any capacity and we are committed to
ensuring there is fair and safe work for all employees throughout
our supply chain. We have developed a due diligence process to
make sure we are idenhfying and assessing any potential and
actual risks, and that we are providing appropriate risk conteal,
mitigation and remedy where needed. Our appreach to human
rights is laid out in our Human Rights Policy (available at
whsmithplc.co.uk/sustainability) which provides further
infermation an our due diligence processes and the minimum
requirements that everyone working far and on behalf of
WHSmith must meet.

We have identified six priority areas for protecting human rights
in our supply chain: health and safety; freedom of association and
collective bargaining; access to grievance mechanisms; working
hours and overtime; preventing modern slavery and gender
equality. We work with suppliers and other third parties to
develop and progress targets and action plans for improvements
across these areas.

We take a zero-tolerance approach to modern slavery.

Dur Modern Slavery Statement [available at whsmithple.co.uk/
sustainability) sets out the steps we have taken o prevent
modern slavery in our own operations and supply chain.

Sourcing responsibly

One of our key sacial risks is the need for us to source products
sustainably, ensuring that workers in our supply chain are treated
well, and that their human rights are respected. WHSmith 1s a
member of the Ethical Trading tnitiative, an alliance of
compames, trade unions and NGOs that promotes respect for
workers’ rights around the globe. Our Responsible Sourcing
Standards are based on the ET| Base Code and underpin our
strategy and sustainable sourcing actvities. We will only place
orders with suppliers who are committed to working towards
compliance with these standards. and we endeavour to bring
about continual improvemnent through a programme of factory
audits and ongoing engagement.

Our in-house audit and engagement team cenducts audits of

our own-brand suppliers at least every two years, assessing
compliance with our Code of Conduct and grading suppliers
Gold, Silver, Bronze and Unacceptable. We use a mix of
announced and unannounced audits and a factory must be
graded Bronze or above if we are to work with them. The Board
reviews our responsible sourcing strategy annually, looking at our
audit and engagement programmes, emerging trends and risks,
targets and performance.

To supplernent the information we gain from supplier audits,
our,team also spends a significant part of its time engaging with
suppliers on an ongoing basis to build stronger and more
transparent relationships. The tearn’s engagement facuses on
resolving specific issues identitied during audits and on delivering
wider projecls to help suppliers deliver on key areas such as
worker representation or health and safety. We have an
independent hotling for waorkers to report issues they are
concerned about, which we then investigale and follow up with
suppliers to ensure they are addressed.

Communities

WHSmith is at the heart of communities across the UK and we
are committed to making a positive impact wherever we operate.
As a major retailer of books and stationery, we are particularly
passionate about literacy and life-long learning. We are a
long-term advocate for the development of reading and writing
skills and we have provided help over many years to children and
young people who need additional support.

34 WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021



We have a long-term partnership with the National Literacy
Trust, and this year we cantinued our suppart for their Young
Readers’ Programme, prowiding books and other materials for
schools in socic-economically disadvantaged areas of the
country. In addition, the WHSmith Group Charitable Trust
provided financial support for the programme, supported by
donatians from WHSmith customers and employees.

Thes year we joined forces with the National Literacy Trust,
Macmillzn Children’s Books and Marcus Rashford, MBE, to
donate books and provide financial support to help those children
most in need to develop their reading and writing skills. For every
copy af Marcus’s baak, You Are a Champion: How to Be the Best
You Can Be', that we sold, we agreed ta gilt a copy for distribution
to those most unlikely to own a book of their own. We also
provided an opportunity for customers to donate to help the wark
of the National Literacy Trust through our till points and website.
The campaign has raised over 30,000 books and £40,000 in the
space of a few months. We also gifted a further 1,500 books to
school libraries as part of the campaign.

WHSmith continues to take a leading role in the delivery of the
World Book Day intiative, which is the biggest annual celebration
of books and reading in the UK. World Book Day took place this
year under the continuing impact of Covid-1%. Normally our
stares run special events such as competitions, fancy dress and
author signing sessions, but many of these had to be curtailed
this year. We were still able to redeem 244,000 book vouchers
enabling chitdren 1o choose one of the special World Book Day
books aor offset the cost against any of our children’s ranges of
books. We also partnered with the WHSmith Trust ta donate
WHSmith vouchers te schools across the UK for them to choose
books to increase their school library resources. Over 250
schools were helped in this way with £25,000 of vouchers

being donated.

This yéar, through our charity parinerships, colleague and
customer fundraising and in-kind donations we have daonated
nearly £1millon to charities and other goed causes. The full
extent of aur community investment activity, measured in
alignment with the B4SI [formerly the London Benchmarking
Group) reporting model, is outlined in gur Sustainability
Report 2021.

Full details of how we engage with charities and other good
causes are set out in our Code of Business Conduct [avarlable
at whsmithplc.co,uk/sustainabilityj.

Principles and responsible practice

We aim to always act with integrity. malking the right decisions
and demenstrating the approprizte behaviours to earn the
respect of our custorners and all those with whom we do
business. Qur Code of Business Cenduct available on our website
sets out how our business operates, and what 1s expected of
every person who works tor and on behalf of WHSmith. Our Code
includes our palicies relating to individual conduct, including
anti-bribery and anti-corruption measures, cenflicts of interest
and data protection, as well as those relating to how we work
together, including diversity and inclusion, anti-harassment and
bullying and heatth and safety. it also sels oul our business
standards in relation to fair trading practices, such as pricing and
marketing, quality and product safety. trade controls. competition
and supgly chain practices.

4oday mbayesg

Anti-bribery and anti-corruption

WHSmith prides itself on its values and commitment to acting
with integrity throughout the arganisation and we will not
tolerate bribery, corruption or extortion in any form, either within
gur own operations or in these businesses working on our behalf
Our Code of Business Conduct sets out in detail how those
working for us should behave and what they should da if they are
confronted with bribery or corruption. We require all employees
and anyone working for us in any capacity to comply with the UK
Bribery Act, in addition to any local anti-bribery and anti-
corruption laws. Qur Code states that employees or others
working on our behalf must never offer or accept any kind of
bribe, and that aur subcontractors, consultants, agents and
others we work with must have similar anti-bribery and
corruption measures in place.

All employees are required to confirm that they have read and
accept our Code of Business Conduct on an annual basis and are
encouraged to report any suspecied breaches using our
confidential Speak Up helpline.
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Strategic repor!

Non-financial reporting statement

The lourney to a Better Business section of the Annual report on pages 29 to 35 and the WHSmith Sustainability Report contain

a wide range of information about the environment, employees and social matters. The table below sets aut where information on
non-financial reporting matters can be found within cur Annual report. Our full Sustainability Report is available on our website at
whsmithplc.co.uk/sustainability. The due diligence arrangements for each topic are included in the respective policy documentation
on our website,

Non-fingncial mattec Polices and standards which gavecn our approach Pages
Business model Business model and KPls 4and 20
Principal risks and uncertainties 211028
Environmental matters Journey to a Better Business ~ Planet 29to 32
Section 172 statement 3I7to 40
Principal risks and uncertainties 26
EmPWees Journey to a Better Business ~ People 32to0 34
Section 172 statement . 37to 40
Principal nsks and uncertainties 25
Director's report 85
Social matters Journey to a Better Business ~ Communities 4to 35
Section 172 statement 37to 40
Principal risks and uncertainties 24 and 25
Respect for human rights Journey to a Better Business ~ People 34
_ Principal risks and uncertainties 26 and 25
Anti-corruption and anti-brivery rmatters Journey to a Better Business ~ Principles and Responsible Practice 35
Principal risks and uncertainties 24 to 26
Non-financial KPls Qur journey to a better business 291035
Remuneratian Comimittee report 58 to B4
Principal risks and uncertainties Our approach to risk managerent 21
22t028

Principal risks

36
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Section 172(1) statement

This staterment describes how the directors have had regard to
the matters set out in Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006
{the ‘Act’] in exercising their duty to promate the success of the'
Company for the benefit of its members as a whole.

Section 172 of the Act requires a directer of a company to act
in the way he or she considers, in good faith, would most likely
promote the success of the company for the benefit of its
members as a whole. In doing this, Seclion 172 1equires &
director to have regard amongst other matters to the:

al likely consequences of any decisions in the long-term;
b interests of the company’s employees;

c) need to foster the company’s business relationships with
suppliers, customers and others;

d| impact of the company’s operations on the community
and envircnment;

] desirability of the company maintaining a reputation for high
standards on business canduct: and

fl need to acl fairly as between members of the cornpany.

Information on how the Board operates can be found in the
Caorporate governance report on pages 41 ta 48.

Examples of how the directors have had regard to the matters set
aut in Section 172 when discharging their duties are set out in the
following pages.

Key stakeholder groups can be impacted in different ways by
decisions which are taken by the Board. The directors consider
that the groups listed below are the Company's key stakeholders.
They are identified as those most likely to be affected by the
principat decisions of the Board:

* Employees: the people at WHSmith are its greatest resource
and the strength of the business depends on committed
colleagues who feel engaged, motivated and appreciated.

Our employees expect to feel valued, be rewarded fairly, treated
with respect and dignity and have opportunities for personal
growth and career development.

Customers: custamers are why we exist - maintaining their
loyalty and enthusiasm for our brands is critical to our success.
Our customers expect that the Company offers a wide range of
products at an accessible price, is responsive to Lheir needs
and trades fairty and respansibly.

Investors: our investers include individual and institutional
shareholders and providers of debt and financial capital, such
as banks and bondholders. Access to liquidity is vital to the
long-term performance of the business and the Board works
to ensure that the Company’s investors and banks have a
strong understanding of our strategy and performance.
Investors want a return on their investment, delivered in a
responsible and sustainable way.

Suppliers and tandiords mutually trusted partnerships with
suppliers and landlords are vital in enabling the Company to
offer a wide range of quality products at affordable prices from
optimal store lecations. Our delivery partners look to the
Company for a productive business relatronship, allowing them
to further their own businesses.

* Communities and the environment: community acceptance
and respect for the environment provide us with a licence to
operate. The Company is committed to operating responsibly,
helping local communities and good causes where it can add
the most value and minimising its impact on the environment

s Pensioners: the Company is committed ta ensuring that it
meels its abligations to current and past employees who rely
upad it to fund their pensions.

The Company engages with thesa stakeholder groups regularly

to ensure thal the Board 1s aware of their views and interests.

These stakehalder views and concerns are integral to ensuring

a considered and balanced approach Lo the Board's decision-

making processes.

wodas sifaiens

The Buard accesses information from stakeholders through a
number of methods including direct engagement by Board
members, for example, through store visits and meetings with
stakeholder groups such as employees, investors and suppliers,
and indirectly through the review of reports and updates from
senior executives who meet regularly with stakeholder groups.

Employees
The Board engages with employees through a number of
different methods: .

the Group Chief Executive and other senior execulives hold
regular face-to-face updates with employees on matters
including the Group's strategy and business performance;

senior executives attend business meetings throughout the

year, including business executive meetings. trading meetings

and risk committee meebings:

» ernployee engagement surveys are held regularly to gather
staff views an working for WHSmith. In the Company’s head
offices, the businesses run quarterly ermployee forums where
team representatives are encouraged to raise any issues or
concerns. A number of the seniar executives also have direct
mailbaxes for employees 1o raise any issues, guestions or
concerns and these are reported to the Board by those
Senior executives;

= Simon Emeny is the designated non-executive director for

workforce engagement and leads on ensuring effective

engagement with the workfarce. Simon Emeny has, during the
year, joined senior executives on cails with their teams; for
example, he joined Heidi Reyrotds, Retail Director, High Street,
on her regular ‘Ask Heidi" call with her tearn and has alsa
attended the High Street and Travel emptoyee forums;

during the financial year, the Group Chief Executive and other

senicr executives held weekly briefings via webinars for alt

employees. At the briefings, employees were gven the
opportunity to ask questions on any issues relating to the
gperation of the Company, including on remuneration, warking
conditions and performance;
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Section 172(1) statement continued

* employees are given reqular written updates and reminders
on aperational issues. This year, this included regular
communications on the Company's wide-ranging support
programmes, such as our Employee Assistance Programme
to support with counselling services, the WHSmith Benevolent
Fund to support employees and their families with financial
hardship and ways to access trained Mental Health First Aiders
if neaded; and

the Group HR Director provides reqular updates to the Boarg
on employee-related matters, including staff retention rates,
learning and development, gender pay gap, diversity and
inclusion, staff surveys and warkforce remuneration.

The Audit Committee has oversight of the Company's
whistleblowing policy on behalf of the Board. The Company’s
whistleblowing helpline atlows employees to raise cencerns
regarding misconduct and breach of the Company’s policies.
The Audit Committee receives reports on any matters of concern
raised by employees, reviews the whistleblowing arrangements
which are then discussed by the Board.

The key topics and feedback that the Board obtained from our
engagement with our employees this year included:

Restructuring: as a result of the angoing impact of Covid-19 and
the impact on footfall on the high street, the Board reviewed the
operating structure of the High Street stores and agreed the
implementation of a change programme to introduce greater
in-store employee flexibility. The High Street business consulted
with employees and unions/employee representalive groups on
the new operaling structure. Following the imptermentation of the
changes the High Street business has increased the number of
sales assistants enabling the business to trade muore effectively
across the week.

Return to the office: after a prolonged period of home -working
for many employees, some raised questions and concerns abaut
the return to office working. and a desire for flexible working
arrangements. The Board received an update from the HR
Director on the Company's new approach to agile working for
head office employees in advance of the Company asking
employees to return to the office. The Board believes that it is
important to relain a balance for employees to work flexibly but at
the same firne maintairing the high performing culture which is
important to the long term success of the Company. In advance
of a return to the office, employees were provided with
information and guidance on these matters in order to help
provide clarity in an uncertain and worrying time.

Providing a safe working environment: the safety and weltbeing
of eur staff continues to be a priority for the Board. The Board is
very proud of our store colleagues whao have done an outstanding
job in serving customers. The Board oversaw the ongoing
applcation of satety measures for all employees in line with
government guidelines and advice. which include sociat
distancing measures, PPE for colieague use. hygiene stations,
protective screens at till paints, enhanced cleaning and
encouraged use of self-checkout or contactless payment.

The Company’s distribution centres continued to be operational
with effective social distancing measures in place and head office
staff continued to work from home, where possible. The Board
was updated on the Company’s programmes to promote
employee wellbeing, for example. through our mental health first
aider programme and annual Wellbeing at Work week.

Diversity and inclusion: our Diversity and inctusion (D&l
Committee continued to receive feedback from ermployees on the
Company's approach to equality and inclusion, The Board
recognises the importance of a diverse workforce and an
inclusive culture. The Board was updated on the Company D&I
activities which took place this year and is supportive of plans for
further activity in the forthcoming months.

Customers

The Company regularly listens to its custormners and responds to
their feedback. The Company's store teams and dedicated
customer service team are in constant dialogue with custorners,
and ensure that customer feedback is communicated to the
relevant parts of the business and taken into account as the
business develops and implements its polictes, operaticnal
activities and product ranges.

The Board receives regular updates on customer feedback and
service standards across the stores and has put systems in place
ta ensure that it complies with all relevant product safety
legislation. During the year, the Board took all necessary steps to
help ensure the safety of customers whilst visiting the stores by
ensuring that the Company complied with all relevant social
distancing measures. The Board took the decision to keep the
stores open to support the communities they serve.

Other key feedback that the Board obtained frem engagement
with customers related to the nature of store environiments, the
availability of products, value for maney, online offerings.
customer service and ethical trading. As a result of this feecback,
we have extended our categories and ranges to reflect the
specific needs of our customers. The Company aims to offer
customers a choice of products at competitive prices across all
store formats. The Board also approved new targets to reduce
the environmental impact from packaging by removing i,
switching to more eco-friendly options and minimising waste.
The Board also recognises that we will need to work with our
suppliers in order to achieve our targets. You can read more
abaut our environrmental and respansible sourcing activities in
the Non-financial information staternent on pages 29 to 36.
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Investors

The Board recognises the importance of communicating with

its shareholders to ensure that its strategy and performance are
understood. The Group Chief Executive and CFQ/COC update

the Board following meetings with major shareholders, and when
requested to do so, the Chairman and non-executive directors
atso attend those meetings

During the year, the Company provided updates on developments
in trading in the form of stock market announcements to ensure
that all shareholders were informed about the impact of Covid-19
on the business.

The Company engages with investors in one-lo-one meetings 1o
discuss specific elements of the business. We communicate with
shareholders through our results presentation, AGM, investar
roadshows, and our investor relations department. As a result of
Covid- 19 restrictions we were not able to hold a physical AGM in
January 2021. Notwithstanding the resirictions, the Board
considered it important that all shareholders were provided with
the opportunity to raise questions. To enable this, sharehotders
were invited to submit questions ahead of the meeting and the
Cirectars’ responses were made available on the Company’s
website. The next AGM will be held at the offices of Herbert Smith
Freehills LLP, Exchange House, Primrose Street, London EC2A
2EG at 11,30 am on Wednesday 19 January 2022. The Notice of
AGM 2027 is now available to view and download from our
website ai whsmithplc.co.uk,

The Board receives reports and updates on shareholder relations
at each meeting to ensure that the Board and its Committees are
keptinformed of investors” and advisers’ views on strategy and
corporate governance.

During the year, the Chairman spoke tg some of Company's
largest shareholders to discuss the Board's succession plan and
compaosttion of the Board The Remuneration Committee also
consulted with the Campany's largest shareholders and
shareholder representalives on its propesed new remuneratien
policy in anticipation of presenting the new policy to shareholders
at the 2022 AGM. For more informaticon, please see the
Remuneration report on page 58.

A key 1ssue for the Board during the year was the approach that it
took to improve the Company’s liquidity positien as a result of the
impact of Covid-19 on its trading and financial position, and when
taking decisions, carefully considered the interests of its
employees, customers, shareholders and suppliers. In April 2021,
the Board consulted with shareholders, investors and banks in
order to secure new financing arrangements to strengthen its
balance sheet, working capital and liquidity pasition. The new
financing arrangerments include a new £250m revolving credit
facility [previously £200m] with an extended maturity until April
2025 and provided by an expanded syndicate of lending banks.

In addition, the issue of a £327m convertible bond provided
£50m of new capacity for the Company to fund the opening of
over100 new Travel stores won and yet to open over the next
three years and new growth cpportunities. The remainder of the
proceeds was used to partially pay down the £400m term loans
from bath the Marshall Retall Group and InMotion acquisitions.
The maturity of the new £133m term loan is also Apnil 2025.

You can read more about the Company's finances on pages

98 to 162.

The Board also considered the Group's capital allocation policy.
The Board reviewed the trading performance and liquidity
position of the Company in order to progress the Cornpany's
long-term strategy and manage any ongoing Covid-1% disruption.
The Beard looked at the increased need for capital expenditure

in respect of new store wins and the likely recovery of travel in the
UK, Nerth America and the other markets in which we operate
during the year. The Board recognises the importance of
praviding our shareholders with consistent and reliable dividend
returns but. with sa much uncertainty around the course of the
pandemic and its ecanomic effects, the Board believed it was
sensible and appropriate to suspend the payment of dividends

to shareholders for the duration of the financial year ended

31 August 2021 to protect the Company's balance sheet.

The Board will continue to keep its capital atlocation policy
under review,

More information on how the Board engages with its
shareholders can be found in the Corporate governance report
on pages 47 and 48.

Suppliers/landlords

The Board is provided with information absut key suppliers as
and when relevant to Board discussions, including when approval
of material contracts/ieases is required The Company aims to be
a trusted partner for suppliers and landlords. with established
policies covering the way in which we transact with themn.

The Company engages with its suppliers and landlords in a
number of ways including:

* direct engagement via individual supplier and
landlord meetings,

« supplier conferences for major groups of suppliers such as
trade suppliers for indivigual businesses or geographies, or
suppliers of Goods Net for Resale, and

= supplier feedback surveys.

The Company has a well-established ethical trade programme
aimed at improving [abour standards for workers in our supply
chain and to ensure that our products are sourced responsibly.
The Board receives an annual update from the Company's Head
of Sustainability on how the Company s meeting its obligations
and to ensure the Board is kept informed of developing

best practice.
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Strategic report

Section 172(1) statement continued

The Board has ensured that the Company has maintained a
diatogue with suppliers and {andlords to mitigate disruption and
understand their cancerns as 3 result of Covid-19. The Company
continued to pay most of its suppliers and landlords during the
year in accordance with agreed contractual terms or negotiated
rent deals. The Board will also ensure that the Company will
continue to work closely with our suppliers to manage any
changes in the supply chain as a result of Brext.

This year, the Board approved a target to reduce our Scope 3
emissions by engaging with suppliers representing approximately
50 per cent of our emissions to ensure they have plans in place to
decarbonise in line with a science-based 1arget to maintain
global warming to 1.5°C. The Company also continues ta work
with suppliers to reduce waste from packaging and from
single-use plastics This year, we worked with suppliers of
packaging for our ontine business to ensure materials were
plastic free and fully recyclable.

The Board also continued to explare new business opportunities
during the year. We worked with cur UK Airport landlords to win
30 technology stores across all UK airports. These stores will
trade under the InMotian brand, the Company’s market-leading
US technology business in travel lecations which was acguired in
Novermnber 2018. Combining our learnings and expertise from
North America, these stores will provide Airport passengers with
a superior customer service experience and a combination of
premium products from brands such as Apple, Bose and
Samsung, as well as an extensive range of tech accessaories.
The Board believes that in a fully recavered travel environment
these stores will deliver significant shareholder returns.

Community and environment

The Board places great importance on ensuring that the
Company helps community groups and good causes that are
closely aligned with the business, and that it operates in 8 way
which minimises the impact on the environment.
Engagement wilh community groups and others includes:

* regular meetings with key charity partners, including the
National Literacy Trust, mental health charity partners and
other charity community organisations located close to
our stores;

engagement through meetings, correspondence and survey
responses with non-governmental organisations, trade bodies
and others with an interest in community and environmental
activities, including the Ethical Trade Initiative, WWF and CDP;
and ’

questions, views and concerns through the
corporate.responsibility@whsmith.co.uk inbox which is
available for anyone to make contact wath the Company on
any issues relating to comimunity or the emvironiment.

The Board recewed regular updates on the Company’s key
community and environment activities from the Head of
Sustanability This year. the Board reviewed progress against
the objectves defined in the Cormpany’s sustainability strategy
approved by the Board last year, which relate to the most
important environmental and sacial issues for the business,
These include a science-based target for carbon emissions in
line with reductions required to limit giobal warming to 1.5°C,
and reaching net zerc for Scope 1 and 2 emissions by 2023,
The Board also took the decision ta create @ new Committee
which will help us manage our sustainability strategy, our
Journey to a Better Business across the three themes of Planet,
People and Communities. You can read more about the work of
the ESG Committee on page 29. Further details are provided in
our 2021 Sustainability Report available at whsmithplic.co.uk/
investors/results-reports-and-presentations/corporate-
responsibility-reports.

The Board also decided ta continue with the long-term fecus

ort children’s titeracy and to work in partnership with others to
tackle inequalities in the ability of children to read and write.

it endorsed the launch of a partnership between the Company,
the National Literacy Trust and Macmillan Children’s Books,
supported by Marcus Rashford MBE, to ensure every chitd in the
United Kingdorn has access to a book of their own.

Further details are provided in the Strategic report on pages
34 to 35.

Defined benefit pension fund

During the year, the Board engaged with the Trustees of the
WHSmith Pension Trust, who have a fiduciary duty to the
members and beneficiaries of the Company’s defined benefit
pension scheme, to ensure that the scheme is sufficiently
funded. The CFO/CO0 and the Finance Director - Group regularly
meet with the Chair of the Trustees and attend the Trustee
meetings (o report on annual and interim results. The Board
agreed with the Trustees, the latest triennial valuation, and
funding plan to ensure that the Company’s defined benefit
pension scheme remains well-positioned te meet its liabilities.

This Strategic report was approved by the Board an
11 November 2021.

On behalf of the Board

Carl Cowling )C
Group Chief Executfve '
11 Novemnber 2021 .
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Corporate governance report

The Board is committed to achieving the highest

standards of corporate governance.”

Henry Staunton
Chairman

Board role and effectiveness

The Board of the Company is committed to achieving
the highest standards of corporate governance.

As Chairman, my role is to run the Board to ensure
that the Company operates effectively and ensure
that the Board works collaboratively and has the right
balance of skills, knowledge, independence and
experience to assess, manage and mitigate risks.

This report. which forms part of the Directors’ report, provides
details of how the Company has applied the principles of, and
complied with, the UK Corporate Governance Code 2018 [the
‘Code’). A copy of the Code ts available publicly from frc org.uk.

Culture

We have been serving customers through our presence in town
cenires, travel hubs and hospilals for over 225 years, providing a
retail destinalion of chotce and a sense of community for
thousands of custormers every day. We have a presence in 30
countries, employ 11,000 employees. source praducts from
thousands of suppliers and play an important part in creating
vibrant and sustainable local economies.

We recognise we have an obligation to grow our business
sustainably, providing financial returns for our shareholders,
whilst maintaining high standards of environmental stewargship
and sacial equity. In delivering these obligations, it is important
that our employees, business partners and suppliers are able to
make the nght decisions. We suppart thern with a strang
values-based culture, ongoing training and development, and a
solid foundation of respensitile business governance, policies and
programmes. You can read mare about our culture on page 46.

- Stakeholder engagement

As a Company, we have a long-standing commitment to high
standards of corporate responsibility, which includes considering
the interests of a broad stakeholder group in making business
decisions. The Boarg remains focused on all our stakeholders,
including our workforce, customers, shareholders and the
communities we are part of. You can read about our engagement
with shareholders on pages 47 and 48, our commitments to
customers, worklarce and community matters on pages

29 to 40 and our approach to rewarding our workforce in the
Remuneration report on page 67.

There are already a number of effective employee engagement
processes in place across the Group, including the employee
satisfaction survey and emgloyee forums. Simon Emeny is the
designated non-executive director for workforce engagernent
and teads on ensuring effective engagement with the workforce.
Simen Emeny attended a number of employee forums
throughout the year to gain a better understanding of their views
and concerns. Simon Emeny met the Group HR director Lo review
the outcomes from the satisfaction survey. Feedback relating to
workforce engagement has been reported to the Board and
Committees. Section 172 of the Companies Act 2004 [the ‘Act'}
sets out that a directar should have regard to stakeholder
interests when discharging their duty lo promote the success

of the Company. You ¢an read how the Board has had regard

to Section 172 of the Act on pages 37 to 40.

Creation of an ESG Committee

In order to help us manage our sustainability strategy. our
Journey to a Better Business across the three themes of Planet,
Peaople and Communities and ensure that it is central te what we
do, we took the decision to create a new Commuttee which will
asstst the Board in providing oversight of the implementatian of
the strategy. You can read more about the E5G Committee an
page 48.

Board changes

The Board has continued to give extensive thought to the rotation
of long-serving directors given the ongoing impact of Covid-19 on
the Company. As part of the succession plan, Suzanne Baxter,
who was the Chair of the Audit Committee, stepped down from
the Board at the Company’s Annual General Meeting [AGM '] in
January 2021 Annermarie Durbin, Chair of the Remuneration
Committee, who will have served on the Board for nine years will
step down from the Board at the Company's AGM in January
2022. During the year, the Board appointed Nicky Dulieu and

Kal Atwal as non-executive directors. Nicky Dulieu replaced
Suzanne Baxter as Chair of the Audit Committee. On 28 October
2021, the Company announced the appointment of Marion Sears
who will join the Board as a naon-executive director and Chair of
the Remuneration Committee on 1 February 2022,

WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021 41

asueuanch ajelodion



Corporate governance

Corporate governance report continued

The Company has commenced a search for my replacement and.
at the request of the Board, | have agreed to stay on until my
successor is appoinied in 2022, The Board believes that this
staggered approach to replacing long-standing directors is in the
best interests of the Company and its shareholders as it waill
allow the Board to refresh itself whilst at the same time retaining
valuable expertise and knowledge as the Company looks to
recover from the impact of Covig-19.

I would like to thank Annemarie for her valuable contribution and
strong commitment to the Company,

Covid-19 response

Unfortunately, as with the wider econemy and society mare
generally, the Company and its stakeholders have continued to
be impacted by Covid-19. The Board has, throughout this crisis,
taken decisive action in order to mitigate the impact of Covid-19
on the Company and its stakeholders. You can read more about
the action the Board took as a result of Covid-19 on page 45 and
the impact that Covid-19 has had on the Company in the
Strategic report on pages 2 to 40.

Henry Stauntopx
Chairman

1 Novernber 2621

Corporate governance statement

This report, which torms part of the Directors’ report, tagether
with the Strategic report and Directors’ remuneration report
provides details of how the Company has apptied the principles of
the Code.

Throughout the year ended 31 August 2021 and up to the date of
this report, the Board considers that it has complied with the
provisions of the Code except as follows:

1. Chairman’s tenure [Provision 19): Henry Staunton's tenure as
Chairman of the Company. Henry Staunton was appointed to
the Board in September 2010 and became Chairman in
September 2013. The Board believes that it is important to the
ongcing success of the Company that Henry Staunton remains
as Chairman as the Company locks to recover from the.
impact of Covid-19 Henry Staunton conlinues to provide
invaluable help and support to Carl Cowling, Graug Chief
Executive. He is continuing to help lead the recovery of the
Company following the impact of Covid-19. The Board believes
that Henry Staunten continues to act and perform effectively
as Chairman. For these reasons, while rmindful of Provision 19
of the Code that requires that the Chairman should not remain
in post beyand nine years from the date of their first
appointment to the Board, the Board believes that it is in the
best interests of the Campany and its shareholders that Henry
remains as Chairman of the Board for an extended period.
The Board has commenced a search for Henry Staunton’s
reptacement and, at the request of the Board, Henry Staunton
has agreed to stay on untit his successor is appointed in 2022.
The Board believes that this staggered approach to replacing
long-standing directors is in the best interests of the Company
and its shareholders as it will allow the Board to refresh itselt
whilst gt the same time retaining valuable expertise and
knowledge as the Compary looks to recover from the impact
of Covid-19.

2. Pension Alignment {Provisicn 38): The pension contributions
for Carl Cowling and Robert Moorhead reflect the historicat
retirement benehts available to employees that joined the
Company at similar times. The Board recognises that the
contribution rales under these arrangements are higher than
the majarity of the current workforce and, as such, the
pension contribqtion for any new execulve director is now

aligned with the majority of the workforce which is
approxirnately three per cent. The pension contributions for
Carl Cowling and Robert Moorhead will be reduced to align
with the wider warkforce rate from 1 January 2023,

3. Workfarce engagement on executive remuneration [Provision
41): The Remuneration Committee has a ¢lear and
transparent approach to remuneration which is set out on -
paqes 58 tc 84 in the Directors’ remuneration report.

Whilst the Company undertakes extensive engagement with
employees on a wide range of issues, including remuneration,
working conditions and performance of the Company, the
Remuneration Committee did not directly consult with the
wider workforce on executive remuneration. Details of how
executive director pay is considered in the context of the wider
workforce is set out on page 47 of the Directors’

remuneration report.

The Company's disclosures an s applicatian of the principles of
the Code can be found on the following pages:

Board leadership and Company purpose

Chairman's letter See pages 41 and &2
Purpose, values and culture See pages 41 and 46
Strategy See pages 2 to 40

Shareholder and stakeholder engagement See pages 37 10 40
Division of responsibilities

Leadership, commitment and Board suppart  See page 43
Composition, succession and evaluation

Board evaluation See pages 45 and 46
Norminations Commilttee report See pages 54 and 55
Audi, risk and internal control

Risks, viability and going concern See pages 50 and 52
Audit Committee report See pages 49 to 33
Remuneration

Directors  remuneration report See pages 58 to 84

The infermatian that is required by Disclosure Guidance and
Transparency Rules { TR’} 7.2 to be centained in the Company’s
Corporate governance statement is included in this Corporate
governance report, in the Directors’ remuneration report on
pages 58 to 84 and in the Directors’ report on pages 85 to 87.
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Operation of the Board

As at the date of this report, the Board comprised the Chairman,

two executive directors and five independent non-executive
directors. Short biographies of each of these directars, which
illustrate their range of experience, are set oul on pages 56 and
57. There is a clear division of responsibility at the head of the
Company: Henry Staunton |Chairman| being responsible for
rurning the Board and Carl Cowling (Gioup Chief Executive)
being responsible far implementing strategy, leadership of the
Company and managing it within the zuthorities delegated by
the Board. Simon Emeny is the Seniar Independent Director.
The Board structure ensures that no individual or group
dominates the decision-making process.

All the directors, whose biograghies are on pages 56 and 57,
served throughout the financial year ended 31 August 2021
and up to the date of this report with the exception of:

1. Nicky Dulieu who was appointed as a non-executive director
on 7 September 2020.

2. Kal Atwat who was appointed as a non-executive director
on 1 February 2021,

Atl of the non-executive directors who served during the year -
and up to the date of this report are considered by the Board
to be independent.

All directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary and may take independent professional
aovice at the Company’s expense in the furtherance of their
duties. The Board receives appropriate and timely information,
with Board and Committee papers narmally being sent out a

week before meetings take place. The need for director training
is regularly assessed by the Board.

The interests of the directors and their immediate tamilies in
the share capital of the Company, along with detarls of directors’
share awards, are contzined in the Directors’ remuneration
repert on pages 58 to B4,

At no ime during the year did any of the directors have a material
interest in any significant contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries.

Attendance at Board meetings

The Board met 14 times during the year. The number of Board
meetings was camparable to the previous financial year as a
resutt of the angaing impact of Covid-19 on the Campany. tis
expected that all directors attend Board meetings and
Committee meetings unless they are prevented frem doing so by
prior commitments. The minimum time commitment expected
fram the non-executive directers is one day per month
attendance at meetings, together with attendance at the AGM,
Board away-days and site visits, plus adequate preparation time.
Where directors are unable to attend meetings, they receive the
papers for that meeting giving them the opportunity to raise any
issues and give gny comments to the Chairman in advance of the
meeting. Following the meeting, the Chairman briefs any director
not present on the discussions and any decisions taken at

the meeling.

The following table shows the number of Board and Committee
meetings held during the year ended 31 August 2021 and the
attendance record of individual directors:

Number of meelings attended

Board Audit Nominations Remuneration
Directors and role Board skitls and competencies 14 & 2 L
Henry Staunton Finance and retail expertise; s(rony board leadership and t4of 14 - 20{2 8of8
Chairman considerable governance experience.
Kal Atwal Marketing and digital expertise; entrepreneurial approach 9of 14 2af4 Tof2 Jof8
Non-executive direclor  to business.
Carl Cowling Strategic and relail expertise; strong leadership of the Group and 140t 14 - 20f2 -
Group Chief Executive creation of shareholder value.
Nicki Dutieu Finance and retail expertise; extensive knowledge of retail and l4of 14 4ofé 20f2 8of8
Non-executive directar  customer service.
Annemarie Durbin Legal experience and knowledge of regulatory and compliance 140f14  4ofd 2of2  8ot8
Non-executive director  matters; extensive board experience.
Simon Emeny Cammercial expertise and a wealth of consumer facing experience.  14of 14 4dof4 20f2 8of8
Non-executive directar ‘
Robert Moorhead Retail and financial expertise; deep understanding of the Groupand 14 0f 14 - - -
CFa/coo strategy. and creation of sharenolder value.
Maurice Thompson Board and financial expertise; extensive strategic knowledge and 140f14  4ofd 202 Bof8

Non-executive director

experience.

al Nicky Dutiev was appointed as a directer of the Company on 9 September 2020,

bl Kal Atwal was appoinled as a direeter of the Company an | February 202t.

¢l Kal Atwal was unable to attend one meeting of the Rernuneratien Comenittee due Lo @ pricr commitment which had been arranged before the meeling was convened. She received the papers in
advance of the meeting and gave her comments to the Chair,

4] Henry Staunton. Carl Cowling and Robert Moorhead were invited to and altended 34l four meetings of the Audil Commitiee.

el Robert Moorhead was invited lo and altended twa meetings of the Nominalions Committee,

1] Carl Cowling was invited to and attendad all eight meetings of the Remuneralion Commitiee. Robert Moorhead was inviled 10 and allendeq iwg meetings of the Remuneralion Cormmilige.

gl Suzanne Baxler siepped down Irom the Board on 2D January 2021, Prior ip leaving the C

ded fve

pany she 21l

lings ol }he Board.

h} The Board and the Remuneration Commitiee have mel twice and the Audit Committee and the Nominatiuns Committee have mel ance since 31 Augusi 2021,
All Lhe directors allended Ihe meelings.
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Corparate governance

Corporate governance report continued

Matters Reserved for the Board

The Board manages the Company through a formal schedule of
matters reserved for its decisicn, with its key focus being on
creating long-term sustainable shareholder value. The significant
matters reserved for its decision include: the overall
management of the Cornpany; approval of the business model
ang strategic plans including acquisitions and disposals; approval
of the Company’s commercial stralegy and opeialing and capital
expenditure budgets; approval of the Annual report and financial
slatements, material agreements and non-recurring projects;
treasury and dividend policy; control, audit and risk management;
executive remuneration; and environmental, social and Corporate
governance matters.

The Board has a forward timetable to ensure that it allocates
sufficient time o key areas of the business. The timetable is
flexibie enough for items to be added to any agenda as necessary.

The Board's annuat business includes Chief Executive’s reports,
including business reports; financial results, strategy and
strategy updates, including in-depth sessions on specitic areas
of the business and strategic initiatives; consideration of
potentisl acquisitions and meeting with new management teams;
risk.management; dividend palicy; investor relations, health and
safety; whistleblowing; Board evaluation, governance and
compliance; communications and the Annual report.

During the year, the Board assessed the basis on which the
Company generates and preserves vatue over the long-term and
considered the opportunities and risks to the onigoing future
success of the business, the sustainabitity of the Company's
business model and how its governance contnibutes to the
delivery of its strategy. Further information on the nisks and
opportunities ta the future success of the Company can be found
in the Strategic report on pages 21 to 28.

Board Activities in the financial year ended 31 August 2021

Strategy
= Approval of new banking facility arrangements and issue of * Review the strateqgic plans for each of the
convertible bond businesses
* Oversight of Group perfarmance against strategy and budget = Three-Year Plan
= Updates on the management of the impacts of Brexit = Project approvals
= Approval of corporate respansibility strategy and report » Corporate strategy updates
» Expansion of technology and accessories stores in UK airports
Covid-1Y B ememe e e S grem maweeme ot ey

* Updates on Group response to Covid-19

* Updates on ensuring the safety of custorners and colleagues

 Re-consideration of strategic pricrities as
a result of Covid-19

_Financial and Operational performance

and the Annual report
» Going Cancern and Viability Staternents
+ Fair, balanced and understandable assessment

» The Company's preliminary and interim results, trading staternents

+ Dividend. treasury and tax strategies
» Approval of the budget
= Approval of capitat expenditure

Other Stakeholder Engagement

« Customer initiatives and experience updates

» Updates on ensuring the safety of

Customers en: ; ‘
custorners in line with government advice
Shareholders | ® Annual General Meeting documents; inviting shareholder questions » Investor Relations updates
ahead of meeting and publication of responses e [ssue of convertible bond
= Consuttation on new remuneration policy
» Consultation on Board composition
Employees * Annuat health and salety review + Modern slavery update and statement

* Company values and culture

* Inclusion and diversity update

= People operations proposal

¢ Mental health wellbeing plan

» Approval of sharesave invitation

« Talent, succession planning and leadership
+ Employee engagement insights
« Gender pay gap reporting

+ Consideration of warkforce pay including
the annual pay review

» Introduction of agile working

. Governance and Risk

* Risk framework and internat control review
* Regulstory compliance updates

= Litigation and disputes updates

* Group Delegation of Authanity Policy review
» Board evaluation process-

* Principal risks and uncertainties review
= Conflicts of Interest and new appaintments
» Terms of Reference review

* Formation of ESG Cormmittee and
associaled updates
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Covid-19

This year’s resulis have again been severely impacted by
Covid-19 and, as a result of which, the Company made a Headline
loss before tax and non-underlying iterms' of £55m in the financial
year ended 31 August 2021. You can read more about the actions
the Company has undertaken on pages 8 to 19 The Company will
also not pay any dividends in respect of the financial year ended
31 August 2021

The Board took the following steps during the year in response to
Covid-19:

Board actions: The Board was provided with regular updates
from senior executives on all aspects of the impact of Covid-19,
including the safely and wellbeing of our employees and
customers, government advice. lockdowns, financing, supplier
and landlerd impacts, consurner behaviour and

scenario planning.

The Board also received reqular information on the Company’s
liquidity position, trading and financial data. In April 2021 the
Company consulted with sharehalders and banks in arder to
secure new financing arrangements to strengthen its balance
sheet, warking capital and ligudity position. The new financing
arrangements include a new £250m revolving credit facility
{previously £200mj with an extended maturity until April 2025
which is provided by an expanded syndicate of lending banks,

In additian, the issue of a £327m convertible bond provided

£50m of new capacily for the Company to fund the opening of
approximately 160 new Travel stores won and yet to open over the
next three years and new growth oppartunities. The remainder of
the proceeds was used to partially pay down the £400m term
leans from both the Marshall Retail Group and InMotion
acquisitions. The maturity of the new £133m term ltoan is also
April 2025. You can read more aboul the Company's finances on
pages 1410 19.

Community support: During the further lockdowns during the
year, the Board took the decision to keep most of the Company's
High Street and hospital stores open so that we could continue as
an essential retailer to serve the communities 1n which we
operate. The Board alse took all necessary steps to help ensure
the safety of customers whilst visiting our stores by ensuring that
we complied with all relevant social distancing measures.

Protecting our employees: The safety and weltbeing of our staf
-has been a priority throughout the year. We are very proud of aur
store colleagues who have done an outstanding job in serving our
customers. Safety measures were put in place across al{ our
stores in line with government guidelines and advice, and
included social distancing measures, PPE for colleague use,
hygiene stations, protective screens at till points, enhsnced
cleaning ang encouraged use of self-checkout or contactless
payrment. Qur distribution centres remained operational with
effective social distancing measures in place and head office staff
worked from home, where possible. Carl Cowling and other
senior management continued to hold regular anline briefings
tor all employees, At the briefings, employees were given the
opportunity to ask questions on any issues relaling to the
operaticn of the Company. Additionally, we have provided regutar

reminders to staff on our wide-ranging support plan, which
includes access to trained Mental Health First Aiders and our
Employee Assistance Programme which offers all employees
access (o free, 24/7 confidential telephone, online and face-to-
face advice for problems they may be experiencing at home or
work. Employees also have access to the Company’s Benavelent
Fund charity, which can provide financial assistance in cases of
significant hardship and provide recuperative holidays and

care breaks.

Board evaluation

The performance of the Brard, its Committees and its indwiduat
directors is a fundamenial component of the Company’s success.
The Board regularly reviews its own performance and carried
out a formal evaluation ir June 2021. The Board, in accordance
with the Code, appainted an externat evaluator, EquityCulture
Limited, to carry out the Board evaluation this year.
EquityCulture provides board evaluation services and has no
other connection wath the Company or any individual directors.
EquityCulture have reviewed and agree with this disclosure on
the Board evaluation undertaken by them. The main areas
considered during the evaluation were strategy. operations and
risk; succession planning: and Board and Committee meetings.
The Beard evaluation process was as foliows: [i) EguityCulture
and the Chair agreed a set of questions specifically drafted for
the Company’s Board Evaluation. The questions were designed
to focus the evaluation by Board rmembers in a number of key
areas and to cover the performance of the Board and its
Committees; lil] EquityCuliure used the agreed questions as the
basis for interviews with each of the directors and then produced
a report which compiled the results of the evaluation exercise;
(iiil the Chairman reviewed the results of the evaluation exercise
and shared them with Board members in September 2021; and
liv) in Navember 2021, the Board reviewed the results and agreed
actions for 2022,

The resuits of the assessment confirmed the strength of the
management of the Cormpany, a shared focus and deep
understanding of the business, a sound governance framework
and practices comgpliant with the Code. Additionally, the culture of
the Board remains very good, being apen and frank, whilst also
supportive and collaborative. As a result of the review, the Board
agreed an action plan that will be implerented in the financial
year ending 31 August 2022 and will include continued focus on
executive and nan-execulive succession ptanning and the overall
composition of the Board, keeping the strategy under review and
focusing on the prionities of each business to deliver shareholder
vatue; increasing focus on people 1ssues and retention of key
senior executives; and steps to improve the Board's procedures
and effectiveness, including the effectiveness of the annual
strategy session. The Board reviewed the agreed actions
following the internally facilitated evaluation carried cut in 2020
and agreed that guod progress had been made in respect of
these actions, including in respect of the Company’s Board
succession plan [most notably, the appointrment of two new
non-execulive directors and the ongaing search for a successor
to the Chairman) and improvements in the Board's procedures:
for example, how the Board is updated on the key stralegic
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Corporate governance report continued

initiatives which were identified at the Board strategy session.

In addition to the Board and Committee evaluation process, the
Group Chief Executive reviews the perfarmance of the Chief
Financial Officer/Chief Operating Officer [CFD/CO0) and other
senigr executives. The Chairman reviews the performance of the
Group Chief Executive.

The Chairman alse undertook a rigorous review with each of the
non-executive directors to assess their ettectiveness and
commitment to the role. During the year, the Chairman had
regular meetings with the non-executive directors, without the
executive directors present, to discuss Board issues and how to
maintain the best possible tearmn. The Board is sahshed that each
of the non-executive directors dedicates sufficient time to the
business of the Company and contributes to its governance and
operaticns. The Senior Independent Director met the cther
non-executive directors to undertake a rigorous assessment ot
Henry Staunton's performance given that he has served as
Chairman for eight years and has been on the Board for eleven
years. The hon-executive directors confirmed that there are no
relationships or circumstances which are likely to affect, or could
appear ta affect, his judgement or independence. The non-
executive directors, taking into account the views of the executive
directors, coricluded that Henry Staunton continues to act and
pertorm eftectively as Chairman and demonstrates his
commitment to the role.

Succession planning and culture

Under the Company's Articles of Association, directors are
required to retire and submit themselves for re-election every
three years and new directors appointed by the Board offer
themselves for election at the next AGM following their
appointment. However, in accordance with the Code, the Board
has agreed that all directors wishing to be appointed will stand
for election or re-election at the forthcoming AGM. At the last
AGM on 20 January 2021, all the directors at that time (aside
fram Suzanne Baxter) steod for election or re-election and were
duly elected with a range of 91.01 per cent to 99.12 per cent of
votes cast by shareholders.

The Company's Articles of Association give a power to the Board
to appoint directors and, where natice is given and signed by all
the other directors, to remove a director from office.

Curing the year ahead, the Board wilt continue to focus on
succession planning to ensure the readiness of internal
candidates for all key roles across the business. The Board is
committed to geod governance, culture and leadership,
recognising that these are key considerations for a strong,
sustainable business and that the tone cormes from the top.
Our business model on page 4 outlines the importance of
having the right people and skills; and cperating responsibly.
The Company’s values, behaviours and culture will ¢ontinue
to form an impartant part of the Board's discussions.

The Nominations Cornmittee will continue to support the Board
by ensuring that culture is built into recruitment and
succession considerations.

The Board monitars the culture of the business in a number of
ways, including: through interaction with executives, members of
the senior management team, and ather employees in Board
meetings and on visits to stores and other Company locations,
through regular Board agenda items and supporting papers,
covering risk managernent, internal 2udit reports and follow-up
actions. customer engagement, health and safety, employee
engagement and retention, whistieblowing and regulatory
breaches; reviewing the resulls of staff surveys, locking at a
range of employee indicaters, inciuding engagement, retention,
absence, learning and development, gender pay, diversity.
workforce compesition and demographics: and engaging with
other stakeholders, as described in the Corporale governance
report. During the year, the Board was satisfied that the pelicy,
practices and behaviour of the Board and employees were
aligned with the Company’s purpose, values and strategy.

The Board recognises the importance of being visible and
accessible to customers and employees. During the year the
non-executive directors accompanied management on site visits
to the High Street and Travel stores. The Board believes that site
visits provide directors with valuable insights inle the business,
helping to deepen their knowledge and understanding of the
Company. When joining the Board, a new non-executivg director
typically meets individually with each Board member and senior
management to give them insight inte all aspects of the
business, including aur strategy, culture, values, sustainabity.
governance, and the opportunities and challenges facing the
business. The Company Secretary briefs thern on policies. Board
and Committee procedures, and core governance practice.

They visit a number of business locations and meet key advisers.
They also receive induction materials including recent Board and
Commiltee papers and minutes, strategy papers, nvestor
presentations, Matters Reserved for the Board and the Board
Committees’ Terms cf Reference.

During the year, Nicky Dulieu and Kal Atwal participated in an
induction programme, details of which are set out below:

* access to Board papers and minutes; briefing paper on the
duties of directors; Terms of Reference for Comimittees, Group
policies and pracedures including the Code of Dealing:

* meetings with senior management, including the managing
directors of the Group's businesses. Group HR Directar, Group
Risk Oirector, Investor Relations and Legal Director/

Company Secretary,

= meelings with advisers; and
s store visits,

The Board considered and approved that Kal Atwal could be
oppointed as a non-executive directer of Whitbread PLC, with
effect from 1 March 2021. The Board concluded that there was na
conflict in Kal Atwal being appointed to the board of Whitbread
PLC and that the demands associated with a non-executive
director role would not affect her commitment to the Company.
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Diversity policy

The Board vatues diversity in all its forms, bath within its own
membership and at all levels of the Group. The Board is highly
supportive of the initiatives the Company has in place to promate
diversity throughout the business. The Board believes that
diversity in its widest sense is 3 key component to the success of
the Company and recewes reports an the Cormpany’s diversity
profile to ensure that our warkforce reflects our commitment to
diversity. The Board aims lo ensure its membership, and that of
the wider Group, reflects diversity in its broadest sense so that it
has a cormbination of demographics, skills, experience. race, age.,
gender. education and professional background thereby providing
a3 wide range of perspectives, inssghts and challenge needed to
support goad decision-making. The Board's giversity policy aims
to ensure that the Board nominations/appointments process is
based on fairness, respect and inclusion, and that the search for
candidates will be conducted with due regard to the benefits of
diversity. It is the Company’s aim to achieve a minimum of a third
of women at Beard and senior levels. The Beoard also supports
the recommendations of the Parker Review on ethnic diversity
and has met the ‘1 by 24" targel. The Board recognises that there
is more to do to increase the ethnic representation across the
Company. For additional information on diversity and inclusion,
see pages 54 and 55. In order ta improve the diversity of the
Company's semor management team, the Company introduced a
new recruitment policy requiring that there is a shartlist of a
minimum of six candidates for ach vacancy of which 50 per cent
must be fernale and at least ane must be from a black or minority
ethmc background. The Remuneration Committee included the
Company's compliance with this pelicy as a personal objective for
the Group Chief Executive for the annual bonus plan in the
financial year ended 31 August 2021. The Company also has a
Diversity and Inclusion Committee consisting of employees fram
across the Group together with the Group Chief Executive and the
Group HR Director. The Commuittee met three times during the
financial year ended 31 August 2021 and made recommendations
on how the Company can improve its diversity.

Further information on diversity can be found in the Nominations
Committee section on pages 54 and 55 and is set aut in the
Employees section of the Strategic report on pages 32 to 34.

Risk ranagement

The Beard has averall responsibility for the Group’s system of
nsk management and internal control lincluding financiat
controls, controls in respect of the financial reporting process
and operational and compliance contrals) and has conducted a
detailed review of its effectiveness during the year to ensure that
management has implemented its policies on risk and cantrol.
This review included receiving reports from management,
discussion, challenge, and assessment ot the pringipal risks.

No sigrificant failings or weskneasses were identilied from this
review. In addition, the Board also received presentations from
management on higher risk areas, for example, the angoing
impact of Cavid-19, supply chain, risks arising from Brexit and
increasing the Cormpany’s food offer. The Board has established
an argamisational structure with clearly defined lines of
responsibility which identify matters requiring approval by the
Board. Steps continue to be taken to embed internal control and
risk management further into the operations of the business and

to deal with areas that require improvernent which come to the
attention of management and the Board. Such a system s,
however, designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Board confirms that there is an ongoing process for
identifying, evaluating and managing emerging and principal
risks faced by the Group, including those risks relating to social,
environmental and ethical matters. The Board undertakes a
robust assessment of the emerging and principal risks.

The Board confirms that the processes have been in place for the
year ynder review and up to the dale of this report and that they
accord with the Financial Reporting Council ['FRC’] Guidance on
Risk Management, Internal Contre! and Related Financial and
Business Reporting [the ‘Risk Management and Internal Cantrol
Guidance'}. The processes are regularly reviewed by the Board.
The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group together
with the procedures and processes for identifying, managing and
the steps taken to mitigate principal and emerging risks can be
found in the Strategic report on pages 21 to 28.
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Further information on internal controls and risk management
can be found in the Audit Committee report on pages 49 to 53.

Engagement with shareholders

The Board's primary role is to promote the success of the
Company and the interests of shareholders. The Board is
accountable to shareholders for the performance and activities
of the Group. The Company recognises the importance of
communicating with its sharehelders to ensure that its strategy
and performance are understood. This is achieved principally
through the Annual report and accounts and the AGM. In addition,
a range of corporate information. including all Company
announcements and presentations, is available ta investors an
the Company’s website whsmithple co.uk.

Formal presentations are made to institutional shareholders
foliowing the announcement of the Company’s full year and
interirm results. The Board recognises that the AGM is normally
the principal forum for dialogue with private shareholgers.

All directors normally attend the AGM and are available to
answer questions that shareholders may wish to raise. As a
result of Covid-19, the Campany did not hold a physical AGM in
January 2021 but gave shareholders the opportunity to ask
questions in advance of the meeting. The queslions and answers
were published on the Company's website [whsmithple.co.uk/
response-shareholder-questions-2021-agm). At the time of
writing, UK public health regulations and guidance allow us to
return to an in-person meeting this year, with shareholders
physically able ta attend the AGM shoutd they wish to do so.

We will continue to review our AGM arrangements in light

of the latest gavernment Covid-19 guidance, and therefore
shareholders are encouraged to monitor the AGM page

of the Company's website www.whsmithplc.co.uk/investors/
shareholder-centre/agm for any updates.
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Corporate governance report continued

The Board as a whole is kept fully informed of the views and
concerns of major shareholders. The Group Chief Executive and
CFD/COO0 update the Board following meetings with major
shareholders and analysts’ briefings are circulated to the Board.
The Head of Investor Relations also carries out a regular
programme of work and reports to the Board the views and
infarmation needs of institutional and major investors. This is
part of the regular contact that the Group maintains with its
nstitutional shareholders. When requested to do so, the
Chairman and non-executive directors attend meetings with
major shareholders. The Chairman spoke ta some of the
Company’s largest shareholders to discuss the Board's
succession plan and composition of the Boarg. Following the
2021 AGM, at which a significant minarity of shareholders voted
against the Directors’ rernuneration report, the Chair of the
Remuneration Committee sought the views of the Company's
largest shareholders and representatives in respect of the
Company’s new remuneration policy and Carl Cowling's salary.
The feedback from those shareholders who engaged in the
consultation process was suppartive of the proposed changes
te the Company's remuneration policy. The feedback was
informative for both the Board and the Remuneration Committee
when finalising the Campany's remuneration policy, which will be
considered by shareholders at the forthcoming AGM, and Carl
Cowling's salary.

Anti-corruption

The Company has continued to enhance its policies and
procedures in order to meet the requirements of the Bribery Act
2010. These policies and procedures include training for
individuals to ensure awareness of acts that might be construed
as contravening the Bribery Act. The Group's policy on anti-
bribery and corruption is included in the Cormpany’s Code of
Business Conduct at whsmithple.co.uk/sustainability.

Fair, balanced and understandable

The Board canfirms that it considers the 2021 Annual report and
accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandzbie
and provides the information necessary for shareholders to
assess the Company's position and performance, business
model and strategy.

Discussicn of the Board's assessment aof the Annual report and
accounts is described in the Audit Commitiee report on pages
51 and 52

Board Committees

The Board delegates specific respensibilities 1o the Board
Committees, being the Audit, ESG, Nominations and
Remuneration Committees. Details of the role and
responsibilities of the Audit Committee can be found on pages
49 to 53, the Nominatiens Committee on pages 54 and 55 and
the Remuneration Committee on pages 58 to 84 The role and
responsibilities of each Comrnittee are set out in formal terms
of reference which are available on the Company’s website
whsmithplc.co.uk.

Approvals Committee

The Appravals Commuttee facilitates the internal approvals
process by approving maiters as detegated by the Board.

The Approvals Committee comprises the Group Chief Executive
and the CFO/CCO.

Disctosure Committee

The Disclosure Committee is responsible far ensuring
compliance with the Company’s gbligations under MAR
and the maintenance of disclosure controls and procedures
The Disclosure Committee comprises all of the directors

of the Company and the Company Secretary.

ESG Committee

The ESG Committee is responsible for reviewing and approving
Company strategies, policies and performance in relation to
environmental, social and governance matters and ensuring
those strategies are integrated with the care business strategy of
the Group, The Corimittee is also responsible for approving key
perfarmance indicators, short-, medium- and long-term ESG
targets and monitoring progress towards achievement of those
targets on a regular basis. The Committee comprises a majority
of independent non-executive directers. The members of the
Committee are Kal Atwal {Chair], Carl Cowling, Nicky Dutieu,
Annemarie Durbin, Simon Emeny, Henry Staunton and Maurice
Thompson. As the first meeting of this Committee will be in
November 2021, the work of this Committee will be mare fuily
described in next year's Annual report.

Remuneration Committee

Information on the compostion and activities of the
Remuneration Committee can be found in the Directors’
remuneration report o pages 58 to 84.
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Audit Committee report

| am pleased to present my report on the activities
of the Audit Committee for the financial year ended |

31 August 2021."

Nicky Duliey
Chair of the Audit Committee

Audit Committee report

Bear Sharehoider

As Chair of the Audit Committee, | am pleased to present my
report on the activities of the Audit Committee for the financial
year ended 31 August 2021. Qur principal objectives are to
oversee and assist the Board in its responsibility to produce a set
of Annual report and accounts which are fair, balanced and
understandable and to provide elfective financial governance in
respect of the Group’s financial results, the performance of both
the internal audit function and the external auditors, and the
management of the Group's systemns of internal control, business
risks and related compliance activities.

The other members of the Committee are Kal Atwal. Annemarie
Durbin, Simon Emeny and Maurice Thompsor, who are all
independent non-execulive directors. The Board considers that |
have recent and relevant financial experience, as required by the
Code, and that the Committee, as a whaole, has compstence
relevant t¢ the sector in which the Company operates. At the
invitation of the Commuittee, the Chairman of the Board, the
Group Chief Executive, the CFO/CQO0, the Director of Audit and
Risk, representatives of the Group's senior management team
and of the external audiors attend meetings. The Committee has
regular private meetings with the external and internal auditors
during the year.

A summary of the activities undertaken by the Committee during
the year is as follows:

considering the impact of Covid-19 on the Company and s
financial results, including the asset impairment charges that
have been recognised at the year end;

considering papers from management cn the significant
financial reporting judgements made in the preparationof the
interim report and the Annual report and accounts;

cansidering the Company's going concern statement and
papers from management which consider the liquidity of

the Group,

considering the Company's viability statement and papers fram
management, which considers the tong-term viability of

the Group;

reviewing the effectiveness of the Group's financial reporting,
internal control policies and procedures for the identification,
assessment and reporting of risk, including cyber security

and tax;

L]

¢ monitaring the integrity of the Group's financial statements
and trading statemnents; :

*

»

assessing and recommending to the Board that the Annual
report is fair, balanced and understandable;

reviewing the Interim report and the Annual report and
accounts, including, where relevant, compliance with the
Listing Rules, Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules,
Code and statutory reporting requirements and recommending
those documents for Board approval;

considering the Company’s emerging and principal risks and
uncertainties and reviewing the mitigating actions that
managernent has taken to ensure that these risks are
appropriately monitored and controlled;

considering the Company’s systems and framework of controls
designed to detect and report fraud and money laundering;
receiving the reports from Internal Audit in respect of calls to
the Company’s confidentia! Speak Up helpline;

receiving reports and presentations fram members of the
Campany's senior management and its business risk
committees on areas of the Company’s control and risk
management processes;

receiving and reviewing reports from the Internal Audit and
Risk teamns and reviewing and agreeing thew annual plans;
holding private meetings with the external and

internal auditors;

considering the irmpact of Brexit on the Company;

agreeing the scope of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP's | PwC’)
annual audit plans, assessing the effectiveness of the external
audit precess and considering the accounting, financial control
and audit 1ssues reported by PwC that flowed from their work;
reviewing external avditor independence and approving the
policy on the engagement of PWC to supply non-audit services;
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negobhating and agreeing the audit fee,
undertaking a performance review of Inlernal Audit and the
external auditors;

reviewing the Company’s treasury policy,
approval of the Group Tax Strategy:

receiving updates on the policies and procedures for the
General Data Protection Regulation {GDPRY;

considering and approving the repart on the Company's
payment practices;

assessing new accounting standards; and
reviewing the Committee’s terms of reference.
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Corparate governance

Corporate governance report continued

FRC Audit Quality Review

The Campany received a letter an 27 July 2021 from the Financial
Reporting Council (FRC) noting that it had carried out a review of
PwC's aydit of the Company’s financial statements for the year
ended 31 August 2020. We were pleased with the outcome of the
FRC’s Audit Quality Review [AQR) which reported no key findings
and a number of good practice matters and the Committee
concluded that it had no concerns ahout the quality of the

2020 audit.

Significant financial reporting issues and areas
of judgement

In preparing the financial statements, there are a number of
areas requiring the exercise by managernent of particutar
judgement. | he Committee’s role 15 to assess whether the
judgements made by management are reasonable and
appropriate. In order to assist in this evatuation, the CFO/COG
presents an accounting paper ta the Committee twice a year,
setting out the key financial reporting judgements, and other
papers as required. The main areas of judgement that have been
considered by the Committee in the preparation of the financial
statements are as fellows:

Going concern

The Committee reviewed and challenged management's
assessment of forecast cash Hows for the period to 28 February
2023 including sensitivity to trading and expenditure plans. and
for the potential impact of uncertainties including Covid-19 and &
macreeconomic downturn. The Committee also considered the
Group’s financing facilites ang future funding plans. Based on
this, the Committee confirmed that the application of the going
concern basis for the preparation of the financial statements
continued to be appropriate, with no material uncertainties.

The Committee received a report from PwC on the wark
undertaken to assess going concern and specifically discussed
the content of the disclosures made in the going concern
statement in the Annual repert and the basis of preparaticn
within Note 1 of the financial statements on page 103.

The going concern statement is set out in the Directors’ report an
page &7. For further information see Note 1 of the financial
staternents on page 103.

Impairment review of store assets

The Committee received and considered a paper from
management covering the judgements made in respect of the
irnpaiArment testing of the Group’s property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use store assets. The paper recognised that there
was an increased risk of asset impairment at 31 August 2021
given that sales and cost pressures and the resultant forecast
reduction of future profitability in some stores caused by Covid- 19
or otherwise may adversely impact the recaverable value of
assets used within the store portfolio. The Cammittee noted that
rmanagerment had considered the trading results of each store for
the year and noted that where a store is loss-making and is not
expected to return to profitabrlity in the near future, an
impairment charge is recognised over the assets that cannot

be recycled and their value recovered through the generation

of future trading profits within the stare portfolio. Given that
management has continued to report on the performance of the

business on a pre-IFRS 16 basis within its Alternative
Performance Measures alongside the statutory measures
derived under IFRS 16, the paper and discussions considered
impairment assessment of store assets on both bases.

The Committee challenged management on the assumptions
used within the impairment models and received and discussed
a paper from PwC on their work in this area, which specifically
considered and reported on their challenge and assessment of
the key assumptions used and that the resultant charges were
allocated appropriately. The Committee was satisfied that the
approach adopted by management was sufliciently robust to
identify when an impairment charge of store assets needs to be
recognised and how it should be assessed and reparted.

Goodwill and determination of operating segments

The Committee considered a paper from management on
goodwitl. This set out the determination of the cash-generating
units I'CGUs’) to which goodwill has been allocated across the
Group, the carrying value of goadwill, the results of the value-in-
use calculations and the outcomes from impairment testing.
The Committee discussed the Company’s approach to allocating
goodwill between the revised operating segments of Travel UK,
North America and Rest of the World. The disclosures in respect
of goadwill were also reviewed.

The Committee discussed PwC’s paper to the Committee which
set out therr work undertaken in respect of goodwitl and
considered the approach to the accounting, CGU determination,
impairment testing and disclosure used by the Company.

Convertible bond

The Committee considered a paper from management on the
accounting treatment of the converuible bond. It discussed the
judgements taken in respect of the accounting treatment of the
conversion option on initiat recognition of the bond and the
valuation methadology applied. The Committee was satistied that
the judgernents taken, and the resulting accounting treatment
applied, are appropriate. The Committee also considered the
disclosure included by management in the Annual report

and accounts.

Inventory vatuation

The Committee received a paper from management on
accounting for and valuation of inventory. noting in particular the
impact of Covid-19 on trading. It discussed the judgements made
by management, with specific consideration given to inventory
provisioning [both on an underlying and non-underlying basis),
including provision for out-of-date, slow moving or ohsolete stock
and the classification and disclosure of related charges in the
income statement and financial statements. The Committee also
received a paper fram PwC regarding the audit work they
performed over the valuation of inventary and the presentation

of inventory provision charges in the income statement split
hetween underlying and non-underlying. The Committee is
satisfied that the process and judgement adopled by
management for the valuation of inventory is sufficiently robust
to establish the value af inventory held and is satisfied as to

the appropriateness of the Company’s provisioning policy and
presentation of invenlary provisions.
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One-off transactions

The Committee cansidered the presentation of the financial
statements and, in particular, the use of alternative performance
measures and the presentation of non-underlying items in
accordance with the Group accounting policy. This policy states
that adjustments are only made to reported profit before tax in
determining an atternative performance measure where charges
are not considered part of the normal operating costs of the
business, are non-recurring or are considered exceptional
because of their size, nature ar incidence. The Committee
received detailed reports fram management outlining the
judgements apptied in relation to the non-underlying costs
incurred duripg the year. These casts were atiributable to the
casts arising as a result of the ongoing impact of Covid-19 on the
Group including restructuring costs, asset impairment charges,
the cost of writing down slow moving or obsolete inventory and
costs of refinancing. This was an area of major focus for the
Committee which was cognisant of the need to ensure that costs
were appropriately classified and that the disclosure of the
nan-underlying items was sufficient for users of the financial
statementis 1o understand the nature and reason for the costs.
The Committee challenged management on the nature of costs
classified as non-underlying, particularly discussing the factors
underpinning the Covid- 19 related costs and seeking specific
input frem PwC. PwC outlined the detaits and nature of the audit
work carried out by them in this area, along with their
consideralion of the disclosures presented by management and
the appropriateness of the cost classifications adopted.

Pensions

The Committee assessed the accounting treatment adopted by
management and the application of IAS 19 in relation to the
WHSmith defined benefit pension scheme The Committee
considered the current guidance and requirements in respect of
pensions accounting, reviewed the judgements made in respect
of the assumptions used i the valuation of the Company's
obligations under the scheme and the recognition of future
liabilities in respect of commutted scheme contributions on the
balance sheet. A detailed report on prensions accounting and
related disclosures was provided by the auditor which set out the
work performed including their challenge and assessment of key
scheme valuation assumptions compared to their independently
observed ranges. .

Viability statement

The Committee reviewed the process and assessment of the
Company's prospects made by management in support of its
longer-term viability statement, including:

* the review period and alignment with the Company's internal
plans and forecasts and with its work to support the going
concern basis of presentation for the financial statements;

« the assessment of the capacity of the Company to remain
viable after cansideration of future cash flows, borrowings and
mitigating factors; and

» the modelling of the potential financial impact of certamn of the
Company's principal risks materialising using severe but
plausible scenarios, including the impact of Covid-1%, on the
Cormpany's financial performance.

The Committee considered the viability statement and related

analyses alongside its work on going cancern, &5 set out in this

report on page 50. It also discussed the clarity and
appropriateness of the disclosures made within the viability
statement and discussed these with PwC.

The viability statement is set out in the Strategic report on
page 28.

Fair, balanced and understandable assessment

Al the request of the Board. the Committee has cansidered
whether, in its opinign, the 2021 Annual report and accounts,
taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable, and that
it provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess
the Company's position and performance, business madel and
strategy. The Committee was assisted in its review by a number
of processes, including the following:

+ lhe Annual report and accountls rs drafled by seniar

rnanagerment with overall co-ordination by a member of the

Group Finance team to ensure consistency across the

relevant sections, .

an internal verification process is undertaken to ensure

factual accuracy;

= an independent review is undertaken by the Birector of Audit

and Risk to assess whether the Annual report and accountsis

fair, balanced and understandabie using a set of pre-defined

indicators [such as consistency with internally reported

information and investar cormmunications;

comprehensive reviews of drafts of the Annual report and

accounts are undertaken by the executive directars and ather

senior management;

an advanced draft is reviewed by the Board and the Company's

Legal Director and, in relation to certain sections, by external

legal advisers; and

» the final draft of the Annual report and accounts was reviewed
by the Committee prior to consideration by the Board.
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Corporate governance

Corporate governance report continued

In the current year, the Committee specifically considered the
disclosures made in respect of the impact on the business of the
Covid-19 pandemic and the presentatron and explanation of the
statutory and alternatve performance measures. This included
consideration of the use of measures derived consistently with
IFRS 14 [Leases] and APMSs derived on a pre-IFRS 16 basis [IAS
17). These pre-IFRS 16 APMs have been adopted to help to
rdemanstrate the underlying. year on year performance of the
business following the introduction of IFRS 16 during the prior
year and its matesial impact on the Group's results.

Following its review, the Commitiee advised the Board that the
Annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, was considered to
be fair, balanced and understandable and that it provided the
information necessary for shareholders o assess the Company's
position and perfermance, business model and strategy.

Risk management and internal controls

The Committee monitors and regularly reviews the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management processes and internat financial
and nen-financial contrals, The key features of the risk
management process that were in piace during the year are

as follows:

* each business conducts nsk assessments based on identified
business objectives, which are reviewed and agreed annually
by the executive management of each business. Risks are
considered in respect of strategy, reputaticn, operations,
financial and compliance and are evaluated in respect of their
pctential impact and tikelihood. These risk assessments are
updated and reviewed quarterly and are reported to
the Cornmitteg;

a Group risk assessment is also undertaken by the Internal
Augit team, which considers all areas of potential risk across
all systems. functions and key business processes. This risk
assessment, together with the business risk assessments,
forms the basis for determining the Internal Audit Plan.
Audit reports in relation to areas reviewed are discussed and
agreed with the Committee;

the internal Audit team meets annually with all senior
execulives, to undertake a formal review and certification
process in assessing the effectiveness of the internal controls
across the Group. The results of this review are reported to
the Committee:

» the Committee confirmed to the Board that it has reviewed the
effectiveness of the systems of internal contral, including
financial, operational, and compliance controls and risk
management tor the period of this report, in accordance with
the Code and the Risk Management and Internal
Control Guidance;

+ the Board is responsible for approving the annual budget and
the three-year plan, for approving major acquisitions and
disposals and for determining the financial structure of the
Company. including treasury and dividend policy.

Manthly results, variances from ptan and forecasts are
reported to the Board;

« the Committee assists the Board in the discharge of its duties
regarding the Group’s financial statements, accounting policies
and the maintenance of internak business, operational and
financial controls. The Committee invites input and attendance
from members of the senior management team of the Group
at its meetings to discuss the design and operation of key
business and internal controls and the assessment of risks
that affect the Group. The Committee provides a link between
the Board and PwC through regular meetings;

« the Company has established internal control and risk
managernent systems in relation to the process for preparing
consolidated financial staternents, The key features of these
systems are that management regularly monitors and
considers developments in accounting regulations and best
practice in financial reporting and, where appropriate, reflects
developments in the consolidated financial statements.

PwC also keeps the Commitlee appraised of these

developrnents; the Committee and the Board review the drait

consolidated financial statements. The Committee receives
reports from management and PwC on significant judgements,
changes in accounting policies, changes in accounting
estimates and other pertinent matters relating ta the
consolidated financial statements, and provides robust and
independent challenge to management where appropriate; and
the full year financial statements are subject to external audit
and the half-year financiz| statements are reviewed by the
external auditor;

the Internal Audit team advises and assists management in the

establishment and maintenance of adequate internal controls

and reports lo the Cormmittee on the effectiveness of

those controls;

« there is a comprehensive system for budgeting and planning
and far monitoring and reporting the performance of the
Company’s business to the Board. Monthly results are reported
against budget and prior year, and forecasts for the current
financial year are regularly revised in light of actual
perfarmance. These results and forecasts cover profits, cash
flows, capital expenditure and balance sheets,

« routine reports are prepared to cover treasury activities and

risks, for review by semior executives, and annual reports are

prepared for the Board and Committee covering tax, treasury
policies, insurance and pensions, ang

the Board is committed to maintaining high standards of

health and safety in all its business activities. These standards

are set out in the Company's Health and Safety Policy, which is
regularly reviewed by the Board. A copy of our Health and

Safety Palicy is available at whsmithplc.co.uk/sustainability.

The Risk Management team works with the business te assess

health and safety risks and introduce systems to mitigate

them. All reportabie accidents are investigated and targets are
set to reduce the level of incidence.

The Director of Audit and Risk attends the meetings of the
Comimittee to discuss the above malters.
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External auditor

During the year PwC reparted to the Committee on their
independence from the Company. The Committee and the Board
are satishied that PwC has adequate policies and safequards in
place te ensure that auditor objectivity and independence are
maintained. The Committee has recommended to the Beard the
re-appointment of the external Auditars for the 2022 financial

_year and the directors will be proposing the re-appointment of
PwC at the forthcoming AGM.

PwC were first appointed as external auditors at the 2015 AGM,
fellowing a competitive tender process completed in 2014,
Jonathan Lambert was appointed 2s the PwC audit partner and
Senior Statutory Auditor at the conclusion of the 31 August 2019
year end.

In accordance with applicable law and regulation, the Company is
required to conduct a competitive audit tender by December
2024, In line with the Company's policy for the external audit
cantract to be put out to tender at least every ten years, and in
compliance with the rules on mandatory audit rotation, the
Committee propose that a competitive tender process is likely to
be held in 2023. The Committee considers that a competitive
tender is in the best interests of our shareholders as it will altow
the Company to appoint the audit firm that will prowide the
highest quality, most effective and efficient audit.

The Committee will continue to monitor the appeintment,
effectiveness and independence of PwC as external auditars,
35 well as considering whether this proposed timing remains
appropriate in light of business developments, applicable law
and regulation.

In line with our terms of reference, the Committee undertook a
tharough assessment of the quality, effectiveness, value and
independence of the 2020 year end audit provided by PwC.

The Director of Audit and Risk prepared a questionnaire seeking
the views and feedback of the Board, together with those of
Group and divisicnal management, and it formed the basis of
further discussion with respondents. Input was sought from
Committee members and from members of the management
teamn on areas including the auditar’'s expertise, professionalism,
independence and challenge; their planning and audit approach;
the quality and content of reporting and the outputs from the
audit; and governance of the audit including assessment of team
members’ performance and independence. The findings of the
survey were considered by the Commiltee and concluded that
PwC continued to perform effectively and remains independent.
As a result, PwC's re-appaintment as external auditors at the
forthcoming AGM is recommended to sharehalders.

The Committee has a formal policy on the Company's
relationship with its external auditors in respect of non-audit
work to ensure that auditor objectivity and independence are
maintained. The policy is reviewed annually by the Committee
and was updaled following the introduction of the FRC Revised
Ethical Standard 2019 The only significanl non-audit work
undertaken by PwC in the financial year ended 31 August 2021
related to the interim review. The auditors may only provide such
services if such advice does not contlict with their statutary
responsibilities and ethical guidance. The Committee made
enquiries of PwC and management and were satisfied that no
such conflict existed.

On behalf of the Audit Committee, my approval is required before
the Company uses PwC for non-audit services as specifically set
out in the policy, or if the fees exceed £25,000 per matter.

The Commuttee s satishied that the Company was compliant
during ihe year with both the Cede and the FRC's Ethical and
Auditing Standards in respect of the scope and maximum level of
permitted fees incurred for non-audit services provided by PwC.
For the financial year ended 31 August 2021 the non-audit fees
paid to PwC were £136,100, of which £135,000 related to the
interim review, and the audit fees payable to PwC were
£1.450,000.

The Company has complied during the financial year under
review. and up 1o the date of this report, with the provisions of the
Statutory Audit Services for Large Companies Market
Investigation |[Mandatory Use of Competilive Tender Processes
and Audit Committee Responsibilities] Order 2014.
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Nicky Dulieu
Chair of the Audit Committee .

11 November 2021
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Corporate governance

Corporate governance report continued

Nominations Committee report

The Committee will continue to focus on
succession planning and talent management for

key roles in the business.”

Henry Staunton
Chair of the Nominations Committee

Nominations Committee

Dear Shareholder

As Chair of the Nominations Committee, | am pleased to present
my report an the activities of the Nominations Commiltee for the
financial year ended 31 August 2021. The Committee’s principal
responsibilily is to ensure that the Board comprises individuals
with the requisite skills, knowledge, ndependence and
experience to ensure that it 1s effective in discharging its
responsibitities and ensure that appropriate procedures are in
place for the nomination, selection and succession of directors
and senior executives, ’

The Committee comprises a majority of independent non-
executive directors. The aother members of the Committee are
Kal Atwal. Carl Cawling, Nicky Dulieu, Annemarie Durbin, Siman
Emeny and Maurice Thompsan. In the event of any matters
arising concerning my membership of the Board, [ woutd absent
myself from the meeting as required by the Code and the Senior
Independent Director would take the Chair.

The Committee met twice during the year. The principal matters
discussed at the meetings were succession planning for Board
and senior executives, the appointment of two new non-executive
directors, career planning and identifying talent across the
businesses and reviewing the work that has been undertaken

in respect of improving diversity in the Company's senior
executive group.

In accordance with the Board's succession plan which aims to
broaden the diversity of candidates to join the Board. the
Comrmittee appointed an external recruitment consultant,
Annabel Richards Limited, to assist in the process of
wdentilication of potential candidates to join the Board generally
and as a replacement for Annemane Durbin who will, after nine
years, step down from the Board at the forthcoming AGM.

For each search, Annabet Richards intiated a search which
produced 3 longlist of candidates. which was then reduced to a
shortlist of candidates. These shortlisted candidates were
interviewed by members of the Committee and the CFO/CO0,
and feedback on each candidate was compiled. As a result of
these searches, Kal Atwal was appointed as a non-executive
director on 1 February 2021 and Marion Sears will join the Board
as a non-executive director on 1 February 2022. | confirm that
Annabel Richards has no other relationship with the Company or
individual directors.

The Committee keeps iiself updated on key developments
relevant to the Company, including on the subject of diversity

and inclusion. Information on diversity, including gender,

in respect of the Board and the Company is set aut in the
Employees section of the Strategic report on pages 32 to 34.

The Board believes in creating throughout the Company a culture
free from discrimination in any form and is proud of its long
history of being regarded as a responsible and respected
employer. The Board believes that the benefits of a diverse
workfarce will help the Company achieve its strategic abjectives,

The Committee is fully committed to supporting diversity and
inctusion at Boardroam and senior executive level in compliance
with the Code and recognises the importance of diversity in
effective decision-making. The long-term aim is to increase the
diversity of our Board in all forms. The importance of diversity
extends beyond the Board to senior management and throughout
the Company. The Committee manitors the progress made to
increase diversity at Board and senior management levels and
compliance with targets and best practice recommendations set
for gender diversity by the Hampton-Alexander Review and tar
ethnic diversity by the Parker Review.

The Hampton-Alexander Review recommended that by 2020
there would be at least 33 per cent female representation at the
Board, Executive Committee positions and direct reports of the
Executive Committee [‘Senior Management Team'). We are
pleased ta report that as at 31 August 2021, three women and five
men served on the Board, which meant that 37.5 per cent of our
Board were female, Qur Group Executive Team has two out of
nine positiens held by women (22 per cent). Of their direct
reports, 22 out of 46 positions {32 per cent) are held by women.
The Cemmittee is mindful of the recommendation of the Parker
Review Report to have al least one Director from a non-white
ethnic minority by 2024 and is satisfied that aur Board currently
meets this recommendation.
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During the year under review, the Company had 37 per cent
women on the Board, 22 per cent in the Group Executive Team
and their direct reports and 32 per cent in the management
teamn. The Board is cormmitted to strengthening the pipeline of
women in senior reles across the business and an action plan
has been agreed to take further steps to improve workplace
diversity. Actions include the provision of mentoring. as well as
focused initiatives to better understand the challenges fared by
under-represented groups employed within the Company.

The Company has a Diversity end Inclusion Committee consisting
of employees from across the Group together with the Group
Chief Executive and the Group HR Director The committee has
met three times during the financial year ended 31 August 2021
and has made recommendations on recruitment, and engaged
with our customers and employees to mark culturat and diversity
related events during the year. These recommendations have
been acted upeon and adopted by the Company.

The Company requires gender balanced shortlists for all internal
and external recruitment at a senior executive level to ensure
that we attract more wornen at senior level. Further information
on the gender balance of those in senior management and their
direct reports is set out in the Strategic report an page 33.

The Company continues to work with ‘Everywoman” who provide
@ host of personal development tools aimed at women and also
provide our employees with links to an external network of
professional women 1n other organisations.

The Board recognises that diversity is not limited to gender, but
includes skills, experience. ethmcity, disability and sexual
orientation. The Board is committed to having a diverse and
inclusive leadership team and will monitor ethnic diversity across
the Group. The Company’s recruitment policy requires that for all
senior management roles there must be a shortlist which
includes at least one candidate from a non-white minority ethnic
backgreund. We will continue o appoint on merit, whilst arming
to broaden the diversity of the talent pipeline.

Further information on diversity is set out in the Employees
section of the Strategic report on pages 32 to 34.

The Committee will continue to focus on succession planning and
talent management for key roles across the business, to ensure
the Company develops a pipeline of high-quality internal
candidates for senior management roles. Work is being
undertaken to ensure succession arrangements are in place for
Board members and key management. Simon Emeny, the Senior
Independent Director, has, on behalf of the Board, commenced

a search for my replacement as Chairman. The Company has
appointed an external recruitment consultant, Lygon Group,

to assist in the process of identification of potential candidates.

The latest Board evaluation report confirmed that the culture

of the Board is excellent, being very cpen anc collaborative.

The Board continues to have a broad mix of skills, diversity.
experience and tatent, which enables the Board and the
Committees ta work effectively. The report also confirmed that
the Board is well led and has responded effectively to the issues
arising from Covid-19.

Henry Staunton
Chair of the Nominations Committee

11 Novermnber 2021

X
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Caorporate gevernance

Directors’ biographies -

Henry Staunton
Chairman

Date of appointment: 1 September 2010. Henry was appointed as
Chairman on 1 September 2013, Henry will step down as Chairman

in 2022.

Committee membership: Chair of the Nominations Commiltee and 2
mermber of the ESG Comimittee and Remuneration Commiltee.

Skills and experience: Henry brings a breadth of experience and
leadership in both executive and non-executive roles. He has extensive
hinance, media and retail experlise and is Chairrman of Capilal and
Counties Preperties PLC He was previously the Finance Direclor of
Granada and ITV, Chairman of Ashtead Group, Phoenix Group Holdings
and Vice Chawman of Legal and General PLC.

Robert Moorhead

Chief Financial
Officer and Chief
Operating Officer

Date of appointment: | December 2008.

Skills and experience: Robert has aver 25 years of relail and financial
management experience, which has proved invaluable in his role as
Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer. He has a deep
understanding of the Group's businesses and strategy and has a strong
track recerd of creating shareholder value. He is a Chartered Accountant
and joined WHSmith in 2004 as Retail Finance Direclor He is a non-
execulive director and Chair of the Audit Comenittee of The Watches of
Switzerland Group PLC. Previously, he was Group Finance Director at
Specsavers Opticat Group and Finance and IT Director of World Duly Free
Europe. He also held a number of roles at B&Q and Kinglisher Group.
He started his career at Price Waterhouse.

Carl Cowling
Group Chief Executive

]

Date of appointment: 26 February 2019. Carl was appointed as
Group Chief Executive an | Novermber 2019.

Committee membership: Nominations Commuttee and ESG Committee.

Skills and experience: Carl has considerable retail experience and has
been instrumental in the devetopment and execution of the Company’s
strategy. His strong leadership and strategic expertise enable him to
lead the Group and create shareholder value. He joined WHSmilh as
Managing Direclor, Travel in November 2014, In 2017, he was
appointed Managing Birector, High Street. Prior to joining WHSmith,
Carl was Managing Director of Global partnerships al Carphone
Warehause and previously spent aver a decade at Dixons where he held
the rotes of Ecommerce Director, Commeraial Director and Managing
Director of the airport retathing business, Dixons Travel.

Kal Atwal
Non-executive director

Date of appointment: 1 February 2021.

Committee membership: Chair of the £5G Commitiee and a
member of lhe Audit Commitlee, Remuneration Commitiee and
Norninations Committee.

Skills and experience: Kal has substantial marketing and digital
expertise. She spenl 16 years at BGL Group and held several roles,
including Founding Managing Director of comparethermarket.com and
Group Director responsible for brand-led businesses, group strategy
and corperate communicalions. Kal was alse Chair of Simply Cook prior
to its sale to Neslé. Kal is a non-executive director at Royal London
Group, Admiral Financial Services, a subsidiary of Admiral Group Plc.
Whilbread PLC and & board advisur fur Simply Cock Limited.
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Annemarie Durbin
Non-executive director

Date of appointment: 3 Cecember 2012.

Committee membership: Chair of the Remuneration Commiltee and a
memnber of the Audit Committee, ESG Commiltee and Nominations
Committee. Annemaric will step down as a non-executive director
following the Company’s forthcoming AGM.

Skills and experience: Annemarie’s inlernational background and her
legal experience and knowledge of regulalory and compliance matters
provides a valuable contrbution to the aperatian ol WHSmith. She is a
non-executive director and Chair of the Remuneration Committee of
Sanlander UK PLC. Persimmon PLC and Petershill Partners PLC and
Chair of Cater Allen Lirnited. Previously, she was a non-executive director
of Ladbrokes Coral Group PLC and was Chair of the Listing Authority
Advisory Panel. She has 25 years international banking experience,
particularly across Asia, Africa and the Middle Easl, operaling at Board
and bExecutive Committee level. In addition to her directorships,
Annemarie is an executive coach and a conflict mediatar.

Maurice Thompson
Non-executive director

Date of appointment: 24 February 2019.

Committee membership: Member of the Audit Cemmittee, ESG
Cammiltee, Remuneration Commuttee and Neminations Committes.

Skills and experience: Maurice has substantial Board and financial
expertize, with over 30 years ol experience in the international banking
industry. He is able to draw upon his extensive knowtedge of financial and
sirategic experience to assist the Beard and its Commitlees.

He previously held the position of Chief Executive of Citibank in the UK.

Simon Emeny
Non-executive director

Date of appointment: 26 February 20i9.

Committee membership: Senior Independent Directar and a member
of the Audit Commuttee. ESG Commuttee, Remuneration Commitiee
and Nominations Committee.

Skills and experience: Simon has a wealth of consumer-facing
experience, including transport hub sites, and brings this broad range
of skills and commercial expertise lo the Board and its Committees.
He is Group Chiel Exacutive of Fuller, Smith & Turner PLC, a role he has
held since 2083, Simon was prewously the Senior Independent Director
of Dunelm Group PLC.

Nicky Dulieu

Non-executive director

Date of appointment: 9 Seplember 2020.

Committee membership: Chair of the Audit Committee

and a member of the ESG Commitlee, Remuneration Commilttee

and Nominations Committee.

Skills and experience: Nicky has substanlial fingncial and relail
experlise. She trained as an accountant and held various sirategic and
financial roles within Marks & Spencer Group PLC over a 23-year period.
In 2006, Nicky joined the Board of Hobbs Limiled as Chief Operaling
Officer and Finance Director and was Chief Executive frorn 2008 until
2014. With her finance and reail expertise, she 15 3 vatuable member of
\he Board and Chair of the Audit Commitlee. She is & non-executive
director at Redrow PLC, Marshalt Motor Holdings PLC and Adnams PLC.

lan Houghton is Company Secrelary and Legal Director
and was appoinied in Seplember 1998,

Previous directors who served during Lhe financial year ended
37 August 2021:

Suzanne Baxter stepped down as a direclor of the Company
on 2D January 2021.
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Corporate governance

Directors’ remuneration report

The Campany believes that its approach to total compensation has

served the Company well. The proposed changes to the Directors’
remuneration policy are fully aligned to the Company’s strategic plan.
They are also in keeping with the Company’s culture that promotes

superior value creation in a responsible and sustainable way.”

Annemarie Durbin
Chair of the Remuneration Committee

Annual statement from the
Remuneration Committee Chair

Dear Shareholder

On behalf of the Remuneration Committee [the Committee’],
I am pleased to present the Directors’ remuneration report for
the financial year ended 31 August 2021. This report cavers
three areas,

* the forward-looking Directors’ remuneration pokicy which is
subject to a binding shareholder vote at our 2022 AGM as set
out on pages 61 to 72; )

the annual Directors’ remuneration report | report’] setting out
deta:ls of the implementation of our Birectors’ remuneration
policy in the financial year ended 31 August 2021 as set out on
pages 72 to 84. This report is subject to an advisory vote at our
2022 AGM; and

an explanation of how the proposed Directors’ remuneration
policy will be implemented in the financial year ending

31 August 2022 as set out on page 75 also forms part of

the Report.

-

The Remuneration Committee believes that the management
team has performed to a truly exceptional level this year.

In addition to steering the business through an extraordinarily
difficult period, their actions have been fundamentalin
establishing a commanding position from which the Company
can build back stronger going forward. More details of the
actions taken are set out below. Ol particular note has been the
winning of all 30 technology stores in UK airports and the circa
100 stores won and yet to open in Travel over the next three
years. The Board believe that this managernent team is pivotal to
the future success of the business. When balancing the interests
of all stakeholders in our decision-making, retaining and
motivating the management team for the future success of the
business has been one of our primary objectives.

Directors’ remuneration policy

Our Directors’ remuneration policy focuses on an approach to
pay which, we believe, is in our shareholders’ best interests and
pramaotes the long-term success ot the Company. Whilst it

provides executive remuneration packages which are competitive,

there is a very clear bias to variable pay with stretching and
rigorous performance measures and conditions designed to
deliver superior returns for shareholders over the {ong term.

Our existing rernuneration policy was supperted by 98.78 per cent
of shareholders at the 2019 AGM. The future palicy [subject to

sharehalder appraval] incorporates the following changes to
further bring the policy in line with governance best practices:

= introduction of forward-looking post-cessaticn share
ownership guidelines;

inclusion of appropriate ESG metrics into the LTIP from
September 2022; '

aligning the bonus opportunity for the two executive directors
at 160 per cent of salary i.e. to increase Robert Moorhead's
bonus epportunity from 130 per cent to 140 per cent in order to
recognise his impartance to the recovery and future success of
the Group; .

inclusion of ability in exceptional circumstances only to pay a
bonus of up to 20 per cent of maximum for strong personal
performance when financial thresholds have not been met,
noting that this gives less flexibility than many other
companies; and

re-conhirmation that executive director pensions will be atigned
with the wider workforce from 1 January 2023.

Our Directors’ remuneration policy has worked well supporting
the Company’'s long-term strategy to create shareholder value.
You can see how the Company has, over the past ten years,
generated sharehalder value over this period in the TSR graph
on page 77.

The Campany’s remuneration philosophy can be summarised as
providing at or below the median of market levals of fixed pay but
with the apportunity to earn upper quartite levels of remuneration
for exernplary performance aimed at delivering superior returns
for shareholders in a responsibie and sustainable way over the
long term. Further details of the propused changes to the
Company's remuneration policy are set out on pages 61 to 72,

Business Context: “Building Back Stronger as a result
of management actions”

Although inevitably Covid-19 has continued to impact the
Company during the financial year ended 31 August 2021,
management has exerted considerable etfort to strengthen and
reshape the Company during the year focusing on initiatives
within its control. These have supported the Company in the
short term and will put the Company in a streng position to
emerge stronger as all our markets recover. As glabal travel
restrictions have eased, the Company has seen a relurn to
travelling. led first by domestic travel and then short-haul.
Long-haut travel will be the last to recaver. Most industry
forecasts, including the Airports Council International ["ACI"),
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do not expect passenger numbers to return to 2019 levels until
2024, In order to "build back stronger”, management has:

* worked with Travel landlords and building on the Company's
strong relationships to create apportunities for winning new
business, extending key contracts and improving the quality
and location of the space where the Travel business operates.
The expansion of InMation into the UK through the winning of
all technology stores in UK airports is a good examiple of this
in practice. As at the end of October 2021, the Travel business
had won approximately 100 stores which have yet ta open,
inctuding the 30 InMotion stores in UK airports;

invested capex in strategically important projects which set
up the Group well far the future, such as our refitted stores at
London Heathrow Terminal 5 and our stores at the new
terminal at Manchester Airport; ‘

focused an growing average transaction values across

the Group;

extended categories and ranges to reflect the specific needs
of pur custorners in each location where we operate.
Management have done this through a forensic attention to
space, cross category promatiens, merchandising, store
layouts and store refits;

.

ranges, investing in our websites, marketing, fulfitment and
distribution and building customer engagement through
saciat media;

actively taken steps to improve the Company's environmental
tootprint and was recogmised as a leader in ESG through
inclusion in the Dow Jones Sustainability World Index;

* maintained a sharp focus on costs, minimising discretionary
spend and managing the Company’s cash burn; and

secured the Company’s financial position through the
agreement of new bank financing arrangements and the issue
of the convertible bond. The Company is not, and has net,
participated in any gevernment-backed loan arrangements.
Whist the financial position has clearly been impacted by
Covid-19, the Committee considers that these changes [and
particularly the expansion of InMation in UK airports] have
enhanced this potentially high growth part of our business

giving an optimal platform to benefit shareholders as this
market returns.

As a result of management actions undertaken during the
financial year the Company reduced the Headline loss before tax
and non-underlying items' of £149m made in the second half of

grown the Company’s internet proposition by extending product

During the year, the Campany maintained a regular dialogue with
employee representative groups, unions, shareholders, suppliers
and landlords to ensure that all stakeholders have a common
understanding of the impact of Covid- 17 on the Company.

We have recognised the performance of employees acruss the
Company with approximately 1,750 colleagues receving a bonus
under the annual bonus plan for the financiat year ended

31 August 2021

For the financial year ended 31 August 2021 the Company
delivered a positive Headline EBITDA' of £19m. Whilst Headline
EBITDA' was positive, no dividends have been declared far the
financial year ended 31 August 2021. However, the Committee
noted that shareholders had seen an increase of approximately
39 per cent in the Company's share price as a result of the
Company's overalt financial improvement during the financial
year ended 31 August 2021.

The Committee took all of the above factors into account when
reachng Its decisions on executive director remuneration for the
financial year ended 31 August 2021 and these decisions are set
out below.

Recap on 2019/2020 remuneration decisions and
rationate for 2020/21 outcomes

Bonus

Sharehalders will recall that the Committee made no bonus
award to the executive directors for the financial year ended

31 August 2020. This was despite the Company performing very
strongly for the first six months of the financial year and
performing strongly against their personal objectives.

For the financial year ended 31 August 2021, the bonus target
was set using Headline EBITDA' as the primary metric rather
than Headtine profit before tax'. This was because the Company
was expected to deliver a PBT loss for the financial year atbeit at
a much reduced level than the previous financial year.

For the bonus plan, the Company slightly exceeded the target
Headline ERITDA' level and the Committee determined that both

executive directors performed 19 an exemplary level. You can read

about the actions that the executive directors took to build back
stronger on pages 56 and 59. The executive directors’ personal
objectives are set out on pages 80 and 81. However, recognising
the experience of shareholders and other stakeholders during
the financial year ended 3 August 2021, the Committee believed

that it was appropriate to exercise downward discretion to reduce

the formulaic annuat bonus out-turn to one-times salary for Carl

auewanoh a1eaodiog

Cowling [a 22 per cent reductian} and by the same percentage for
Robert Moorhead.

The Commuttee took this decision in order to balance the
experience of shareholders and other stakehelders during the
financial year ang to recognise the proactive steps taken by
management which, we believe, will create significant
shareholder value in the future. The level of discount is a matter
of judgement but was arrived at in the round locking at the
out-turn for other senior employees and noting that the executive
directors did not receive a bonus for the previous financial year
and that the 2418 LTIP has not vested as a result of the ongoing
impact of Covid-19 and lapsed on 1 November 2021, Qverall, this
reduced bonus was felt appropriate. This resulted in Carl Cowling

the financial year ended 31 August 2020 to a Headline loss before
tax and non-underlying items® of approximately E36min the
same period this year. in this context, the Committee decided that
both executive directors have performed at an exceptional {evel.

Nevertheless, we recognise that the Company has continued to
be significantly atfected by Covid- 19 and continued to access
government support in the farm of rates relief and furiough
support during the financial year ended 31 August 2021.

The Company aims 1o be a responsible partner to its other
stakeholders. You can read more about the Company’'s
stakeholders in the Company's $.172 statement on pages

37to 40.

1 Allernative performance measure defined and explained in the Glossary on page 154
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Corperate governance

Directors’ remuneration report continued

receiving a bonus of £550,000 and Rebert Moorhead receiving a
bonus of £357,500. The Carnmittee agreed that 23 per cent of the
bonus should be deferred in accordance with the rules of the
Company's Deferred Bonus Plan.

The Committee believes that the senior management team, and
in particular the executive directars, have provided oulstanding,
inspiring and resourceful leadership during another year of
uncertainty and disruption. Accordingly, the Committee believes
that the remuneration of the executive directors is proportionate
and appropriate when taking into account the experience of the
Company’'s stakeholders and the government support received by
the Company.

For the financial year ending 31 August 2022, the Committee has
reverted to the normal pre-Covid-19 practice of setting Headline
PBT as the financial metric for the annual bonus plan.

Salary

Shareholders will also recall that when Carl Cowling was
appointed CEO in November 2019, his base pay was set at a
lower level than his predecessor and lower than the market
median for FTSE250 CEOs. At the time, we explained to
shareholders that, subject to persanal performance. the intention
was to increase Carl Cowling's base salary in £25,000 increments
in April 2020, 2021 and 2022.

The Committee had previously assessed Carl Cowling's personal
performance for the financial year ended 31 August 2020 and
determined that this was exemplary, particularly in the context
of Covid-19 and therefore announced an intention to make the
scheduled increase with effect from Aprit 2021. At the 2021 AGM
a significant minority of shareholders did not suppert this
approach. As a result, the Company announced that it would
defer making this award until at teast the end of the financial
year ended 31 August 2021, The Cormmittee also confirmed that
it would engage with sharehelders and advisory bodies and that
it would consider the teedback received in developing the 2022
Directars’ remuneration policy, which is being put to a vote at the
2022 AGM.

Having done that, and in the context of Carl Cowling's continued
exemplary performance, when consulting with our largest
shareholders on the new Directors’ remuneration policy, we
advised that the deferred £25,000 increment had been made with
effect from | September 2021 and that there is an intention
[subject to continued personal performancel for the final
increment to be awarded with effect from 1 April 2022 in
accordance with the onginal intention shared with shareholders
in 2019. This will take Carl Cowling's base salary to €£600,000
from 1 April 2022.

The current market median for CEOs in the tep half, by market
cap, of the FTSE250 is £628,000 so, even after the previously
announced increments, Carl Cowling will continue to receive

a base salary below market median.

YAV
‘Annembrie Durbin”

The Commuttee is mindful that the decision to increase the CEQ's
salary was a judgement and some shareholders may have
preferred & further deferment. Carl Cowling became CED on

1 November 2019 so, consistent with best practice, his transition
to the agreed higher salary [which remains below the market
median] cansistent with our general philosophy, will have taken
two and a half years. it was felt that further delaying the increase
was not appropriate given the current demand for experienced
retail executives from PE-backed companies and demonstrates
our commitment to the remuneration package agreed on his
appointment. It should also be noted that the Company has not
defaulted to regular annual increases to its executive directors
and that Robert Moorhead has not received any pay increase
since May 2019. Honouring our commitment to an executive

who is now fully experienced in role and has perforemed at an
exceptional level is considered both right and fair.

LTIP

The 2018 LTIP vesting percentage is determined by the growth in
the Company's Headline £PS and TSR over Lhe three-year
performance period which ended on 31 August 2021.

The Company did not meet the performance targets for the Z018
LTIP and the awards lapsed. The Commitiee determined that the
formulaic out-turn under the LTiP was appropriate and should be
applied without discretionary adjustment.

in terms of long-terim incentives, in last year's Annual report we
advised shareholders that, for the financial year ended 31 August
2021, the LTIP award would have only one metric, TSR, rather
than the usual two metrics [EPS and TSR). The Committee is
proposing that, as done pre-Covid-19. the LTIP performance
targets for the linancial year ending 31 August 2022 wili be based
an Headline EPS fwhich as consulted on with shareholders
during 2020 will be assessed on a pre-tax basis from this grant
anwards} and on relative TSR,

The Committee agreed that the LTIP performance targets for the
financial year commencing 1 September 2022 will include ESG
targets which will be based on the Company’s Corporate
Responsibilily Strategy, namely Planet, People and Communities.
Further details of this will be developed and disclosed in the 2022
Directors’ remuneraticn report.

Finally, as you may be aware, this is my last letter to you as Chair
of the Committee. Having served nmne years on the board, § will be
stepping down as Chair of the Cornmittee at the AGM and
handing over to Marion Sears, who will take up the position when
she joins the Board on 1 February 2022. Marion Sears has a
wealth of experience of remunerationissues. | will be availabie at
the Annual General Meeting to answer any questions about the
work of the Committee,

.

Chair of the Remuneration Committee

11 November 2021
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This Remuneration Report has been prepared in accordance with
the Large and Medium-Sized Companies and Groups [Accounts

- and Reports} Regulations 2008, as amended 1n 2013, 2018 and
2019 [the "Regulations’), LR 9.8 of the UKLA Listing Rules and the
UK Cerporate Governance Code 2018 [the ‘Code’).

1. Information subject to audit
The fnllowing information has been audiled by PwC:

* Section 4.4 - Summary of non-executive directors’
remuneration 2021;

* Section 4.5 - Summary of executive directors’
remuneration 2021;

* Section 4.6 - Payments made to farmer directors;
* Section 4 7 - Payments for loss of office;

* Section 4.12 - Annual bonus targets;

* Section 4.13 - Share plans; and

* Section 4.17 - Directors’ interests in shares.

2. Background to Directors’ remuneration policy

The Company’s Directors’ remuneration policy can be
symmarised as providing at or below the median of market levels
of lixed pay but with the opportunity to earn upper quartile levels
of remuneration if the executive directors deliver superior returns
for shareholders.

Executive remuneration packages are structured sa that they:

* are aligned to the Company's strategy to deliver shareholder
returns and promole its long-lerm success;

* are aligned with the interests of shareholders,

* are competitive and provide a very clear bias to variable pay
with stretching and rigorous performance measures
and conditians,

* do not promote unacceptable behaviours or encourage
unacceptable risk taking;

* include robust malus/clawback provisions and holding periods
which permit the recoupment of variable pay if the pay-out was
based on misstated financial results, an error or incorrect
information, if the Committee concludes that circumstances
arose during the bonus year or vesting periad which would
have warranted suminary dismissal of the individual
concerned or if there is an insolvency having regard to the
Committee’s assessment of the involvernent of the individuat to
such event; and

take into account Company-wide pay and
employment conditions.

The key changes to the Company's Directors’ remuneration
policy are:

s The introduction of post-cessation share ownership quidetines
requiring executive directors to retain the policy level (300 per
cent of salary for the CEO and 250 per cent for other executive
directors| for two years post-cessation. This wilt apply to bath
new awards from the adoption of the policy and all
unvested awards.

« Annual bonus plan. this currently operates as a matrix of
financial targets and personal performance, where failure to
achieve the threshold financial level results in no bonus
payment. While this is felt appropriate in most cases, Covid-19
has clearly demonstrated that it can unfairly penalise executive
directors where they meel their personal objectives but the
financial threshold is not achieved and, therefore, no bonus is
paid. Consistent with other companies operating similar plans,
we propose introducing the ability to pay a bonus of up to 20
per cent of maximum if the Committee considers in
exceptional circumstances that the personal or other non-
financial performance warrant payment of a bonus against
pre-set targels noting that this actually constrains discretion
compared with some companies response to Covid-19 1t is
envisaged that this would only be invoked in exceptional
circumstances. The Committee also believes that it is
appropriate to align the banus opportunity for the two executive
directors at 160 per cent of salary li.e. to increase Robert
Moorhead's bonus opportunity from 130 per cent ta 160 per
cent] in order to recognise his importance to the recovery and
future success of the Group. The Committee believes that
increasing Robert Moorhead's variable pay rather than his fixed
pay is in Line with the Company's remuneration policy which
has served the Company and shareholders well in the past.

Introduction of ESG metrics to the LTIP: no changes to the LTIP
plan are proposed. The Committee has agreed that the
Long-Term Incentive Plan for 2022 will include ESG targets
which are relevant to the Company. The targets will be selected
from ESG targets associated with the Company’s sustainability
strategy, 2 Journey to a Betler Business [for more information
an the Company's sustainability strategy see pages 29 to 35I.
The sustainahility strategy has been developed following
detailed comsideration of the views of different stakeholders, to
ensure that the areas of focus are material and directly linked
to the Company's business strategy. Material and measurable
ESG targets will be selected by the Committee for inclusianiin
the LTIP for the grant in 2022. Typically, the performance
measures have been linked to EPS and relative TSR [tis
proposed that, from the grant in 2022, the performance
measures will be 40 per cent pre-tax EPS, 40 per cent relative
TSR and 20 per cent ESG.

* Pensians: the Company has already committed to align

executive director pension contributions to the all-employee
level, approximately three per cent, from 1 January 2023.
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Corporate governance

Directors’ remuneration report continued

3. The Directors’ remuneration policy

The Committee presents the Directors remuneration policy, which will be put ta 2 binding vote at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting and, subject to shareholder approval, will take immediate effect.

As part of its review of the remuneration policy, the Committee has considered the factors set out in Provision 40 of the Code.
in our view, the proposed Policy addresses those factors as set out below:

Simplicity

the Directors’ remuneration policy and our approach to its implementation are simple, appropriately designed
and well understoed, reinforcing the Group’'s culture as well as strategy;

the Committee reviews performance metrics and targets each year to ensure that they cortinue to be clear and
aligned 1o delivery of the strategy;

Predictability

the performance measures used in the incentive plans are well aligned to the Group’s stralegy and goals, with
stretching and achievable targets: the maximum awards under any award are clearly stated and, therefore,
predictable;

Proportionality

the balanced approach is proportionate and drives behavicurs that promote high performance and sustainable
growth to drive the long-term success of the Comipany for the benefit of all stakeholders, without encouraging or
rewarding excessive risk-taking; .

the Committee retains sufficient discretion to adjust formulaic incentive outcomes or require the repayment of
previous awards lo ensure that poor performance is not rewarded,

Risk

the Committee reviews and sets performance targets each year to ensure that they drive the right behaviours and
are appropriately stretching without encouraging unnecessary risks;

risk management is operated through annual bonus deferral, LTIP holding periods and, if appraved, our new
policy will introduce post-employment shareholding;

malus and clawback provisions apply to the annual bonus, OBP and LTIP;

Clarity

the Committee maintains a continual dialogue with shareholders and proxy agencies to understand their views.
We consulted with shareholders on remuneration arrangements, listening to and taking into account the
feedback we received when developing the new remuneration policy;

our approach to disclosure is transparent with clear rationale provided on its maintenance and any changes

to policy;

when considering remuneration for executive directors and senior management, the Committee takes into
account the pay and conditions of employees across the Group and, where appropriate, exercises oversight of
remuneration throughout the Cornpany;

Alignment to
Culture

the Committee assesses performance under the annual bonus plan against a range of objectives, including those
related to our values and strategy:

the introduction of ESG targets to the LTIP from the grant in 2022 will further help to ensure incentive schemnes
drive behaviours consistent with Company purpase, values and strategy.

The Committee has the discretion to amend the Directors’ remuneration palicy with regard to minor or administrative matters where
it would, in the opinian of the Committee, be inappropriate to seek or await shareholder approval.
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Future policy table
3.1 Executive directors

The following table explains the different elements of remuneration we pay to our executive directors:

Element and purpase

Policy and opportunity

Operation and perfor mance measures

"Base salary

This is the basic elernent of
pay and reflects the
individual's role and position
within the Group, with some
adjustment ta reflect their
Capability and contribution.
Base salary is used to attract
and retain execitive
directors who can deliver our
strateqic objectives and
create shareholder value.

= While base salaries are reviewed each year, the
Company’s policy is not automatically to award
an inflationary increase. When reviewing salaries,
the Committee takes into account a range of
factors including the Group's performance,
market conditions, the prevailing market rates
for similar positions i comparable companies.
the responsibilities, individual performance and
experience of each executive director and the
level of salary increases awarded to employees
throughout the Group.

Base salaries are benchmarked against both
FTSE 250 companies and other leading retailers.
While the Committee applies judgement

rather than setting salaries by reference to a
fixed percentile positian, its general approach

is to constrain base salaries to a median or
lower level.

While the Committee’s general approach is to
keep salaries at or below median, and, in the
normal course. would not expect salary
increases 1o be higher than the average for other
head office staff, given the need for a format cap.
the Committee had lirnited the maximum salary
in the previous policy which it may award to
£480,000 las increased by RPI from January
2019, approximately £739,000 at the year end].
Mo changes to this cap are proposed.

» Base satary is paid monthly in cash.

» Base salaries are reviewed typically annually with
any changes normally taking effect from 1 April.

aueusanoh alesodion

Benefits

To provide other benefits
valued by the recipient which
assist them in carrying out
their duties effectively.
Competitive benefits assist
In attracting and retaining
executive directors.

Provide market competitive benefits in kind.

The Company may periodically amend the
benefits available to staff The executive
directors would normally be eligible to receive
such amended benefits on similar terms to all
senior staff.

The value of benefits lother than relocation costs)
paid to an executive director in any year will not
exceed £80,000. In addition, the Commitiee
reserves the nght to pay relocation costs in any
year or any ongoing costs incurred as a result of
such refocation to an executive director if
considered appropriate to secure the better
performance by an executive director of their
duties. In the normal course, such benefits would
be limited to two years foilowing a retocation.

= Benefits received by executive directors comprise
a car allowance, staff discount, private medical
insurance and life assurance.

* While the Committee does not consider it to form
part of benefits in the normal usage of that term,
it has been adwsed that corporate hospitality
fwhether paid for by the Cormpany or another}
and business travel for directors may
technically come within the applicable rules
and so the Comimittee expressly reserves the
right to authorise such activities within its
agreed policies.

WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021 63



Corporate governance

Directors’ remuneration report continued

Element and purpose

Palicy and epportunity

Operation and performance measures

Pension

To aid retention and remain
cormpetitive within the
marketplace. The pension
provides an income fotlowing
retirement.

= Provide an employer-sponsored pension plan or
equivalent cash allowance. Pension contributions
lor cash in lieu) for new executive directors will
be aligned with the average rate available to
UK-based colleagues more generally,
approximately 3 per cent of satary but subject to
periedic review. The pension contribution for Carl
Cowling is 12.5 per cent and Robert Moorhead is
25 per cent of base salary until 31 December
2022, It will reduce to align with the wider
workforce rate, approximately 3 per cent of
salary, from 1 January 2023,

= All executive directors are eligible to participate
in the Campany’s defined contribution pensian
plan and/or receive a salary supplement in lieu
{which is not taken into account as salary for
calcutation of bonus, LTIP or ather benefits].

Although the mix may change, currently up 1o
five per cent of salary s paid into a 1eyistered
pension and up to 20 per cent by way of a salary
supplement, If the individual elects to receive the
five per cent direct [e.g. to avoid breaching HMRC
lirmits), employers’ NiCs are deducted from that
element.

Annuat bonus

3

To motivate employees and
incentivise delivery of annual
perfarmance targets.

= During the poticy period the bonus potential is
160 per cent of base salary with target levels at
48 per cent of maximum and threshotd-bonus
levels at 14 per cent of maximurm.

« Clawback provisions apply to the annual
bonus plan.

» Bonuses are paid in cash and shares. Any bonus
payable over target is deferred into shares for a
period of up to three years under the Company’s
Deferred Bonus Plan | DBF'). The shares are
released one third on each anniversary of
assessment,

*» The performance measures applied may be
financial or non-hnancial and corporate,
dasional or individuat and in such proportions as
the Committee considers appropniate. As set out
on page 79, currently, under the annusl bonus
plan, participants can earp a bonus based on the
achievernent of a financial target and a personal
rating measured agains! one or more specific
Ifinancial and/or non-financial] objectives.

The maximumm level of bonus paid to a participant
in the plan is dependent on the achievernent of
both the maximum target for the financial target
and the highest personal performarice rating.

In exceptional circumstances, up to 20 per cent
of the maximum bonus opportunity may be
payable independent of the financial out-turn.

The appropriateness of performance measures
is reviewed annually to ensure they continue to
support the Company's strategy.

Once set, performance measures and targets
will generally remain unaltered unless events
occur which, in the Cammittee’s apinion, make it
appropriate to make adjustments to ensure they
operate as originally intended and to take
account of events which were not foreseen when
the performance targets were originally set.
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Element and purpose

Policy and oppottunity

Qperation and performance measures

Long-term incentives

.,
-

To motivate and incentivise
delivery of sustained
performance over the
tong-term, the Group witl
operate the Long-Term
incentive Plan ['LTIP).
Awards delivered in shares
to provide further alignment
with shareholders.

* The normal policy is to award executive drectors
with shares with an initial face value of up to 350
per cent of base salary each year under the LTIF.
In practice, swards of 335 per cent for the Group
Chief Executive and 310 per cent for any other
executive director are made annually.

* The LTIP will credit participants with the benefit
of accrual for dividends paid over the
performance and any holding period.

» Malus and clawback provisions [in respect of
both unvested and vested paid awardst apply to
the LTIP.

* Awards are subject toa combined vesting and
holding periad of at least five years preventing
the delivery and sale of shares until the end of
the holding period.

* The Commuttee may set such performance
conditions as It considers appropriate lwhether
financiat or non-financial and whether corporate,
divisional or ingvidual] over a period of at least
three financial years.

» Once set, performance measures and targets
will generally rernain unaltered unless events
occur which. in the Committee’s opinian, make
it appropriate to make adjustments to the
performance conditions, provided that any
adjusted performance condition is, In its opinion,
neither materially more nor less difficult to
salisfy than the criginal condition.

» Executive directors can earn up to 25 per cent
of the award for threshold performance.

¢ The Cormpany will honour the vesting of all
outstanding awards granted prior to this
remuneration policy coming into force in
accordance with the terms of such awards

All-employee share plans

To encourage share
ownership by empioyees,
thereby allowing thern to
share in the long-term
success of the Group and
align their interests with
those of the shareholders.

= Executive directors are able to participate in
all-employee share plans on the same terms as
other Group employees.

» Sharesave - indimduals may save up ta such Limit
as permitted by the relevant legislation [currently
£500 each month) for a fixed period of three
years. At the end of the savings period,
individuals may use their savings to buy ordinary
shares in the Company at a discount of up to
20 per cent of the market price set at the launch
of each scheme.

* In ling with the geverming legislation, no
perforrnance conditions are attached to options
granted under the Sharesave Scheme
In addition, executive directors may participate
in other comparable all-employee incentives on
the same basis as other employees.

Notes to (he policy table

1 Siating maximum amounts for each element of remuneration
Where the ‘tahle relers io the maximum ampunt that may be paid in respect of any element of the policy, hese witl operate simply 85 caps and are nol indicative of any aspiration. In particular, the
Satary cap is not aspirational and the Commiltee envisages maint2ining its approach to salary increases '

2 Payments from exisling awards

asueusanod ajesedion

Cerl Cowling and Robert Meorhead are eligible Lo receive payment Irom awards made belore the appraval and implementation of the previous remuneration policies or paymens envisaged under
gmse policies. Details of these awards can be tound in Lhe aanual Direciors’ remuneralion repert on page 82. The Company will similarly honour pre-exisling commilments made 1o any olher new
oard members
‘
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

3.2 Performance measure selection and approach

to target setting
Annual bonus plan
The performance targets used under the annual bonus plan are
set annually to support the Company's strategic priorities and
reinforce financial performance. The performance targets are
typically set by the Cornmittee based on a range of factors,
princ:pally the Company’s budget as approved by the Board either
prior to or shortly following the start of the financal year.
The Committee agreed that the performance targets for the
annual bonus plan for the tinancial year ended 31 August 2021
should be based on Headline EBITDA! in order to focus the
management team on the Group's free cash flow as a result of
the ongoing impact of Cavid-19. The Committee, in setting the
bonus targets for the financial year ended 31 August 2021, was
mindful of the impact of Covid-19 on the Company and the
markets in which we operate and took inta consideration market
consensyus for the financial year ended 31 August 2021,
The Cornmittee agreed that the range used to determine the tevel
of pay-out under the benus plan in respect of the financial targets
should he widened given that the Committee agreed that the
proposed target pay-out under the bonus plan was stretching,
given the uncertainty crealed by Covid-19

Participants can earn a bonus based on the achievement of a
financial target, for example, Headline EBITDA' and a personal
rating measured against one or more specific financial and/or
non-financial chjectives, including ESG targets. The maximum
level of banus paid to a participant in the plan is dependent on
the achievement of both the maximum target for the financial
target and the highest personal performance rating.

The Committee sets a threshold pay-out target and a maximum
pay-out target with straight-line vesting between the targets.

In exceptional circumstances, up to 20 per cent of the maximum
bonus epportunity may be payatble independent of the financial
out-turn. For on-target achievernent of the financial target and a
good personal rating, an executive wauld earn approximately 48
per cent of the maximum bonus available under the pian.

Any bonus in excess of the on-target level is deferred into shares
under the DBF One third of the shares are released on each
anniversary of the date of grant. '

Different bonus measures and targets may apply in subsequent
years within the overall constraints of the plan.

1 Alternalive performance measure defined and exptained in the Glossary on page 154

Leng-term incentives

The Committee regularly reviews the performance targets
applicable to the LTIP to ensure that they align with the
Company's strategy and remforce financial performance.

The Committee may change the measures andfor targets in
respect of subseguent awards. The Committee believes that a
combination of financial, market-based conditiens and corporate
responsibility as the basis for the performance targets for the .
LTIP is best suited to the needs of the Cornpany and its
shareholders in order to reward sustained long-term
performance and the creation of shareholder value. However, the
performance targets for awards made under the LTIP in the
financial year ended 31 August 2021 were solely based on relative
TSR given the difficulty in putting in place meaningful EPS targets
as a result of the impact of Cowid- 19 on the Cornpany and the
wider global economy.

The Commuttee is proposing that any awards made in the
financial year commencing 1 September 2021 will be 50 per cent
based on Headline pre-tax Earnings per Share and 50 per cent
based on relative TSR over three financial years ending 31 August
2024 compared with the FTSE Al Share Retailers and that any
awards made in the financial year commencing } Septermnber
2022 witl be based on the following targets each measured over
the three financial years to 37 August 2025

« 40 per cent based on Headline pre-tax Earnings per Share
[calculated on a pre-IFRS 16 basis) EPS has for ‘sorne years
been defined as fully diluted pre-exceptional items and
exctuding 1AS 19 pension charges together with other
adjustments as considered appropriate by the Commitiee
{although practice has been to make limited adjustments).
The definition of EPS remains unchanged except that, as
consulted with shareholders in 2020, it will be assessed on a
pre-tax basis, ’

40 per cent based on relative TSR over three financial years
compared with the FTSE All Share Retailers index.
Threshald vesting will occur for TSR in line with median

and maximum vesting will occur for TSR in line with the upper
quartile of the comparator group; and

20 per cent based on ESG measures which will be developed
over the course of the next year based on the Company's
Sustainability Strategy, namely Planet. People and
Communities Further details of this will be developed and
disclosed in the 2022 Directors’ remuneration report.
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Malus/Clawback

The bonus plan, DBP and LTIP rules include a provision for
clawback tbefore or within a period of three years following
payment gr vesting or earlier change of control] of a bonus or
award if [a} the Company materially misstated its financial resulls
and as a result the bonus or award was made, paid or vested to a
greater exlent than it should have been; [b] the extent to which
any performance target or other condition was met was based on
an error or inaccurate or misleading informaltion or assumptions
and as a result any bonus or award was made, paid or vested 1o a
greater extent than it should have been:; [c] the Committee
concludes that circumstances arose during the bonus year or
veshng period which would have warranted summary dismissal
of the individual concerned: or (d) there is an insolvency having
regard to the Commitlee's assessment of the involvernent of the
individual to such event,

Exercise of discretion

In line with market practice. the Commuttee retains discretion in
relation to the operation and administration of the annual bonus
plan, BBP and LTIP. This discretion includes, but is not limited to:

the timing of awards and payments;

the size of awards, within the overall limits disclosed in the
policy table;

the determination of vesting, including the discretion to
override formulaic oulcomes, where appropriate, ensuring that
the outcorne reflects the Company’s and the executive’s
performance as well as the experience of shareholders and
stakeholders, including employees, more generally;

the treatment of awards in the case of a change of control [the
DBP excepted) or a restructuring of the Company;

the treatment of leavers within the rules of the plan and the
termination policy summary shown on page 70; and

adyustments needed in certain circumstances ifor example,
a rights issue, a corporate restructuring or a special
interim dividend).

While performance conditions will generatly remarn unchanged
once set, the Committee has the usual discretions to amend the
measures and targets in exceplional circumstances [such as a
major transaction} where the unamended conditions would cease
10 gperate as intended. Any such changes would be explained in
the subsequent annual Directors’ remuneration report and, if
appropriate, be the subject of consultation with the Company’s
major shareholders. Consistent with best practice, the annual
bonus plan and the LTIP rules also provide that any such
amendment must not make the amended condition materially
less difficult to satisfy than the original condition was intended to
be prior to the occurrence of such event.

3.3 Statement of consideration of employment conditions
elsewhere in the Company and differences to executive
director policy

Our employees are a key component of the Company's

performance and our everall reward strategy aims to support

this. When considering remuneration arrangements for executive
directors and senior management, the Committee takes into
account the pay and canditions of employees across the Group.

The Committee recewves in-depth data regarding employee

remuneration from the HR director on wider workforce pay and

conditions and, where appropriate. exercises oversight of
cermuneration throughout the Group. The employee remuneration
data submitted to the Committee was prepared in respect of
head office and store employees and was based on data provided
by Willis Towers Watson and Alan Jones Retail surveys.

Following discussion, the Commiltee accepted a number of

recommendations to adjust the pay of some head cffice and store

based employees.
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Although the Committee did not formally consult with the wider
workforce on executive remuneration, each busingess has an
employee forum at which all aspects of the business are
discussed Employees are alsc invited to participate in the annpual
Engagement Survey where their views on all aspects of working
conditions can be collected and shared with the Committee and
the Board. The Company is proud of its long histary of being
regarded as a responsible and respected employer and regularly
reviews the pverall structure of pay practices across the Group
and the wider retail sector to ensure it remains cormpetitive and
is able to retain and attract employees.

Our approach to reward for our employees is based on the
follewing principles:

* competitive: setting pay with reference to internal relativity
and external market practices;

simple- helping all empioyees to understand how they

are rewarded;

fair: achieving consistent outcomes through flexible and
transparent policies; and

sustainable: aligning reward to business strategy

and performance.

All emiployees are entitled ta base salary and henefits, including
pension and stalf discount. Eligible ermployees recewe private
medical cover and are able to participate in the Company’s
Sharesave plan and thereby become shareholders inthe
Company. Our Employee Assistance programme offers all
employaes access 1o free, 24/7 confidential telephone, online and
face-to-face advice for problems they may be experiencing at
home or at work. Employees also have access to the Company's
Benevalent Fund charity, which can provide financial assistance
in cases of significant hardship and provide recuperative holidays
and care breaks.

Participation in a pension plan is offered to all employees ona
contributory basis and we have approximately 5,520 employees
in our pension plans.
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

3.4 Managing contlicts of inlerest

in order te avoid any conflict of interest, remuneration is
managed through well-defined processes ensuring no individual
is involved in the decision-making process related to their own
remuneration. In particular, the remuneration of all executive
directors is set and approved by the Committee; none of the
executive directors are involved in the determination of their own
reruneration arrangernents. The Cammittee also receives
support from cxternal advisars and evaludles the support
provided by those advisors annually to ensure that advice is
independent, appropriate and cost-effective.

3.5 Statement of consideration of shareholder views

The Cornmittee maintains a continuat dialogue with our major
sharehciders and proxy agencies to understand their views.

Any major changes to the policy or its operation would be subject
to prior consultation as necessary.

As part of the current policy review process, lhe Commillee
consuited with approxirnately 60 per cent of the shareholder
regrster. The Chair of the Remuneration Commitiee wrote to the

Statutery charts - valuation assumptions

Company's largest investors and shareholder representatives
setling out the proposed changes ta the existing remuneration
pelicy and made herself available for meetings as requested by
investors. The views expressed by investors were supportive of
the proposed changes given the introduction of post-cessation
share ownership guidelines and ESG perforiance targets for
the LTIP. The views of shareholders were considered by the
Committee and formed part of the final policy as set cut in
Section Z on page 61.

3.6 Total Remuneration opportunity

The graphs below indicate the level of rermuneration that could
be received by each executive director in accordance with the
Directors’ remuneration policy in the first financial year to which
the new policy applies (i e. financial year ending 31 August 2022]
at different levels of performance. The potential total rewards
are based on the Company's Directors’ remuneration policy.

Frxed - The minimlum scenario rellects base salary, pension and benelils, being the anly etemenls of the remuneration package nol tinked to performance. No salary Increase has been assumed in
respect of the Aprit 2022 salary review for Rabert Moorhead, although the charts do include the salary increase for Carl Cowling in April 2022 as sel out on page 73.

Annual bonug - The on-larget scenario refiects lixed remuneration as above, plus Ihe target level of performance lor the annual bonus plan which is 48 per cent al mamrym anaual bonus; 2nd lar the

LTIP awards, (hreshaid vesling levels have been assumed.

LTIP - The maumum scenario reflects fixed remuneratian as above, plus the mazimum level of perfarmance for the annual benus plan of 160 per cent of base satary. and for the LTIP awards,

maximum vosting levels have been assumed.

Addil_iUﬂa‘ Lme 5{! per canl inc_rease inshare price - as for the maximum scenario above, plus an increase in the value of the LTIP of 50 per cenl across the relevani perlormance period ka reliecl
possible share price appreciation. Consislent with the reporting regulations, this does nol separalely include the impaci of dividend accrval.
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3.7 Recruitment remuneration policy

The Company's recruitment rernuneration policy aims to give the Committee sufficient flexibilily to secure the appointment and
promotion of high-calibre executive directors to strengthen the managernent team and secure the skill sets to detiver the Company’s |
strategic objectives.

The starting point for the Committee will be to look at the general policy for executive directors as sel out above, and structure

a package in accordance with that policy. Although the Regulations pravide that, technically, the caps en fixed pay within the

general policy will not apply on the recruitment of an executive, the Committee would seek not to exceed those caps in practice.

In addition, ignoring any special buy-out arrangements which may prove to be necessary, the annual banus and long-term incentive
compensation arrangernents will operate [including the maximum award levels} within the lirmits as set cut in the Future poiicy lable
in Secticn 3.1 for executive directors on pages 63 to 45.

When an internal appointment is made. any pre-existing obligations will be honoured and payment willrbe perm@tted under the‘policy.
However, the Committze may adjust any pre-existing obligations to reflect the new appointment where it is considered appropriate to
do so,

For external and internal appointments, the Committee may agree that the Company will meet certain relocation expenses and legal
fees as it considers to be appropriate,

Where it is necessary to make 5 recruitment-related pay award to an external candidate to buy out entitlements under a previous
employers’ plan, the Company will not pay more than the Commitlee considers necessary and will in all cases seek, in the first
instance, to deliver any such awards under the terms of the existing incentive pay structure. It may, however, be necessary in some
cases to make such buy-out awards on terms that are more bespoke Lhan the existing annual and equity-based pay structures at the
Company in order to secure a candidate. '

Any buy-out awards for external appointments, whether under the bonus plan, LTIP or otherwise, wilt be capped at the cornmercial
value of the amaunt forfeited and will take account of Lthe nature, time-horizens and performance reguirements of those awards.

In particular, the Committee will seek to ensure that any awards being forfeited which were subject to outstanding performance
requirements (other than where substantially complete) are bought out with replacement performance requirements ang any awards
with service requirements are, again, bought out with similar terms. However, exceptionally the Committee may relax those
obligations where it cansiders it to be in the interesis of shareholders and those factars are, in the view of the Committee, egually
reflected in some ather way for example, through a significant discount to the face value of the awards lorfeited.

3.8 Contracts of service and policy on payment for loss of office 7
Executive directors are on rolling service contracts with no fixed expiry date. The contract dates and notice periads for each executive
diector are as follows:

Date of contract Natice period by Company Notice period by director
Carl Cowling 26 February 2019 12 months 12 months
Robert Moarhead B Octaber 2008 12 months 9 months

Carl Cowling's service contract provides for notice of 12 months from either party, permits summary dismissal with no compensation
in specified cases, has no special provisions in the event of a change of control and limits the maximum sum due an termination to
base salary only for the notice pericd. Robert Mocrhead's service contract prowides far natice of 12 manths from the Company and
fine manths from Robert Moarhead and has no special pravisions in the event of @ change of control and limits the maximum sum
due on termination Lo base salary only for the notice period Copies of the service contracts may be inspected at the registered office
of the Company.

it is envisaged that any new executive director would j0in with a contract which is no more favourable than that summarised in respect
af Carl Cowling. In practice, the facts surrounding a termination may be complex and do nat always fit neatly into defined calegories
for ‘good’ or ‘bad’ leavers. Therefore. it is apprapriate for the Committee to consider the suitable treatment on a termination having
tegard to all of the relevant lacts and circumstances available at that time. This policy applies both to any negotiations linked to notice
periods on a terminatian and any treatment which the Commitiee may choose Lo apply under the discretions available lo it under the
terms of the annual bonus plan, DBP and LTIP. The potential treatrents on termination under these plans lwhich are governed by the
relevant plan rutes) are summansed in the table below.
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Reason ter leaving

Timing of vesting/paymant

Calculation of vesting/payment

Annual bonus

» ‘Bad teaver [all cases other than
those specified below|

+ Not applicable

* No bonus to be paid for the financial year

* Redundancy, retirement or
otherwise at the Committee's
discretion

* At the end of the financial year

= Bonuses will only be paid to the extent that the
performance measures have been met. Any bonus will
he paid an a time pro-rata basis

* Change of control

« Cantinuation of plan or
acceleration due te change
of control

» The Commuttee may decide that the end of any bonus
year should be accelerated to the date of the event with
appropriate pro-rating of any payment

Deferred BonusPlaf - ° " "

L

B N
o e - -

[,

- - -

* Dismissal for misconduct

* Not applicable

» Vested and unvested awards lapse

* All other cases

+ Vesting: at the end of the relevant
vesting period [save in the case of
death where vesting occurs
immediately) untess the
Committee decides otherwise in
exceptional circumstances

» Awards vest over the original number of shares

* Change of control

= On change of control

» Awards will vest over the original number of shares.
Awards may be exchanged far awards over shares in
the acquiring company in Lhe event of an internal
reorganisation

LTip

* Bad leaver lall cases other than
those specified belew)

» Not applicable

+ Vesled and unvested awards lapse

¢ liLthealth, injury, permanent
disability. retirement with the
agreement of the Company,
redundancy. sale of a division or
subsidiary or if the circumstances,
in the opinion of the Committee,
are exceptional

= Vesting: at the end of the relevant
performance period

= Exercise: at the end of any
relevant holding period

+ For prescribed ‘good leavers', generally, awards vest
over the original timescales, subject to the ariginal
performance conditions. Awards are pro-rated for time
unless the circumstances, in the opinion of the
Comrnittee, are exceptional

» Where the Committee determines that the
circumstances are exceptional such that a participant
is not a 'bad leaver’, awards vest aver the original
timescales, subject to performance measurernent and
tirne pro~rating

* Death

 Vesting: at the discretion of the
Committee

* The Committee has discretion to disapply performance
conditions and may allow imrmediate vesting. Awards
may be pro-rated for time [as noted abovel

* Change of control

* On change of control

» Awards will vest to the extert that any performance
condition:s have been satisfied and will be reduced
pro-rata to take account of the performance period not
completed {as noted above}, unless the Committee
decides otherwise. Awards may be exchanged for
awards over shares in the acquiring company in the
event of an internal reorganisation

In respect of all-employee plans. including Sharesave, the executive directors are subject to the same leaver provisions as all

other participants.

If agditional compensation is required to be considered, such as on a settlement agreement, the Committee will consider all relevant
commercial factors affecting the specific case. If the Committee deems it necessary, the Company may enter into agreements with an
executive director. which may include the setflement of liabilities in return for paymenils), including reimbursement of legal fees and
outplacement services.
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3.9 Chairman and non-executive director fees
The following table explains the different elements of the remuneration that is paid to the Chairman and non-executive directors.

Ali payments made to the Chairman are determined by the Committee. The Chairman does not participate in any bonus or share
plans. The fees paid to non-executive directors are determined by the Chairman and the executwe directors [being the Board
excluding the nen-executive directors themselves) and are paid in cash. The fevels are set (o take into sccount the required time
commitment and the fee payments for non-executive directors of similar organisations. Non-executive directors do not participate n
any bonus or share plans. The current fees payable to the Chairman and the non-executive directors are set out on page 74.

Non-executive directors’ letters of appointment

The Chairman, who has a letter of appointment, is appointed for an initial term of three years. The appaintment may be terminated
at any time by either the Cempany or the Chairman without notice. The non-executive directors, who have letters of appointment, are
also appointed far an initial term of three years. The Chairman and non-executive directars may be invited to serve for up to a further
two terms (nine years in total). Any term renewal is subject 1o Board review and re-election at the Company's AGM. There is no right
to re-nomination by the Board, either annually or after any three-year period. These apporntments can be terminated at any time by
either the Company or the non-executive director without natice. Copies of the letters of appointment may be inspected at the
registered office of the Campany.

In light of the Covid-19 pandemic, we announced that Henry Staunton, Chairman, would rematn as a director of the Company until
2022. Infarmation on the Company’s succession planning is set out in the Nominations Committee report on pages 54 and 55.

Chairman and nan-executive difeétprs Original appointment date Term end dale
Henry Staunton i 1 September 2010 31 Decernber 2022
Kal Atwal 1 February 2021 31 January 2024
Nicky Dulieu 9 Septerber 2020 8 September 2023
Annemarie Durbin 3 December 2012 19 January 2022
Simon Emeny 26 February 2019 25 February 2022
Maurice Thompson 26 February 2019 25 February 2022

Under the Company’s Articles of Association, all directors are required to retire and submit themselves for re-election every three

years. However, in accordance with the Code, the Board has agreed that all directors will stand for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

Operation and performance measures

Element and purpose Palicy and epportunity
Annual fees + The fees paid to the Chairman and the fees of the other + Fees are paid monthly in cash.
: non-executive directars aim to be competitive with other fully | o Fop jevels for the Chairrman and the non-
listed companies of equivalent size and complexity. Fee levels executive directars are reviewed periodically
are penodically reviewed by the Board [for non-executive lthe last review being in March 2018) with the
directors) and the Committee [for the Chairmanl. In both nex! review due in March 2022,
cases, the Corrpany does not adopt a quantitative approach i
to pay positioning and exercises judgement as ta what it * Thhe ([Zompa ny 1 e;erv esh:he " ’gh.lt E’ ':31‘3”98 hol\{v
considers to be reasonable in all the circumstances as the elements ang weigntings within the ove:a
regards quantum. fees are paid and to pay a proportion of the fees
. p . L . in shares within this Uit if it is considered
« Additional lees are paid to non-executive directors wha chair appropriate to do so.

a Board Committee [excluding the Nominations Comrittee]

and to the Semior Independent Director {'SIC') and additional

fees may be intraduced from time to time for ather

responsihilities,

All fees are subject to the aggregate fee cap for directars in

the Articles of Association {currently £750,000 per anAum).

= Non-executive directors do not participate in incentive
arrangements.
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Corporale governance

Directors’ remuneration report continued

Elesment and purpose Palicy and opportunity Operation and performance measures
Benefits = Inline with other employees, the Chairman and the « it is not the current practice of the Company to
non-executive directors receive an employee staff discount. provide benefits to the Chairman or the non-

executive directors [other than the employee staff
discount]. However, while the Committee does
not consider it to form part of benefits in the
norrmal usage of thal term, it has been advised
that corporate hospitality [whether paid for by the
Company ar another] and business travel for
directors may technically come within the
applicable ruies and so the Committee expressly
reserves the right to authorise such activities
within its agreed policies and within the overall
lirmits.

Neither the Chairman nor any non-executive
directors will participate in any variable pay
arrangements.

Any other benefits would count towards the
overall fee cap.

4. Annual Directors’ remuneration report

The Committee presents the Annual report on remuneration which, together with the introductory letter by the Chair of the
Committee on pages 58 to 60, will be put to shareholders as an advisory vote at the forthcoming Annuat General Meeting.

4.1 Remuneration Committee

The Comrmuttee Chair i1s Annemarie Durbin. The other members of the Committee are Kal Atwal, Nicky Dulieu, Siman Emeny. Henry
Staunton and Maurice Thampson. At the invitation of the Commuttee, the Group Chief Executive and representatives of the
Cammittee’s external independent remuneration advisor regularly attend meetings.

The Committee met eight umes during the year. Al Commitiee members are expected to attend meelings. The table on page 43 in the
Corporate governance report shows the number of meetings held during the year ended 31 August 2021 and the attendance record of
individual directors.

In order to avoid any conflict of inlerest, remuneration is managed through well-defined processes ensuring no individual is involved in
the decision-making process related to their own remuneration. In particular, the remuneration of all executive directors is set and
approved by the Committee; none of the executive directors are involved in the determination of their own remuneration
arrangements The Committee also receives support from external advisors and evaluates the suppert provided by those adwisors
annually to ensure that advice is independent, appropriate and cost-etfective,

During the year, the Committee continued to receive advice from FIT Remuneratian Consultants LLP [FIT), which is a member of the
Remunerztion Consultants Group [the professional bady) and adheres to its code of canduct. FIT was appointed by the Committee and
has no other relationship with the Company or with any indwidual directors. The Committee is satisfied that FIT continues to provide
objective and independent advice. FIT's fees in respect of the year under review were £72.092 [excluding VAT) and were charged on the
basis of FIT's standard terms of business.

lan Houghton, Company Secretary, also materially assisted the Committee in carrying cut its dulies, except in relation to his own

remuneration. No director or manager 1s invelved in any decisions as to their own remuneration. The Group Chief Executive also
attends Committee meetings but excludes himsetf in relation to discussion of his own remuneration, as does the Chairman.

The Committee mamlams an ongoing dialogue with our major shareholders and proxy agancies to understand their views. Any major
changes to the policy or its operation would be subject to prior consultation as necessary.
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Key Committee activities during the year

Alignment to strategy Assessed the ongoing alignment of remuneration structures, measures and targets to the strategy.
and wider workforce Reviewed wider workforce remuneration.
Reviewed the gender pay gap report and recommended to the Board that the gender pay gap report
be published.
Sharehoider Considered investor feedback, particularly on the remuneration policy.
Fngagement

Pay for performance

Assessed performance against targets set for the linancial year ended 31 August 2021 annual bonus and 2018
LTIP and considered whether any discretion should be used to adjust farmulaic outcomes if necessary.
Reviewed and approved targets for annual bonus and LTIP.

Reviewed the performance of the executive directors against personal objectives,

Considered remuneration to ensure that it retains and motivates the excellent management team.

Governance

Aueusaneb ajesodic

Reviewed and considered consequences of the changing investor, governance and reperting requirements.
Reviewed progress of the executive directors against shareholding requirements.
Approved the 2020 Directors’ remuneration report.

Pay

Postponed the praposed increase to Cart Cowling’s salary in April 2021 and agreed that Robert Moorhead waould
nol receive a pay increase in the financial year ended 31 August 2021.
Reduced the pay-out under the annual bonus plan for the financial year ended 31 August 2021,

4.2 Implementation of Directors’ remuneration policy in the financial year ended 31 August 2021
This section sets out how the Directors’ remuneration palicy hzs been implemented in the financial year ended 31 August 2021.

Element of pay

tmplementation of policy

Executive directors

Base salary

Carl Cowling was appointed as Group Chief Executive on 1 Movernber 2019 on a lower salary than his
predecessor. The Committee, in accordance with best practice; indicated in the 2019 Direclors’ remuneration
report that it would, subject ta performance, increase Carl Cawling's salary in £25,000 increments in April
2020, 2021 and 2022. Given the impact of Covid-19, the April 2020 increase was deferred to 1 July 2020 and
Carl Cowling denated his increase to charity until October 2020. Following the shareholder vote at the 2021
AGM, the Apnil 2021 increase was deferred to September 2021. Accordingly Carl Cowling's salary increased to

| €575,000 with effect from 1 September 2021.

The current salaries are: Cart Cowling - £575,000; and Robert Moorhead - £440.000.

Benefits

No changes were made te these elements of remuneration within the financial year ended 31 August 2021
[although the cost of providing benefits may change withaut any action by the Compary).

Executive directors received a car allowance, private medical insurance and life assurance, in addition to other
benetits, during the financial year ended 31 August 2021,

Fension

Carl Cowling received a total benefit equivalent to 12.5 per cent of base salary and Robert Moarhead receved
2 total benefit equivalent to 25 per cent of base salary. During the financial year enced 31 August 2021,

Carl Cowling and Robert Mcarhead received all of their pension cantribution as a salary supplement after
applying for fixed protection Part of the amount atherwise paid to the Cornpany’s defined contribution scheme
was reduced to reflect the requirernent to pay employers’ National Insurance.

Annyal bonus

The reduced bonus payable for the financial year ended 31 August 2021 was. Carl Cowling - £550,000 and
Robert Moorhead - £357.500. Any bonus paid in excess of the on-target level is normally deferred into shares.
The formulaic out-turn was reduced by 22 per cent to reflect that, despite the exceptional achievernents of
management, the aut-turn was still a Headline loss and that no dividends were payable.

The bonus is assessed against a skiding scale financial 1arget and is then moderated (on a downwards only
basis| by reference to the achievement of personal objectives.

Further information on the bonus payments to Carl Cowling and Robert Moorhead and their achievernent

of their personal objectives is set out an pages 80 and 81,
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Element of pay Imptementation ef policy
Long-term incentives Annual LTIP awards were set at the policy level being 335 per cent for Carl Cowling and 310 per cent for Robert
Moorhead. :

The terms of and the performance measures applicable to the LTIP awards made in the financial year ended
31 August 2021 are described on page 81.

Vesting of LTIP awards is determined based on the following measure: 100 per cent is based an relative TSR.
The performance period is three years. There is a subsequent two-year holding period.

The Committee approved this performance measure as it is directly linked to the objectives set outin the
Group's strategy there is a direct link with shareholder value and there is a clear line of sight for participants
between performance and reward.

As disclosed in last year's repont, cansistent with the Code provisions, the Committee retains a broad discretion
to reduce vesting levels, including if it constders that there would otherwise be a windfall gain or if
management fail to deliver on the Company’s ESG expectations.

The Committee took the decision at its meeting in October 2020 not to adjust the financial targets for the
outstanding LTIP awards. The Company partially met the performance targets for the 2017 LTIP with 13 per
cent of the award vesting notwithstanding the significant impact of Cavid- 1% o the Company in the second half
of the financial year ended 31 August 2020. The award granted in November 2018 has lapsed and it is likely
that the award granted in November 2019 will also lapse.

Shareholding guidelines | Carl Cowling is required to hold 300 per cent of salary i shares. Robert Moorhead is required to hold 250 per
cent of salary in shares. In accordance with the Directors’ remuneration poticy, Carl Cawling is expected to
achieve compliance with the shareholding requirernent within six years of him joining the Board on 26
February 2019

As at 31 August 2021 Carl Cowling held 23,051 shares with a value of £376,192 lapproximately &8 per cent of
salary} and Robert Maorhead held 197 973 shares with a value of £3,230.919 {approximately 735 per cent of
salaryl.

Malus/ciawback The annual bonus plan, DBP and LTIP ryles included a provision for clawback (before or within a period at
three years in the case of the LTIP and DBP following payment or vesting or earlier change of controll of a
bonus or award if [a) the Company materially migstated its financial results and as a result the bonus or award
was made. paid or vested to a greater extent than it should have been [b] the extent to which any periormance
target or other condition was met was based on an error or inaccurate or misleading information or
assumptions and as a result the bonus or award was made, paid or vested to a greater extent than it should
have been lc] the Committee concludes that circumstances arose during the bonus year or vesting period
which would have warranted summary dismissal of the individual concerned or [d] there is an event of
insolvency having regard te the involvement of the individual executive in the circumstances which led to such
insolvency.

Non-executive directors _ L e

Annual fees Current fees are £235.000 for the Chairman of the Board and £55,000 for the role of non-execulive director with
additional fees of:

[i1€12,000 payable for the role of Senior Independent Director ('SID'); and

(] £12,000 payable for being the Chair of the Audit or Remuneration Committee
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4.3 Implementation of Directars’ remuneration policy in the financial year ending 31 August 2022

The Committee envisages that there will be no changes to the implementation of the Directors’ remuneration policy, beyond the
proposed changes to the policy set out on page 61, during the financial year ending 31 August 2022. The policy in respect of the
executive directors will be applied as follows:

23uuIaA0b s1es0dlos

Element of pay tmplementation of policy *
"Executive directors IO T S T T T
Base salary Carl Cowling's salary will increase to £600,000, subject to his personal perfarmance, with effect from 1 April
2022. Robert Moorhead witl be eligible, in line with other head office staff, for any increase in salary following
the March 2022 review. It is proposed that Carl Cowling will be eligible, in line with other head office staff, for
any increase in salary following the March 2023 review.
Benefits No changes are expected to be made to these elements of remuneration within the financial year ending
31 August 2022.
Pension No changes are expected to be made to these elements of remuneration within the financial year ending

31 August 2022. Any new executive director would have their atlowance aligned to that available to the majonity
of UK-based emnployees. The pensicn contributions for Carl Cowling and Robert Moorhead will be reduced to
align with the wider workforce rate of approximately 3 per cent from 1 January 2023

Annual bonus

The bonus opportunity for Carl Cowling and Robert Moorhead will be 160 per cent of annual salary. Itis
envisaged that the bonus metrics will be based on a matrix of financial and personal performance.

Any bonus in excess of the on-target level will be deferred into shares,

Long-term incentives

Annuat LTIP awards will again be set at the policy level (335 per cent of salary for Carl Cowling and 310 per
cent for Rabert Maorhead|. Vesting of LTIP awards is determined based on the following measures: 50 per
cent 15 based on EPS growth and 50 per cent is based on relative TSR. The number of shares vesting tor
threshold performance is 25 per cent. The EPS performance targets will be based on the growth in Headline
pre-tax Earnings per Share. The TSR condition remains a median to upper quartile scale relative to the FTSE
All Share General Retailers Index constituents.

Shareholding gindelines

Carl Cowling is required to holg 300 per cent of salary in shares and Robert Moorhead is required to hold

250 per cent of salary in shares. As set out in the proposed Directors’ remuneration policy, the Committee is
introducing formal post-employment shareholding requirements which will apply if sharehiolders approve the
Directors” remuneration policy at the AGM in January 2022. The post-cessaticn share ownership guidetines
require Carl Cowling to retain 300 per cent of salary and Robert Moorhead (other executive directors] to retain
250 per cent of salary for two years post-cessation of employment. This requirement will apply to both new
awards from the adoption of the policy and all unvested awards.

Malus/clawback

The rules of the annual bonus plan, the LTIP and the DBP include a provision for clawback before or within a
period of three years following payment of 2 bonus if [a) the Company materially misstates its financial resulis
and as a result the bonus is made or paid to a greater extent than it should have been [b) the extent to which
any perfarmance target or other condition is met is based on an errar or inaccurate or misleading information
or assumpticns and as a result the bonus is paid to a greater extent than it shodd be (c] the Committee
concludes that circumstances arose during the benus year which wauld have warranted surmmary dismissal
of the individual concerned or |d] there is an event of insolvency having regard to the involverment of the
individual executive in the circumstances which ted to such insolvency.

The policy in respect of the non-executive directors will be applied as follows:

Element of pay

Implementalion of policy

Non-executive directors

Annual fees

The fees of the Chairman and non-executive directors will be subject to a review in March 2022.
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4.4 Summary of non-executive directors’ remuneration 2021 [audited)

The table below summarises the total remuneration for non-executive directors as a single figure for the financial year ended
31 August 2021. Non-execulive directors are not paid a pension and do not participate in any of the Company’s variable
incentive schemes:

Base lee* Committeo/SiDfee Benefits Tolal

€000 £000 €000 £000
27 2020 2021 2020 2021 020 2021 0
Henry Staunson ] 235 223 - - - - 235 223
Kal Atwal® & 32- - - _ - _ 32 -
Nicky Dulieu™ 54’ - 7, - 1 - &2 -
Annemarie Durbin ' 55 52! 12 " - - &7 . 63
Simon Emeny 55 52 12 7. - - - &7 59
Maurice Thompson ‘ 55 52, -1 - - 1 55 33

Directors who resigned during the year

Suzanne Baxter 211 52 5 11 - - 26 - 63

al Bemelis primarily consisl of Iravel and subsislence coslsincurred in the normal course of business, in retation to meelings on Board and Commiltee malters and ather Campary events which are
considered taxable.

bl Kal Awat was appointed a5 & non-cxeculive director on 3 February 2021,

¢l Suzanne Baxier slepped down as a director of the Company on 20 Janwary 2020,

di Nicky Dulieu was appointed as a ngn-execulive director on 9 September 2020.

el The directors took a 20 per cent voluntary reduclion in salary/ees during the lockdown period between April 1o June 2020.

4.5 Summary of Executive directors’ remuneration 2021 (audited)
The table below summarises the lofal remuneration for executive directors as a single figure for the financial year ended

31 August 2021:

Total fixed Annual Total variahle Total
Salary Benefits Pension® remuneration [ Ry ration ation
£'000 €000 €000 €000 €00n €000 €000 £000
20 2020 piird] 220 Faral 2020 2021 2020 021 2020 021 2020 2N 2020 piral 2020
Carl Cowling 850 482 14 14 49 a0 633, 56! 8BS0 - - 52 550 52 1,183 408
Robert Moorhead 440 418 14 14 107 102 561 534" 358 - - 81 358 81 219 615
Total £°000s 990 900 28 28 176 162 1,394 1,090 908 - - 1337 908 133 2102 1223

Carl Cowling and Robert Moorhead taok a 20 per cenl reduclian in salary during the lockdown period, Macch to June 2020, Carl Cowting's salary increased lo £550.000 with efteet from & July 2020
and 1o £575,000 wilh elfect from 1 September 2021,

bl Benents relate rnainly to lhe provision of a car allowance. private medical insurance and kile assurance.

<l The performance measures lor the anaual banus, and achievemenl against them, are sel out on pages 80 and 81 For bhe year under review. C;rl Cowting had Ihe opporiunily 1o receive én annual
banus upta 3 maximum of 160 per cent of his base salary and Robert Moarhead had he oppartunily lo receive an anpual horus of up te 2 maximum of 130 per cent of base satery. The calculaled
outcame under this measure may be moderated [downwards anly) by the Commitlee having regard to personal performance ratings. The Company’s Headline EBIIDA_' was E19m, Alter the
exarcise of negative discrelion, Casl Cowling received a reduced annual bonus of £550,000, of which 23 per cent will be delerred into shares and Rgberl Mgorhead received a reduced annual bonus
of £357.500, 61 which 23 per cenl will be delerred inlo shares. Both the cash and delerred share elemenis are subject to malus and clawback provisions.

The performance measures lor the LTIP, and achiavernen! agains! them, are set pul on page 83. The perlosmance condilions for the awards granted in the linancia\_year ended 31 Augusl 2_019 were
Aol met and the awards lapsed The 2020 figures in the table above have been updaled o the aciual values of the LTIP Lhat vested in ms_,per.l of the perform..gnce perm'd qndlng in lhat fmangal year,
using the share price of 1021, being Lhe clasing price on the vesiing date, 76 Dclober 2020. The LTI frgures in the table lor 2020 do nol include any share price apprecialion as the share price as 3t
ihe dale of grant on 26 Cctober 2017 was 2034.67p.

The pension figures in the 1able above mclwde balh the pension centribution into the Company's defined contribution pension scheme and any salary supptement received an liew,

a

d.

[+
The total aggregate emoluments [excluding LTij paid to the Board in the financial year ended 31 August 2021 was £2,646,00C and in
the financial year ended 37 August 2020 was £1,703,000.

4.6 Payments made to former directors laudited)
Stephen Clarke stepped down as Group Chief Executive on 31 October 2019. Under the rules of the LTIP, Stephen Ciar_ke was treat_ed
as a good leaver and retained a reduced number of unvested awards. These awards vested in respect of 4,574 shares in the financial

year ended 31 August 2021.

Stephen Clarke also retained awards under the DBP. These awards vested in respect of 2,360 shares in the financial year ended
31 August 2021,

No other payments were made in the financial year ended 31 August 2021 to former directors of the Company

4.7 Payments for loss of office (audited)
No payments were made in respect of any director’s loss of office in the financial year ended 31 August 2421,
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4.8 Assessing pay and performance )

You can see how the Campany has generated shareholder vatue since 2011 in the TSR graph below. As can be seen from the graph.
the Company generated & return of 39 per cent over the financial year ended 31 August 2021 compared to the FTSE All Share General
Retailers Index which generated a return of 29 per cent over the same period.

al The graphillustrales the TSR performance an a cumulative basis Iwith dividends reinvested) as at the end of each of the Last len linancial years compared with the FTSE All Share General Retailers
tridex [the “Index | aver the same period.

) The Company is a member of the Index and, as such, this seclor wes considered lo be the most appropriate comparatar group upon which a broad equily market index 15 calculated

The table below summarises the Group Chief Executive's rermuneration and how the Company's variable pay plans have paid out over
the past ten years,

Annual bonus (vesling versus  Long-term incentive Ivesiing versus

Single figure of tolal remunaration maximum apportunity] maximum oppartunityl
Financial year ended 31 August CEO €000 % %
2021 Carl Cowling . 1.183 43 -
2020 - frorn 1 Novernber 2019 Carl Cowling 53 - 13
2020 - until 31 October 2019 Stephen Clarke 22 - ) 13
2019 Stephen Clarke 3416 100 69
2018 Stephen Clarke 2879 93 58
2017 Stephen Clarke ) 4112 98 a1
016 Stephen Clarke 5,179 100 98
2015 Stephen Clarke 4,148 100 100
2014 Stephen Clarke 2,546 100 160
2013 - from 1 June Stephen Clarke 4,067 100 97
2013 - until 31 May Kate Swann 9,192 100 98
2012 Kate Swann 3147 100 90

The 2020 single figure of total remuneration has been updated 1o refiect the actuat value of the LTIP award that vested in respect of
the performance period ending in that financial year.
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4.9 Annual change in remuneration of each director compared tc employees

The table below shows the percentage changes in the remuneration of each director [salary/fees. annuat bonus and taxable benefits]
from financial year to subsequent financial year over the financial years ended 31 August 2020 and 31 August 2021 compared with the
percentage changes in the average of those components of pay for UK employees employed by WH Smith Retail Holdings Limited over
that period. The Company has chosen to voluntznily disclose this information, given that WH Smith PLC is nat an emplaying company.

Salary/tee in:reisefucreas.: Annual Bonus in(reaselde:reas: Taxable benclits increaseide:reas:;
Financial year ended 31 August 2021 2020 01 2020 ikl 2020
Carl Cowling : 14 140, - 100' [og)’ - 100
Robert Moorhead | 5' 5, 100 1100) - -
Heary Staunton ; 5 5. . ' nla n/a - - -
Kal Atwal ' ! -1 -, " nfa nfa’ -1 -
f_\l__i_CEyDulieu ! =i -1 nfal nfal ~5. -
Annernarie Durbin I &' 24 - nfa, nfa, -t -
Simon Emeny : 1" 1111 nfa, na ! - -
Maurice Thompson ' L; B&t ~ . nfai nfal (100} -
UK employees i 51 7!- - " 100! f1o)r - ! 18

al Kal awal was appoinied as a npn-execulive director on | February 2021,

bl Nicky Dutieu was appointed as a non-executlive director on ¥ September 2020 and became Chair of the Audit Cormmillee on 20 January 2021,

¢} The directars lock a 20 per cent voluntary reduction in salary/fecs during the lockdawn period between April 1o June 2020 and the 2021 figures reported above redleci the reversal of thase
salary wawers.

Carl Cowling was appointed 1o the Baard on 26 February 2019 and becarne Group Chief Executive on | November 2019.

o
el Simon Emeny was appomied as the Company’s Senior Independent Direclor on 22 January 2020.

4.10 Graup Chief Executive pay compared to pay of UK employees

The ratios comparing the total remuneration of the Group Chief Executive [as included in the single total figure of remuneration tab@e
on page 77) to the remuneration of the 25th, 50th and 75th percentile of our UK employees are set out below. The disclosure will build
up over time to cover a rolling ten-year periad.

We expect the pay ratia to vary from year to year, driven largely by the varizble pay outcome for the Group Chief Executive, which well
significantly outweigh any other changes in pay at WHSmith.

Group Chief Executive pay ratios

Financial year ended 31 August Method 251h percentile pay ratio Median pay ratio 75th percentile pay ratio
2021 Option A 70:1 70:1 52:1
2020 Option A 43:1 411 331
201% . Option A 239:1 2071 ' 201:1

WHSmith has chesen to use Option A to calculate its Group Chief Executive pay ratio as it believes that it is the most robust way for it
ta calculate the three ratios from the options available in the Regulations,

Total remuneration for alt UK full-time equivalent employees of the Company on 31 August 2021 has been calculated in‘line wit_h the
single figure methadology and reflects their actual earnings recewved in the financial year ended 31 Augu;l 2021 [excluding business
expenses). Set out in the table below is the base salary and total pay and benefits for each of the percentiles.

£ 25th percentile payratio Median pay ratio T5th percentile pay ratic
Salary 16,795 14,795 22,881
Total pay and benefits 16,795 16,795 22,950

The Company believes the median pay ratis for the year ended 31 August 2021 is consistent with the pay, reward and progression
policies for the Company's UK employees taken as a whole. This group has been selected as the most appropriate comparator for the
Group Chief Executive as he is a full-lime employee based in the UK and approximately 85 per cent of all WHSmith employees are
based in the UK. The increase in the pay ratios in 2021 as compared to 2020 is attributable to the increase in the amount of vaniable
remuneration received by the Group Chief Executive as he did not receive a bonus payment in 2020 as a result of the impact of
Covid-19. As explained in the Chair’s annual statement on pages 58 to 60 and the summary of executve remuneratioh on page 78,
the Group Chief Executive and approximately 1,750 employees received a bonus under the annual bonus plan for the financial year
ended 31 August 2021,

78 WH Smith PLC Annuat Repert and Accounts 2021



4.11 Relative importance of spend on pay

The table below shows the total cost of remuneration paid to or receivable by ail employees in the Group as well as dwvdends/share
buybacks made during the financial year ended 31 August 2021. There were not considered to be any other significant distributions
and payments or other uses of profit or cash flow deemed by the directors to assist in understanding the relative impartance of spend
on pay for the purpases of the table below.

Total ¢ost of remuneration Distribution 1 shareholders

2020 2021 % change 2020 2021 % change
Em tm Em £m
217 232 7 - - -

412 Annual bonus targets (audited)

The performance targets used under the annual bonus plan are normally set annually to support the Company's strategic priorittes
and rernforce financial performance The performance targets are set by the Committee based on a range of factors, principally the
Company's budget as approved by the Board either prior to or shortly following the start of the financial year. The Commitiee agreed
that the performance targets for the annual bonus plan for the financial year ended 31 August 2021 should be based on Headline
EBITOA" in order to focus the management team on the Group's free cash flow as a result of the ongoing impact of Covid-19.

9uzulanck ajesodios

The Comimittee, in setting the benus targets far the financial year ended 31 August 2021, was mindful of the impact of Covid-19 on the
Company and the markets in which we operate and took into consideration market consensus for the financial year ended 31 August
2021. The Committee agreed that the range used to determine the level of pay-out under the bonus plan in respect of the financial
targets should be widened given that the Committee agreed that the proposed target pay-out under the banus plan was stretching
gwen the uncertainty created by Covid-19.

Under the annual bonus plan, participants can earn a bonus based on the achievement of a financial target and a personal rating
measured against one or more specific {financial and/or non-financiall objectives. The maximum level of bonus paid te & participant in
the plan is dependent on the achuevement of both the maximumn financial target and the highest persenal performance rating.

The Commitiee sets a threshold pay-out target and a maximum pay-out target with skraight-line vesting between the targets.

For the financial year ended 31 August 2021, no bonus was payable untess both the threshald financial target and at least an
acceplable personal rating (i.e. "Developing '] were achieved. Subject to approval of the Directors’ remuneration policy at the 2022 AGM.
in exceptional circumstances. up to 20 per cent of the maximum bonus oppartunity may be payable independent of the financial
out-turn, subject to the Committee’s assessment of whether personal performance or other non-financial performance warrants
payrment of a bonus against pre-set targets. No bonus will be payable unless the personal rating is at least acceptable lre
‘Developing]. For on-target achievement of the profit target and a good personal rating (i.e. ‘Strong’), an executive would earn
approximately 48 per cent of the maximum bonus avaitable under the plan. Any bonus payable will be paid in cash and shares.

Bonuses for the financial year ended 31 August 2021 could be earned according te the following scale [as a percentage of each
executive’s respective maximum/:

Financial perfarmance against Headline Group profit belore tax! larget Role model Mutstanding Strong Oeveloping Underachiever
Max: £36m 100% 80% 60% 40% 0%
Target: E18m 80% 64% 48% 32% 0%
Threshold: £1m 40% 32% 2% 16% 0%

Inteepolation between points in the matrix is permitted.

The Company’'s Headline EBITDA! for the financial year ended 31 August 2021 was £19m_ This performance resulted in approximately
1.750 employees also receiving an on-target benus under the annual bonus plan for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

The Committee believes that the senior management team, and in particular the executive directors, have provided outstanding.
Inspiring and resourcefut leadership during another year of uncertainty and disruption. You can read about the actions that the
-executive directars took to build back strenger on pages 58 and 59.

The Commitiee considered the experience of the Caempany’s stakeholders and the goverament suppsrt received by the Company in
deciding whether it was in the Company’s best long-term interests to pay Carl Cowling and Robert Mgerhead a bonus. The Committee
determined that the formulaic gut-turn under the annual benus plan should be adjusted and that it should reduce the bonus payment
to one-times salary for Carl Cowling (and by the same percentage for Robert Moorhead!. This resulted in a 22 per cent reduction.

it also confirmed that 23 per cent of the bonus should be deferred in accordance with the rules of the Company's Deferred Bonus
Ptan. In reaching this decision, the Cornmittee took into consideration the fact that the Company was not paying a dividend for the
financial year ended 31 August 2021 but nated that the shareholders had seen an increase of approximately 3% per cent in the
Company's share price as a result of the Company’s everall financial improvement during the financial year

| Alternative perfarmance measure defined and explained in the Glossary on page 154
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Corporate governance

Directors’ remuneration report continued

The Committee believes that the managemant team has performed to a truly exceptional level this year. In addition to steering the
business through an extraardinarily difficult period, their actions have been fundamental in establishing a commanding position from
which the Company can build back stronger gaing forward. More details of the actions taken are set out below. Of particular note has
been the winning of all 30 technology stares in UK airports and the circa 100 stores won and yet to open in Travel over the next three
years, The Board believe that this'management team is pivotal to the future success of the business. When balancing the interests of

all stakeholders in our decision-making, retaining and motivating the management team for the future success of the business has
been ene of our prirnary abjectives,

The executive directors’ personal ratings are based on a range of abjectives, Carl Cowling's personal objectives included:

Objective

Achievemnent

1.

To successfully deliver the integration ot
InMotion and MRG.

The InMotion business now operates on the same systems as MRG from #is head
office in Las Vegas. The integration of the businesses has generated significant
cost savings.

2

To develap the talent and succession pipeline
of the senior team and recruit a new MD for
Travel UK.

The Company's senior executive succession plan was presented ta the Nominatians
Committee in July 2021. A new MO for Travel UX was appointed on 1 May 2021.

3

To ensure that there is a shertlist of a
minimum of six candidates for each senior
executive vacancy of which 50 per cent must be
femaie and at least one must be from a BAME
background.

Appointments. 4 men (57 per cent] including one male person of calour and three
women |43 per cent] appointed.

Shortlisting: 5 out of 7 [71 per centl roles met target of at least 50 per cent female
shortlisted [2020: 38 per cent). & out of 7 86 per cent] roles met target of at least one
person of colour shortlisted {2020: 15 per centl.

To be carban neutral for UK operations by the
end of the financial year ended 31 August 2021.
To get the Company accepted inlo the Jow
Jones Sustainability Index.

Carbon emissions from electricity used to power UK buildings have been reduced to
net zero through the procurement of renewable electricity. Carbon emissions from
gas used (o power UK buildings have been neutratised through the purchase of
credible, certified carbon reduction certificates in line with the Company's published
carbon reduction strategy. UK operations far the financial year ended 31 August 2021
were carbon neutral. WHSmith is 8 member of the Dow Jones Sustainab:lity Index

. To accelerate the growth of WHSmith Online.

WHSmith Online sales increased above the target in the financial year ended 31
August 2021.

. To ensure the successful re-opening of

UK Travel stores.

Alt main Airport and Rail stores were successfully re-opened during the financial year .
ended 31 August 2021.

7.

To imprave relationships with key
stakeholder groups.

Carl Cowting undertook a series of meetings with key stakeholders during the
financial year ended 31 August 2621.

The Committee determined that, notwithstanding the successtul achievernent of all of his key personal objectives. it was apprepriate
to exercise downward discretion to reduce the formulaic annual bonus out-turn to one-times salary for Carl Cowling [a 22 per cent
reduction] and, therefore, Carl Cowling.should receive a reduced bonus payment of £550,000 for the financiat year ended 31 August
2021 of which £127,600 will be deferred into shares.

8a
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Robert Moorhead's personal objectives included:

Objective

Achievement

1. To successfully deliver the integration of
InMotion and MRG.

The inMotion business now operates on the same systems as MRG from its head
office in Las Vegas. The integration of the businesses has generated significant ¢

ost savings.

2. To lead the refinancing of the Group's existing
facilities,

The Group successtully refinanced its bank facilities twice in the year and issued a
£327m convertible bond in May 2021 and increased liquidity by £100m.

3. To manage the Group's cash to ensure its
ongoing viability,

The Group had net cash and cash equivalents of £130m as at 31 August 2021,

4. To be carbon neutral for UK operations by the

end of the financial year ended 31 August 2021.

Te get the Company accepted into the Dow
Jones Sustainability Index.

Carben emissions from electricity used to power UK buildings have been reduced to
net zero through the procurement of renewable electricity. Carbon emissions from
gas used to power UK buildings have been neutralised through the purchase of
credible, certified carbon reduction certificates in line with the Company's published

carbon reduction strategy. UK operations for the financial year ended 31 August 2021
waere carbon neutral. WHSmith 1s a member of the Dow Jenes Sustanability Index.

Funkypigeon's sales increased above the 1arget set in the financial year ended
31 August 2021.

Rabert Moorhead undertook a series of meetings with key stakeholders during the
financial year ended 31 August 2021.

5. To create value from Funkypigeon

&. To imprave relationships with key
stakeholder groups.

The Committee determined that. notwithstanding the successful achievement of all of his key personal objectives, it was appropriate
to exercise downward discretion to reduce the formulaic annuat bonus out-turn by 22 per cent reduction and, therefore, Robert
Moorhead will receive a reduced bonus payment of £357,500 for the financial year ended 31 August 2021 of which £82 940 witl be
deferred into shares.

For the annual bonus plan for the financial year ending 31 August 2022, the banus metrics will also be based on a similar matrix of
financial and personal perfarmance with the financial performance measure reverting to Headline Group profit before tax’

The financiat bonus metrics will apply across the Group's bonus plans, so that the whole organisation 1s focused on delivering financial
performance via the metrics that are applicable to each business. The Committee will publish the targets for that financial year in next
year's report and, consistent with market practice, has elected not 1o pre-disclose them [or give numerical personal objectives] on the
basis of commercial sensitivity. Any bonus payable in respect of the linancial year ending 31 August 2022 will be paid in cash and
shares. Any bonus payable over target will be deferred into shares for a period of up to three years under the D8P The shares will be
released one third on each anniversary of assessment irrespective of whether the recipient 1s an employee of the Company.

4.13 Share plans [audited] .

The Committee reqularly reviews the performance targets applicable to the LTIP to ensure that they align with the Company’s strategy
and reinfarce financial performance. The Committee may change the measures and/ar targets in respect of subsequent awards.

for awards granted in the financial year ended 31 August 2021, the Committee determined that a market-based condition as the basis
for the performance targets for the LTIP was best suited 1o the needs of the Campany and its sharehalders in order to reward
sustained long-term performance and the creation of sharehoider vatue. The Committee agreed that, given the challenge of setting
robust performance targets three years in advance in light of Covid-19 uncerlainty, the performance targets should only be based

on TSR.

Annual LTIP awards in the financial year ended 31 August 2021 were set at the policy level being 335 per cent of salary for Carl
Cowling and 310 per cent of salary for Robert Moorhead using the share price calculated over the three days preceding the grant date
to determine the number of awards granted. The grant share price of 1459.33p was 37 per cent higher than the average share price of
1064.89p for the (ast quarter of the financial year ended 31 August 2020. The performance target for awards was based on relative TSR
against the FISE All Share General Retaiters Index constituents. Vesting will occur on the following basis:

TSR periormance ranking at end of the Perfarmance Period Proporlion exgrcisahte
Below median Zero
Median 25%
Upper quartile 100%

Between median and upper quartile On a straight-line basis between 25% and 100%

1 Alternalive performance measure defined and explained in the Glossary on page 154
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Corporate qovernance

Directors’ remuneration report continued

As disclosed in last year's report, consistent with the requirements aof the Code, the Committee retains a broad discretion to reduce
vesting tevels. including if it considers that there would otherwise be a windfall gain or If management fail to deliver on the Cempany’s

ESG expectations.

The performance condition for awards granted under the LTIP in the financial year ending 31 August 2022 will be based, as in prior
years, on the foilowing Headline EPS and relative TSR targets each measured over the three financiat years to 31 August 2024:

* 50 per cent based on Headline pre-tax Earnings per Share [calculated on a pre-IFRS 16 basis) of 75p to 110p with 25 percent of this
component vesting at threshold increasing on a straight-tine basis to 100 percent at maximum. EPS has for some years been
defined as fully dituted pre-exceptional items and excluding IAS 19 pension charges together with other adjustments as considered
appropriate by the Committee lalthough practice has been to make limited adjustments). The definition of EPS remains except that,
as consulted with shareholders in 2020, it will be assessed on a pre-tax basis; and

= 50 per cent based on relative TSR over three financial years compared with the FTSE All Share Retailers Threshold vesting will
occur for TSR in line with median and maximum vesting will occur for TSR in line with the upper quartile of the comparator group

consistent with prior awards.

The performance condition for awards granted under the LTIP in the financial year ending 31 August 2023 will alse include ESG
performance measures and will be based on the following targets each measured over the three financial years to 31 August 2025.
40 per cent based on Headline pre-tax Earnings per Share; 40 per cent based on relative TSR: and 20 per cent based on the
Company's Corporate Responsibility Strategy, namely Planet, Peopte and Cornmunities.

FIT independently carries out the relevant TSR growth calculation for the Cornpany.

Qutstanding awards

The Company did not meet the performance targets for the 2018 LTIP and the awards lapsed an 1 Novernber 2021. The Committee
determined that the fermulaic out-turn under the LTIP was appropriate and should be applied without discretionary adjustment.

Details of the conditional awards (in the form of nit-cast options] ta acquire ordinary shares of the Company granted to executive

directors are as follows:

Number of Humber of
Number of dividend  shares subject Number of Numbrer af
Number of  shares subject  accrual shares togwards sharessubject  shares subject Share price  Face value of
shares subject Yo awards awanrded exercised toawards  toawardsal atdate  award atdate
o awards at granted during the duringthe  lapsedduring 31 August olgramt ol grant
3 August 2020 during the year year year the year 20210 Ipence) acg Exercise period
Carl Cowling
LTIP 2014% 17.345 - - - - 17,345 155100 720 20,1019 -20.10.26
LTIP 2017+ 36.457 - 334 - 31.689 5104  2036.67 743 26.10.20-26.10.27
LTIP 2018« 40,315 - - - - 40,515 183267 743 01.11.23-01.101.28
LTIP 2019 79,557 - - - - 79,557 221067 1,759 0511.24-051129
DBP 2019 3,990 - b4 1.351 - 2,703  7258.47 90 24.1020-24.1029
LTIP 2020 C - 126257 - - ~ 124,257 145933 1,843 1911.25-19.1130
Total 177,864 126,257 400 1,351 31,689 271,481
Rebert Moorhead
LTIP 2016 27973 - - - - 27,973 155100 1161 201019 -2010.26
LTiP 2017 57.009 - 526 - 49533 7,982  2036.67 1161 26.10.20~ 26.10.27
LTIP 2018 43,354 - - - - 63,354 183247 1161 0111.23-01.11.28
LTIP 25194 61,701 - - - - 61,700 221047 1,364 0511.24-05.11.29
DBP 2015 3,962 - b4 1.341 - 2,685 225867 90 24.1020-24.10.29
LTIP 2020/ - 93.468 - - - 93,468 145913 1,364 19.11.25-19.11.30
Total 213,999 93.468 590 1,341 49553 257,163
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al The number of shares subject Lo awards is the maximum (100 per cent] number of shares thal could be received by the executive if the performance targels are fully met except Ihal, in respecl ol
awards granted Irom Ocloher 2014 anwards, <onsiskenl wilh markel practice, any part of the awards which vest will benelil from Lhe accrual of dividend roll-up.

I sespecl of Ine awards granted on 20 Octeber 2014 under the LTIP, the remaining 50 per cent of Lhe vesled shares will become exarcisable on the [ifth annversary ol the dale of grant. As a resull,
\he 1olal number of shares which are exercisabte from 20 October 2021 are ax fallows: Carl Cowling 17,626 shares including 281 dwidand accrual shares, and Roberl Moorhead 28,426 shares
including 453 dividend accrual shares. .

In respect of he award granted on 2& Oclober 2017 ynder the LT1# held by Carl Cawling, 5.104 shaes vested, including 334 dividend shares, and 31,689 shares fapsed. The award is subject lo a
helding period with 5 per cenl of any vesiad shares becoming exercisable en the Lhird annivessary of the date of granl and Lhe remaining 50 per cent af any vesied shares becoming exercisable on
the fitth anniversary of the date of grant. It was agreed that 100 per cent ol the vested shares would be subject 1o 3 holding period becoming exercisable on Lhe filth anniversary ol the date of grant.
In respei of the award granled on 24 Qctaber 2017 under the LTIP held by Robert Moorhead, 7,982 shares vesled., including 926 dividend accrual shares, and 49,553 shares lapsed. The award 1s
subject 1o a holding period with 50 per cent of any vesled shares becoming exercisable on the Lhird anniversary of the date ot granl and the remaming 50 per cenl of any vested shares becoming
exercisabic on Lhe filth anniversary of lhe date of grani, Il was agreed that 100 per cent of the vested shares would be subjecl Lo a holduing period becoming exercisable cn the filth anniversary of the
tale ul yyanl. Rk

=

a

a

e] The perfarmance condilions lor awards granied in Lhe financial year ended 31 August 2019 under the LFIP were;

1) 20 per cent bascd on the Company's TSR performance againsi Lthe FTSE All Share General Retailers Index constitvents. Vesting will accur on Lhe fallowing basts: betow madian - Nil;
median ~ 25 per cenl. upper quarlile - 160 per cent, and on a slraighl Jline basis between 25 per cent and 190 per cent; and

1ti) 60 par cent based on growlh in (he adjusied diyted EPS of the Company. Vesting will occur on Uhe following basis: belaw 5 per cenl - Nil: 5 per cent - 25 per cent; 10 per cenl or more - 100 per
cent: and on a siraigit-tine basis belween 23 per cent and 100 per cenl. For these purposes, EPS will de de(ermined by reference ta fully diluted ERS befare exceptional itlems and will exclude
|AS 19 pension charges from Ihe caleulation, adjusled as considered appropriate by the Committes to ensure consistency.
The Comgpany did nol meel the perfarmance conditions and the awards lapsed on 1 November 2021.

Il No awards have been granted to directors belween | September 2021 and 11 Mgvembar 2021,

gl The awands granied in Lhe financiat years ended 31 August 2070 and 31 August 2021 under the LTIP will onty vest (o (he extent 1hat ihe performance Largets s seL oul on pages 81 and 83
are satistied.

hl The awandls granted in Lhe financial year ended 31 Auvgusl 2020 under the DBP will be reteased one third an each anniversary of the date of granl. Details of the awards are sel oul an page B1.
The awards accrue the benelit of any dividends paid by the Company and are ot subject to perfarmance targets. In rospact of the award granted on 24 Oclober 2019 held by Carl Cowting, 1351
shares vesled with a lotal value of £20,677.58 {1530.5188p per ordinary share). In respect of the award granted on 24 Octotrer 2019 held by Rabert Moorhead, 1,341 shares vesied with a telal value
of £20.524.53 {1530.5388p per ordinary sharek.

4.14 WH Smith Employee Benefit Trust )

The WH Smith Employee Benefit Trust [the Trust’] is used to facilitate the acquisition of ordinary shares in the Company to satisfy
awards granted under the Company's share plans. The Trust is a discretionary trust, the sole beneficiaries being employees [including
executive directors] and former employees of the Group and their close relations. The Trustee is Computershare Trustees (C 1]
Limited. an independent professional trustee company based in Jersey. The Cornpany intends that the ordinary shares in the Trust will
be used to satlisfy all outstanding awards and optiens made under the Company’s share plans. The Trustee may exercise all rights
attached to the shares held in the Trust in accordance with their fiduciary duties and the relevant ptan rules or other governing
documents. The Trustee has agreed to waive its rights to all dividends payable on the ordinary shares held in the Trust.

Following share purchases of 122,813 shares in the financtal year ended 31 August 2021, the number of WH Srruth PLC shares held in
the Trust at 31 August 2021 was 304,641, The Group's accounling policy with respect to the Trust is detailed within Note 1 to the
financial statements and movements are detailed in the Group statement of changes in equity on page 102.
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4.15 Dilution limits -
Awards under the LTIP are currently satisfied using market purchase shares which may be acquired by the Trust as described in the
paragraph abave. WHSmith's share plans comply with recormended guidelines on dilution imits, and the Compary has always

operated within these Limits.

4.16 External appointments

Each executive director may accept up to twe nan-executive direciorships provided they are not both appointrnents to campanies in
the FTSE 100 or inctude a chairmanship of a FFSE 100 company. Non-executive directorships must nat conflict with the interests of
the Company. Executive directors may retain fees from one of their external directorships. The fee received and retained by Robert
Moarhead in respect of his non-executive directorship is showr in the table below:

Received Retained
£000s £'000s
Rabert Moorhead  The Watches of Switzerland Group PLC 68 8

1 Alternalive performance measure defined and explained in the Glossary on page 134
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Corporate governance

Directors’ remuneration report continued

4.17 Directors’ interests in shares laudited)
The beneficial interests of the directors and their immaediate families in the ordinary shares of the Company are set out below:

Nurnber of shares subject to
Number of shares subject te bolding periods. performance conditions
Ordinary shares pap LTI LTip
I August 31 August 2020
202% lor date of 31 August 31 August 31 August 31 August 31 August 31 August
lor date of leavingl appointment) 2021 2026 2021 202 ann 2020
Kal Atwal 3,608 4127 - N - - - -
Carl Cowling 23,051 22335 2,703 3990 . 22449 17345 246,329, 156,529
Nicky Dulieu . - - - ! -i - - -
Annemarie Durbin 1952, 1952, - - - - - -
Simon Emeny . 4,427 2952 - _ - - - -
Robert Moorhead 197,973 197 263 2,685 3962° 35,955 27973 218,523 182.064
Henry Staunten 39,523 39523, - - - i - -
Maurice Thompson 3,452 3.452 - - _t . - _
Directors who resigned during the year
Suzanne Baxter 1,952 1,952 - - - - - _

al Nicky Dulicu was appointed as 3 non-gxequlive direclor on § Seplember 2020,

bl Kal Alwal was appeinted as a non-execulive directar on 1 Febryary 2021,

¢ The LTIP amounl above is the maximum potenlial award thal may vest subject 1o Ihe perigrmance condiions described on pages 81 and 83.
dl The petiormance condilions lor the October 2018 LTIP were not mel and the awards lapsed.

€| There has been na furiher change In the direclors inlerests shown above batween 1 Seplember 2021 and 1) Novernber 2021

fi The middle market price of an ordinary share at the ciose of business on 31 August 2021 was 1632p [28 August 2020. 1177pl.

g Sce Tahle of Outstanding awards on page B2 for detaits of awards exercised dunng the financial year ended 31 August 2021.

hl Suzanng Baxter slepped down as a director of the Company on 20 Yapuary 2029,

4.18 Yoting at the Annual General Meeting

Statement of voting at 2019 AGM
The table below shows the voting outcame at the Annual General Meeting on 23 January 2019 for approval of the remuneration policy:

Voles Total Vates
Resolution Voles for % for agalnst % against votes cast withheld
Approval of Girectors’ remuneration policy- 75,623.634 98.78 935,638 122 76559292 73,785

Statement of voting at 2021 AGM _
The table below shows the vating outcome at the Annual General Meeting on 20 January 2021 for approval of the annual Directors

remuneration report:

Total
Votes votes Yoles
Resolution Veles for % for against % against cast withheld
Approval of Directors’ remuneration report 66,038,774 5743 31,894,173 3257 97932947 9,959,963

A vote withheld is not a vate in law and is not counted in the calculation of the propartion of votes ‘for’ and ‘against’ a resolution.

As explained in the announcernent of the vating outcome at the Annual General Meeting an 20 January 2021, the Company
understands that the primary reason for the significant percentage of votes against the resolution to approve the Directors’
remungration report was the salary increase of £25,000 which Carl Cowling received an 1 July 2020. As a result, the previously
announced increase to Carl Cowling's salary in April 2021 was postponed until 1 September 2021.

On behalf of the Beard \
Ao s
Ann#marie Durbin ! k Z p

Chair of the Remuneration Committee
11 November 2021
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Directors’ report

The directors present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements for the financial year ended 31 August 2021,
The Company is the ultimate parent company of the WHSmith
group of eompanies lthe ‘Group’). WH Srmith PLC is registered in
England and Wales [Number 5202034] and domiciled in the
United Kingdom.

The Company has chosen, in accordance with Section 414C[11) of
the Companies Act 2004, to include certain informatien in the
Strategic report that would otherwise be required to be disclosed
in this Directors’ report, as follows:

Informatien Page number
Lekely future developments in the business 8to 19
Branches putside the UK 14
Disclosures concerning greenhouse gas emissions and

energy consumption 9t032
Employment of disabled persons ki)
Employee engagernent J2to 40
Engagement with external stakeholders 41

Other information, which forms part of this Directors’ report, can
be found in the following sections of the Annual report:

Seclion Page number
Corporate governance report 411048
Directors’ biographies 56 and 57

Statermnent of directors’ responsibilities 88
{nformatton on use of financial instruments 137 to 140

This Directors” report lincluding infarmation specified above as
forming part of this report] fulfils the requirements of the
Corporate governance statement for the purposes of DTR 7.2.

The intormation required by Listing Rule 9.8.4R is disclosed on
the following pages of this Annual report:

Subjeci matter Page number

65 Directors’ remuneraticn
report/ Note 23 on page 140
of the financial staterments

Allotrment of shares fer cash
pursuant to the WH Smith
employee share incentive plans

76 and 78 Directors’

Arrangement under which the
remuneration report

directors waived salary or fees

Arrangement under which the
WH 5mith Employee Benefit Trust
has waived or agreed to waive
dividends/future dividends

83 Directors’
remuneration report

Dividends

In light of the ongoing uncertainty and the impact of Covid-19 on
the Group which has resulted in the Group making a Headline
loss before tax and non-underlying iterns' of £55m, no interim
dividend was declared at the half-year and the Board will not
propose a final dividend in relation to the financial year ended

31 August 2021. The Board believes that the decision not to pay a
dividend is in the best long-term interests of shareholders but
understands the importance of dividends 1o shareholders and
wilt consider the quanturn and timmng of possible future dividend
payments when appropriate to do so.

1 Alernalive perlormance measure defined ard explained i the Glossary on page $5¢

Share capital

WH Smith PLC is 3 public company limited by shares. The issued
share capital of the Company, together with details of shares
issued during the year, is shown in Note 23 to the financial
statements on page 140

The issued share capital of the Company as at 31 August 2021
was 130,908,801 ordinary shares of 22%sp each. These shares are
listed on the London Stock Exchange and can be held in
certificated or uncertificated form.

The Company is not aware of any agreements between
shareholders that may result in restrictions on the transfer of
securities and voting rights.

There are no restricticns on the transfer of ardinary shares in the
Company other than certain restrictions imposed by laws and
regulations [such as insider trading laws and market
requirements relating to closed periods), including the
requirements of the UK Market Abuse Regulation and the Listing
Rules, and also the Company's Share Dealing Code whereby
directors and certain employees of the Company require Board
approvat to deal in the Company's securities.

The rights and obligations attaching to the Company’s ordinary
shares, in addition to those conferred on their holders by law, are
set out in the Cornpany’s Articles of Association, a copy of which
can be obtained frorm the Company's website whsmithple.co.uk.
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive the
Company's report and accounts, to attend and speak at general
meetings of the Campany, to appoint proxies and to exercise
vating rights, and to receive a dividend, if declared, subject 10 the
deduction of any sums due from the holder of ordinary shares 1o
the Company on account of calls or atherwise. Changes to the
Company's Articles of Association must be approved by special
resolution of the Company.
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The Trustee of the WH Smith Employee Benefit Trust holds
ordinary shares in the Company on behalf of the benefictaries of
the Trust, who are the employees and former employees of the
Group. If any offer is made to the holders of ordinary shares to
acquire their shares, the Trustee will not be obliged to accept ar
reject the offer in respect of any shares which are at that time
subject to subsisting aptions, but will have regard to the interests
of the option holders and can consult them to obtain their views
on the offer, and subject ta the foregaing. the Trustee will take the
action with respect ta the offer it thinks farr.

New Financing Arrangements and Convertible Bond

On 9 March 2021, the Company extendec its bank financing
arrangements with its existing banks. The Company extended the
rmalurity of ets two existing £200m Term Loans to October 2023
and agreed a new minimum liguidity covenant for both the
August 2021 and February 2022 covenant tests. The previously
agreed covenant waiver for February 2021 rematned unchanged.
These changes enabled the Company te cancel its existing
£120m liquidity loan which was undrawn and due to expire in
Novernber 2021. The Group's £200m revolving credit facility
remained unchanged with the arrangement due for renewal in
December 2023.
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Corporate gover nance

Directors’ report continued

On 28 April 2021, the Company announced it had agreed new
bank financing arrangements and also launched a potential
affering of guaranteed senior unsecured Convertible Bonds [the
"Bonds”). The new financing arrangements included a £250m
revolving credit facility [increased from £200m] maturing in April
2025 from an expanded syndicate of lending banks and a new
£133m term loan also maturing in April 2025.

On 29 April 2021 the Campany announced the successful pricing
and final terms of its offering of £327m of Bonds. The Bonds
were issued in principal amounts of £100,000 each’and carry a
coupon of 1.625 per cent per annum payable semi-annually in
arrear in equal instalments on 7 May and 7 Novernber each year,
with the first interest payment date being 7 November 2021,
The Bonds are convertible into new gnd/or existing ordinary
shares of the Campany. The initial conversion price was set at
£24.99. representing @ premium of 40 per cent above the
reference share price of £17.85. Settlement and delivery of the
Bonds took place an 7 May 2021. If not previcusly converted,
redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the Bonds will be
redeemed at par on 7 May 2026. The Bonds were admitted to
trading on the unregulated open market [Freiverkehr) of the
Frankfurt Stock Exchange. The 1ssue of the Bonds was equivalent
to circa ten per cent of the Company's existing issued ordinary
share capital.

The new bank financing arrangements and the issue of the
Bonds provide balance sheet capacity and flexibility whilst
diversifying the Company’'s sources of debt funding. The Company
also expects to benefit from an ongoing lower cost of funding
from the Bonds.

Purchase of own shares

At the 2021 AGM, authority was given for the Company to
purchase, in the market, up to 13.086,666 ordinary shares of
22%mp each, renewing the authority granted at the 2020 AGM.

The Company did not purchase any of its own shares during the
financial year. The Company intends to renew the authority to
purchase its own shares at the forthcoming AGM as the directors
believe that having the flexubility to buy back shares is in the best
interests of the Company. The directors do not currently envisage
utilising this authority in the financial year ending 31 August 2022.

Issue of new ordinary shares

During the financial year ended 31 August 2021, 43,345 ordinary
shares of the Company were issued under the Sharesave
Scheme at prices between 1434.40p and 1609.60p. The Articles of
Asscciation of the Company provide that the Board may, subject
to the prior approval of the members of the Company, be granted
authority to exercise all the powers of the Company to allot
shares or grant rights to subscribe for or convert any security
into shares, including new ordinary shares.

Significant agreements/financing agreements -
change of control

A change of contral of the Company fellowing a takeover bid may
cause a number of agreements to which the Company or its
trading subsidiaries is party, such as commercial trading
cantracts, banking arrangements, property leases. licence and
concession agreements to take effect, alter or terminate.

In addition, the service agreements aof sorme senior executives
and employee share plans would be similarly affected on a
change of control, including. in the case of some employees.
in relation to compensation far loss cf office.

The Company has an unsecured £250m multi-currency revolving
credit facility with Barclays Bank PLC, HSBC Bank PLC, J.P.
Morgan Securities, Santander UK PLC and BNP Paribas for
general corporate and working capital purposes. It there is a
change of control of the Company, and agreeable terms cannot
be negotiated between the parties, any lender may cancel the
cormmitment under the facility and all outstanding utitisations for
that lender, together with accrued interest, shall be

immediately payable.

The Company issued a £327m convertible bond on 7 May 2021
The Bond holders have the right to early redemption in the event
of a change of control of the Company.

Directors’ conflicts

The Company’s Articles of Association permit the Board to
consider and, if it sees fit, to authorise situations where a director
has an interest that conflicts, ar may possibly conflict, with the
interests of the Company ['Situational Conflicts']. The Board has
a formal system in place for directors to declare Situationat
Conflicts to be considered for authorisation by those directors
who have na interest in the matter being considered. In deciding
whether to authorise a Situational Conflict, the non-conflicted
directors must act in the way they consider. in good faith, would
be most likely to promote the success of the Company, and they
rmay impose limits or conditions when giving the authorisation,
or subsequently, if they think this is appropriate. Any Situational
Conllicts considered by the Board, and any authorisations given,
are recorded in the Board minutes and in a register of conflicts
which is reviewed regularly by the Board.

Directors’ indemnities

The Company maintained directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance in the financial year ended 31 August 2021 and up to
the date of this report which gives appropriate cover for any legal
action brought against its directors. The Company has provided
and cantinues to provide an indemnity for its directors, which is a
qualifying third party indemnity provision for the purposes of
Section 234 of the Companies Act 2006.
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Company’s shareholders

Information provided 1o the Company pursuant to the Financial
Conduct Autharity's {FCA) Disclosure Guidance and Transparency
Rules [DTRs) is published on a Regulatery Information Service
and on the Company's website. As at 3] August 2027, the
following information had been recewed, in accordance with
DTRY, from holders of notifiable interests in the Cornpany's
issued share capita!. [t should be noted that these holdings may
have changed since notified to the Company.

% as at date of Hature of
Holder Numbet netlficalion holding
BlackRock Inc 7,698,670 5.87 Indirect
Causeway Capital 7,882 548 6.02 Direct
Management LLC
M&G PLC 7,971,971 692  Indirect’
Marathon Asset 6,53% 399 4.99 Indirect
Management LLP
Royal London Asset 6,539,691 499 Direct

Management Ltd

al On 1 September 2021 BlackRock Inc. nolifred the Company of a hotding of 7,736,408 shares
15.90 per cent Indirect holdingl. Subsequentty, on 2 September 2021 BlackRock Inc. nclified
the Company of 3 decrease in its holding to 7,657,823 shares [5.83 per cont Indirecl holdingf
Gn 15 September 2021 BlackRuck Inc. notitied the Company of an increase in its holding lo
8,057,674 shares 16,14 per cent Indirec) holdingl. On 16 Seplember 2021 BlackRock Inc.
noliied {he Company of o change in its helding lo B.057.403 shares [6.)4 per cent Indirect
holding{, On 17 Seplember 2021 BlackReck Inc. nalified the Company of 3 changein s
holding tg 8,052.£90 shares .14 per cenl Indirect haldingl.

bl On 3 Seplember 2021 Causeway Capilal Management LLE nalitied 1he Company ol & holding
of §,280.753 shares (7.09 per cent Drrect holding],

The Company received no other notifications in the period
belween 31 August 2021 and the date of this repart.

Political donations

It is_ the Company’s policy not to make political donations and no
political donations, contributions or political expenditure were
made in the year {2020: £nill.

Going concern

The Group's business activities, tegether with the factors that are

likely to atfect its future developments, performance and position,

are set out in the Strategic report on pages 2 to 40. The Financial
review an pages 16 to 19 of the Strategic repart also describes
the Group's financial position, cash flows and borrowing facilities,
further information on which is detailed in Notes 19 to 22 of the
financial statements on pages 134 1o 140. At 31 August 2021, the
Group isin a net current liability position. In addition, Note 22 of
the financial staterments on page 137 includes the Group's
objectives, poticies and processes for managing its capital; its
financiat risk management objectives; details of its financial
instruments and hedging activities; and its exposures to credit
nisk and Liquidity risk. The Strategic report on pages 21 to 28 also
highlights the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group.

The directors are required to assess whether the Group can
continue ta operate for a minimum of 12 months from the date of
approval of these financial statements, and to prepare the
financial staterments on a going concern basis. The directors
consider that the Group Company has adequate resources o

remain in operation for the foreseezble future and have therefore

continued to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
financial statements. The basis of preparation of the financial
staternents and a more detailed explanation of the wark
undertaken in respeci of going concern are set out in Note 1 of
the financial statements on page 103.

The longer-term viability statement is in the Strategic report on
page 28.

‘Independent auditors

PwC has expressed its willingness to continue in office as
auditors of the Company. A resolution to re-appoint PwC as
auditers to the Company and a resolution to authorise the Audit
Committee to determine its remuneration will be proposed at
the AGM.

Disclosure of information to the auditors

Having made the requisite enquiries, as far as each of the
directors is aware, there is no relevant audit information las
defined in Section 418 of the Companies Act 2004) of which the
Company's auditors are unaware, and each of the directors has

taken all steps he or she should have taken as a director in order

to make himself or hersetf aware of any relevant audit
infarmation and ta establish that the Company's auditors are
aware of that information.

Annual General Meeting

The AGM of the Company will be held at the offices of Herbert
Smith Freehiits LLP, Exchange House, Primrose Streel,
London EC2A 2EG on 19 January 2022 at 11.30arn, The Notice ¢
Annual General Meeting is given, together with explanatory

f

notes, in the booklet which accompanies this report. At the time
of writing, UK public health regulations and guidance atlow us to

return to an in-person meeting this year, with shareholders
physically able 1o attend the AGM should they wish to do so

We will continue to review our AGM arrangements in light of the

latest government Covid-19 guidance, and therefore
shareholders are encouraged to monitor the AGM page of the
Company's website www.whsmithplc.co.uk/investors/
shareholder-centrefagm for any updates.

Thisyw@aroued by the Board on 11 November 2021.

Op-ehalf of the Board

11 Novermnber 2021
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Financial statements

Statement of directors’ responsibilities
in respect of the financial statements

The direclors are responsible for preparing the Annual repart
and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and requlation. ’

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year. Under that taw the directors
have prepared the Group financial statements in accordance with
international accounting standards in conformity with the
requirements of the Companies Art 2004 and the Company
tinancial statements 1n accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice [United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 'Reduced Disclosure
Framework’, and applicable law). Additionally, the Financial
Conduct Authority's Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules
require the directors to prepare the Group financial statements in
accordance with international financial reporting standards
adopted pursuant te Regutation [EC) No 1606/2002 as it applies in
the European Union.

Under company law the directars rmust not approve the financial
staterments unless they are salisfiad that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company and of the
profit or loss of the Group and Company for that perod.

In preparing the financiat statements, the girectors are

reguired to:

¢ select suitable accounting pelicies and then apply
thern consistently;

state whether applicable international accounting standards in
conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006
and international financial reporting standards adopted
pursuant to Regulation [EC] No 1606/2002 as it applies in the
European Union have been followed for the Group financial
statements and United Kingdom Accounting Standards,
comprising FRS 101, have been followed for the Company
financial statements, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

mzke judgements and accounting estimates that are
reascnable and prudent; and

prepare the financial staterents on the gging concern basis
unless it I1s inappropriate to presyme that the Group and
Company will continue in business.

The directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of
the Greup and Company and hence for taking reasonable steps
for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group and
Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy
at any ime the financial positron of the Group and Company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements and the
Directors’ remuneratton report comply with the Companies

Act 2006.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance ang integrity
af the Company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

~ Carl Cowling

Directors’ confirmations

Each of the directors, whose names and functions are listed
in the Directors” biographies, confirms that, to the best of
their knowledge:

» the Group financial statements, which have been prepared
in accardance with international accounting standards in
conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006
and international financial reporting standards adopted
pursuant to Regulation [EC) No 1606/2002 as it applies in the
European Union, give a true and fair view of the assels,
liabiities, financial position and loss of the Group:

= the Company financial statements. which have been prepared
in accordance with United Kingdom Accounting Standards.
comprising FRS 101, give a true and fair view of the assets,
liabiities, financial position and loss of the Company; and

the Strategic report includes a fair review of the development
and performance of the business and the position of the Group
and Company, together with a description of the principal risks
and uncertainties that it faces.

in the case of each director in office at the date the directors’

report is approved:

« so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the Group's and Company’s auditors are
unaware; and

* they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as &
director in order to make themselves aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the Group's and
Company's auditors are aware of that information.

On hehall of the Board

X"

r

Group Chief Executive

Robert Moorhead 7 _
Chief Financial Offiderand Chief Opedating Officer ,

11 Novernber 2021
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Independent auditors’ report to the members

of WH Smith PLC

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

In our opinion:

* WH Smith PLC's Group financial statements and Company
financial statements [the "financial statements”} give a true
and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the Companys

affairs as at 31 August 2021 and of the Group's toss and the
Group's cash flows for the year then ended;

the Group financial stalements have been properly prepared in
accordance with international accounting standards in
conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006,

the Company financiat statements have been properly
prepared in accerdance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice [United Kingdom Accounting
Standards, comprising FRS 161 "Reduced Disclosure
Framework’, and applicable law]; and

the financial staternents have been prepared in accordance
with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006,

We have audited the financial statements, included within the
Annual Report and Accounts [the ‘Annual Report’, which
comprise: the Group and Company balance sheets as at

31 August 2021; the Group inceme staterment and Group

" statement of comprehensive income; the Group cash How
staternent, and the Group and Company statements of changes
in equity for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial
staternents, which include a description of the significant
accoynting policies.

Our apinion is consistent with our reporting 1o the
Audit Cornmitiee.

Separate opinion in relation to international financial
reporting standards adopted pursuant to Regulation {EC}

No 1606/2002 as it applies in the European Union

As explained in Note 1 to the financial statements, the Group and
Campany, in addition to applying international accounting
standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies
Act 2006. have also applied internationat financial reporting
standards adopted pursuant to Regulation [EC] No 1606/2002 as
it applies in the European Union.

In our opinion, the Group and Company financial statements
have been properly prepared in accordance with international
financial reporting standards adopted pursuant to Regulation
[EC) No 1606/2002 as it apples in the European Union.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing [UK] ["1SAs [UK)™} and applicable law.

Our responsibilities under I5As [UK) are further described in the
Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of cur report. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for

our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the Group in accerdance with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the hinancial
statements in the UK. which includes the FRC's Ethicat Standarg,
as applicable to listed public interest entities, and we have
fulfilted cur other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-
audit services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard were
not provided,

Other than those disclosed in Ncle 3, we have provided no
non-audit services to the Company in the period under audit.

Our audit approach
Overview

" Audit scope

» For the purposes of scoping the Group audit we have assessed
the seven components of the business; High Street. Travel UK,
InMotion, MRG, Travel International, Company and Central.
For the purposes of the Group audit, we performed a full scape
audit on the High Street, Travel UK, MRG and InMotian
cornponents. whilst performing specified audit procedures over
balances within the Central and Campany cormponents based
on their overall size and vatues of their specific financial
statement line itemns. Travel International was not included in
the scope of our Group work

The audds of the InMaotion and MRG components were

pertormed by PwC USA.

» Our audit scoping gave us coverage of approximately 91% of
absolute Group loss before tax, with approximately 96%
coverage of revenue.,

* We performed a tull scope audit over the Company for the
Company audit.

Key audit matters

* Going concern [Group and Company)

* Convertible bond and refinancing [Group and Companyl

* |mpairment of store property, plant & equipment and right-of-
use assets {Groug] and impairment of investments ([Company)

* Inventory valuation (Group)

+ One off transactions and equat prominence of Alternative
Performance Measures APMs’ [Group)

» Pension scheme valuation {Group)

Materiality

= Overall Group materiality: £5.7 miltion 12020: £6.1 million)
based on approximately 5% of the five year average of
loss/prafit before tax before non-underlying items.

« Qverall Company materiality: £8.4 million (2020: £11.2 million}
based on 1% of total assets.

» Performance materiatity: £4.3 million [Group) and £6.3 million
{Company).
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Financial slatements

Independent auditors’ report to the members

of WH Smith PLC continued

The scope of our audit

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and
assessed the risks of material misstatement in the

financial staternents.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are thase matters thay, in the auditors’
professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of
the financial statements of the current period and include the
most significant assessed risks of material misstatement
[whether or not due to fraud) identified by the auditors, including

those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy;

the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts
of the engagement team. These matters, and any comments we
make on the resulls of our procedures thereon, were addressed
in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit.

Key audit matter

The convertible bond and refinancing is a new key audit matter
this year, IFRS 14 Right-of-use asset and lease liability valuation,
Acquisition of Marshall Retail Group [MRG'] and Covig-19, which
were key audit matters last year, are no (onger included.

MRG was a specific transaction in the prior year, {FRS 16 was an
area of focus in the year of transition and there have been lower
tevels of new and madified leases in the year which required less
judgement. Cavid-19 has significantly impacted the Groug in the
year lincluding store closures and restricted travell the specific
impact of Covid-19 on key audit matters has been set out within
separate key audit matters below. Otherwise, the key audit
matiers below are consistent with last year.

How our audit addressad the Key audit matter

Going concern [Group and Company)
Refer to Note 1 {a) Accounting policies basis of preparation,
Going concern.

In undertaking their assessment of going concern for the
Company and Group, the directors modelled future business
performance and cash flow forecasts, by means of a ‘base case’
and a ‘severe but plausible’ cash flow model. In both models, the
dwectors considered the financing available to the Group to
assess liquidity and associated debt covenants.

As part of strengthening the balance sheet, and in response to
the impact Covid-19. management refinanced the Group's debt
in the year. issuing a £327 mitlion bond. [refer to separate key
audit matter) . The base case madel is consistent with the
Group’'s budget and three year plan. The severe but plausible
model sensitises the base case and assumes a three-month
lockdown from December 2021, with a gradual recovery
thereafter. This scenario mirrors actual performance in the
lockdown of early 2021 and subsequent recovery.

Taking into account both the base case and severe but plausible
scenario, and considering both liquidity angd covenant headroom,
the directors concluded that the Group has sufficient resources
available to meet its liabilities as they fall due and Is therefore a
going concern. Further details of the directors” assessment are
included within the Directors’ report on page 85.

Due to the ongoing pandemic, and associated changes to
lockdown restrictions. there is significant judgement in
developing the future cash flow lorecasts, in particular, the
assumptions relating to revenue. We therefore focused audit
effort on the gaing concern risk.

We agree with the Directors’ conclusion to prepare the
financial statements on a geing concern basis.

The procedures performed in respect of going concern and our
findings are set out in the "Canclusions relating to going
concern” section below.

We consider the disclosure within the Basis of Preparation to
appropriately highlight the process the directors have
undertaken and the judgements, estimates and

uncertainty involved.
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key augii matier

Convertible bond and refinancing IGroup and Company)
Refer to Note 1 (m} and Note 1 (g for the financial instrument
accounting policy and the direclors’ disclosure of the critical
accounting judgements and key sources of

estimation uncertamty.

As a direct result of Covid- 19, the Group has refinanced its
borrowings in the year which has resulted in the derecognition
aof the old debt facilities and recognition of the new term lean
and convertible bond.

Imtial recognition of the convertible hond requires complex
accounting treatrment and judgement regarding the bifurcation
af the instrument into a liability component and an equity
cornponent. Transaction fees have been allocated between
underlying and non-underlying expenses in accordance with the
Group's policy,

Given the complexity of the accounting and judgements applied
when accounting for these instruments, we have focused on this
as part of our audit,

We have audited management’s technical assessment and
consider the conclusions reached to be appropriate. We are
satisfied that the inibal recognition of the bond and the
bifurcation between a liability and eguity component is
appropriate and that the conclusions and related accounting
are reasonable based on our review of the underlying lerms
of the bonds.

We have confirmed the existence of the bond with the
relevant counterparty.

We considered whether the allocation and disclosure of the
non-underlying transactian fees as "directly attributable to
Covid- 19" was appropriate and were satisfied that there was
evidence that supports this treatment.

Based on the pracedures performed, we noted no material
Issues arising from our work.

Impairment of store property, plant & equipment and
right-of-use assets (Group} and impairment of investments
(Campany]

Refer to Note 1 {al, Basis of preparation, Non-underlying items
and 1/g] Critical accaunting judgements and key sources of
estimation uncertainty and Notes 12 and 13 [Property, plant &
equiprnent and Right-of-use assets) and Mote 3 in the Company
Financial statements.

The Group has a material operational retail asset base which
may be vulnerabte to impairment in the event of trading
performance being below expectations For the purposes of
impairment testing, each retail store is considered ta be a
separate cash generating urmt [CGUI.

In the year, an impairment trigger was identified for the entire
portfolio of slores as a result of continued challenging trading
conditions & & result of Covid-19. The value-in-use models used
to determine the amount of any impairment charge are based
on store specific assumptions. Management's assessment
resulted in the recognition of an impairment charge of

€44 million.

We focused on this area because of the inherent judgement and
eslimation uncertainty involved in determining key assumptions
such as the future sales profite and discount rates, particularty
given the uncertainty associated with Covid-19, and the
magnitude of the assets under consideration.

We abtained an understanding of how management had
developed its forecast for the future trading of the Group,
in¢cluding obtaining a detailed understanding of the key
assumptions made in developing these forecasts. We satisfied
ourselves that the forecasts were reasanable and had been
prepared with appropriate Board involvernent. In forming this
conclusion, we benchmarked the projections of trading and
recovery against forecasts of credible third parties. as well as
the current sales trajectory of the business versus pre-pandemic
levels. With the assistance of our valuation experts we tested
the value-in-use models, including challenging management
forecasts at & store level, as well other assumptions such as the
sates profile, assumptions under-pinning the timing of recovery
and discount rate, and found that these assumptions were
reasonahle. We assessed the mathematical accuracy and
integrity of the impairment models and determined that the
impairment charge had been appropriately calculated

Given the estimation uncertainty inherent i the impairment
calculations, the financial statements include a sensitivity
analysis (refer to Note 12]. Having re-perfermed the sensitivity
calculations and considered whether any cther sensitivities
might be more appropriate, we are satisfied that the financial
statements adequately disclose the patential risk of future
impairment or requirement for reversal of impairment if the
performance of the stores differs from that forecast.

We considered whether the disclosure of the nen-underlying
impairment charge as ‘directly attributable to Covid-19 was
appropriate and were satisfied that there was evidence that
supports this statement.

We considered the carrying value of the Company investments
in light of the impact of Covid-19, and noted no impairment.
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Financial statements

Independent auditors’ report to the members

of WH Smith PLC continued

Key autil matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Inventory valuation (Group)
Refer to Note 1 |h) Inventories and Note 1 [g] Critical accounting
judgements and key scurces of estimation uncertainty.

Inventory consists af a aumber of product categories including
books, news and magazines, impulse, stationery, travel essentials
and digital. As at 31 August 2021, inventory was £135 million.

A number of inventary lines are perishabte and items such as firm
sale books, digital, fashion and journey solutions are at greater
risk of obsalescence in a reduced trading environment.

Categories including books, newspapers and magazines are on a
sate or return basis and therefore have historically been
considered to be lower risk; however, due to the impact of
Covid-19, there has been an increase in the levels of firm sale

stack as the raturns atlowances were reduced due to lower intake,

thereby creating additional risk.

The Group's 'underlying inventary provision is primarily based on
ageing profile and obsolescence risk based on historic sales
performance. The assumptions in the calculation are consistent
with the prior year. For a second year, the Group has calculated a
‘non-underlying’ provision as a direct result of Covid-19. In the
current year, the provision has been calculated due to a slower
than anticipated recovery from the pandemic.

Judgement is required to estimate future sales to clear this
inventory and with respect to alternative exit routes for inventory
which attract different provisioning rates.

We focused on the valuation of the inventory provisions due to the
size of the balance and the estimates involved in determining the
future sales forecasts and the complexity of the calculation.

For the underlying provision, we developed an independent
expectation of the pravision required using a combinaticn of
ageing analysts and histaric inventory turn data, We performead
testing over the ageing data to ensure its accuracy.

Far the non-underlying provision we focused on the book
category, where the provision pertains to items that can no
longer be classified as sale or return, We tested how the returns
allowance was calculated.

The provisions are consistent with the Group's accounting policy
and also reflect changes in the ageing profile and estimated
future sales forecasts resulting from Cowid-19. We satisfied
ourselves that the inventory provisions were maternally accurate.

Given the estimations involved we reviewed a sensitivily analysis
to satisfy ourselves that a reasonable possible change would not
result in a material adjustment to the ¢arrying vatue of

the inventory.

One off transactions and equal prominence of Alternative
Performance Measures ‘APMs’ (Group)

Refer to Note 1 (a) Non-underlying items, 1 {q) Critical
accounting judgements and key sources of estimation
uncertainty and Note 4 [Non-underlying items).

The Group has included ‘Non-underlying items’ on the face of
the Group income staternant and discusses these items in the
Annual Report. Given the quanium and number of non-
underlying items in the year, we focused on the presentation of
these items to ensure they were treated consistently with the
Group's accounting policy. :

Management runs the business on a pre-IFRS 14 basis and
presents a number of pre-IFRS 16 APMs in the front half of the
Annual Report and Accounts.

We subslantiated a sample of non-underlying items 1o
corroborating evidence. We considered whether the designation
of items as ‘non-underlying’ was consistent with the Group's
accounting policy as disclosed in Note 1 [3) and treatment in
prior years.

We considered the evidence to support the segregation of ‘costs

attributable to Covid-19 and did not identify any arbitrary
splitting of itens between Covid~19 and non Covid-1¥.

Based on our procedures, we are satistied that the treatment
and classification of non-underlying items is consistent with the
Group's policy.

As part of our work we ensured there was equal prominence
between pre-IFRS 16 and IFRS 16 measures
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Key 3udit matier

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Pension scheme valuation (Group)

Refer to Note 1 {g] Critical accounting judgements and key
sources of eslimation uncertainty and Note 5 {Retirement
beneht obligations).

The Group hes two defined benefit pension plans which
comprise total gross plan assets of £1.463 million and total
pensian Liabilities of £1,180 mullion which are signiticant in the
context of the overall balance sheet of the Group. The Group
does not recegnise the pension surplus due to the fact there is
not an unconditional right to a refund of the surplus.

The valuation of the schemes’” liabilities requires judgement and
technical expertise in choosing appropriate assumptions.
The Group uses third party actuaries to calculzte the schemes’
tiabulities.

Changes to a number of the key assumptions can have a
material iImpact on the pension balance [refer Note 5).

The rmost recent triennial valuation was completed in
November 2020.

We focused on this area because of the potential financial
impact of changes in the assumptions.

We obtained the actuarial report for the WH Smith Pension Trust
Retail Section for the scheme as at 3T August 2021,

We reviewed the pension liability assumnptions, including discount
rales, inflation and mortality rates.

We compared the discount and inflation rates used to our
internally developed benchmark ranges, finding thern to be within
an acceptable range. Other assumptions were alsc assessed ang
considered to be reasonable.

We obtamed the latest census data infermation from both the
actuary and payroll and agreed a sample of the data used by the
actuary to the supporting payroll information

without exception.

We obtained independent confirmations from investrment
managers to confirm the vatuation of the scheme assets at the
balance sheet date.

Based on the procedures performed. we noted no material
issues arising from our work.
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Financial statements

Independent auditors’ report to the members

of WH Smith PLC continued

How we tailored the audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we perfermed
enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial
statements as a whole, taking inte account the structure of the
Group and the Company, the accounting processes and controls,
and the industry in which they operate.

For the purposes of scoping the Group audit we have assessed
the seven components of the business; High Street, Travel UK,
InMotior, MRG, Travel Internationat, Central and Company.
There are four significant components. High Street and Travel UK
were audited by the UK Group team, and InMotion and MRG were
audited by PwC US as component auditors operating under our
instruction. Audit work was performed over the consalidation
process, tax, impairment and going concern at a UK Group level.
Where the work was performed by the component auditor, we
determined the level of invalvernent we needed to have in their
audit work to be able to conclude whether sufficient audit
evidence had been obtained as a basis for our opinion on the
Group financial statements as a whole. We held detailed
discussions with the InMotion and MRG component audit team,
including evaluation of and remote review of the work performed,
update calls on the progress of their {ieldwork and by attending
the clearance meetings with management via video call.

The components where we performed audit work accounted for
approximately 1% of absolute Group loss befcre tax and
approximately 96% of revenue. We performed specified audit
procedures over balances within the Centrat and Company
components based on their overall size and values of their
specific financial statement line items. Travel International was
not included in the scope of our Group werk. For the Campany
financial statements, we performed a full scope audit, providing
us with 100% coverage.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of
materiality. We set certain guantitative thresholds for materiality.
These, together with qualitative consideratiens. helped us to
determine the scope of our audit and the naturs. timing ang
extent of our audit procedures on the individual financial
staterment line stems and disclosures and in evaluating the effect
of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the
financial statements as a whole.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality
for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Group financial statements Company financial stalemenis
Overall £5.7 million £8.4 million
materiality (2020: £6.1 million).  [2020: £11.Z million].
How we Approximately 5% 1% of total assets.
determined it of the five year

average of loss/profit

before tax before

non-underlying

iterns.
Rationale for Based on the As the parent entity,
benchmark applied benchmarksused n WH SmithPLCisa

the Annual Report,
loss/profit before tax
before non-
underlying items is
the primary measure
used by the
shareholders in
assessing the
performance of the
Groupand is a
generally accepted
auditing benchrark.

holding Company for
the Group and
therefore the
materiality
benchmark has
been determined to
be based on total
assets which is a
generally accepted
auditing benchmark.

For each component in the scope of our Group audit, we
allocated a materialily that is less than cur overali Group
materiality. The range of materiality allocated a¢ross components
was £4.0 million and £5.0 million.

We use performance materiality to reduce to an appropriately low
(evel the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and
undetected misstatements exceeds overall materiality.
Specifically we use performance materiality in determining the
scope of our audit and the nature and extent of our testing of
account balances, classes of transactions and disclosures, for
example in determining sample sizes. Qur performance
materiality was 75% of overall materiality. amounting to

£4.3 million for the Group financial statements and £6.3 million
for the Company financial statements,

In determining the performance maleriality, we considered a
number of factors - the history of misstatements, risk
assessmment and aggregation risk and the effectiveness of )
controls - and concluded that an amount at the upper end of our
normel range was appropriate.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to
them misstatements identified durtng our audit above £305,000
[Group audit [2020: £305,000) and £420000 [Company audit)
[2020: £563,000) as well ag misstatements below those amounts
that, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.
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Conclusions relating to going concern

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the Group’s and
the Company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern
basis of accounting included:

¢ critically assessed the assumptions within the models
including; assessing the historical accuracy of management’s
forecasts and abtained corroborating evidence for the
assumptions used such as air travel information on
passenger numbers;

obtained and reviewed the Group’s financing agreements,
including the convertible bond;

assessed the reasonableness of estimates made regarding the
inclusion of a three-month lockdown in the severe but
plausible case;

agreed the assumptions regarding the timing and extent of
recovery from Covid-19 in the severe but plausible case to
historical acluals;

performed independent sensitivity analyses to the severe but
plausible case to assess the impact on liquidity and covenant
headream; and

confirmed that consistent approaches to going concern,
viability, impairment and other key areas of estimation
assumptions have been used.

Based on the work we have perfarmed, we have not identified any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that,
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the
Group’'s and the Cormpany’s ability te continue as a going concern
for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial
statemenits are authonised for issue.

In auditing the financial staternents, we have concluded that the
directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial staterments is appropriate.

Howgver, because not all future events ar conditions ¢an be
predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the Group's
and the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

In relation to the directors’ reporting on how they have applied
the UK Corporate Governance Code, we have nathing material to
add er draw attention to in retation to the directors’ staternent in
the financiat staternents about whether the directors considered
it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting.

Qur responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with
respect 1o going concern are described in the relevant sections of
this report.

Reparting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the
Annual Report other than the financial staternents and our
auditors’ report therean. The direclors are responsible for the
other information. Our opinion on the inancial statements does
not cover the other information and, accardingly, we dc not
express an audit opinion or, except (o the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in thes report, any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financiat statements, our
responsibility is to read the ather infarmation and. in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materiatly inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we
identify an apparent material inconsistency or material
misstatement. we are required to perfarm procedures to
conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the
financial stalements or a material misstaternent of the other
information. If, based an the work we have performed. we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other

information, we are required o repart that fact. We have nothing

to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic report and Directors’ report, we also
considered whether the disclosures required by the UK
Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the
Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report certain opinions
and matters as described below.

Strategic report and Directors’ report

In our opinion. based on the work undertaken in the course of the
audit, the information given in the Strategic repert and Directors’
report, for the year ended 31 August 2021 is consistent with the
financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with
applicable legal requirements,

in light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and
Company and their environment obtained in the course of the
audit, we did not identify any material misstatements in the
Strategic report and Directors’ report.

Directors’ Remuneration

In our opinion, the part of the Direclors’ remuneration report to
be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006.
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Financial statemenls

Independent auditors’ report to the members

of WH Smith PLC continued

Corporate governance statement

The Listing Rules require us ta review the directors’ statements
in relation to going concern, longer-term viability and that part of
the corporate governance statement relating to the Company’s
compliance with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance
Code specified for our review. Qur additional responsibilities with
respect to the corporate governance statement as other
infarmation are described in the Reporting on other information
section of this report.

Based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we have
cancluded that each of the fotlowing elements of the corporate
gavernance statement is materially consistent with the financial
statements and our knowiedge obtained during the audit, and we
have nothing material to add or draw attention to in relation to:

» The directors’ confirmation that they have carried out a robust
assessment of the emerging and principal risks;

* Thedisclosures in the Annual Report that describe those
princigal risks, what procedures are in place to rdentify
emerging risks and an exptanation of how these are being
managed or mitigated:

* The directors’ staternent in the financial statements about
whether they considered it appropriate to adopt the gaing
concern basis of accounting in preparing them, and their
dentification of any material uncertainties to the Group’s and
Company's ability to continue to do so aver a period of at least
twelve months from the date of approval of the
financial statements;

The directors’ explanation as to their assessment of the
Group's and Campany's prospects, the period this assessment
covers and why the period is appropriate; and

The directors’ statement as to whether they have a reasonable
expectation that the Company will be able to continue in
operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the period
of its assessment, including any related disclosures drawing
attention to any necessary qualifications or assumplions.

Our review of the directors’ stalement regarding the longer-term
viability of the Group was substantially less in scope than an audit
and only consisted of making inquiries and considering the
directors’ process supporting their statement: checking that the
statement is in alignment with the relevant provisions of the UK
Corporate Governance Cade; and cansidering whether the
statement is consistent with the financial statements and our
knowledge and understanding of the Group and Company and
their environment obtained in the course of the audit.

In addition, based on the work undertzken as part of our audit,
we have tancluded that each of the following elements of the
corporate governance statement is matenally consistent with the
financial statements and our knowledge obtained during

the audit:

*» The directors’ statement thal they consider the Annual Report,
taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable, and
provides the information necessary for the members to assess
the Group's and Company's position, performance. business
model and strategy;

* The section of the Annuat Report that describes the review of

effectiveness of risk management and internat control
systems; and

= The section of the Annual Report describing the work of the
Audit Cornmittee.

We have nothing to report in respect of our responsibility to

report when the directors’ staternent relating to the Company's

compliance with the Code does not properly disclose a departure

from a relevant provision of the Code specified under the Listing

Rules far review by the auditors.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors far the financial statements
As explained more fully tn the Statement of directors’
responsibilities, the directors are responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable
framewark and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair
view. The directors are alsa responsible for such internal control
as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
finsncial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's and the Company’s ability
to continue as a gaing concern, disclesing, as applicable. matters
related to going concern and using the going cancern basis of
accounting untess the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or the Company or to cease operations. or have no realistic
alternative but te do so.

Auditors” respensibitities for the audit of the

financial statements

Our objectives are 1o obtain reasorable assurance about whether
the financial statements as a whole are free fram material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. and to i1ssue an
auditors report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is 3 high level of assurance, but is not a quarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with 1SAs [UK) will always detect a
material misstaterment when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisicns of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.

Irrequiarities, including fraud, are instances of non-campliance
with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect matenal misstatements
in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which
our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including
fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the Group and industry, we
identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws
and regulations related to heatth and safety. GDPR, emptayment
law, general food law, pensions, tax legislation, the UK Listing
Rules, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance
might have a material effect on the financiat statements. We also
considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact
on the financial statements such as the Cormpantes Act 2006.

We evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for
fraudulent mamipulation of the finzncial statements {including
the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal
risks were related to manipulation of revenue and or costs, and
management bias in accounting estimates. The Group
engagement team shared this risk assessment with the

9% WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021



component auditors so that they could include apgrapriate audit
procedures in response to such risks in their work.

Audit procedures performed by the Group engagement team
and/or component auditors included:

* Reviewing legal confirmations from external lawyers;

* Reviewing the financial staterment disclosures and agreement
to underlying supporting documentation;

* Challenging ascumptions made by ranageaent i
determining their significant judgements and accaunting
estimates [refer key audil matters); and

* Identifying and testing unusual journals posted to revenue,
journals posted after penod close and journals posted by
seniar management.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described
above. We are less likely to becormne aware of instances of
non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely
related to events and transactions reflected in the financial
statements. Also, the risk of not detecting a material
misstatement due ta fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting
one resulting from error, as fraud may invalve deliberate
conceslmant by for example, fargery or intentional
misrepresentaticns, or through collusion.

Our audit testing might include testing complete populations of
certain transactions and balances, passibly using data auditing
technigues. However, it typically involves selecting a limited
number of iterns for testing, rather than testing complete
populations, We will often seek to target particular items for
tesling based on their size or risk characleristics. In ather cases,
we will use audit sarmpling to ensble us 1o draw a canclusion
about the pepulation from which the sample is selected,

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
financial stalements is located on the FRC's website at:
www.frc org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms
part of eur auditors’ repart.

Use af this report

This report, including the epinions, has been grepared for and
only for the Campany's members as a body in accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2004 and for no other
purpase. We do not, in giving these opimians, accept or assume
responsibility for any other purpose or to any ather person to
whom this report 15 shown or into whose hands it may come save
where expressly agreed by our prior consent in wriing.

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if.

IN our opinion:

* we have not obtained all the information and explanations we
require for our audit; or

+ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the
Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or

» certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law
are not made; or

* the Company financial staternents and the part of the

Directors remuneratian report to be audited are not in
agreement with the accounting records and returns,
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We have no exceptions ta report arising from thes responsibility.

Appointment

Following the recommendation of the Audit Committee, we were
appointed by the members on 21 January 2015 to audit the
financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2015 and
subsequent financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted
engagernent is 7 years, cavering the years ended 31 August 2015
to 31 August 2021.

Jonathan umﬁg%rl

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Slatutory Auditars
London

1 Novehber 20
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Financial statements

Group income statement
For the year ended 31 August 2021

21 2020
Belore Before
non-undertying Mon- underiying non-underteng Non-

&m Note Hems! tems? Tetal items' undertyng ilems? Tatal

. - i
Revenue 2 886 - - 88 1021 -
Group operating loss o3y 127) (65) (92) (48) (212) (260!
Finance costs : 7 [24) - (24 (20) - (201
Loss before tax ; 51) {65} (118) (68 [212] (280
Incorne tax credit B 24 12 3. 16 25 41
Loss for the year : (27) (53 - (80 (52) (187) (239)
Attrityutable to equity holders of the parent . [29) (53) 82) (52} [187) (239
Attributable to non-controlling interests ) 2 - 2 - - -

| (27 (53) (80) 152} {187} (239
Loss per share t E
Basic 10, [62.6lp (199.2]p
Diluted : 10 (62.8)p (199.2)p

All resulls relale la cenlinuing operations of the Group.

1 Alternasive performance messure. The Sroup has dehned ard explained Lhe purpose of its sltermalive perlormance measures in the Glossary on page 154

2 See Note 4 for an analysis ol non-undertying itemns. See Glossary on page 154 for a definition of Alternative Performance Measures
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Group statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 August 2021 -

Em Note 2021 2020
Loss for the year i80) (239)
Other comprehensive loss: o
!
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to the income statement: { '
Actuarial (lossesl/gains on defined benefit pension schemes 5. 1)) 11
: 1) 1
i
ltems that may be reclassified subsequently to the incame staternent: ‘
|Lossesl/gains on cash flow hedges
- Net fair value llosses)/gains - 8l
- Reclassified and recognised in inventories - {1l
- Reclassified and recognised in goodwill - 8
- Reclassified and reported in the income staternent - {n
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (13 |22]
13 (24)
Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax 14) (13]
Total comprehensive loss for the year (94) (252)
Attributable to equity holders of the parent (96} [252]
Attributabla to non-controlling interests 2 -
94 [252)
9%
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Financial statements

Group balance sheet

As at 31 August 2021

em Hole 2021 2020
Non-current assets .
Goodwill noo e a8
Other intangible assets . 67, 75
Property, plant and equipment 12, 174 192
Right-of-use assels 13 328 413
Investments in joint ventures 2, 2
Ueferred tax assets 18’ 57 23
Trade and other receivables 14, b 9
1,040 1132
Current assets
Inventories ’ 135 150
Trade and other receivables 4 & 49
Derivative financial assets 2 - -
Current tax receivable -‘ N 8
Cash and cash equivalents 19 130 108
310 315
Total assets 1,350 1.447
Current liabilities ’
Trade and other payables 15 {2¢5) (241)
Bank overdratts and other borrowings 19 - N
Retirement benefit obligations 5 () ()
Lease ligbilities :? . l1(::: “?g;
Short-term provisions 76) =
Non-current liabilities '
Retirement benefit obligations 5 {21 3
Bank loans and other borrowings 19 415) {400)
Lang-term provisions 17 (12) 15)
Lease liabilities 1; . (352) [-’42[;:
Deferred tax liabitities 79 TR
Totat liabilities 6n _ 0.220
Tatal net assets 183 227
Sharehoiders’ equity
Called up share :apital 23 29 29
Share premium 316 315
Capital redernption reserve 13 13
Translation reserve ; (27 (14}
Other reserves 26 (240 (2791
Retained earnings ! 82 158
Total equity attributable to the equity halders of the parent 173 222
Non-controlling interests 10 >
183 227

Total equity

The consolidated financial statements of WH Smith PLC, registered number 5202036, on pages 98 to 149 were approved by the
Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 11 November 2021 and were signed on its behalf by

Carl Cowling
Group Chief Executive

X

Robert Moarhead

{4 A
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Group cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 August 2021

€m Hote 2021 2020
Operating activities . ‘
Cash generated from operating actwities 2 113 9%
Interest paid’ ' (13} 13l
Net cash inflow from operating activities 100 81
Investing activities '
Purchase of property, plant and eguiprnent i 37 167)
Purchase ot intangble assets (7 12)
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 27 T {3181
Net cash outflow frominvesting activities (43) [395)
Financing activities
Dividend paid g - [47)
Distributions to non-controlling interests - 1
Proceeds trom share placings 23 - 2z
Issue of new shares lor employee share schemes 23 1 -
Purchase of own shares tor employee share schemes i {2 {2
Proceeds from issuance of convertible bonds (k% 327 -
Praceeds from borrowings 19 - 200
Repayments of borrowings 19 {267 " 15)
Financing arrangement fees (8) (3l
Repayments of cbligations under (eases 19 (86} (72)
Net cash [outflowl/inflow from financing activities ' {3s) 374
Netincrease in cash and cash equivalents in the year 22 60
Opening cash and cash equivalents 108 49
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates - 1l
Closing cash and cash equivalents 130 108
Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt?
Em Note 207 2026
Net debt at beginning of the year 851} {189]
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 2 60
impact of adoption of IFRS 16 - 1479)
Lease liability acquired through business combinations - (106)
Increase in borrowings {15} (185)
Net decrease in lease liability 84 32
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates 5 7
Net debt at end of the year 19 (755) (851)
T includes inerest payments of £5m on lease liabilities 12020: £4ml
2 Net debtis an Allernative Performance Measure defined and explsined in the Glossary on page 154. Further information on Lhe items in the above reconcilialion are provided in Note 19
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Financial statements

Group statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 August 2021

Total equity
attributable to
Called up share Capital the equity
capital and redemption Translation Gther Retained  holders ofthe Nan-cantroiling
m share premium reserve’ reserve reserves' earalngs parent interesis Total equity
Balance at 1 September 2020 . 344 13 {14} (279) 158 222 5 227.
Loss for the year - - - - (82) (821 2 {ga)
Other comprehensive loss: ;
Actuarial [lossesl on detined benetl pension - - - - m t - (1}
schemes [Note 5) !
Exchange differences on translation of - - (13} - - (131 - {13}
fareign operations
Total comprehensive toss for the year - - (13) - i83) (96) 2 {94)
Issue of new shares [Note 23] 1 - - - - 1 : - 1
Issue of convertible bonds - value of ‘ - - - 40 - 40 - 40
conversion nights (Note 26) .
Deferred tax on share-based payments - - - - 1 1 - 1
Emptlayee share schemes : - - - ] ) 5 - 5
Non-cash movement on non-controlling - - - - - - 3
interests !
Balance at 31 August 2021 345 13 27 {240} 82 173 10 183
Total equity
atirtbulable to
Called up share Capilal the equity
capilal and redemplion Translalion Other Reiained  balders of the  Nan-controlling
fm share premium reserve! reserve reserves' earnings. parent interests Total aquity
Balance at 31 August 2019 33 13 8 1274 455 235 2 237
impact of adoption of IFRS 16 - - - - [22] (22} - 122)
Adjusted balance at 1 September 2019 33 13 8 (274) 433 213 2 215
Loss for the year - - - - (2391 (239} - 1239)
Other comprehensive income/{loss):
Actuarial gains on defined benefit pension - - - - n 1" - 1
schemes [Note 5|
Cash flow hedges - - - (2) - {2 - [2)
Exchange differences on translation of - - {22 - - (22] - [22]
foreign operations '
Total comprehensive loss for the year - - (22) (2) (228) (252) - (2521
Issue of new shares [Note 23) n - - - - 3N - 3n
Dividends paid (Note 91 - - - - [47] {47) - 47)
Net cash flows from non-controlling interests - - - - - - 1 1
Employee share schemes - - - {3i - (3l {3
Non-controlling interests arising on - - - - - - 2
- acquisition (Naote 27)
Balance at 31 August 2020 344 13 (14] (2791 158 222 5 227

' For Jurther explanation and anatysis ol Capilal redemption reserve and Other reserves, see Nole 24,
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Notes to the financial statements

1. Accounting policies

a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated Group financial statements have been prepared

_ Inaccordance with international accounting standards in
conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and

i accordance with international financial reparting standards

adopted pursuant to Regutation (EC] No 1606/2002 as it applies in

the European Union.

Going concern

The consolidaled financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis. The directors are required 10 assess
whether the Group can continue to operate for the 12 months
from the date of approval of these financial statements, and to
prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

The directors report that they have undertaken a rigerous
assessment of current perfermance and forecasts, including
expenditure commitments, capital expenditure and borrowing
facilities, and have concluded that the Group is able to adequately
manage its inancing and principal risks, and that the Group will
be able to operate within the level of its facilities and meet the
required covenants for the period to February 2023. Based on this
assessment, which is outtined below, it is appropriate to adopt
the going concern basis of accounting in preparing these
financial statements.

The Strategic report describes the Group’s financial position,
cash flows and borrowing facilities and also highlights the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group. As a result of
the Greup's refinancing. announced on 28 April 2021, the balance
sheet has been significantly strengthened.

The refinancing arrangements included a E250m multi-currency
revolving credit facility 'RCF’), increased from £200m with an
extended maturity from December 2023 to April 2075 and
provided by an expanded syndicate of lending banks. As at

31 October 2021, the Group has not drawn down on the RCF and
has £107m cash on deposit.

As part of the refinancing, the Group also raised £327m from the
issue of convertible bonds, of which E50m was retained by the
Group lo fund the opening of ¢.100 new Travel stores wan and yet
to open over the next three years, including thirty new InMation
steres in UK Travel The remainder of the proceeds, net of costs,
were used to partiaily pay down the term loans from both the
Marshall Retal Group [[MRG] and InMetion acquisitions, leaving
the Group with £133m of term loans. The maturity of the
remaining term loan has alse been extended from 2023 to 2025 in
line with the RCF.

In making the going concern assessment, the directors have
modelled 2 number of scenarias far the period to February 2023.
The base case scenario is consistent with the Board approved
2022 Budget and the three year plan. Under this scenario the
Group has significant liglidity and comfortably complies with all
covenant tests to February 2023.

A severe but plausible scenario has also been modelled which
assumes a further three-rmonth lockdown over the period
Oecember 2021 1o February 2022 acrass the Group, with High
Street store sales down over 40 per cent across December to
February versus the equivalent months in the year ending August
2019. Sales under this scenario are assumed to recover gradually
from March 2022 at around 35 per cent below the equivalent
month in the year ending August 2019 1o down 30 per cent at
February 2023. n Travel UK we have also assumed a lockdown
aver the December 2021 to February 2022 period, with sales
down 76 per cent versus the equivalent months in the year ending
August 2019. We then assume 2 gradual recovery, reflecting our
experience of the post-lockdown recovery period from 2020 and
earlier in the year, to a position in February 2023 where Travel UK
sales are forecast to be down between zero and 12 per cent
versus February 2019. In the US we have assumed a lockdown
aver the December 2021 to February 2022 period followed by a
gradual recavery, reflecting our experience of the post-lockdown
pertad from earlier in the year, The severe but plausible scenario
does not assume any further government financial support
despite the cantinuation of lockdowns. However, the severe but
plausible scenario includes a number of mitigating actions
including savings in store and head office payrolls and rent relief
in Travel UK, to miligate the impact of lockdown with lower sales

In both the base case and severe but plausible scenarios the
Group would continue to have sulficient liquidity headroom onits
existing facilities, as described above.

The covenants on the above facilities are tested half-yearly.

The covenant tests at 3t August 2021, 28 February 2022 and

31 August 2022 are based on minimurm liquidity and under the
base case and severe but plausible scenanos the Group would
meet these covenand tests. The covenant test as at 28 February
2023 is based on fixed charges cover and net borrowings,

Under both the base case and the severe bul plausible scenarios,
the Group would meet these covenant tests. In addition, we have
received excellent support from cur banks who have granted
covenant waivers throughout the pandemic. The Strategic report
also sets out the Group's business actwities together with the
tactors that are Likely to affect its future developments,
performance and position. Note 22 outlines the Group's
objectives, policies and progesses for managing its capital,

its financial nisk management objectives, details aof its financial
instruments and hedging activities; and its exposures,

As a result of the above analysis, the directors believe that the
Group has sufficient financial resources to continue in operation
and meet its obligations as they fatl due for the 12 months from
the date of approval of these financial statements.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

1. Accounting policies (continued)

a) Basis of preparation [continued)

New standards :

The Greup has adopted the following standards and
interpretations which became mandatary for the year ended
31 August 2021:

Amendmenits to references to Conceptual Framework in
IFRS standards

Amendments to IFRS 16

Amendment to IFRS 9,
IAS 3% and (FRS 7

Amendments to IFRS 2

Amendments to 1AS 1
and |AS 8

Covid-19 related rent concessions
Interest rate benchmark reform -
Phase 1

Definttion of a business

Definition of material

The Group has considered the above new standards and
amendments and has concluded that, with the exception of the
amendments Lo tFRS 16, they are either not relevant 1o the Group
or they do nct have a significant impact on the Group’s,
consolidated financial statements.

The revised accounting policy 1n respect of the amendment to
IFRS 16 is described in Note {g}.

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated Group financial
statements, the following standards and interpretations, which
have nol been applied in these financial statements, were in
issue but not yet effectve:

[FRS 17
Amendments to IFRS 3

Insurance Contracts

Reference to the

Conceptual Framework

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform -
Phase 2

Amendments to IFRS 9,
{AS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4
and IFRS 16
Amendments to iAS 1 Presentation of financial statements
on classification of Labilities
Proceeds belore intended use
Onerous contracts - cost of fulfilling
a contract

Deferred tax related to assets and
liabilities ansing from a

single transaction

Narrow scape amendments to [FRS 3, 1AS 16 and IAS 37
Annual impravements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020
Amendments to IAS 1 Oisclosure of accounting policies

Amendments to 1AS 8 Definition of accounting estimate

Amendments to |1AS 16
Amendments to IAS 37

Amendment to IAS 12
and IFRS 1

The directqrs anticipate that the adoption of these standards and
interpretations in future years will have no material impact on the
Group's financial statements.

Alternative Performance Measures [APMs’)

The Group has identified certain measures that it believes will
assist the understanding of the performance of the business.
These APMs are not defined or specified under the requirements
of IFRS.

The Group believes thal these APMs, which are nol considered to
be a subslitute for, or superior to, IFRS measures, provide
stakeholders with additional useful information on the underlying
trends, performance and position of the Group and are consistent
with how business performance is measured internally.

The APMs are not defined by IFRS and therefare may not be
directly comparable with other companies’ APMs,

The key APMs that the Group uses include: measures hefore
non-underlying items, Headline profit before tax, Headline
earnings per share, trading profit, Headline trading profit,
Headline Group prefit from trading aperations, like-for-like
revenue, gross margin, fixed charges cover, EBITDA, Net debt/
funds and Headline net debt/funds and free cash flow.

These APMs are set out in the Glossary on page 134 including
explanations of how they are calculated and how they are
recanciled to a statutory measure where relevant.

Non-underlying items

The Group has chosen to present a measure of profit ang
earnings per share which excludes certain items, that are
considered non-underlying and exceptianal due 1o their size,
nature or incidence, and are not considered to be part of the
normal operations of the Group. These measures may exclude
the financial effect of non-underlying iterns which are considered
exceptional or occur infrequently such as, inter alia, restructuring

. costs linked to a Board agreed programme, costs relating to

business combinations, impairment charges and other property
costs, significant items relating to pension schemes, and
impairment charges and items meeting the definition of non-
underlying specifically related to the Covid- 19 pandemic, and the
related tax effect of these items. In addition, non-underlying
measures exclude the income statement impact of amortisation
of intangible assets acquired in business combinations, which are
recognised separately from goodwill. This amertisation is not
considered to be part of the underlying operating costs of the
business and has no associated cash flows,

The Group believes that the separate disclosure of these items
provides additional useful information to users of the financial
statements to enable a better understanding of the Group’s
underlying financial performance.

Further details of the non-underlying items are provided in
Nate 4.

Accounting convention

The financial statements are drawn up on the historical cost
basis of accounting, except for certain financial instruments,
share-based payments and pensions that have been measured
at fair value. The financial information is rounded to the nearest
million, except where otherwise indicated. The principat
accounting policies, which have been applied consistently
throughout both years except as noted above, are set out on the
following pages.
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1. Accounting policies [continued)

al Basis of preparation lcontinued]

Basis of consolidation '
The consolidated Group financial statements incorporate the
fingncial statements of WH Smith PLC and all its subsidiaries.

Subsidiary undertakings are all entities over which the Group has
contrgl. The Group cantrols an entity when the Group is exposed
te. or has rights to, variable returns from its involvernent with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recogmsed as an asset and
initially measured at cost, being the excess of the fair value of
consideration transferred over the Group's interest in the net fair
value of the idenlifiable assets, Liabilities and contingent liabilities
recognised. If, after reassessment, the Group's interest in the net
fair vatue of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities exceeds the fair value of consideration
transferred, after taking inte account recognised goodwill, the
excess is immediately recognised in the income statement.

The separabie net assets, both tangible and intangible, of the
newly acquired subsidiary undertakings are incorporated into the
financial statements on the basis of the fair value as at the
effective date of control, if appropriate. Non-contrelling interests
are stated ai the non-controlling interests” proportion of the fair
values of the assets and liabilities recognised.

Resutts of subsidiary undertakings disposed of during the
financial year are included in the financial statements up ta the
effective date of disposal. Where a business component
representing a separate major line of business is disposed of, or
classified as held for sale, itis classified as a discontinued
operation. The post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued
operations is shown as a single amount on the face of the income
stalement, separate from the other results of the Group.

A joint venture is an entity in which the Group holds an interest on
a long-term basis and which is jointly cantrotied by the Group and
one or more other venturers under a contractual agreement.
Management has assessed whether it has joint control of the
arrangernent. Joint control exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties
that collectively controt the arrangement. in assessing this joint
centrol no significant judgements have been necessary.

The Group's share of resulls of joint ventures is inciuded in the
Group consolidated income staternent using the equity method of
accounting. The results of joint ventures in the current and prier
year are not material to disclose. Investrments in joint ventures
are carried in the Group consolidated balance sheet at cost plus
posl-acquisition changes in the Group's share of net assets of the
entity less any impairment in value,

If the Group’s share of losses in the joint venture equals or
exceeds its investment in the joint venture. the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations to do
se, or made payments on behalf of the joint venture.

Allintercornpany transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions belween Group companies are eliminated.

b] Revenue

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for the
sale of goods and services to customers lwhich is the most
significant revenue stream), sale of whelesale goods to
franchisees, and commission and fee income on concession and
franchise arrangerments. Revenue excludes discounts, estimated
returns, VAT and other sales-related taxes.

Revenue is recagmised when performance obligations have been
met and control of the goods has transterred to the customer.
The majority of the Group's sales are tor standalone products
made direct to customers at standard prices either in-store,
online or through franchisees. where there is a single
performance cbligation. Revenue generated from different store
formats are considered to be a single revenue stream and are
subject to the same underlying ecenomic risks.

For in-store transactions, control of the goods is deemed to have
transferred to the customer at the paint of sale. For online
transactions and wholesale sale of goods to franchisees, control
is deemned to have transferred to the customer at the point of
delivery of the goods.

Revenue on in-store transactions is recognised at the point of
sale. Revenue in respect of online and wholesale lincluding sales
directly to franchisees] transactions is recognised on the transfer
of cantrol, which is on delivery of the goods to the customers.
Revenue in respect of gift cards sold by the Group 15 recagnised
on the redemption of the gift card either in-store at the point of
sale or on delivery for online redemptions. Franchise and

concession fees and commission are recognised on the accruals .

basis in accordance with the substance of the contracts 1n place,
which is typically on the basis of fixed fees spread evenly over the
contract period, and/or variable amounts earned based

on revenue,

¢ Supplier arrangements

The Group receives income fram its suppliers in the form of
supplier incentives and discounts lcollectively ‘Supplier
arrangements’). These incomes are recognised as a ceduchion
from cost of sales on an accruals basis as they are earned for
each supplier contract. The level of complexity and judgement is
Low in relation to establishing the accounting entries and
estimates, and the timing of recognition,

Supplier iIncomes that have been invoiced but nat received at the
period end are recegnised in Trade Receivables, or in Trade
Payables where we have the right of offset incomes that have
been earned but nat yet invoiced are accrued and are recorded in
Actrued income

The types of supplier arrangements recognised by the Group, and
the recognition policies are detailed overleal.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

1. Accounting policies (continued]

c) Supplier arrangements (continued|

Retrospective discounts
Income earned based on sales or purchase volume triggers set
by the supplier for specific products cver specific periods.

income is calculsted and invoiced based upon actual sales or
purchases over the period set out in the supplier agreement,
and is recognised in the income statement as it is earned.
Where the period of an agreement spans accounting periods,
income is recognised based on forecasts for expected sales or
purchase volumes, informed by current performance, trends,
and the terms of the supplier agreement. Income is invoiced
throughout the year in accordance with the specific supplier
terms. The carrying value ot inventories is adjusted to retlect
unearned elements of supplier income as the product has not
yet been sold. This income is subsequently recognised in cost
of sales when the product has been sold.

Promotional and marketing activity

Supplier income from prometional and marketing activity
includes income in respect of in-store marketing and point of
sale, supplying dedicated promotional space or receiving margin
support for praducts on promation.

Income for promaoticnal and marketing activity 1s agreed with
suppliers for specific periods and products. Income is recognised
over the period of the agreement Incomne is invoiced when the
perfarmance conditions in the supplier agreement have

been achieved.

d) Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the WHSmith Group defined coentribution pension
schemes are recognised as an expense in the income statement
as they fall due.

The cost of providing benefils for the main defined benefit
scheme. WHSmith Pension Trust, and the United News Shops
Retirement Benefits Scheme are determined by the Projected
Unit Credit Method, with actuarial calculations being carried out
at the balance sheet date.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full in the period in
which they occur. They are recognised outside the income
staternent in the Group statement of comprehensive income.

The retirement benefit cbligation recognised in the balance sheet
represents the present value of the defined benefit obligation,

as reduced by the fair value of scheme assets Any asset
resulting from the calculation is limited to the present value of
available refunds and reductions in future contributions to the
plan. Where the Group 15 considered to have a contractual
obligation to fund the pension scheme above the accounting
value of the liabilities, an onerous abligation is recognised.

el Intangible assets

Business combinalions

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is measured
at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of
assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity
instruments issued by the Group in exchange for controf, of the

acquiree. Costs directly attributable to the business combination
are recognised in the income statement in the period they are
incurred. The cost of a business combination is allocated at the
acquisition date by recognising the acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities that satisty the recagnition
criteria at thew fair values at that date.

The acquisition date is the date on which the acquirer effectively
obtains contral of the acquiree. Intangible assets are recogrised
if they meet the definition of an intangible asset contained in
IAS 38 and their fair value can he measured reliably. The excess
of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share
of identifiable net assets acquired is recegnised as goodwill.

Where less than the entire equity interest of a subsidiary 1s
acquired, the non-controlling interestis recognised at the
non-controtling interest’s share of the net assets of the
subsidiary. Changes in the Group's ownershep percentage of
subsidiaries are accounted for within equity.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the fair value of purchase
consideration over the net fair value of identifiable assets and

liabilities acquired.

Goodwill is recognised as an asset at cost and subsequently
measured at cost less accumulated impairment. For the
purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated ta the cash-
generating units [CGUs) that have benefited from the acquisition.
Each store is considered to be a CGU. Goodwill is allocated to the
group of CGUs making up the Group's operating segments. as
this s the lowest leve! at which management monitor goodwitl
Where the Group's operating segments have changed, goodwitl1s
allocated to the new operating segments identified on a relative
value basis.

The carrying value of goodwill ts reviewed for impairment at least
annually or where there is an indication that goodwill may be
impaired. If the recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units is less than its carrying amount, then the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrymng amount
of the goodwill allocated to the units and then to the other assets
of the units on a pro-rata basis. Any impairment is recognised
immediately in the income staterment and is not

subsequently reversed.

Dn disposal of a subsidiary. the attributable amount of goodwill
is included in the determination of the profit and {oss on disposal.

Other intangible assets

The casts of acquiring and developing software that 15 not
integral to the related hardware is capitalised separalely as an
intangible asset. These intangibles are stated at cost less
zccumulated armortisation and impairment losses.

Amortisation is charged so as to write off the costs of assets over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, and
15 recorded in Distribution costs. The amortisation period for
capitalised software costs is over a maximum period of five years.

106 WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021



1. Accounting policies (continued)

e) Intangible assets {continued)

Other intangible assets are valued at cost and amortised

over their useful life, and the ameortisation is recorded in
administrative expenses, unless the asset can be demonstrated,
te have an indefinite life. Other intangible assets, such as brands,
arising on business cambinations are amortised over their useful
bves. Amortisation of other intangible assets arising on business
combinations is included in non-underlying costs. The useful life
and residual value of sll intangibie assets are determined at the
time of acquisition and reviewed annually for appropriateness.

Allintangible assets are reviewed for impairment in accordance
with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets, when there are indications that
the carrying value may not be recoverable. Assets with indefinite
useful lives are tested for impairment annually.

f] Property, plant and equipmant

Property, plant and equipment assets are carried at cost {ess
accumulated depreciation and any recognised imnpairment in
value. The carrying values of tangible fixed assets previously
revalued have been retained at their bagk amount.
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the costs of assets,
other than land, over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method, with the annual rates applicable to the
principal categories being:

- over 20 years

- shorter of the lease period and
the estimated remaining
economic life

- up to ten years

~up to ten years

Freehold properties
Leasehold improvements

Fixtures and fittings
Equipment and vehicles

The residual values of property, plant and equipment are
reassessed on an annual basis.

At each balance sheet date, property, plant and equipment is
reviewed for impairment if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
When a review for impairment is conducted, the recaverable
amount is assessed by reference to the net present vatue

of expecled future pre-tax cash llows of the relevant
cash-generating unit or fair value, less costs to sell, if higher:
Any impairment in value 1s charged to the incorne staterment

in the pertod in which it accurs.

gl Leasing

The Group as a lessee

The Group assesses whether g coniract is or contains a lease.
at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-use
asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease
arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for shart-term
leases [defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less)
and leases of low-value assets. For these leases, the Group
recognises the lease payments as an operating expense an a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits fram the leased assets are cansumed.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the
lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date,
discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate
cannot be readily determined, the lessee uses its incremental
borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise:

« fixed lease payments, less any lease incentives receivable;

» vgriable lease payments that depend on an index or rate,:
initially measured using the index or rate at the
-cammencement date;
+ the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;
= the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise the options; and
¢ payments of penalties far terminating the lease, if the lease
term refiects the exercise of an aption to terminate the lease.

The lease liabitity is presented as a separate tine in the
consolidated balance sheet.

The lease liability 15 subsequently measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest an the lease liability [using the
effective interest methed] and by reducing the carrying amount
to reflect the lease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability [and makes a
correspending adjustment to the related right-of-use asset]
whenever:

¢ The lease payments change due to changes in an index, rent
review or rate, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using an-unchanged
discount rate.

= A lease contract s modified. and the lease modification is not
accounled for as a separate lease, in which case the lease
liability is remeasured based on the lease term of the magified
lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The right-of-use assels comprise the initial measurement of the
corrgsponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, less any lease incentives received and
any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs ta dismantle
and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is located
or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and
measured under 145 37. To the extent that the costs relate to a
right-of-use asset, the costs are included in the related right-of-
use asset.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

1. Accounting policies (continued)

gl Leasing [continued)
Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the lease term.
The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the
consolidated balance sheet.

The Group applies IAS 36 to delermine whether a right-of-use
assel is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment
loss as described in the accounting policies in Note 14§ Property,
plant and equipment.

The lease contracts that include variabie rents based on sales,
which is the case with many of our retait concession contracts,
are not included in the measurement of the lease liabitity and the
right-of-use asset. The related rents payable are recognised as
an expense in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers those payables occurs and are included in proht or loss
(see Note 3).

The Group has applied the Amendment to IFRS 16 issued in

June 2020 and further extension granted in March 2021.

This practical expedient allows the impact on the lease liability of
termporary rent reductions/waivers affecting rent payments due
on or before June 2022, to be recognised in the income statement
in the period they are received, rather than as lease
modifications, which woutd require the remeasurement of the
lease liability using a revised discount rate with a corresponding
adjustment to the right-of -use asset.

For leases acquired as part of a business combination, the lease
Uability 15 measured at the present value of the remaining lease
payments. The right-of-use asset is measured at the same
amount as the lease liability adjusted to reflect favourable or
unfavourable terms of the lease when compared to

market terms.

The Group as a lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as an intermediate
tessor with respact to some of its property leases. It accounts
for the head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts.
The sublease is classified as finance lease or operating lease by
reference to the nght-of-use asset arising from the head lease.
Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the
nsks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract is
classitied 83 a finance lease. All other leases are classitied as
operating leases.

Rents rec_eivable from operating leases are recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

h) tnventories

Inventories comprise goods held for resale and are stated at the
lower of cost or net realisable value. Consignment stocks are not
included within staocks held by the Group. Inventories are valued
using a weighted average cost method.

Cost is calculated to include, where applicable, duties, handling,
transport and directly attributable costs including a deduction for
applicable supplier income) in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition. Net realisable value is based on
estimated normal selling prices less further costs expected to be
incurred in selling and distribution. Cost of inventaries includes
the transfer from equity of any gains or losses on qualifying cash
flow hedges relating to purchases.

Provisions are made for obsotescence, markdown below cost
and shrinkage.

il Government grants and government assistance

Gaverniment grants are not recognised until there 15 reasanable
assurance that the grants will be received and that the Group will
comply with any conditions attached to them

Government grants are recognised in the income statement over
the same period as the costs for which the grants are intended to
compensate. Government grants that are recewable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in prafit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable. Government grant
income is disclosed in Note 3.

In additian. the Group has benefited from government assistance
in the form of business rates retief of £40m in the ysar
(2020: £20m).

il Provisions
Provisions are recagnised in the balance sheet when the Group

has a present legat or constructive cbligation as a result of a past
event and it is probable that an outflow of ecanomic benefits will
be reguired to setile the obligation, Frovisions are measured at
the directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settie
the obligation at the balance sheet date. Where the effect is
material, the provision is determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate which reflects current market
assessments of the time value of moeney and, where appropriate,
the risks specilic to the liability,

k! Foreign currencies

The consclidated financial statements are presented in pounds
sterling (GBP), which is WH Smith PLC's functional and
presentation currency. ltems included in the financial stalernents
of each of the Group's subsidianes are measured using the
currency of the primary econoric environment in which

the entity operates | the functianal currency’|.

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group's
overseas operalions are translated into sterling at exchange
rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and expense
iterns are translated into sterling at the average exchange rates
for the period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are classified
as equity and transferred to the Group’s translation reserve.

Transactions denominated In foreign currencies are recorded at
the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
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1. Accounting policies (continued)

k) Foreign currenciesicontinued)

At each batance sheet date, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on
the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising on the
settlement of menetary items, and on the retranslation of
manetary items, are included in the income statement for
the period.

In order to hedge its exposure to certain foreign exchange risks,
the Group enters into forward conlracts [see below for details of
the Group's accounting policies in respect of such derivative
financial instruments).

U Taxation
The tax expense/credit included in the income statemnent
comprises current and deferred tax.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable based on the
taxable profit or loss for the period, using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and Liabilities in the financial statements and
the carrespanding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability
method. Deferred tax babilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temparary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such assets and lisbilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition [other than in business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the tax profit
nor the accounting profit. :

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviswed at each
balance sheet date and reduced io the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow
llor part of the asset to be recovered. Deferred tax is calculated
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the
liabitity is seltled or the assel is realised,

Current and deferred tax is charged or credited in the income
staternent, except when it relates lo items charged or credited
directly to equity, in which case the current or deferred tax is also
recagnised directly in equity.

m) Financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the Group’s
balance sheet when the Group becomes party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

il Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

{al Financial assets

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are measured at fair value at initial recognition.
do not carry any interest and are subsequenily measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts
are recognised in ihe income statement.

Allowances for doubtful debts are recegnised based on
management’s expectation of losses, without regard lo whether
an mnpairment trigger has occurred or not [an ‘expected credit
loss” model under IFRS 9.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at
bank and in hand and short-term deposils will an eriginal
maturity of three months or less.

[b) Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered ito. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all
of its liabilities.

Barrowings
Borrowings comprise interest-bearing bank loans and overdrails
and compound financial instruments (cenvertible bonds)

Bank loahs are initially measured at fair value [being proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs], and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method. Transaction fees such as arrangement fees assaociated
with the securing of financing are capitalised and amartised
through the income staternent over the term of the relevant
facility. Finance charges, inctuding premiums payable on
settlement or redemptions and direct issue costs are accounted
for an an accruals basis and taken to the income statement using
the effective interest rate method and are added to the carrying
value of the instrument to the extent that they are not settled in
the period in which they anse.

Sjuawels 1ERUeUY

Campound financial instruments issued by the Group comprise
convertible bonds. The convertible bonds are bifurcated inte a
liability component and an equily component on inibal
recognition. The carrying value of Lhe liability at initial recogaition
is megsured using a market interest rate lor an equivalent
non-convertible bond at the issue date. The remainder of the
proceeds is allocated to the conversion option and recognised in
equity (Other reserves), and not subsequently remeasured.

Any directly attributable transaction casts are allocated to each
component in praportion ta their initial carrying zmounts.

Subsequent to mitial recognition, the liability component of a
compound financial instrument is measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. Any transaction costs
apportioned to the liability is included in the carrying amount and
recognised over the contractual life of the Liability using the
effective interest rate method.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value and
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

1. Accounting policies [continued)

m) Financialinstruments lcontinued)
il Initial recognition and subsequent measurement [continued)
{bl Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Equity instruments
Equity irjstrurnenls issued are recorded al the proceeds received,
net of direct issue cosis.

it} Derecognition of tinancial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractuat
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or it
transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a
transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks
and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the
financial asset.

Financial liabilities

The Group derecognises a financizl liability when its contractual
obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expire. The Group also
derecognises a financial liability when its terms are medified and
the cash flows of the modilied liability are substantially different,
in which case a new financial lizbility based on the modified
terms s recognised at fair value.

Cn derecognition cf a financiat lisbility. the difference between
the carrying amount extinguished and the consideration paid
lincluding any non-cash assets transferred or lizbilities assumed)
is recognised in profit or loss.

iii) Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
position presented in the balance sheet when, and only when,

the Group has a legally enforceable right to set ofi the amounts
and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

ivl Impairment

The Group recognises toss allowances for expected credit losses
[ECLs') on financial assets measured at amortised cost.

These are always measured at an amount equal to Ufetime ECL.
The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the
maximum contractual period over which the Group is exposed
to credit risk.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset
has increased significantly since initial recognition and when
estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable and supportable
information that 1s relevant and available without undue cost

or effart.

This includes both qualitative and quantitative infarmation and
analysis. based on the Group's historical experience and
informed credit assessment and forward-looking information.

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amartised cost
are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the assets.
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is writien off

(either partizlly or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group
determines that the debtor does not have the assels or saurces
of income that could generate sufficient cash Hows to repay the
armounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that
are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities i
order to comply with the Group’s procedures for recovery of
amounts due.

v} Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Group uses certain derivative financial instruments to reduce
Its exposure to foreign exchange movements in accordance with
its risk management policies. The Group primarily uses lorward
fareign currency contracts to manage its exposure to changes in
fareign exchange rates The Group does not hotd or use derivative
financial instruments for speculative purposes. Further details of
the Group’s risk management policies are provided in Nate 22

These instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the
trade date and are subsequently measured at thew fair value at
the end of the reporting period. The method of recognising the
resulting gain or loss is dependent on whether the derivative is
designated as a hedging strument and the nature of the items
being hedged.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that
are designated and effective as hedges of future cash flows are
recognised directly in equity and any ineffective portion is
recognised immediately in the income statement.

if the cash flow hedge of a highly probable forecasted transaction
results in the recagnition of an asset or liability, then, at the time
the asset or tiability 15 recognised, the associated gains or losses
on the dervative that had previcusly been recognised in equity
are included in the initial measurement of the asset or liability
For hedges thal do not result in the recognition of an asset or a
liability, amaounts deferred in equity are recognised in the income
statement in the same period as the hedgad item,

For an effective hedge of an exposure to changes in the fair value
of & recognised asset or liabitity, changes in fair value of the
hedging instrument are recognised in profit or loss at the same
time that the recogrised asset or Labitity that is being hedged is
adjusted for movements in the hedged risk and that adjustment
is also recognised in prafit or loss in the sarne period.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that
do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in the income
staterment as they arise.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument
expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer quatifies
for hedge accounting. At that time, any comulative gain or lass on
the hedging instrument recognised in equity is retained in equity
until the forecasted transaction occurs. If a hedged transaction is
no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss
recognised in equity 15 transferred to profit or loss for the period,

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other
host contracts are treated as separate derivatives when their
risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of host
contracts and the host contracts are not carried at fair value with
unrealised gains or losses reported in the income statement.
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1. Accounting policies [continued)

n) Share schemes

WHSmith Employee Benefit Trust

The shares held by the WHSruth Employee Benefit Trust are
valued at the historical cost of the shares acquired. They are
deducted in arriving at shareholders funds and are presented
as an Other reserve.

Share-based payments

Employees of the Group receive pari of their remuneration in the
form of share-based payment transaclions, whereby employees
render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares
lequity settled transactions).

Equity settled share-based payments are measured at fair value
at the date of grant. The fair value is calculated using an
appropriate option pricing model. The fair value is expensed to
the income statement on a straight-line basis aver the vesting
period. based on the Group’s estimate of the number of shares
that will eventually vest.

For ¢ash-settled share-based payments, a Liability 1s recognised
at the current fair value determined at each balance sheel date,
taking into account performance conditions and the extent to
which employees have rendered service to date, with any
changes in fair value recognised in the profit or loss for the year

ol Dividends

Final dividends are recorded in the financial statements in
the period in which they are approved by the Company’s
shareholders Interim dividends are recorded in the period in
which they are approved and paid

p} Share capital, Share premium and Other reserves

Ordinary shares are classified as equily. Share premium arises

on the excess between the fair value of the shares issued and .
the par vatue of the shares issued. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, against share premium. The par
value of shares repurchased and cancelled under the Greup's
share buyback programme is reclassified fram Share capital to
the Capital redemption reserve

For a descriptien of Other reserves, see Nate 26.

gl Critical accounting judgements and key sources of
estimation uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
generally accepled accounting principles requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
reporied amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of
contingent asseis and liabilities. Actual results could differ from
these estimates and any subsequent changes are accounted for
with an effect on incorne at the time such updated information
becames available.

The most critical accounting judgements and sources of
estimation uncertainty in determining the financial condition
and results of the Group are those requiring the greatest
degree of subjective or complex judgement. These relate to the
classification of items as non-underlying, assessment of

lease substitution rights, determination of the lease term,
determination of the incrementat borrowing rate, valuation

of retirement benefit obligations, delermination of operating
segments and allocation of goodwill, valuation of other
non-current assets and inventory valuation.

Critical accounting judgements

. Non-underlying ilems

The Group has chosen ta present a measure of profit and
earnings per share which excludes certain items that are
considered non-underlying and excepticnal due to their size,
nature or incidence, and are not cansidered to be part of the
normal operations of the Group. These measures may exclude
the financial effect of nan-underlying items which are considered
exceplional and occur infrequently such as, inter alia,
restructuring costs linked to a Board agreed programme.,
amortisation of acquired intangibles assets, costs relating to
business combinations, impairment charges and other property
costs, significant items relaling Lo pension schernes, and
impairment charges and items meeting the definition of non-
underlying specifically related to the Covid-19 pandemic, and the
related tax effect of these items. The Group believes that they
provide additional useful infarmation to users of the financiat
statements to enable a better understanding of the Group’'s
underlying financial performance.

SJUAWIDIL)S JeIUeUl 4

The classification of iterns as non-underlying requires significant
management judgement The definition of non-underlying items
has been applied consistently year on year. Further details of
non-underlying items are provided in Note 4.

IFRS 16 Lease accounting

Substantive substitution rights

Judgement is required in determining whether a contract meets
the definition of a lease under IFRS 16. Management has
determined that certain retail concession contracts give the
landlord substantive substitutien rights because the contract
gives the landlord rights to relocate the retail space occupied by
the Group. In such cases, management has concluded that there
is not an identified asset and therefore such contracts are outside
the scape of IFRS 16. For these cantracts, the Group recognises
the payments as an operating expense on a siraight-line bass
over the term of the contract unless another systematic basis is
mare representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the underlying contract are consumed.

Determination of lease term

In determining the lease term for contracts that have options to
extend or terminate early, management has applied judgement in
determining the liketihood of whether such options will be
exercised. This is based on the length of time remaining before
the option is exercisable, performance of the individual store and
the trading forecasts.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

1. Accounting policies [continuedi

gl Critical accounting judgements and key sources of
estimation uncertainty (continued]

Critical accounting judgements (continued]

Initial recognition of convertible bond

On initial recognition of the convertible bond, judgement s
required in respect of the zccounting treatment of embedded
derivatives. The fixed principal amount of each bond ts convertible
into a fixed number of shares and as a resull managerrent has
determined thai the conversion fealure meets the fixed-for-fixed
criterion for equily classification. The bonds include anti-dilution
provisions tg ensure that the holder’s potential interest in the
equity of the Company is not diluted in specified circumstances.
If these provisions are triggered, the number af shares that will
be delivered to the holder 15 adjusted. Management considers
that the provisions are anti-dilutive and exist to ensure that the
holder's potential interest in the equity of the Company 15 nat
dituted under each of these circumstances. These provisions are
not deemed to breach the fixed-for-fixed criterion, therefore the
conversion feature is accounted for as equity.

Determination of operating segments

During the year the Group has reviewed its assessment of its
operaling segrments, as a result ol internal reorganisation and
changes to the composition of information used by the Board to
monitor the performance of the Group. This review has resulted
in a change to the reportable segments identified, and prior year
comparatives have been restated. There is no change to the total
revenue or Group profit from trading operations.

Further information in respect of the Group's operating segrments
1s included in Note 2.

Sources of estimation uncertainty

Retirement benefit obligation

The Group recognises and discloses its retirernent benefit
obligation in accordance with the measurement and
presentational reguiremnent of |AS 19 ‘Retirement Benefit
Qbligations’. The calculations inciude a number of judgements
and estimations in respect of the discount rate, inflation
assumptions, the rate of increase in salaries, and life expectancy,
among others. Changes in these assumptions can have a
significant effect on the vatue of the retirement benefit obligation.
Further information and sensitivity analysis in respect of the
Group’s retirernent benefit obligation is included in Note 5.

Valuation of goodwill

As a result of the change to the Group’s identified operating
segments described above, the goodwill previously atlocated to
the Travel operating segrmment has been atiocated to the new
operating segments using a relative value approach. This method
of allocation requires the determination of value-in-use of each
of the new segments. The key assumptions in the value-in-use

calculations include growth rates of revenue and expenses,
and discount rates.

A sensitivity analysis of the goodwill impairment calculation has
shown that no reasonably possible change in assumptions weuld
lead to an impawrment of goodwill in the next financial year.
Further to this sensitivity analysis, an assessment of the goodwill
allocation was performed which showed that an impairment
assessment under the previous allocation of goodwill to the
Travel operating segment, or under any other reasonable split of
the goodwill balance, would not have resutted in an impairment
of goodwill.

Intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use asset impairment reviews

Property, plant and eguipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets are reviewed for impairment it events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. When a review for impairment is canducied.

the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unitis
determined based on value-in-use calculations prepared on the
basis of management’s assumptions and estimates.

The key assumptions in the value-in-use calculations include
growth rates of revenue and the pre-tax discount rate. Due to the
ongoing Covid-19 giobal pandemic, there is an increased level of
uncertainty in all of the above assumptions such that a
reasonably possible change in these assumptions could lead to a
material change in the carrying value of assets.

Further information in respect of the Group's property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets s included in Notes 12 and

13 respectively.

inventory valuation

Inventory is carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value
which requires the estimation of setl through rates, and the
eventual sales price of goods to cusiomers in the future.

Any difference between the expected and the actual sales price
achieved will be accounted for in the periad in which the sale is
made. A description of the Group’s accaunting pelicy in respect
of inventories is included in Note 1(h]. A sensitivity analysis has
been carried out on the calculation of inventary provisions,
including consideration of the uncertainties arising from
Covid-19. The key assumption driving the stock provision
calculation is forecast revenue. A 10 per cent change in the
revenue assumptions applied in the provision calculation,
representing a reasonably possible outcome, would reduce the
net realisable value of inventories by £2m.
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2. Segmental analysis of results

IFRS 8 requires segment informeation to be presented on the same hasis as that used by the Chief Operating Decision Maker for
assessing performance and alfocating resources. The Group's operating segments are based on the reparts reviewed by the Board of
Directors who are collectively considered to be the chief operating decision maker.

During the year the Group has reviewed its assessment of its aperating segments, as a result of internal reorganisation and changes
to the compasibon of informanion used by the Board ta monitor the performance of the Group. This review has resulted in a change to
the reportable segments identified, and prior year comparatives have been restated. There is no change to the total revenue or Group
prohit from trading operations. :

For management and financial reporting purposes, the Group is organised inte two operating divisions which comprise four reportatle
segments - Travel UK, North America, Rest of the Wortd within the Travel division, and High Street. The North America operating
segment includes both MRG and InMotion from the dates of acguisition. For further information in relation to the acquisition of MRG
inthe prior year, see Note 27,

The information presented to the Board is prepared in accordance with the Group’s IFRS accounting policies, with the exception of
IFRS 16. and is shown below as Headlne information in Section bl. A reconcilialion to statutory measures is provided betow in
accordance with !FRS 8, and in the Glossary on page 154 {Nate A2).

al Revenue

tm 2021 2020
Travel UK 195 344
Narth America . 166 116
Rest of the Wortd ' 40’ 93
Total Travel &m 553
High Street 485 468
Revenue ' 88 1,021

Rest of the World revenue includes revenue from Australia of £20m {2620: £38m]. No other country has indwidually material revenue,

b} Group resulis

2021 2000
Headline Headline
nen-undertying nan-ynderlying
Headline' ftemns' Headtine' items'
km lpra-tFRS Y61 [pre-IFRS 16) IFRS 16 Total  fpre- RS 18 fpre-iFRS 4] IFRS 16 Tozel
Travel UK trading [loss)/profit . (32) - 3 29 t) - - (1
North Armerica trading profit/lloss) [ - [4) 2i 18) - 4 (14)
Rest of the World trading (loss)/proft (13) - [4) 17 {14) - 2 12)
Tatal Travel trading [toss)/profit ‘ {39) - (S (64) 133 - b (27
High Street trading profit/(loss) 19 17 36 (10) - b [4)
Group (loss)/profit from trading ! 1201 - 12 (8] (43] - 12 el
aperations : !
Unallocated central costs (19) - - - [19) 17 - - (n
Group operating {loss)/profit before !
non-underlying items (39) - 12 (27) 160) - 12 {48)
Non-underlying iterns (Note 4] - (49) (16) (65) - [157] (55j [212)
Group operating loss . 13%) 49! (4} I92) (60} 157} [43) [260)
Finance costs T 18) - (8l 24) 1] - (11} (20)
Lass before tax .- (55} 74/] (2) (116 (691 [157) 154 1280)
Income tax credit ) 26 9 1 35! 16 18 7 41
Loss for the year . (29 (40} {11) {80l 153) (139} 47 (239]

¥ Presented on 3 pre-IF RS 16 basts, Alternative Perlormance Measures are delined and explained in the Glossary on page 154
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

2. Segmental analysis of results [continued)

c] Other segmental items

021
Non-current assets’ Right of use assets
Oepreciation and
fm Capital additions amortisation Impairment Depreciation Impairment
Travel UK 11 (14) - - -
North America 15 (70 - - -
Rest of the World 2 (3) - - -
Total Travel 28 {27) - - -
High Street 16 17 2 - -
Unallocated - [4) - - -
Headline, before nen-underlying items 4 (48) (2) - -
Headune non-undertying iterns [pre-IFRS 16) - i3 (18) - -
Headline, afier non-underlying items &b (51 (2o - -
Impact of IFRS 14 - 1 - (84 -
Nen-underlying iterms (IFRS 14) - = 4 - (28]
Group 74 (50) 1é) (84) (28]
2020
Non-currenl assels' Righl ol use assels
Depreciation and
Em Capal addilions AMOrtisation Impairment Deprecration fmpairment
Travel UK 18 18] - - -
Narth America 26 {101 - - -
Rest of the World 4 (6} - - -
Total Travel 48 (32) - - -
High Street 24 123 - - -
Unzligcated - 5} - - -
Headline, before non-underlying items 72 (600 - - -
Headline non-underlying rterms {pre-(FRS 16} - {3 155] - -
Headline, after non-underlying items 72 (63} |55) - -
fmpact of IFRS 16 - 8 - (110) -
Non-underlying items [IFRS 16) - - 15 - {951
Group 72 {551 (40) (10) (95)
1 Non-current assets including properly, plant 2nd equipment and intangible assels, but excluding righl-of-use assets.
d) Nan-current assets by geographical location
Non-current assets include plant, praperty and equiprment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets.
Em 22 2020
UK 397 487
USA 553 584
Australia 14 16
Other international 1 11
Total 975 1,098

114 WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021



3. Group operating profit

'

021 2020
Belore Refore
nan-undertying  Nen-undertying aon-underdying  Mon-underlying
Em hems tems Total erns items Total
Revenye ; 886 - 886" 1.021 - 1.0
Cast of sales (358) - {358} [£41) - (441}
Gross profit ' | 528 C - 528 . 584 - 580
Distribution costs! %191 - 419] {538 - (538t
Administrative cxpenses i (140) - (140) (92] - 92|
Other income? : 4 - 4 2 - 2
Non-underlying trems [Note 4| - ’ .- (65) [65) - (212 (212)
Group operating loss 27 [65) {92) [48) [212) [260)

1 During the year there was an impairment charge of £2m [2020: Lnitl for property. planl and equipment and olher intangible assets included in distnibubion costs. Giher impairment charges related

to Cavig-19 are included in nen-underlying ilems. See Nate 4.

2 Other income relates to profil or dispesal and remeasurement of right-ol-use assets, and prefit aliribulable Lo property.

€m 2021 2020

Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 358 44l

Write-down of inventories in the year? 7 14

Depreciation of preperty, plant and equipment 3, C4a

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

- land and buildings 80 105

- ather 4 5

Amaortisation of intangible assets 14 12

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 16 39

Impairment of right-of-use assets 2 %
s Impairment of intangibles = !

[incomel/expenses relsting to leasing:

- expense retating to short-term leases 14 2

- expense retating to variable lease payments not included in the measurement of the lease liability 27 12

- income relating to Covid-19 rent reductions (23} (13)

Other cccupancy costs 27, 49

Staff costs (Note 6] 232 2u

Government grant income an (22)

Auditors” remuneration [see below)

Audit services

Fees payable to the Group's auditors, included in the income statement, relate to: :

Fees payabte to the Group's auditors for the audit of the Group's financial statements 1.2 [0k}

Fees payable to the Group's auditors for ather services to the Group including the audit of the !

Company’s subsidiaries 0.3 6.4

Total audit and audit-related services 15 12

Non-audit services ;

Fees payable to the Group's auditors for other services: )

Reporting accourtant services - 04

All other non-audit services 0.1 0.1

Non-audit fees including taxatian and other services . 0-2' ??

1. .

Total auditars’ remuneration

Included in Administrative expenses is the auditors’ remuneration, including expenses, for audit and non-audit services, paysble to the
Group's auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and its assaciates as set out above. A description of the work performad by the Audit
Committee is set out in the Corporate governance section of the Directors’ report and includes an expianation of haw auditor
objectivity and independence are safeguarded when non-audit services are provided by auditors.

3 Wrile-dawn of inventories in Lhe year are included wilhin the amounls disclosed as Cosl of inventories recognised as an expense. and recognised in Cost of sales.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

4. Non-underlying items _

iterns which are not considered part of the normal operations of the business, are non-recurring or are considered

exceptional because of their size, nature or incidence, are treated as non-underlying items and disclosed separately. Further details
of non-underlying items are included in Note 1, Accounting policies and in the Strategic repart on page 16.

im 2021 itral
Costs relating to business combinations : :
- Transaction costs ! - 1
- Integration costs 2: 7
Amartisation of acquired intangible assets ! 3 3
Pension past serice cost . - ‘ 14
Costs directly attributable to Covid-19 :
- lmpairment of property, plant and equipment ) 14 39
- Impairment of intangible assets - !
- Impairment of right-of-use assets 28, 95
- Write-down af inventories { 5 14
- Restructuring costs ; ? %
) 6 -

- Costs associated with refinancing
- Other (21

Non-underlying items, before tax . - 65 212
Tax credit on non-underlying items ] (121 [25)
53 187

Non-underlying items, after tax

Non-underlying items recognised in the year are as follows:

Costs relating to business combinations

During the year, the Group incurred further integratian costs of £2m in relation to the acquisition of Marshall Retail Group 'MRG,
which completed on 20 December 2019. in the prior year transaction and integration costs of £20m were incurred in relation to the
acquisition ol MRG,

Amuortisalion of acquired intangible assets
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets primarily relates to the MRG and inMction brands (see Note 11,

Costs diectly attributable to Covid-19

As described in the Strategic report the Covid-19 pandemic continues to have a substantial impact on the Group’s operations. As a
result, the Group continues to incur significant ¢osts which have been separately recognised in non-underlying items, in accordance
with the Group's accounting palicy. The charges have arisen as a direct consequence of Covid-19, and reflect the impact of lost
revenues as a result of ongoing store closures and travel restrictions, and downward revisions to budgeted revenues based on
expectations of the rate of return to pre-pandemic levels of footfall and passenger numbers,

Impairment of property. plant and equipment and right- of-use assets

The impact on the Group's operations of Covid-19 is expected to continue during the next year and beyond. As a result, the Group has
carried out a review for potential impairment across the entire stare portfolio. The impairment review compared the value-in-use pf
individual store cash-generating units. based on management's assumptions regarding likely future trading performance (taking into
account the effect of Cavid-19) to the carrying values at 31 August 2021, Following this review, a charge of £42m [2020: £135m) was
recorded within non-underlying items for impairment of retail store assels, of which £14m {2020: £39m) relates to property, plant and
equipment, £nil (2020 £1m] relates to intangible assets and £28m (2020: £95m) relates to right-of-use assets. Refer to Note 12 for
details of impairment of store cash-generating units. The impairment recognised on & pre-IFRS 16 basis is provided in the Glossary on
page 154.

Write-down of inventories

The Group assesses the recoverability of the carrying value of inventories at every reporting period and, where the expected
recoverable amount is lower than the carrying value, a provision is recorded. During the year non-undgerlying provisiens of £5m have
been recorded against inventory, in addition to underlying provisions held of £13m, which relate to dated and perishable stock and
slock subject to absolescence where the sell through rate has significantly reduced due to store closures and lower footfall. The Group
has recegnised these charges as non-underlying as they meet the Group’s definition of non-underlying.

Restructuring costs

The charge of £9m (2020: £21m) is principally attributable to redundancies and restructuring costs following a review of store
operaltons across our High Street business, as a result of the impact of Covid-19 on footfall on the UK high street. These costs are
presented as a non-underlying item as they are part of a Board-agreed restructuring programene, and are considered material and
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_one-off in nature. In addition, in the prior year the Group incurred costs of E4m relating to exiting the Paris bookshop and the Brazil
joint venture

4. Non-undertying items (continued}

Casts associated with relinancing ) .

Costs associated with refinancing include £1m of non-cash charges relating to unamortised fees connected with extmgu_lshed
Liabilities, £3m of fees incurred in relation ta amendment and extension of the Group's previous financing arrangements mcurrgd in
March 2021 prior to the issuance of the convertible bond, and £2m of professional fees relating to refinancing and debt structuring
activity required as a result of Covid-19. Other fees incurred relating to refinancing activity have been recognised in underlying finance
costs or recognised as a deduction fram the value of liabilities recognised, and will be amortised over the period of the arrangement
through underlying finance costs.

Other prior year rion-undertying items

Pension past service cast . :
Past service cost of £14m was recognised in the year ended 31 August 2020. This relates to equalisation of pensian benefits Ifletwgen
men and wamen gver the period from 1 April 1992 1o 29 July 1993 [Barber equalisation’]. The WHSmith F'en;,lon T_rusl has historically
been administered assuming gender equalisation was achieved on 1 April 1992, and thus a Barber equalisation window of 17 May
1990 to 3 April 1992 applied. A new Trust Deed and Rutes reflecting the equatisation of normal retirement ages at 63 was executed on
29 July 1993. It has since been determined that Barber equalisation was niot effective until 29 July 1993. Accordingly. this past service
cost 1s the expected cost of providing these benefits based on a normal retirement age of 60 rather than 45 for the period between

1 April 1992 and 29 July 1993. See Note 5.

Atax credit of £12m [2020: £25m) has been recognised in relation to the-above iterns,

Slu3waje)s enueul4

5. Retirement benefit abligations

WH Smith PLC has operated a number of defined benefit and defined contribution pension plans. The main pension arrangements
for employees are operated through a defined benetit scheme, WHSmith Pension Trust, and a dgflngd comr_:buthn scheme, 7
WHSmith Retirement Savings Plan. The most significant scheme is WHSmith Pensian Trust, which is described in Note 5 a) i},

The retirernent benefit obligations recognised in the balance sheet for the respeclive schemes at the relevant reporting dates were.

£m . 2021 3020

WHSMmith Pension Trust (2) (3)

United News Shops Retirament Benefits Scherme (1 3l

Retirement benefit obligation recognised in the balance sheet ' 3 4]

Recognised as;

Current Liabilities §]] o
(2) 13t

Nan-current liabilities

al Defined benetit pension schemes

il The WHSmith Pension Trust ] ) .

The WHSmith Pension Trust Final Salary Section is a funded final salary defined benefit scheme; it was closed to defined benefit
service accrual on 2 April 2007 ang has been closed to new members since 1996, Benefits are based on service and salary at the date
of closure or leaving service, with increases currently based on CPlinflation in deferment and RPt inflation in payment.

The WHSmith Pension Trust is independent of the Groug and is administered by a Trustee. The Trustee is responsible for the 7
administration and management of the scheme on behalf of the members in accordance with the Trust Deed and relevant legistation.
Responsibilities include the investment of funds, the triennial valuation and determining the deficit funding schedule. Under the
Articles of Association of WH Smith Pension Trustees Limited [the corporate trusteej there are four directors nominated by the
sponsor, two independent directors and four member-naminated girectors Under the member-nominated director arrangements,
the term of office of a member-nominated director is faur years.

The WHSmith Pension Trust has assets valued at £1,456m, as at 31 August 2021 {2020: £1,412m] managed by third party investment
managers. In September 2005, the Pansion Trust Trustee adopted a Liability Driven investment {LDI) policy where the assets in the
investment fund were invested such that they are expected to alter in value in line with changes in the pensicn liability caused by
changes in interest rates and inflation. The LDI structure that s in place has a number of inflation and interest rate hedges, with
collateral posted daily to or from the scheme 1o the relevant counterparty. The risk of failure of counterparties could expose the
schemne to loss. The scheme's liabilities are also subject to changes in lengevity.

The principal risks associated with the Group's defined benefit pension arrangements are as follows:
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Longevity risk ] . , . .
Liabilities are sensitive tg life expectancy, with increases in Life expectancy leading to an increase in the valuation of liabilities.

5. Retirement benefit obligations (continued]

al Defined benefit pension schemes [continued)

il The WHSmith Pension Trust [continued)

Interest rate and inflation risk .
Liabilities are sensitive to movements in interest rates and inflation, with lower interest rates or higher inflation leading to an increase
in the valuation of liabilities. As a result of the LD policy outlined above, these risks are largely hedged

An Investment Committee of the Trustees to the scherne meets regularly 1o review the performance of the investmerjt managers and
the scheme as a whole. The Group is represented on this Committee. Although investment decis_,lons are Fhe responsibility of thg
Trustee. the Group is an active participant of the investment sub-committee to ensure that pensicn plan risks are managed efficiently.

The risk of failure of counterparties and of the investment manager is monitored regularly by Fh_e Committee. The Trustees have the
right to determine the tevel of contributrons and the Group has agreed with the Trustees a deficit funding schedule.

A fuil actuarial valuation of the Scheme is carried out every three years with interim reviews in the intervening years. The latest full _
actuarial valuation of the Pension Trust was carried out as at 31 March 2020 by independent actuaries using the projected unit CF.EdIi
method and has heen comgleted. At 31 March 2020 the deficit was E9m. The Group has agreed a continuation of the annuat funding
schedule with the Trustees from March 2020 for the followrng 5 years, which includes the deficit recovery contributions and ol_her
running casts of just under £3m. During the year ending 31 August 2021, the Group made a contribution of £3m to the WHSmith
Pension Trust [2020: £3m] in accordance with the agreed pension deficit funding schedule, being £1m of deficit funding payable to the
Trustee and £2m in relation to investment management costs. The Group expects the cash payments for the year ended 31 August
2022 to be £3m. The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obtigation is 18 years.

Amounts recegnised in the financial statements .

Balance sheet
The amounts recognised in the balance sheet under 1AS 1% in relation to this plan are as follows:

fm 2021 2020
Present value of the obligations (1,172 (1,144)
Fair value of plan assets 1,456 1,412
Surplus before consideration of asset ceiling 284 268
Amounts not recognised due to effect of asset ceiting (284 (268)
Additional liability recognised due to minimum funding requirements 2 [3
Retirement henefit obligation recognised in the balance sheet v (2 (3]

In accordance with the requirements of IFRIC 14 we have recagnised the schedule of contributions as a liabitity of E2m [20‘20: £3rml.
The defined benefit pension schemes are closed to further accrual. The Group does not have an unconditional night to derive
economic benefit from any surplus, as the Trustees retain the right to enhance benefits under the Trust deed, and therefore the
present value of the economic benefits of the IAS 19 surplus in the pension scheme of £284m (2020: £268m] avaitable on a reduction
of future contributions is £nil 12020: £nil), As a result, the Group has not recognised Lhis IAS 19 surplus on the balance sheet. There is
an ongoing actuarial deficit primarily due ta the different assumptions and calculation methodologies used compared ta these on
interprelation of 1AS 19,

Income statement
The amounts recagmised in the income statement were as follows:

£m 2021 2020

Net interest cost on the defined benefit liability
Past service cost

-: (14)
- 04)

The net interest cost has been included in finance costs (Nate 7). Actuarial gains and losses have been reported in the statement of
comprehensive income.

In the prior year, past service costs of £14m were recognised in relation to equalisation of pension benefits relating to a pgriod _
between 1 &pril 1992 and 29 July 1993 |'Barber equalisation’]. This past service cost was disclosed within non-underlying items, in
accordance with the accounting policy in Note 1.
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5. Retirement benefit obligations [continued)

a) Defined benefit pension schemes [cantinued)
il The WHSmith Pension Trust [continued]

Statement! of comprehensive income
Total expense recognised in the statement of comprehensive income ('SOCH):

£m 02t )
Actuariat gainflloss) on defined benefit obligations arising from experience ‘ 5, (53)
Actuarial loss on defined benefit obligations arising from changes in financial assumptions * [56) (124
Actuarial gain on defined benefit ebligations arising from changes in demographic assumptions 1. 22
Total actuarial loss before consideration of asset ceiling {50) (43]
Return on plan assets excluding amounts included in net interest cost 56 (38
(Loss)/gain resulting from changes in amounts not recognised due to effect of asset ceiling excluding amounts m 92
recognised in net interest cost '
Gain resulting from changes in additional Liability due to minimum funding requirements excluding amounts 1 -
recognised in net interest cost ' '
Total actuarial {loss)/gain recognised in other comprehensive income {2} 1
Acredit of £1m {2020: Enil] was recognised in the staternent of comprehensive income in relation 10 actuarial gains in the year on the
United News Shops Retirement Benefits Scheme.
Mavements in the present value of the WHSmith Pension Trust defined benefit schemne assets, obligations and minimum funding
requirement in the current year were as follows:
021 2620
Effect of asset Eftect ol assel
cellingand  Netretirement ceilungand  Net relirement
recognition of benefit recognition al benelil

minimum abligation Minimum obligalion
£m ' Assots Liabibties  funeging liability recogniset Assels Liabfiles  funding Gablity recognised
At 1 September 1,412 [1,144) {271} (3) 1.461 (1,107) {3571 (3
Current service cost ' - - - - - - - -
Fast service cost ) - - - - - {14) - 14
Interest income/|expense] : 24 (191 . 18] - 26 (20) (6] -
Actuariat gains/{losses) , 58 {50 0] (2) (38 (43) 92 "
Contributions frorm the sponsoring 1 . \
companies ! 3 - - 3 3 - - 3
Benefits paid [41) 41 - - [40) 40 - -
At 31 August . 1456 £1,172) (288) 12) 1,412 [1.144) 1274 (3]

The actual return on scheme assets was a gain of £82m [2020: loss of £12m). During the year, asset returns outperformed the
discount rate, leading to an asset remeasurement gain of £58m. Actuarial losses an scheme liabitities have arisen due to.

experience gains of £5m, as a result of the trienniat valuation at 31 March 2020, which applied membership end other demographic
movements over the last 3 years; the lower discaunt rate and RPJ assumptions, offset by higher CPl inflation assumptions resuiting in
a loss of £56m, and changes in demographic assumptions that led to a £1m reduction in plan babitities,

The decrease in scheme liabilitres combined with a increase in the scheme assets, resulted in 2 increase of £16m in the unrecognised
IAS 19 surplus, to €284m.
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5. Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

al Defined benelit pension schemes [continued)

il The WHSmith Pension Trust [continued) .
An analysis of the defined benefit scherne assets at the balance sheet date 1s detailed below:

2021 2020
Guoted Ynquoted Total Oueled Unquoted Tolal
&m m £m % Em Fm £m %

Bonds
- Government bonds 121 - 1.211 ] 1,157 - 1,157 82
- Corporate bonds

UK 284 - 284 18 286 - 286 20

Non-UK 342 - 342 2 342 - 342 2% .
Investrent funds' ’ 43 186 229 16 : 324 188 512 36
Derivatives .
- Interest rate swaps - (85] (85} (3] - 28 28 2
- Inflation swaps - (157] 157 (1 - (143) {143] (10}
- Other? - (503 (503) (351 - {530) (530} (37)
Cash and cash equivalents? 155 - 155 1M 12401 - [240) N7
Total 2,015 (5591 1,456 100 1,869 {457) 1,412 100

1 These actively managed peoled [unds seek Lo provide long-term positive returns through diversified assels and stralegies.
2 Other dacivatives include assel swap conlracis and cpen repurchasa agreements.

3 In Lhe prigr year, Lthe negalive <ash and cash equivalents balance redates to our abligalion 16 return cash collateral.

Na amount is included in the market value of assets relating to either financial instruments or property occupied by the Group.

The principal long-term assumptions used in the IAS 19 valuation were:

% 2021 2020
Rate of increase in pension payments 335 3.04
Rate of increase in deferred pensions : . 255 230
Discount rate 1.75 1.75
RP!inflation assumption - 3.45 3.10
CPlinflation assumption 2.55 2.30
The mortality assumptions in years underlying the value of the accrued liabilities for 2021 and 2020 are:
2021 2020

Years Male Female Male Female
Life expeciancy at age 45 '

Member currently aged 65 22.7 239 227 238
Member currently aged 45 233 25.3 233 252

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

The valuation of the retirement benefit obligation is considered a significant source of estimation uncertzinty, see Note gl and
therefore changes in assumptions can have a significant effect on the amounts recegnised in the financial statements.

Sensitivity information has been derived using scenario analysis from the actuarial assumptions as at 31 August 2021, while keeping
all other assumptions consistent; in practice, changes in some of the assurmptions may be correlated.

EHect on

Niabilities

at 31 August

£m 2021
Discount rate +/- 0.1% per annurn ~19/+19
Inflation assumptions +/- 0.1% per annum +18/-18
Life expectancy +/- [ year +66/-66
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5. Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

a] Defined benefit pension schemes (continued)
iil United News Shops Retirement Benefits Scheme

United News Shops Retirement Benefits Scheme I'UNSRES'_I is closed to new entrants. The scheme provides pension benefits for
pensioners and deferred members based on salary at the date of closure, with increases based on inflation. A full actuarial vatuation
of the scheme is carried out every three years with interim reviews in the intervening years. The latest full actuanial valuation of the

scheme was carried out at 5 April 2018 by independent actuaries. Following this valuatien, the deficit was less than £1m.

The valuation of the UNSRBS used for the 1AS 19 disclosures is based on consistent assumptions to those used for valuing the
WHSmith Pension Trust. Scherne assets are stated at their market value at the relevant reporting date. The deficit funding
contributions are immaterial in the context of these financial statements.

The present value of obligations and far value of assets are stated below.

£m 2029 2020
Present value of the cbligations 8 (8
Fair value of plan assets . 7 7
Relirement benefit obligation recognised in the balance sheet : : ) (n
All of the assets of the UNSRBS scheme have a quoted market price in an active market. There was a credit of £1m (2020; Enil)
recagnised in the statement of comprehensive income in relation [o actuarial gains in the year on the United News Shops Retirement
Benefits Scheme.

b] Defined contribution pensien scheme

The pension cost charged to income for the Group’s defined contribution schemes amounted to £4m for the year ended 31 August

2021 {2020: E4m).

6. Staff costs and employees

a) Staff costs
The aggreqate remuneration of employees was:

£m 2021 2020
Wages and salaries , 208. 200
Social security costs ' 14, 13
Other pension costs : l.‘ 4
Share-bhased payments } 6 -
Total Group 1 232 217
b) Employee numbers
The monthly average total number of employees (including executive directors) was:
£m 2021 2020
Total retailing 11,194; 14,475
Support functions 41. 39
Total Group 11,235. 14,514
7. Finance costs
€m 021 2020
Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts ’ 10 ?
Interest an convertible bonds : ' ’ 4 -
Interest on lease liabilities 10 1
Net interest cost on defined benefit pension lizhilities - -
24 20
121
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8.1ncome tax
£m an 2020
Tax onloss ' - ' (5}
Standard rate of UK corporation fax 19.00% [2020: 19.00%) | '
Adjustment in respect of prior years ' n (8l
Total current tax credit ' 1 i
Deferred tax - current year (Note 18) i (1) [7)
Deferred tax - prior year [Note 18) ‘ {4) 2
Deferred tax - adjustment i respect of change in tax rates 1 (8} -
" Taxon loss before nen-underlying items _ . [24) [18)
Tax on non-underlying items - current tax : - (9]
Tax on non-underlying items - deferred tax (Note 18] (12 (16)
Total tax on loss (38 (41)
Reconciliation of the taxation credit
Em 2021 2020
Tax on loss at standard rate of UK corporation tax 19.00% (2020: 19.00%) (22} (53]
Tax effect of items that are not deductible or not taxable in determining taxable loss ’ 1 15
Unrecognised tax losses N }) 4
Differences in overseas tax rates . n {3l
Adjustrment in respect of prior years ) 15} l4)
Adjustment in respect of change in tax rates . (8} -
' (36) (41)

Totalincome tax credit

The effective tax rate, before non-underlying items, is 47 per cent (2020: 23 per cent}.

The UK carporation tax rate is 19 per cent effective fram 1 April 2017. In the Spring Budgel 2021, the UK Government announced that
from 1 Aprilt 2023 the corparation tax rate will increase to 25 per cent - This new law was substantively eracted on 24 May 2021, and
the main impact of this change is an increase to the deferred tax assets and an increase in the current year tax ncome statement
credit of £8m.

9. Dividends

Amounts paid and recogrised as distributions to shareholders in the year are as follaws:

£m 2021 2020

Dividends i

Final dividend for the year ended 31 August 2019 of 41.0p per ordinary share ' - 47
. =! 47

The directars have not declared an interim dividend during the year and do not prepose a final dividend in respect of the year ended
31 August 2021.
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10. Loss per share
a) Loss/earnings

£m

2021

2020

Loss for the year, attributable to equity holders of the parent (82) (239)
Non-underlying items [Note 4] 53 187
Loss far the year before non-underlying items, attributable to equity holders of the parent (29) (52)
b] Weighted average share capital
Millions 4l 2020
Weighted average ordinary shares inissue 131 120
Less weighted average ordinary shares held in ESOP Trust - -
Weighted average shares in issue for loss per share 131 120
Add weighted average number of ordinary shares under option - -
Weighted average ordinary shares for diluted (oss per share 131 120
c) Basic and diluted loss per share
Pence ’ 2021 M0
Basic loss per share (62.6} [199.2)
Adjustment for non-underlying items 40.5 155.9
Basic loss per share before non-underlying items (22.1) [43.3]
Pence 2021 2020
Diluted loss per share (62.6) 195.2)
Adjustrent for non-underlying items 40.5 1559
(22.1) 143.3)

Diluted loss per share before non-underlying items

Diluted lass per share takes into account various share awards and share options including SAYE schemes, which are expected to

vest, and for which a sum below fair value will be paid. As the Group has incurred a loss in the years ending 31 August 2021 and
31 August 2020, the impact of its potential dilutive ordinary shares have been excluded as they would be anti-dilutive.

At 31 August 2021 the convertible bond has no dilutive éffect as the inclusion of these potentially dilutive shares would improve loss

per share.

The calculation of loss per share on a pre-IFRS 16 basis is prowided in the Glossary on page 154.
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11. Intangible assets

Brands and
franchise

€m Goadwill contracts  Tenancy rights Software Total
Cost ;
At 1 September 2020 X 418 43 13 24 570
Acquisitions [Note 27] ' (1] - - - i
Additions ! - - - 7 7
Disposals . - - - {1) 3l
Foreign exchange {11 {1l - - 12l
At 31 August 2021 406 42 13 102 543
Accumutated amortisation : !
At 1 September 2020 . - 4 8 45 77
Amortisation charge ! - 3 - il 14 -
Impairment charge - - - - -
Disposals - - - {1] n
Foreign exchange ' - - - -
At 31 August 2021 . - 8 75 90
Net book value at 31 August 2021 406 35 5 27 473
Cost
At 1September 2019 176 16 13 109 314
Additions - - - 1 1
Acguisitions [Nate 27} 258 29 - ] 288
Disposals - - - (23] [25)
Foreign exchange {16 [2) - - (18)
At 31 August 2020 418 43 13 26 570
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 September 2019 ~ 1 8 80 a9
Amortisation charge - 3 - 9 12
Impairment charge - - - 1 1
Disposals - - - 125]) {25)
Forewgn exchange - - - - -
At 31.August 2020 - 4 8 &5 77
Net book value at 31 August 2020 418 39 5 3N 493

Adjustments to goodwill Include an adjustment of £1m to the consideration paid in relation to the acquisition of Marshall Retail Group
IMRG]. Additions to goodwill in the prior year relate to the acquisition of MRG. See Note 27 for further information. Goodwill of USD
$77m (£56m] relating to the acquisition of (nMotion in 2078 is expected to be deductible for tax purposes in the future.

As a result of changes to the Group's repartable segments (a5 discussed in Note 2), goadwill previously attributable to the Travel

operating segment has been reallocated to the new operating segments using a relative value approach.

The carrying value of goadwill is allocated to the segmental businesses as follows:

tm w2 2020

Travel UK 253

North America 13

Rest of the World 25

Total Travel m 403

High Street 15 15
406 418
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11. Intangible assets [continued)

Included within Tenancy rights zre certain assets that are considered to have an indefinite life of €4 [2020: £4m), representing certain
rights under terancy agreements, which include the right to renew leases, therefore no amortisation has been charged.

Management has determined that the useful economic life of these assets is indefinite because the Company can continue 10 occupy
and trade from certain premises for an indefinite period. These assets are reviewed annually for indicators of impairment.

impairment of goodwill and intangible assets

The Group tests goodwill for impairment annuatly or where there is an indication that goodwiil might be impaired. For impatrment
testing purposes, the Group has determined that each store is 3 separate CGU, and goodwill is allocated to groups of CGUs in a
manner that is consistent with our operating segments, as this reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is manitored. Atl goodwill
has arisen on acguisitions of groups of retail steres. These acquisitions are then integrated into the Group’s operating segments as
appropriate. Acquired brands are considered together with goodwill for impairment testing purposes, and are therefore considered
annually for impairment.

Goodwill and acquired brands have been tested for impairment by comparing the carrying amount of each group of CGUs, including
goodwill and acquired brands, with the recoverable amount determined from value-in-use calculations. The value-in-use of each
group of CGUSs has been calculated using cash flows derived from the Group's latest Board-approved budget and three year plan,
initially extrapalated to five years and taking inte account the projected impact of Covid-19. The forecasts reflect knowledge of the
current market, together with the Group’s expectations on the future achievable growth and committed store openings. Cash flows
beyond the initizl forecast penod are extrapolated using estimated long-term growth rates. Forecasts have taken into account the
immediately quantifiable impacts of chimate change. with no material impact on cash Hows. Forecasts beyond the intial forecast
peried do not include a quantitative assessment of the impact of climate change on cash flows.

For certain groups of CGUs. additional adjustments to cash flows have been made during the extrapolation process for an extended
period of up to 15 years before calcwiating a terminal value, This extended period of time is required to establish a normalised cash
flaw base on which a terminal value calculation can be appropriately calculated, The main reasons for cash flow adjustments include
the need to forecast lease renewals under IFRS 16, and the unwinding of certain cash flow benefits arising from acquisittons in
North Armerica.

The key assumptions on which forecast three-year cash flows of the CGUs are based include revenue growth, product mix and

operating costs, long-term grawth rates andg the pre-tax discount rate:

= The values assigned to each of the revenug, product mix and operating cost assumptions were deterrmined based on the
extrapolation of historicat lrends within the Group and externat information on expected future trends in the travel and high street
retail sectors.

* The pre-tax discount rates are derived from the Group's weighted average cost of capital, which has been calculated using the
capital asset pricing madel, the inputs of which include a risk-free rate, equity risk premium, Group size premium and a risk
adjustment (beta). The pre-tax discount rate used in the calculation was 10.4 per cent.

*+ The long-term growth rate assumphions are between 0 per cent and 2 per cent.

The value-in-use estimates indicated that the recoverable amount of goodwill exceeded the carrying value for each group of CGUs,

As a resull. no impairment has been recognised in respect of the carrying value of goodwill in the year (2020: £nill.

As disclased in Note 1, Accounting policies, the forecast cash flows used within the impairment model are based on assumptions
which are sources of estirnation uncertainty and it (s passible that significant changes to these assumptions could lead to an
impairment of goodwill and acquired brands Given the significant uncertainty surrounding the impact of Covid-19 on the Group's
operations and on the global economy. management have considered a range of sensitivities on each of the key assumptions, with
other variables held constant. The sensitivities include applying increases in the discount rate by 1 per cent and reductians in the
long-term growth rates to 0 per cent. Under these severe scenarios, the estimated recoverable amount of goodwill and acquired
brands still exceeded the carrying value.

The sensitivity analysis showed that no reasonably possible change in assumptions would lead to an imparrment
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12. Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings

Freehold Leasehold Fidures Equipment
£m properties improvements and fittings. and vehictes Tetal
Cost or valuation: i ‘
At 1 September 2020 i 15 272 198 108 993
Additions, ! 3 12 15 7 37
Acquisitions [Note 27) : = ) - - )]
Disposals ! - (5) (5l (21 (12)
Reclassifications 1 - 14 1 (3l -
Foreign exchange - 12 (Ll - (3
At 31 August 2021 18 290 196 110 514
Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 September 2020 10 185 127 79 401,
Depreciation charge ' - 17 12 7 36!
Impairment charge t - g 5 2 16
Disposals - {5) (5) (2] 2)
Rectassifications 4 - - 2 (2 -
Foreign exchange - - m - i)
At 31 August 2021 10 206 140 84 £40
Net book value at 31 August 2021 . B 84 56 26 174
Cost or valuation:
At 31 August 2019 15 2356 168 120 539
Adjustment on initial application of {FRS 14 - 13) (5! [22] (30]
At ¥ Septernber 2019 15 233 163 8 509
Additions - 28 23 10 81
Acquisitions [Note 27) - 18 th Z 34
Disposals ' - (5) ) (1l (7)
Foreign exchange - (2! n 1] [4)
At 31 August 2020 15 272 198 108 593
Accumulated depreciation:
At 31 August 2019 10 147 103 78 338
Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 16 - 1 il (12l (2]
At 1 Septernber 2019 10 148 102 b6 26
Depreciation charge - 2 12 9 43
Impairment charge - 20 14 5 39
Disposals - (5) (1) (1] (7]
At 31 August 2020 10 185 127 79 401
Net book value at 31 August 2020 5 87 i 29 192

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

For impairment testing purposes, the Group has determined that each store is a separate CGU. Each CGU ts tested for impairment at

the balance sheet date if any indicators of impairment have been identified. The significant disruption to trading as a result af the

Covid-19 pandernic has been identified as an indicator of impairment, and therefore all CGUs have been tested for impairment as at

the balance sheet date
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12. Property, plant and equipment [continued)

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets have been tested for impairment by camparing the carrying amount of each
CGU with its recoverable amount determinad from value-in-use calculations. It was determined that value-in-use was higher than fair
value less costs to selt as a result of the significant impact on fair values as a result of Cowd-19. The value-in-use of each CGU has
been calculated using discounted cash flows derived from the Group's latest Board-approved budget and three-year plan, taking into
account the projected impact of Covid-19. and reflects historic perfarmance and knowledge of the current market, together with the
Group's views on the future achievable growth, Cash flows beyond this three-year period are extrapolated using growth rates and
inflation rates appropriate to each stare's location. Cash flows have been included for the remaining lease life for the specific store.
These growth rates do not exceed the long-ternn gruwlh 1 gte for the Group’s retail businesses in the relevant territory. Where stores
have a relatively short remaining lease Lile, an extension to the lease has been assumed where management consider it likely that an

extension will be granted.

The key assumplions on which the forecast three-year cash flows of the CGUs are based include revenue and the pre-tax discount
rate, Dthar assumptions m the model relate to gross margin, cost inflation and langer-term growth rates. The forecasts used in the
impairment review are based on management's beslt estimate of revenue reductions versus a ‘pre-Covid’ base, and the recovery in
revenue over the forecast period. In developing these farecasts, management have used available information, including historical
knowladge of the store level cash Hows, and knowledge gained during the pandemic up to the year end date.

The forecasts for the year for our High Street business assume that store like-for-like sales will be lower by around 20 per cent during
the year ended 31 August 2022. In Travel UK, revenue is assumed to be initially down around 50 per cent recovering to around 5 per
cent down 9y the end of that year. This is an average across all formats, with Hospitals recovering more quickly than Air

Our International locations outside of North America assume that like-for-like sales will be lower by around 75 per cent nitially, and
recovering to down around 25 per cent by the end of August 2022.

In North America, revenue 15 assumed to be down around 25 per cent in the early part of the next financial year, improving to ar_ound
2019 (evels by the end of the August 20272 financial year. This is an average across all formats, with Resarts recavering more quickly
than Air.

The second and third years of the three year plan include further gradual recoveries across all locations.

The pre-tax discount rates are derived Irom the Group's weighted average cost of capital, which has been calculated using the capital
asset pricing model, the inputs of which inctude the risk-free rate, equity risk prernium, Group size premium and a risk adjustment
(beta). The pre-tax discount rate used in the calculation was 1.4 per cent.

Where the value-in-use was less than the carrying valug of the CGU, an impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets was recarded. These stores were impaired to their recoverabite amount of £56m, which is their carrying value at year end.

The Group has recognised an impairment charge of £16m to property, plant and equipment and £28m to right-of-use assets as a
result of impairment testing. Impairments of £42m have been presented as non-underlying items in the current year [see Note 4], and
impairments of £2m have been included in underlying results.

As disclosed in Note 1, Actounting policies, the forecast cash flows used within the impairment model are based on assumptions
which are sources of estimation uncertainty and changes to these assumations could lead to lurther impairments to assets. Given the
significant uncertanty regarding the impact of Cavid-19 on the Group’s eperations and on the global economy, management have
considered sensitwities to the impairment charge as a result of changes ta the estimate of future revenues achieved by the stores.

The Group has applied certain senstivities in isolation to demonstrate the impact on the impairment of changes in key assumptions.
The mest significant assumption is the revenue assumption. The impact of a potential slower recovery from the pandemic has been
madelled by incorporating a further 10 per cent reduction in revenue in High Street stores and a delay in recovery of one year in Travel
UK and North America, with no change ta subsequent forecast revenue growlth rate assurnptions. This would resultina £21m
increase in the impairment charge of retail store assets in the year ended 31 August 2021. An increase or decrease of 1 per centin the
discount rate would resuit in an increase or decrease in the impairment charge of around £2m.

Other changes i assumptions have been medelled and have shown that any reasonably possible changes would not lead to 3
significant impact on the impairment charge Other modelled assumption changes include margin reductions and long-term grawth
rate reductions across all formats. )

The impairment assessment has also been performed on 3 pre-IFRS 16 basis. See Glossary on page 154,
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Notes to the financial statements continued

13. Right-of-use assets

Landand

£&m buildings. Equipment Total
At 1 September 2020 400 13 413
Additions 45 - 45,
Modifications and remeasurements L3 - (13)
Disposals 4] - 1
Deareciation charge ! {80) (4 (84)
Impawment charge i (28) - 128)
Effect of movernents in foreign exchange rates { (4l - ]
Net book value at 31 August 2021 1 |/ 9 328
Land and
£m burldings Equipmenl Total
At 1 September 2019 439 18 457
Additions 98 - 98
Acquisitions 108 - 108
Madifications and remeasurements (351 - (35
Disposals 2 - (2}
Depreciation charge fics (5] {110)
Impairment charge [95) - 195)
Effect of movernents in foreign exchange rates (8} - {8l
Net book value at 31 August 2020 400 13 413

The infarmation on the Group's teasing activities is included in Note 16, Lease liabilities,

Impairment of right-of-use assets

Right-at-use assets of £78m have been impaired in the year, as a result of the impact of Covid-19, This impairment charge has

been presented in non-underlying items (see Note 4k The approach to impairment testing is described in detail in Note 12, Property.

plant and equiprnent.
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14. Trade and other receivables

€m 2021 2020
Current receivables
Trade receivables 25 22
Dther receivables 5 8
Prepayments 10 10
Accrued income 5 9
45 49
Non-current recejvables
Other receivables 2 b
Prepayments 4
51 58

Total trade and other receivables

Inctuded in accrued income is £3m [2020: £3m) of accrued supplier incerne relating to retrospective discounts and other promotional
and marketing income that has been earned but not yet invoiced. Supplier income that has heen invaiced bul not yet settled against
trade payables balances is included in trade payables where the Group has a right to oHfset.

There were no government grants receivables inctuded in other receivables this year (2020 £1ml.
The ageing of the Group’s current trade and other recevables is as follows:
£m an 2020
Trade and other receivables gross 35 39
Expected credit losses (3} (3)
Trade and other receivables net 32 34
Of which:

25 26

Amounis neither impaired nor past due on the reporting dzte
Amgunls past due but not impaired:

Less than one manth old 3 4
Between one and three months old 2 z
Between three and six months old 1 2
Between six months and one year old 1 z

32 3

Trade and other receivables net carrying amount

The Group has limited exposure to expected credit losses due to the business madel. An allowance has been made for lifetime
expected credit losses from receivables at 31 August 2021 of £3m [31 August 2020: £3m). The ageing analysis of these receivables is
given in the table below. This expected credit loss allowance reflects the application of the Graup's provisioring policy in respect of bad
and doubtful debis and is based upon the difference between the receivable value and the estimated net collectible amount. The Group
establishes its provision for bad and daubtful debts by reference to past default experience.

Ageing analysis of bad and doubtful debt provisions:

€m 2021 2020
Less than one month otd - -
Between ane and three months ofd” - -
Between three and six months old 1 1
Between six months and one year old 2 2

3 3

Mo trade and ather recenables that would have been past due or impaired were renegotiated during the year. Mo interest is charged
on the receivables balance. The other classes within trade and other recewables do not include impaired assets. The Group does not
hold collaterat over these balances. The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other recewables approximates their
fair value.
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Notes to the financial statements continued

15. Trade and other payables

2020
£m 2021 lvestated|
Trade payables : 70 55
Other tax and social security 24 24
Other payables . i 72 &3
Accruals ‘ 83 87
Deferred income 16 V2

' 265 241

Trade and other payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The average credit period
taken for trade purchases is 56 days (2020: 50 days). The directors consider thal the carrying amount of trade and other payables
approximates their fair value. '

Trade payables is stated net of £4m (2020: £2m) amounts receivable from suppliers in relation 1o supplier income, that has been
inveiced, for which the Group has the right to set off agamnst amounts payable at the balance sheet date.

The classification of trade and other payables has been reviewed and it was noted that certain balances more closely related to
deferred income have previously been classified in other categories. The analysis provided above more closely reflects the nature of
the underlying balances. The comparatives have been restated for consistency by reducing Trade payables by £5m, reducing Other
creditors by £4m and increasing Deferred income by £9m. There is no irmpact on the total of trade and other payables.

16. Lease liabilities

Land and
£m buildings Equipment Totak
At 1 Septernber 2020 ' 548 11 559
Additions t 41 - 41,
Modificaticns and remeasurements (37) - (37
Disposals ' {7 - 7l
Interest i 10 - 10
Fayments . (87) (4l (911
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates ' {5 - (s}
At 31 August 2021 463 7 470
Land and

£m . burldngs Equipmenl Total
At 3 August 2019 - 14 14
Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 16 476 3 479
At 1 September 2019 476 17 493
Additions 87 - 87
Acguisitions 106 - 106
Modihications and remeasurements (501 - (50)
Disposals {2) - {2)
Interest 1 - 1
Payments (72) {8] [78)
Eftect of movements in foreign exchange rates (8] - (8)
At 31 August 2020 548 11 95¢
£m 2021 2020
Analysis of total lease labilities- )
Non-current ' . 382 429
Current . 108 130
Total . &£70 559

The Group leases land and buildings far its retail stares, distribution centres, storage locations and office property These leases have
an average remaining lease term of 4 years. Some leases include an option to break before the end of the contract term or an option
to renew the lease for an additional term after the end of the term. Management assess the lease term al inception based on the facts
and circumstances applicable to each property.
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16. Lease liabilities (continued) :
Other leases are mainly forklift trucks for the retail stores and distribution centres, office equipment and vehicles, These leases have
an average remaining lease term of 3 years.

The Group reviews the retaif lease portfalio on an ongoing basis, taking inte account retail performance and future trading
expectations. The Group may exercise extension options. negotiate lease extensions or modifications. In other instances, the Group
may exercise break options, negotiate lease reductions or decide not to negatiate a tease exiension at the end of the tease term.
Certain property leases contain rent review terms that require rent to be adjusted on a periodic basis which may be subject to markel
rent or increases in inflatien measyrements.

Many of the Group's property leases, particularly in Travel locations, also incur payments based on a percentage of revenue {variable
lease payments] achieved at the location. In tine with IFRS 14, variable lease payments which are not based on an index cr rate are not
included in the lease liability. See Note 3 for the expense charged to the Income statement relating to variable lease payments not

included in the measurement of the lease liability.

ln response ta the Covid-19 pandemic, an amendment was issued to IFRS 16 in June 2020 and further extended in March 2021

This amendment [practical expedient] allows the impact on the lzase tiability of temporary rent reductions/waivers attecting rent
payments due on or befare June 2022, to be recognised in the Income staternent in the period they are received, rather than as lease
modifications, which would require the remeasurement of the lease liability using a revised discount rate with a corresponding
adjustrnent to the righi-of-use asset. The Group has apptied this practical expedient ta all Covid- 19 rent reductions/waivers that meet
the requirements of the amendment. This has resulted in a credit to the Income statement of £23m for the year ended 31 August 2021,

The Group's accounting policy for leases is set out in Note 1. Details of Income statement charges and income for leases are set put in
Note 3. The right-of-use asset cateqories on which depreciation is incurred are presented in Note 13. Interest expense incurred an
lease liabilities is presented in Note 7. The maturity of undiscounted future lease liabilities are set out in Note 22.

The total cash autflow for leases in the financial year was £123m. This icludes cash outflow for short-term leases of £14m and
vanable lease payments |not included in the measurement of lease liability) of £18m. The tolal future income from sub-leasing the

right-of-use assetsis £1m.
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Notes to the financial statements continued

17. Provisions

Contingenl
. Progerty  conslderation
£m provision srovision Totl
At 1 September 2020 P LEI 1 1%
Charge in the year ’ | - - =
Utilised in year ; ‘ - - -
Unwinding of discount - - -
At 31 August 2021 Do 13 1 14
Contingent
Property consideraton
£m provision prowvision Total
AL 1 September 2019 3 2 5
Adjustrment on initial application of IFRS 14 12) - {2
Charge in the year - 12 - 12
Utilised in year - ) {1
Unwinding of discount - - -
At 31 August 2020 13 1 14
Total provisions are split between current and non-current liabilities as follows:
em ) 02 2020
Included in current liabilities ' 2, 5
Included in non-current liabitities ‘ 12 ?
' ) 14 14

Property provisions relate to reinstatement Liabilities for steres where the long-term wiability has been impacted by Covid-19.

These expected costs of store closures are reviewed frequently and are based on information available as at the reporting date as well
as management’s historical experience of similar transactions. Utilisations of the property provisions are expected to be incurred in
line with the profile of the leases to which they relate.

In the prier year, onerous lease provisions of £2m were derecognised on adoption of IERS 16.
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18. Deferred tax
The following zre the major deferred tax lizbilities and assets recognised by the Group and movements therean during the current and
prior years. ’

Adjustment on Credited /
On acquisition of initial application {chargedi to Credited Lo
£m At 1September subsidiaries of IFRS 14 Rate change income equity At It August
Accelerated tax depreciation i 7 - - 3 21 - 8
Leases ) " 4 - - 1 - - 5
Share-based payments i - - - - ' 1 1 2
Retirernent benefit obligation 1 - - - - - 1
- Intangible assets . 1) - - - - - (11)
Losses . 17 - - 4 - 24 - 45
Unutilised interest expense 3 - Co- - 2 - 5
Prawisions . - - - - i -
Year ended 31 August 2021 i N - - 8 27 1 57
Accelerated tax depreciation 5 (1 - 3 - 7
Leases - - - - - 4
Share-based payments 2 - - - 12) - -
Retirement benefit obligation 1 - - - - - 1
Intangible assets (3l (8] - - - - [11]
Losses - - - - 17 - 17
Unutibised interest expense - - - - 3 - 3
Year ended 31 August 2020 5 (4] 4 - A - 21
Deferred tax assets have not been recagnised in respect of the following tax losses:
€m 021 2020
Capital losses 84 88
Trading losses 23 33
107 121

Substantially all of the deferred income tax assets are expected to be recavered after more than one year.

The UK corporation tax rate is 19 per cent effective from 1 April 2017. In the Spring Budget 2021, the UK Government announcec that
from 3 April 2023 the corporatian tax rate will increase to 25 per cent. This new law was substantively enacted on 24 May 2021. and the
main impact of this change I1s an increase in the deferred tax assets and an increase in the current year tax income statement credit of
£8m.

At 31 August 2021, deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of tax losses and US unutilised interest expense. The deferred
tax assets of €198m relates to carried forward tax losses which have been recognised to the extent that they will be recoverable using
the estimated future taxable income based on the approved budgets for the Group. The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets
on losses amounting lo £107m (2020: £121m) due to uncertainty over the timing and extent of their utlisation. The losses can be
<arried forward indefinitely and have no expiry date.

All deferred tax assets and liabilities are olfset where there is considered to be a legally enforceable right to do so. The fotlowing is an
analysis of the deferred tax balances |after offset] for financial reparting purposes:

£m 2021 202

Deferred tax liabilities [non-current liabilities) - {2)

Deferred tax assets 57 23
57 21
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Notes to the financial statements continued

19. Analysis of net debt

Movements in net debt can be analysed as follows:

Sub~total
Liabilities from
Convertible Revelving credit financing  Cashand cash
m Term loans bonds facility Leases activithos equivalents Netdebt
At 1 September 2020 . (400) - - (559) {959} 108 (851)
Proceeds from borrowings ! - 3271 - - {327 327 -
Repayments of borrowings i 247 - - - 267 (2671 -
Bifurcation of convertible bond : - ] - - 41 - 41
Other non-cash movernents [ - 12} - 7 9 - ]
Other cash movements ' 1 5 - 1 97 {38) 59
Currency translation i - - - 5 5 - 5
At 31 August 2021 ! [132) (283} - 1470) {885) 130 [755)
Sub-telal
Liabilittes [rom
. Comvertible  Rewtving credit lingnging  Cash and cash
£m Term loans bonds facility Leases activities egunatents el debt
At 1 September 2019 {200) - (15} {14) (229] 49 {180
Recognised on adoption of IFRS 16 - - - [479) [479) - (479}
Movemnent on acguisition of subsidiaries [115] - - [106) i221) 1 (2201
Praceeds from borrowings [200] - - - {200 200 -
Repayments of borrawings - - 1% - 15 (151 -
Other non-cash movements 115 - - [46) &9 - 69
Cther cash movements - - - 78 78 {124 (48
Currency translation - ~ - 8 8 L] 7
At 31 August 2020 (400} - - 559) [959) 108 (851)

An explanation of Alternative Performance Measures, including Net debt on a pre-IFRS 16 basis, is provided in the Glossary on

page 154,

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the Group and short-term bank deposits with an ariginal maturity of three maonths
or less. The carrying amount of these assets approximates to their fair value.

{ ease liahifities

Naon-cash movements in lease liabilities mainly relate to new leases, modfications and remeasuremnents in the year.

Term loans and revolving credit facilities )
On 28 April the Group announced new financing arrangements. These included the issuance of £327m of convertible bcnds,‘the N
repayment of the existing £400m term loans and replacement with a new £133m term loan. and an increased revobving credit facility

. of £250m.

At 31 August 2021 the Group has in place a five-year committed mutti-currency revolving credit facility of £250m with Santander UK
PLC. BNP Paribas, HSBC UK Bank PLC. JP Margan Securities PLC and Barclays Bank PLC. The revolving credit facilily 1s due to
mature on 28 April 2025 The utilisation is interest bearing at a margin over SONIA. As at 31 August 2021, the Group has drawn down
Enilon this facility [2020: Enil drawn down on previous facadityl.

As part of the new financing arrangements the additional multi-currency revolving credit facility of £120m, which was undrawn and
due to expire in Novernber 2021, was cancelled.

The Group has a four-year commutted £133m term loan with Banco Santander A London Branch, Barctays Bank PLC, BNP Paribas
and HSBC UK Bank PLC. that was drawn down at the time of the refinancing in April 2021. This loan is interest bearing at @ margin
aver SONIA and is due to mature on 28 April 2025.

Transaction costs of £¥m relating to the term loan are amortised to the Incorne statement through the effective interest rate methad.
Transaction costs of £1m relating to the RCF have been capitalised and are amartised to the Income statement on a straight-
line basis,
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19. Analysis of net debt [continued)

Convertible bonds

On 28 April 2021, the Group announced the launch of an offering of £327m of guaranteed senior unsecured convertible bonds due in
2026. Settlement and delivery of convertible bonds took place on 7 May 202). The total bond offering of £327m covers a five-year term
beginning on 7 May 2021 with a 1.625 per cent per annum coupon payable semi-annually in arrears in equal instalments. The bonds
are convertible into new and/or existing ordinary shares of WH Smith PLC. The tnitial conversion price was set at £24.99 representing
a premium of 40 per cent above the reference share price on 28 April 2021 [£17.85). I not previously converted, redeemed or
purchased and cancelled, the Bonds will be redeemed at par on 7 May 2026.

The convertible bond is a compound financial instrument, consisting of a financial liability component and an equity companent,
representing the value of the conversion rights. The initial fair value of the liability portion of the convertible bond is determined using
a market interest rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond at the issue date. The liability is subseguently recognised on an
amartised cost basis using the effective interest rate method until extinguished on conversion or maturity of the bonds. The remainder
of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion eption and recognised in equity (Other reserves), and not subsequently remeasured.

As a result, £286m was initially recognised as a liability in the balance sheet on issue and the remainder of the proceeds of £41m,
which represents the option comgponent, was recognised in equity.

Transaction costs of £6m were allocated belween the two components and the element relating to the debt component of E5m is
being amortised through the effeciive interest rate method. The issue costs apportioned to the equity component of £1m have been
deducted from equity. ’

Further informatian regarding the Group's borrowings and revolving credit facilities is provided in Note 22.

20. Contingent liabilities and capital commitments

€m wHn 020

Bank guarantees and guarantees in respect of lease agreements 3 31

Other potential liabilities that could crystallise are in respect of previous assignments of leases where the liability could revert to the
Group if the lessee defaulted. Pursuant to the terms of the Demerger Agreement with Smiths News PLC. any such contingent Liability
which becomes an actual liability will be apportioned between the Group and Smiths News PLC in the ratic 65:35 (provided that the
actual kiability of Smiths News PLC in any 12-month period does not exceed £9m). The Group’s 65 per cent share of these leases has
an estimated future rental commitment at 31 August 2021 of £1m [2020: £1m). The movement in the future rental commitment 1s due
to the crystatlisation of lease liabilities, lease expiries and the effluxion of time.

Contracts placed for future capital expenditure approved by the directors but not provided for in these financial staternents armount ta
E26m (2020: £18m].

e 201 2w
Commitments in respect of property, plant and equipment 25 7
Commitments in respect of ather intangible assets 1 !

26 18
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21. Cash generated from operating activities

en 2021 2020
Group operating loss ‘ (92) (2601
Depreciation of property. plant and equipment : 36 43
Impairment of property, plant and equipment - 16 39,
Amartisation of intangible assets 14, 12
tmpairment of intangible assets - - 1
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ‘ . 84 1o
Impairment of nght-of-use assets : 28 »
Non-cash change in lease liabilities ' (23 (+9)
Non-cash movement in pension ] ’ - 14
Share-based payments ¢ B
Gain on disposal and remeasurement of leases . 3l -
Other non-cash items ‘ [2lt 2

~ Becrease in inventories : 14 3
Becregse in recewvables ’ l'_ a7
Increase/ldecrease) in payables . . 2% na)
Pension funding ' [3|. i
Income taxes paid W - 132}
Income taxes refund 10 37
Movemnent on provisions [through utilisation or incame statement) : ~ )
Cash generated from operating activities ' 113 94
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22. Financial instruments
Categaries of financial instruments

Carrying value
en 021 . 2020
Financial assets
Derivative instruments in designated hedge accounting relationships’ - -
167 161

Receivables at amortised cost [inctuding cash and cash equivalentsy
Financial liabitities
Armartised cost?

(1,134) 11,188]

' all derivalives are categorised as Level 2 wilhin the fgir value hierarchy, The fair value measurements retating Lo 1he instruments are derived from inpuis olher than quated prices thal are
abservable fer the asset or liability, enher directly or indiregtly.

! included wilthin receivables held al amorlised cost are trade and other receivables lexcluding prepaymentsl and cash and cash equivalents

* Inchuded within amortised cosl are trade payables, other payables, accruals, borrowsngs, lease cbligalions and other non-currenl lishilities.

Comparison of carrying values and fair values
There were no material difierences between the carrying value of non-derivative financial assets and financial Labilives and their fair

values as at the balance sheet date.

Risk management

The Group’s treasury function seeks to reduce exposures to interest rate, foreign exchange and other financial risks, and to ensure
liquidity is available to meet the foreseeable needs of the Group and to invest cash assets safely and profitably The Group does not
engage in speculative trading in financial instruments and transacts only in relation to underlying business requirements The Group's
treasury policies and procedures are periodicaily reviewed and approved by the Group’s Audit Committee and are subject to regular
Group Internal Audit review.

Capital risk ‘
The Group's objectives with respect lo managing capital ldefined as nat debl/tunds plus equity) are to safequard the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, in order to optimise returns ta shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, through an appropriate
balance of debt and equity funding. Refer ta Note 19 for the value of the Group's net debt/funds and refer to the Group statement of

changes in eguity for the value of the Group's equity,

In maraging the Group's capitat levels, the Board regularly monitors the level af debt in the business. the working capital
requirements, forecast financing and investing cash flows. Based on this analysis. the Board determines the appropriate return to
investors while ensuring sutficient capital is retained in the business to meet its strategic objectives. The Board has a progressive
dividend policy and expects that, over time, dividends would be broadly covered twice by earnings calculated on @ nermalised tax basis.

The Graup has in place a £250m committed multi-currency revolving credit facility, and a syndicated £133m term loan. The cavenants,
tested half-yearly, are based on mimnimum liquidity for the periods ending 31 August 2021, 28 February 2022 and 31 August 2022, and
from 28 February 2023 are based on fixed charges cover and net borrowings [defined as total borrowings excluding lease Liabilities
that would have been treated as an operating lease prior to the adoption of IFRS 16, less cash and cash equivalents).

0n 28 Aprit 2021, the Group announced the launch of an offering of £327m of guaranteed senior unsecured convertible bonds due in
2026. Settlement and detivery of the convertible bonds took place on 7 May 2021, The total bond offering of £327m covers a five-year
term beginning on 7 May 2021 with a 1.625 per cent per annum coupon payable semi-annually in arrears in equalinstatments.

The bonds are convertible into new and/or existing ordinary shares of the WH Smith PLC. The initial conversion price was set at
£24.99 representing a premium of 40 per cent above the reference share price on 28 Aprit 2021 [£17.85). If not previously converted,
redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the Bonds will be redeemed at par on 7 May 2026.

Liquidity risk

The Group manages its exposure to liquidity risk by reviewing the cash resources required to meet its business objectives through
both short- and lang-term cash flow farecasts. The Group has a committed multi-currency revolving credit facilily with a number

of financial institutions which is available to be drawn for general corporate purpases including working capital. The facility is due to
mature on 28 April 2025,

The Group has a policy of pooling cash Hows in arder to aptirmse the return on surplus cash and also to utilise cash within the Group
to reduce the costs of external short-term funding.
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22. Financial instruments [continued) .

The table below shows the maturity analysis of the undiscounted remaining contractual cash flows of the Group's financisl liabilities:
Due within Due between Due between Due over

2021 [£m) 1yoar  1and2years  ZandSyears 5 yoars Total

Non-derivative financial liabilities |

Bank loans and overdrafts t 10 30 461 - 501

Trade and other payables ! 24y - - - 249

Lease liabilities ‘ 115 92 159 148 514

Total cash flows . 374 122 4620 148 1,264
Due withn Die between . Oue between Due over

2020tEm| i year 1 and 2 years ¢ and 5 years 5 years L Total

Non-derivative financial liabilities '

Bank loans and overdrafts 7 10 402 - 419

Trade and other payabtes 229 - - - 229

Lease liabilities 139 97 195 180 611

Total cash flows 375 107 597 180 1,259

Creditrisk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty may default on their obligation to the Group in relation to lending, hedging. settlement and
other financial actwities, The Group's principal financial assets are frade and other recewables, and bank balances and cash which are
considered to have low credit risk on initial recognition.

The Graup has credit risk attributzble te its trade and other receivables, including a number of sale or return contracts with suppliers.
The amounts included in the balance sheet are net of allowances for expected credit losses. The Group has adopted the simplified
approach to calculating expected credit losses allowed by IFRS 9. Historical credit loss rates are applied consistently to graups of
financial assets with similar sk characteristics. These are then adjusted for known changes in, or any forward-looking impacts on,
creditworthiness.

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that credit risk might have increased
significantly include the failure of the debtor fo engage in a payment plan and failure to make contractual payments within 180 days
past due, which is in line with historical experience of increased credit risk. Indicators that an asset is credit-impaired would include
observable data in relation to the financial health of the debtar or if the debtor breaches contract.

The Group has {ow retail credit risk due to the transactions being principally high volume, low-value and of short maturity. The Group
has no significant concentration of credit risk, with the exposure spread over a large number of counterparties and customers.

The credit risk on liguid funds and derivative financial instruments is considered to be low, 3s the Beard approved Group treasury
policy limits the value that can be placed with each approved counterparty to minimise the risk of loss. These limits are based on a
short-term credit rating of P-1.

The carrying ameunt of hinancial assets recorded in the financial statements represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk.
The Group does not hold coliateral over any of these financiat assets.

Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed ta cash flow interest rate risk on floating rate bank leans and overdrafts.

At 31 August 2021, the Group had drawn down Enil [2020: Enilj from its £250m committed revolving credit facility. If the Group drayvs
down on this facility it does not view any draw down as long-term in nature and therefore does not enter into interest rate derivatives
ta mitigate this risk.

The Group has a four-year committed £133m term toan with Banco Santander S.A, London Branch, Barclays Bank PLC, BNP Paribas
and HSBC UK Bank PLC, that was drawn down at the time of the refinancing [April 2021). This loan is interest-bearing al a margin
over SONIA. The Group monitars the risk associated with the loan. At present, the Group has not entered into interest rate derivatives
in respect of the logn
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22. Financial instruments (continued)

Fareign currency risk

Foreign exchange rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will lluctuate because of the
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group's foreign currency expasures are principally to the US dollar, Euro and Australian dollar
The Group's treasury function uses financial instruments to mitigate foreign exchange risk, in line with treasury palicies approved by
the Board. Finangial instruments include foreign exchange contracts, depasits and bark loans.

The Group uses forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge significant future transactions and cash flows denaminated i
currencies other than pounds sterling. The hedging instruments have been used to hedge purchases in US dollars and to minimise
foreign exchange risk in movements of the USD/GBP exchange rates. These are designated as cash flow hedges. At 3t August 2021
the Group had no material unhedged currency exposures.

The Group's US dollar, Euro and Australian dollar exposure is principally operational and arises mainly through the cperation of retail
stores i North America, France, Ireland, Spamn, Germany, lialy and Australia. The Graup does not use derwvatives to hedge balance
sheet and profit and loss translation exposure.

The fair value of cash flow hedges recognised an the balance sheet within derivative assets/liabilities is shown below:

£m 2021 2020

Fair value of derivative assets

A131 August 2021, the total notional amount of outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts to which the Graup has committed is
US$25m (2020: US$T5m. These instruments will be used to hedge cash flaws occurring up to ene year from the balance sheet date.

Gains of Enit [2020: £1m] have been transferred to the income statement and gains of Enil {2620 £1m) have been transferred to
nventories in respect of contracts that matured during the year ended 31 August 2021. In the year to 31 August 2021, the f_alr value
gain on the Group's currency derivalives that are designated and effective as cash low hedges armounted to Enil [2020: Enil).

SIUBWARIS |2IDURUIY

All the derwatives held by the Group at fair value are considered to have fair values determined by Level 2 inputs as dgfined by the tair,
value hierarchy. There are no non-recurring tair value measurements nor have there been any transfers of assets or Labilities
between levels of the fair value hierarchy.

Sensitivity analysis as at 31 August 2021

Financial instrumnents affected by market risks include borrawings, deposits and derivative financial instrumants. The follawing
analysis, required by IFRS 7 "Financial Instruments’: Disclosures, is intended to illustrate the sensitivity to changes in market
variables, being UK interest rates, and USD/GBP. EUR/GBP and AUD/GBP exchange rates.

The following assumptions were made in calculating the sensitivity analysis:

* Exchange rate fluctuations on currency derivatives that form part of an eltective cash flow hedge relationship affect the hedging
reserve in equily and the fair value of the hedging dervatives.

» Year end exchange rates applied in the analysis are USD/GBP 1.3769/1 (2020 1 3347/1], EUR/GBP 1.1652/1 (2020: 1.1193/1) and
AUD/GBP 1.8821/1 (2020: 1.8115/1).

* Group debt and hedging activities remain constant, ref(ecting the positions at 3T August 2021 and 31 August 2020 respectively.
As a consequence, the analysis relates ta the positiun at those dates and is nol necessarily representative of the years then ended.

The above assumptions are made when llustrating the effect on the Group's income statement and equity given reasonable
movernents i foreign exchange and interest rates before the effect of tax. The Group considers a reasonable interest rate movernen
in GBP SONIA/base rate to be one per cent, based on interest rate history. Similarly, sensitivity to movements in USD/GBP, EUR/GBP
and AUD/GBP exchange rates of ten per cent are shown, reflecting changes of reasonable proportion in the context of movernent
those currency pairs over hime
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Notes to the financial statements continued

22. Financial instruments [continued)

Using these assumptions, the Iollowing table shows the illustrative effect on the Group income statement and equity.

2021 2020
Income Equity Incame Equity
€m gainfllossi  * gain/itoss] llosslgan llossigain
GBP SONIA/base rate interest rates 1% increase i - - (3l -
USD/GBP exchange rates 10% increase . 1 %7 4 (37)
EUR/GBP exchange rates 10% increase ; 1 1. 1 2
AUD/GBP exchange rates 10% increase ! - 1 2 1
GBP SONiA/base rate interest rates 1% decrease i - - 3 -
USD/GBP exchange rates 0% decrease ! ] 57 (5) 45
EUR/GBP exchange rates 10% decrease : {1 [11' M (2l
AUD/GBP exchange rates 10% decrease ' - (2) 2 (1)
23. Called up share capital
Allotted and fully paid
. 2021 220
Number Nominal Number Nominal
of shares value ol shares. value
£m [millians] Lm [miitrons) Em
Equity:
Ordinary shares of 22%p 131 29 131 2
Total 131 29 131 29

During the year, 43,345 ordinary shares were allotled under the terms of the Company's Sharesave Scheme.

The effect of the above share issues was to increase share premium by £1m.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared trom time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at

the meetings of the Company.

The ESOP reserve of £5m [2020: £4m) represents the cost of shares in WH Smith PLC purchased in the market and held by the

WH Smith Employee Benefit Trust to salisfy awards and options under Lhe Group's executive share schemes. The total shareholding is

" 304.641(2020: 203,628).
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24, Share-based payments

Summary of movements in awards and options

Sharesave Cash-settted
Rumber of shares Schemes LTIPs PSP awands Tatal
Outstanding at 1 September 2020 307077 ° 1,179,064 913,695 17,041 2016877

Options and awards granted
Uptions and awards exercised

272790  1.103099 180,468 56,330 1,612,687
(43.345) (5.915] {10833} {21,339 [81.432)

Options and awards lapsed (148043)  [293934) (150,354) - {592,333]
Outstanding at 31 August 2021 389,479 1,982,314 532,974 52,032 2,955,799
Exercisable at 31 August 2021 - - 4,839 - 4,839
Outstanding at 1 September 2019 379398 1,189.362 526,922 34,087 2129749
Options and awards granted - IS 251,081 - 622,602
Uptions and awards exercised (5024)  1161.368) {82.234) 11.791) (260,617
Options and awards lapsed (67.297) (220451 [182.074} (5,255) (475.077]
Cutstanding at 31 August 2020 307,077 1,179,064 513,695 17,041 2,016,877
Exercisable at 31 August 2020 - - 15.8%9 =~ 15,899
2z 2020

Pence

Weighted average exercise price of awards:
- Outstanding at the beginning of the year
- Granted in the year

- Exercised in the year

- Lapsed in the year

- Outstanding at the end of the year

- Exercisable at the end of the year

23288 27276
236.81 -
76749 27.80
373.06 , 21888
19220 23288

Detail of movements in options and awards
LTIPs

Under the terms of the LTIP, executive directors and key senior executives may be granted conditional awards to acquire ordinary
shares in the Company [in the form of nil cost options] which will only vest and becomne exercisable to the extent that the related

performance targets are mat.

Outstanding awards granted under the LTIPs are as follows:

Number of shires
Exercise
Date &f grant 2021 2020 price Ipencel Exercise period
20 October 2014 134,613 136,613 Nil Oct 2019 -20.10.26
26 October 2017 , 38,315 338,164 Nil Oct 2020 - 26.10.27
1 Navember 2018 y  I32,766. 332746 Nil Nov 2023 -01.11.28
5 Novemnber 2019 INns2 371,521 Nil Nov 2024 -05.11.29
19 Novermber 2020 1,103,099 - Nil Nov 2025 - 19.11.30

1,982,314 1,179,064
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

24. Share-based payments [continued)

Awards will first become exercisable on the vesting date, which is the third anniversary of the date of grant. Awards made on or after
October 2014 are subject to holding periods preventing the delivery and sale of shares until the fifth anniversary of the date of grant.
Far awards made in October 2016 and October 2017, the hotding period applies to 50 per cent of any shares which vest. For awards
made in November 2018, and all subsequent awards, the holding period applies to 160 per cent of any shares that vest. The awards
will accrue dividends paid over the performance and any holding perod. LTIP awards are equity-settled.

Sharesave Scheme

Under the terms of the Sharesave Scheme, the Board grants options to purchase ordinary shares in the Company to employees with
at least three months service wha enter into an HM Revenue & Customs approved Save-As-You-Earn [SAYE] savings contract for a
term of three years. Options are granted at up to a 20 per cent discount to the market price of the shares on the date of offer and are
normally exercisable for a period of six months afler completion of the SAYE contract. SAYE options are equity-settled.

Outstanding options granted under the Sharesave Scheme at 31 August 2021 are as follows:

Number of shares
Exercise
Date ot grant 2021 2020 prece Ipence| Exercise perod
7 June 2017 (3 year) ; - 140,310 1434.40 010820-31.00.21
5 June 201913 year! 115,689, 166,767 1607 40 01.0822-31.00.23
2 Junie 2021 (3 year) 272,790° - 140000 0t.0824-31.0125

388,47%- 307977

Performance Share Plan [PSP] _
Under the terms of the Performance Share Plan, the Beard may grant conditional awards to executives. The exercise of awards is
conditional on the achievement of a performance target, which is determined by the Board a1 the time of grant. The executive directors

do not parlicipate in this plan. PSP awards are equity-settied.

Outstanding awards granted under the PSP are as follows:

Number of shares
Exercise
Date of grant 202t 2020 price fpencel Erercise penod
5 Novernber 2012 ! -] 977 NIl Nov 2015-05.11.22
17 October 2013 a -} 1693 Nil Oct 2016 - 17.10.23
23 October 2014 { 870 31 Nil Oct 2017 - 23.10.24
22 October 2015 : L -! 1,346 Nil Oct 2018 - 22.10.25
20 October 2016 ! 3,969i 8772 Nii Oct 2019 - 20.10.26
26 October 2017 - : ‘ -1 128867 Nit Oct 2020 - 26.30.27
1 Novernber 2018 { 137,853] 141392 Nil Nov 2021 - 01.11.28
7 Decernber, 2018 - 104T6) 0476 Nil Dec 2021 -07.12.28
5 Novermber 2019 12051700 217.061 Nil Maov 2022 - 05.11.29
19 November 2020 1 1749361 - Nil Nov 2021 - 19.11.30

532,974 513495

Deferred Bonus Plan {DBP) ;
The Deferred Bonus Plan is applicable to executive directors only. Under the terms of the DBP, any bonus payable over target is
deferred into shares for a period of up ta three years. One third of the deferred shares are released on each anniversary of the bonus.

At 31 August 2021, 10,108 shares remain deferred in accordance with this plan.
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24. Share-based payments |continued)

Cash-settled schemes

Under the terms of the LTIP and PSP, the Board rmay grant cash-settled awards to executives. The exercise of aptions 15 conditional on
the achievement of a performance target, which is determined by the Board at the time of grant. These awards will be settled in cash
based an the share price at the date of exercise. As at 31 August 2021 there were 52,032 outstanding nil-cost cash-settled awards
(2020: 17,041], which will be settled between November 2021 and Novemnber 2030. The carrying amount of liabilites arising from
share-based payment transactions is less than £1m [2020: less than £1m],

Fair value information

021 00
Weighted average share price at date of exercise of share options exercised during year - pence . 1,558.60 ‘ _2,223. S4
Weighted average remaining contractual life at end of year - years 8 7
Share options and awards granted
The aggregate of the estimated fair value of the options and awards granted in the year is:
£m 2021 2020
16 [¥4

The fair values of the LTIP and PSP awards granted were measured using a Manle Carlo simutation model. The input range into the
Monte Carlo models was as follows:

2021 %0

Share price - pence 1,482 : 2,22
Exercise price - pence Nil Nil
Expected volatility - per cent ! 42 i 22
Expected life - years : 28 28
Risk-free rate - per cent . 0.03) 053
0%-2% Nit

Dividend yield - per cent

Waighted average fair value of options - pence 1,060.81 197556

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the histerical volatility of the Group's share price over the expected Life of the option.
The fair values of the Sharesave opticns granted in the year ended 31 August 2021 were measured using a Black Scholes rmodel.
None were granted in the year ended 31 August 2020, The input range into the Black Scholes madels was as follows in the year ended
31 August 2023:

202
1,785

Share price - pence )
Exercise price - pence : 1,600

Expected volatility - per cent X 37,
Expected life - years ‘ 34
Risk-free rate - per cent | 0.6’
Dividend yield - per cemt ‘ Nil
§16.43

Weighted average fair value of oplions - pence

Expecled volatlity was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Group’s share price over the expected life of the option.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

25. Related party transactions
Transactions between businesses within this Group which are related parties have been eliminated on consclidation and are not
disclased in this Note.

Remuneration of key management personnel
The remuneration of the executive and non-executive directors, who are the key management personnel of the Group. 1s set out
below in aggregate for each of the categories specified in 1AS 24 Related Party Disclosures.

Further information about the remuneration of individual directors is provided in the Directors’ remuneration report on pages
b to 84,

£000 2021 2020
Shart-term employee benefits H 2,470 1517
Fost-employment benefits ; 176, 186
Share-based payments L1042 (4]
i 3488 1,699
There are na other transactions with directors.
26. Other reserves and Capital redemption reserve
Revaluation ESOP Converlible
£m Other reserves reserve reserve Hedging reserve band reserve Total
Balance as at 1 September 2020 : (277 o2 Rt - - {279
Issue of convertible bond - value of conversion rights ! - - - - 40 40
Employee share schemes i . - - (1 - - {11
Balance at 31 August 2021 R 4] 2 (5). - 40 [240)
. Revaluation ESOP Hedging Lonvertible
Em Other reserves reserve resene reserve bond reserve Total
Balance as at 1 September 2019 1272) 2 {4} 2 - {274)
Employee share schermes 5] - 2 - - (3]
Cash flow hedges - - - 12) - (2)
Balance at 31 August 2020 (277) 2 (4) - - (2791

The Other reserves include reserves created in relation to historical capital reorganisation and proforima restatement, £(238im

[2020: £[238)m), demerger from Smiths News PLC in 2006, £69m [2020: £69ml, and cumulative armounts relating to employee share

schemes ot €(108}m (2020: £{108)m).

The convertible bond reserve is a reserve created to recognise the equity component of the convertible band issued in April 2021
[see Note 19} and represents the value of the conversion rights at initial recognition of £41m, net of transaction costs of £1m.

The Capital redemption reserve of £13m {2020: £13m] represents the par vatue of shares repurchased and cancelled under the
Group's share buyback programme and is reclassified from Share capital to the Capital redemption reserve.
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27. Acquisitions
Prior year acquisitions
On 20 Decernber 2019, the Group acquired the entire issued share capital of Marshall Retail Group [MRG'), for a tatal cash payrnent

ot USD $402m (£317m) comprising $243m enterprise value, $146m repayment of loans, $12m warking capital, and $1m cash and
restricted cash. During the year ended 31 August 2021, the Group received £1m as an adjustment to the consideration paid.

MRG is an independent travel retailer operating in high footfall airport and tourist locations in the United States. The acquisition

Luilds further on the acquisition of InMntion in Navember 2018 and significantly strengthens the Group’s offering in the United States,
the world's targest travel retail market.

Included within the fair value of the net identifiable assets on acquisition is an intangible assel of £29m (US$37m| representing the
MRG brand. The Board believes that the excess of consideration paid aver the net assets on acquisition of £257m is best considered as
goodwill on acquis:tion representing future operating synergies. This amount is not tax deductible. '

The provisional goodwill calculation included significant estimates that may be refined for a period of 12 months from the acquisition
date. During the year ended 31 August 2021, finat fair value adjustrnents were recognised of E1m to property, plant and equipment and
£1m to goodwill.

Transaction and integration costs totalling £20m were incurred in the year to 31 August 2020 in respect of the acquisition.
Afurther £2m integration costs have been incurred in the year ended 31 August 2021.

$)UIWAIR)S JRIILRUI4

WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021 145



Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

28. Subsidiary companies 7
The subsidiary companies included within the financial statements are disclosed below.

UK subsidiaries

Proportion of
shares held by
Country of incorporation/ Registered Group
Natne registration address Classofshares  companies % Principal activity
Held directly by WH Smith PLC:
WH Smith Retall Holdings Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Hoiding company
Held indirectly:
Books & Stationers Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 " Retailing
Card Market Limited Engtand & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Retailing
Dotty About Paper Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Dorrnant
funkypigeon.com Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Retailing
Madelzane Limited ) England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Dormant
Sussex Stationers Limited £ngland & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Dormant
The Card Gallery [UK] Lirmited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Retailing
The SQL Workshop Limited England & Wales i Ordinary 100 Retailing
The Websters Group Limited England & Wales ¥ Ordinary 100 Dormant
Tree of Hearts Limiled England & Wates 1 Ordinary 100 Dormant
WH Smith [Qatar] Limited Engtand & Wales ! Ordinary 100 Dormant
WH Smith 1955 Lsmited England & Wales 1 Grdinary 100 Holding Cormpany
WH Smith High Street Holdings Limited England & Wales 1 Qrdinary 100 Holding Company
WH Smith High Street Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary & 100 Retailing
Preference
WH Smith Hospitals Holdings Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary & 100 Helding Company
Preference
WH Smith Hospitats Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Retailing
WH Smith Promotions Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Retailing
WH Smiith Retirernent Savings Plan Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Dormant
WH Smith Travel 2008 Limited England & Wales 1 Ordirary 100 Holding Company
WH Smith Travel Holdings Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 160 Holding Company
WH Smith Travel Lirmited England & Wales 1 Ordinary & 100 _ Retailing
' Preference
WH Smith US Group Holdings Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Helding Cornpany
WH Smith US Retail Holdings Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Holding Cornpany

The following UK subsidiaries will take advantage of the audit exemption set out within section 4794 of the Companies.Act 2006 for the
year ended 31 August 2021.

The Company will guarantee the debts and liabilities of the belaw UK subsidiary undertakings at the balance sheet date in accordance -
with sectian 479C of the Companies Act 2006. The Company has assessed the probabilly of loss under the guarantee as remote.

MName Company number
Held indirectly:

Books & Stationers Limited 07515820
Card Market Limited 8956574
WH Smith 1955 Limiled 549069
WH Smuth High Street Holdings Limited 6560371
WH Smith Hospitals Holdings Limited 03894896
WH Smith Prormotions Limited 2339902
WH Smith Travel 2008 Limited . 6560390
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28. Subsidiary companies [continued)
Internationat joint ventures

The below entities are joint ventures and per the Group's accounting palicies on page 105, the Group's share of results of these joint
ventures 15 included in the Group consolidated income statement using the equity method of accounting.

Progartion of shares

Country of incorporatien/ Registered hedd by Group
Name registration address Class of shares ctompanies % Princigat activity
Held indireclly:
WH Smith - DFA Brasil Cafeteria, Lvraria E Brazil 15 Urdinary 50 Retailing
Conveniencia Eireli
WH Smith Malaysia SON BHD Malaysia " Ordinary 50 Retailing
WH Srnith LLC Oman 10 Ordinary 50 Retailing
MSP Innovations, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 3 Retailing
Nash Nails MRG, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 37 Retailing

International subsidiaries

The below list of interests in overseas entities includes certain entities, particularly in the United States of America. in which

WH Smith PLC holds tess than 100 per cent ownership. These entities primartly relate to airport operatians i which the Group is
required lo engage with a local partner in order to operate the stores. Per the accounting policy set out on page 10%, the Group has -
determined that it has control of these entities and has therefore consolidated their results.

Proporiion of

shares held by
Cauntry of incorporation/ Registered Group
Name reglstration address Classof shares  comnpanies % Principal activity
Held indirectly:
WH Srmith Asia Lirnited Heng Kong 2 Ordinary 100 Product sourcing for
Group companies
WH Smith Australia Pty Limited Auslralia 3 Ordinary 100 Retailing
WH Smith Calais S.AS France 4 Ordinary 100 Retailing
WH Smith Germany GmbH ’ Germany 5 Ordinary 100 Retailing
WH Smith Ireland Limited Ireland ) Ordinary 100 Retailing
WH Smith ltalia S.R.L italy 7 Ordinary 160 Retailing
WH Smith Jersey Limited Jersey 8 Ordinary 100 Retailing
WH Smith LLC Qatar 9 Ordinary 49 Retailing
WH Srmith Nederland B.V. Netherlands 12 Ordinary 100 Dormant
WH Smith Singapore Pte. Limited Singapore 13 Ordinary 160 Retailing
WH Smith Spain S.L. Spain 14 Ordinary 100 Retailing
WH Smith USA Holdings Inc UsA 14 Ordinary 100 Holding Cornpany
InMotion Entertainment Holdings LLC UsA 16 Ordinary 100 Holding Cornpany
InMation Entertainment Personnel Leasing Corp USA 14 Ordinary 100 Helding Company
-WH Smith USA Retail Inc USA 16 Ordinary 100 Holding Cormpany
InMotion SFQ, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 88 Retailing
Wild Retail Group Pty Lirnited Australia 3 Ordinary 100 Retailing
InMotion Entertainment Group, LLC UsA 16 Ordinary 100 Retailing
BTS - InMotion Atlanta, LLC USAa 16 Ordinary 100 Retailing
InMation AUS, LLC usa 16 Ordinary 88 Retailing
InMotion BNA, L.LC USA 16 Ordinary B4 Retailing
InMotion BNA-C,LLC USA 16 Ordinary 80 Retailing
Soundbalance BGS, LLC USA 16 Ordinary &7 Dormant
inMotion BOS-A, LLC LISA 16 Ordinary 80 Dormant
Inhation BOS, LLC usa 16 Ordinary 70 Darmant
InMotion BOS-BCE, LLC usa 16 Ordinary a0 Retailing
InMotion BWI, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 60 Retailing
InMotion CLE, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 67 Retailing
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Notes to the financial statements continued

28. Subsidiary companies [continued)

Propertion ¢!

shares held by
Country of incorporation/ Registered Group

Name registrallon address Class of shares  companies % Principat activity
Held indirectly: usa 16 Ordinary &7 Retaiing
Soundbatance CLT, LLC Usa 16 Ordinary 67 ' Retalling
InMotion - 50 OC, LLC USA 14 Ordinary 75 Retailing
InMotion DCA, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 75 Retaling
InMation OEN-B, LLC CUsA 16 Ordinary - 7 Retailing
DFW-A Retail Partners, LLC uUsa 16 Ordinary 60 Retailing
DFW-E Retail Partrers, LLC , USA 16 Ordinary . 65 Retailing
DFW-D/E Retail Partners, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 70 Retailing
Soundbalance CTW, LLC USA 16 Ordinary a7 Retarling
InMotion DTW, LLC Usa 16 Ordinary 75 Retailing
InMotion EWR, LLC UsA 16 Ordinary 80 Retailing
. InMotion EWR-B. LLC USA 16 Ordinary 85 Retaiting
InMotion FLL, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 62 Retaiting
InMotion FLL-T4, LLC USA 16 Crdinary 62 Retailing
InMotion 1AD, LLC Usa 16 Crdinary 75 Retailing
Soundbalance IAH, LLC Usa 16 Ordinary 67 Retailing
BR InMation iAH, LLC usa 16 Ordinary 65 Retailing
InMation LAX, LLC USA 16 Qrdinary 75 Retailing
InMotion LAX-IT.LLC USA 16 Ordinary .80 Retailing
Soundbalance MCO. LLC usa 16 Ordinary 67 Retailing
InMotion MCQ. LLC USA 16 Ordinary 73 Retailing
Soundbalance Miami, LLC USA 16 Ordinary &7 Retailing
InMotion Bright, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 75 Retailing
InMotion MKE, LLC USA 14 Ordinary. 79 Retailing
InMotion MSY, LLC USA 16 Ordinary &4 Retailing
InMation ORD, LLC UsA - 16 QOrdinary 70 Retailing
InMotion ORD T2, LLC uUsa 16 Ordinary 70 Retailing
Soundbalance PDX, LLC usa 16 Ordinary &7 Retailing
‘Soundbatance PHL. LLC USA 16 Ordinary 67 Retailing
InMotion PHL, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 70 Dormant
Soundbalance ATL-E. LLC : USA 16 Crdinary 67 Retailing
InMotion ATLL-A, LLC USA 16 Ordinary b4 Retailing
InMotion ATL. LLC ' USA 16 Ordinary 80 . Retailing
tinMotion PHX, LLC UsA 16 Ordinary 80 Retailing
InMotion PHX T3, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 90 Retailing
Soundbalance SAN, LLC usa 16 Ordinary 25 Retailing
InMotian SAT, LLC UsA 16 Ordinary 75 Retailing
inMotion SEA, LEC USA 16 Ordinary B8 _ Retailing
InMoticn SFO-T3. LLC Usa 16 Ordinary 85 Retailing
InMotion SFO-IT, LLC USA - 16 Ordinary 90 Retailing
Soundbalance SJC, LLC USA 14 Ordinary &7 Dormant
InMation SLC.LLC USA 16 Ordinary 80 Retailing
InMotion 1AH, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 10 Dormant
InMotion SLC-ALLC USA 16 Ordinary 85 Retailing
InMotion SLC-B,LLC Usa 16 Ordinary | Retailing
InMotion SMF.LLC usa 16 Ordinary 90 - Retailing
inMotion CLT. LLC Usa 16 Ordinary 74 Retailing
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28. Subsidiary companies [continued)

Proportion of

. shares held by

Country of incerparation/ Registered Group
. Name registration address Class of shares  campanies % Principal activity

Held indirectly:

SBIF. LLC USA 16 Ordinary 50 Dormant
InMotion LGA, LLE UsA 14 Qrdinary 75 Dormant
Marshall Retail Group Holding Co Inc USA 16 Ordinary 100 Holding company
MRG Holdings Corp usa 16 Ordinary 100 Halding company
Marshall Retail Group LLC usa 16 Ordinary 100 Retaiting
The Marshall Retail Group Canada Inc Canada 17 Ordinary 100 Retailing
MRG Baltimore Concourse A, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 70 Retailing
MRG Baltimore (BWI), LLC usa 16 Ordinary 0 Retaling
MRG Denver, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 75 Retailing
MRG Dattas If, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 5 Retailing
MRG LaGuardia, LLE USA 16 Ordinary 80 Retailing
MRG LaGuardia Terrminal A, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 75 ~ Retailing
MRG tos Angeles, L.LC UsA 16 Crdinary 70 Retailing
MRG Nashville, LLC ‘ USA 16 Crdinary 80 Retailing
MRG Raleigh Terminal 1, LLC USA 16 Crdinary 55 Retailing
MRG Raleigh Terminal 2, LLC UsSA 16 Ordinary 85 Retailing
MRG RCU T2, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 80 Retailing
MRG Sacramento. LLC USA 16 Ordinary 90 Retailing
MRG San Francisco, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 80 Retailing
MRG San Francisco Terrminat 1, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 80 Retailing
MRG San Francisco Terrminal 2, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 85 Retailing
MRG San Francisco Terrminal 3, LLC USA S 6 Ordinary 80 Retailing
MRG Washington (DCA) LLC USA 16 Ordinary 75 Retailing
MRG Washington (IAD}, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 75 Retailing
WH Smith DEN, LLC UsA 14 Ordinary 70 Retailing
WH Smith DCA, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 75 Retailing

Registered addresses

W~ o DN —

_ = D
N W - O

Greenbridge Road, Swindon, Willshire SN3 3RX

Suites 13401-04. 13 Fioor, South Tower, World Finance Centre, Harbeur City, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon. Hong Keng
Suite 401, 80 Williarn Street, Woolloomaoloo NSW 2011, Australia

38 Rue des Mathurins, 75008 Paris 8, France .

Terminal Ring 1, Zentralgebaude Dst, 2i. 5. 035, 40474 Dusseldorf, Germany

4th Floor, Grand Canal Square, Oubtin 2, Ireland

Via Borgogna, Cap 20122, Milano, ltaly

72/74 King Street, St Helier, Jersey, JEZ 4WE

27 Um Ghwalinah Road, 230 C-ring Road, Doha.'Qatar

PO Box 3275, PC112. Ruwi, Oman

C2-6-1, Sotans Dutamas, 1, Jalan Dutamas 1, 50480, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
Weteringschans 94, 1017 XS, Amsterdam, Netherlands

11 Keng Cheow Sireet #3-10 The Riverside Piazza, Singapore 039508

Paseo de Recoletos, 27, 72, 28004, Madrid. Spain

Avenida das Americas, No. 3434, Barra da Tijuca, CEP 22640-102, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brazil
3735 W Sunset Road, Las Vegas, Nevada, NV 89118, USA

2200 H5BC Building, 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, BC V4C 3E8, Canada
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Financial statements

Company balance sheet
As at 31 August 2021

€m Note 2021 2020
Non-current assets
Investments 3 835" 835
: 835, 835
Current assets
Receivables: amounts faling due within one year 4. 298° 291
298 291
Current liabilities
Payables: amounts falling due within one year 5 (168] 12031
{148) (203)
Net current assets 130 88
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings & (415) [400)
: {415) 1400
'
Total net assets 550 523
Sharehotders’ equity
Calleg up share capital 9 29 29
Share prernium account 316 315
Other reserves 10 40 -
Capital redemption reserve 10 13 13
Profit and loss account? 152 166
550 523

Total equity

1 The loss for Lhe year attributable Lo sharehotiders was £ 16m [2020; luss of £7m). See Note 2

The financial statements of WH Smith PLC, registered n
and authorised for issue Novernber 2021 and w,

)g;l Cowling

Group Chief Executive

signed’c

Robert Moorhe’

Company statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 August 2021

Chiel Financial Officer and CHief Operating Otficer

Caphal Profit
Share Share redemption andloss

£m capital premium resqrve Qther reserves account Total
Balance at 1 Septernber 2020 . 29 315 13 - 164 523
Loss far the financial year ) - - - - (14) 14)
Tota| comprebensive loss for the year - - - - (14) {14)
Prermium on issug of shares - 1 - - - 1
Issue of carwertible bonds - value of conversion rights [Note 10) ; - - - 40 - 40
Balance at 31 August 2021 29 Jé 13 40 152 550
Balance at 1 September 2019 24 i 13 - 220 266
Loss for the financial year - - - - (7) (7
Total comprehensive loss for the year - - - - 7 {7)
Preriurn on issue of shares 5 306 - - - an
Equity dividends paid during the year [Nate 7} - - - - [47) (47]
Balance at 37 August 2020 29 315 13 - 166 523
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Notes to the Company financial statements

1. Accounting policies

al Basis of preparation
The Company's financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, as detailed in the Directors’ report on page 85.

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 as applicable to companies using FRS 107.

The Cempany meets the definition of a qualifying entity under FRS 100 [Application of Financial Reporting Requirements| issued by
the Financial Reporting Council. Accordingly. the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with FRS 101 "Reduced
Disclosure Framework’ as issued by the Financial Reporting Council.

As permitted by RS 101, the Company has taken advantage of the disclosure exernption available under the standard in relation to
share-based payments, financial instruments, capitat management, presentation of comparative informatian i respect of certain
assets, presentation of a cash flow statement, standards not yet effective, impairment of assets and related party transactions.
Where required, equivalent disclosures are given in the cansalidated financial statements of the Group.

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention.

The principal accounting policies adopted are the same as those set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements except as
noted below. Na new accaunting standards, or amendments to actounting standards, or IFRIC interpretations that are effective for the
year ended 31 August 2021, have had a material impact on the Company.

Oninitial recagnition of the convertible bond, judgement is required in respect of the accounting treatment of embedded derivatives.
The fixed principal amount of each bond is convertible into a fixed number of shares and as a result management has deterrmined that
the canversion feature meets the fixed-for-fixed criterion for equity classification. The bonds include anti-dilution provisions to ensure
that the hoider's potential interest in the equity of the Company is not diluted in specified circumstances. If these provisions are
triggered, the number of shares that will be delivered to the holder is adjusted. Management considers that the provisions are
anti-dilutive in crder to ensure that the holder's petential interest in the equity of the Company is nct diluted under each of these
circumstances These provisions are not deemed (o breach the fixed-for-fixed criterion, therefore the conversion feature is accounted
for as equity.

In the application of the Company's accounting policies, the Directors do not consider that there are any further criticat accounting
judgements or sources of estimaticn uncertainty that could lead 1o a material change in the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities.

bl investments in subsidiary undertakings

lnvestments in subsidiaries are valued at historical cost less provision for impairment in value. Investinents in subsidiaries are {ested
annually for impairment. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the carrying value exceeds its recaverable
amount. The recoverable smount is the higher of an asset’s net realisable value and value-in-use

cl Taxation
Current tax, including UK corporation tax and foreign tax, is provided al amounts expected to be paid lor recovered| using the tax rates

and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

dl Receivables

Receivables represent amounts due from other Group companies. Receivables are initially measured at fair value and subseguently
measured at arnortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less provision for impairment. A provision for the expected credit
loss o recevables is established at inception This is modified when there is a change in the credit risk and hence evidence that the
Company will not be able to collect ait amounts due according to the original terms of recervables.

2. [Loss)/profit for the year

The Company has not presented its own profit and loss account as permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act Z0Gé.

The loss for the year attributable to shareholders, which is staled on zn histarical cost basis, was £14m [2020; loss of £7m] comprising
of finance costs of £14m [2020: £7m), non-undertying items of Eém [£2020: Enit] offset by a tax credit of E£ém.There were no other
recogrised gans or losses.

The Company did not have any employees during the year ended 31 August 2021 12020: nill. All directors were remunerated by other
Group compartes.

3. Investments

Afull list of the Cormpany’s subsidiary undertakings is included in Note 28 of the Notes to the consolidated financial staterments.
The registered office of WH Smith Retail Holdings Limited es Greenbridge Road, Swindan, Wiltshire SN3 3RX.

The investment in subsidiares balance has been tested for impairment at the balance sheet date. The recoverable amount of the
investment is assumed to approximate the Group's market capitalisation on the London Stock Exchange, adjusted for any assets or
liabilities on the Compary’s balance sheet. There was substantial headrcom between the recoverable amount of the investment and
its carrying value. Consequently, no impairment has been recognised m respect of the investrent.
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Financial statements

Notes to the Company financial statements continued

4. Receivables: amounts falling due within one year

£m 20 2020
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 293 290
Prepayments 1 ' !
Current tax recenable 4 -

298 291

Amounts receivable from subsidiary undertakings are non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. The Company has undertaken
a review of the liguidity position of the counterparty subsidiaries and noted that the subsidiaries continue to have sufficient
immediately avaitable funds to setile the receivabtes at the balance sheet date. As a result, no expected credit losses have been
included in the profit and toss account in the current year in respect of these receivables.

5. Payables: amounts falling due within one year

£m 2021 2020

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 162 202

Bank overdrafis 3 h

Accruals and deferred income 3 !
168 203

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

6. Borrowings

Im 2021 2020

Term loans 132 400

Convertible bonds 200 5
415 400

On 28 April the Group announced new financing arrangements. These included the issuance of £327m of convertible bonds,
the repayment of the existing £400m term loans and replacement with a new £133m term loan, and an increased revalving credit
facility of £250m.

Term loans and revolving credit facilities

At 31 August 2021, alongside other Group companies, the Company is a guarantor on a five-year committed multi-currency revolving
credit facility of £250m with Santander UK PLC, BNP Paribas, HSBC UK Bank PLC. JP Morgan Securities PLC and Barclays Bank
PLC. The revolving credit facility is due to mature on 28 April 2025. The utilisation 15 interest bearing at a margin over SONIA.

At 31 August 2021, the Company has a four-year committed €133m term loan with Banco Santander S A., Landon Branch, Barclays
Bank PLC, BNP Paribas and HSBC UK Bank PLC, that was drawn down at the time of the refinancing in April 2021, This loan 1s
interest bearing at a margin over SONIA and is due to mature on 28 April 2025

Transaction costs of £1m relating to the term loan are being amortised through the etfective interest rate method.

Convertible bonds

On 28 April 2021, the Company announced the launch of an offering of £327m of guaranteed senior unsecured convertibie bonds due
in 2026. Settlement and delivery of convertible bonds took place on 7 May 2021, The totat bond offering of £327m covers 3 five-year
term beginning on 7 May 2021 with a 1.625 per cent per annum coupon payable semi-annually in arrears in equal instalments.

The bonds are convertible into new and/or existing ordinary shares of WH Smith PLC. The initial conversion price was sel at £26.99
representing a premium of 40 per cent above the reference share price on 28 April 2021 [£17.85). If rot previously converted, redeemed
or purchased ang cancelled, the Bonds will be redeemed at par on 7 May 2026,

The convertible bond is a compound financial instrument, consisting of a financiat liability component and an equity component,
representing the value of the conversion rights. The initial fair value of the liability portion of the convertible bond is determined using
a market interest rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond at the issue date. The liability is subsequently recognised on an
arnorlised cost basis using the effective interest rare method nntii extinguished on conversion or maturity of tha bonds. The remainder
of the proceeds is allocaied to the conversion option and recagnised in equity [Other reserves), and not subsequently remeasured. As a
result, E286m was initially recognised as a Liability in the balance sheet on issue and the remainder of the proceeds of £41m, which
represents the option component, was recognised in equity.

Transaction costs of Eém were allocated between the two components and the element relating ta the debt component of £5m is
being amortised through the effective interest rate method. The issue costs appartioned to the equity component of £1rm have been
deducted fram equity.
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7. Dividends

Amounts paid and recognised as distributians to shareholders in the year are as follows.

£m 202 2020

Dividends .

Final dividend for the year ended 31 August 2019 of 41.0p per ordinary share . - 47
- 47

The Board of Directors have not declared an interim dividend during the year and do not propose a final dividend in respect of the year
ended 31 August 2021.

8. Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities of £1m [2020: £1m) are in relation to insurance standby letters of credit.

The Cornpany will guarantee the debts and liabilities of the below UK subsidiary undertakings at the balance sheet date in accardance
with section 479C of the Companies Act 2006. The Company has assessed the probability of loss under the guarantee as remote.

Name Company number
Held indirectly:

Books & Stationers Limited ) 07515820
Cand Market Lirnited 8956574
WH Smith 1955 Limited 549069
WH Smith High Street Holdings Limited 456037
WH Smith Hospitats Holdings Limited 03896896
WH Smith Promotions Limited 2339902
WH Smith Travel 2008 Limited 6560390

9. Called up share capital
Allotted and fully paid

HH 2020
Number of Nominal tNumber ol Normunal
shares vatue shares valye
{millions] €m {mitlionsl Em
Equily: !
Ordinary shares of 22%p i 131 29 131 29
Total . 131 29 131 29

During the year, 43.345 ordinary shares were allotted under the terms of the Company’s Sharesave Scheme.
The effect of the above share issues was to increase share premium by £1m,
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled ta receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share

at the meetings of the Company.

10. Other reserves and Capital redemption reserve
Other reserves are reserves created to recognise the equity companent of the convertible bond issued in April 2021 (see Nate &)
and represents the value of the conversion rights at initial recognition of £4trn, net of transaction costs of £1m.

The Capital redemption reserve of £13m (2020: £13m] represents the par value of shares repurchased and cancelled under the
Company's share buyback programme is reclassified from Share capital to the Capital redemption reserve,
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Additional infor mation

Glossary (unaudited)

Alternative performance measures
I reporting financial informnation, the Group presents alternative performance measures, APMs’, which are not defined or specified
under the requirements of IFRS

The Group believes that these APMSs, which are not considered to be a substitute far ar superiar to IFRS measures, provide 7
stakeholders with additional useful information on the undertying trends, performance and posttion of the Group and are consistent
with how business performance is measured internally. The alternative performance measures are not defined by IFRS and therefore
may not be directly comparable with other companies’ alternative performance measures.

Non-underlying items

The Group has chosen to present a measure of profit and earnings per share which excludes certain items that are considergd
non-underlying and exceptional due o their size, nature or incidence, and are not considered to be part of the normal operations of
the Group. These measures may exctude the financial effect of nan-underlying items which are considered exceptionzl and occur
infrequently such as, inter alia, restructuring costs linked to a Board agreed prograrnme, amortisation of acquired intangibles assets,
costs relating to business combinatians, impairment charges and olher groperty cests, significant items relating to pens:ion schemes,
and impairment charges and items meeting the definition of non-underlying spectfically related to the Covid-19 par?demulc. and the
related tax effect of these items. The Group believes that they provide additional useful information to users of the financial
statements to enable 2 better understanding of the Group's underlying financial performance.

IFRS 16

The Group adopted IFRS 16 in the prior year. IFRS 16 superseded the lease guidance under 1AS 17 and the related interprelations.
IFRS 16 sets out the principtes for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees Lo
gccount for all leases under a single an-balance sheet model as the distinction between operating and finance lease; is remaved.
The only exceptions are short-term and tow-value leases. At the commencement date of a (ease, a lessee will recognise a lease
liahility for the future lease payments and an asset [rnight-of-use asset) representing the night to use the underlymg_ asset during the
lease term. Lessees are required to separately recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and the depreciation expense on
the right-of-use asset.

For the purposes of narrative commentary an the Group's performance and financial position in the Strategic report, the efiects
ot IFRS 16 have been excluded, in order 1o provide meaningful year on year comparisons.

The impact of the implementation of IFRS 14 on the Incorne statement and Segmental information 1s provided in Notes A al_'nd A2
betow. There is no impact on cash flows. although the classification of cash flows has changed, with an increase in net cash inflows
from operating activities being offset by a decrease in net cash inflows from financing activities, as set out in Note A9 below.

The balance sheet as at 31 August 2021 both including and excluding the impact of IFRS 14 is shown in Note A10 below.

Leases policies applicable prior to 1 September 2019 ) ) ,
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership

to the lessee, All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value determined at the inception of the lease or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the balance sheet
as a finance lease obligation. These assets are depreciated over their expected useful ives on the same basis as owned assets or,
where shorter, over the term of the relevant lease. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and a reduction of t‘he
lease obligations so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised
directly in the income statement.

Rentals payable and receivable under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over thg term of
the relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable 2s an incentive to enter into an operating lease are also spread on a straight-line
basis aver the lease term. The Group has a number of lease arrangements in which the rent payable is contingent on revenue.
Cantingent rentals payable, based on store revenues, are accrued in line with revenues generated.
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Definitions and reconciliations
I line with the Guidetines on Alternative Performance Measures issued by the Eurapean Securities and Markets Authority 'ESMA],

we have provided additional information on the APMs used by the Group below, including full reconciliations back to the closest
equivalent statutory measure.

APM

Closest equivaleni
IFRS measure

Reconciling lems to IFRS
measure

Definition and purpese

Income statement measures

. Headline measures

Various

Sce Notes A1-A11

Headline measures exclude the impact of IFRS 14 [applying the
principles of 145 17). Reconciliations of all Headline measures are
provided in Notes AT to At

Group [loss)/profit
betare tax and
non-underlying
items

Group [lossl/
prohit
before tax

See Group income
statement and
Note A1

Group (loss)/profit before tax and non-underlying iterns excludes the
impact of non-underlying items as described below. A reconciliation
from Group [loss]/profit before tax and non-underlying items to Croup
lloss)/profit before tax is pravided on the Group income statement on
page 98, and on a Headline [pre-IFRS 14) basis in Note A1,

Group

(tosst/profit from
trading operations
and segment
trading llossl/profit

Group
operating
(lossl/profit

See Note 7 and
Note A2

Group {loss)/profit from trading operations and segment trading ltoss)/
profit are stated after directly attributable share-based payment and
pension service charges and before nen-underlying items, unallocated
costs, finance costs and income tax expense.

A recanciliation from the above measures to Group operating (loss)/prefit
and Group [loss)/profit before tax on an IFRS 16 basis is provided in

Note Z to the financial statements and on a Headline [pre-IFRS 16) basis
in Note A2,

Non-underlying
items

Nane

Refer to definition
and see Note 4
and Note A

| financial statements te enable a better understanding of the Group's

lters which are not considered part of the normal operating costs of the
business, are non-recuring and considered exceptional because of their
size, nature or incidence, are treated as non-underlying items and
disclosed separately. The Group believes that the separate disclosure of
these items provides additional useful information 10 users of the

underlying financial performance. An explanation of the nature of the
iterns identified as non-underlying on an IFRS 16 basis is provided in
Note £ to the financial statements, and on a Headline [pre-IFRS 16] basis
in Note Ad.

UOIIEWI0JUI |EUBIPPY

{Loss)/earnings per
share before

Non-

underlying ttems

[Lossl
2arnings
per share

Non-underlying
items, see Note 10
and Note A4

[L.oss)/prafit for the year attributable to the equity holders of the parent
before non-underlying iterns divided by the weighted average number of
ardinary shares in issue during the financial year. A reconciliation is
provided on an IFRS 14 basis in Note 10 and on a Headline [pre-IFRS 16)
basis in Note A4,

Headline EBITDA

Group
operating
{lossi/profit

Refer to definition

Headline EBITDA/ Operating cash flow is Headline Group cperating
[loss)/profit before non-underlying items adjusted for pre-1FRS 16
depreciation, amortisation and other non-cash items [see Strategic
report on page 18).

Effective tax rate

None

Neon-underlying
items

Total income tax credit/charge excluding the tax impact of nan-
underfying items divided by Group Headline (lossl/profit before tax and
non-underlying iterns. See Nate 8 on an IFRS 16 basis, and Notes A3 and
A6 on a Headline pre-IFRS 16 basis.

Fixed charges cover

None

Refer to definition

This perfarmance measure calculates the number of times Profit before
tax cavers the total fixed charges included in calculating profit or loss.
Fixed charges included in this measure are net finance charges
{excluding finance charges from IFRS 16 leases] and net operating lease
rentals stated on a pre-1FRS 16 basis

The calculation of this measure is outlined in Note A5
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Additional information

Glossary [unaudited) continued

Definitions and reconciliations [continued]

Closest equivalent Reconciling items ta IFRS
APM |FRS measure measure Definition and purpose
Income statement measures continued
Gross margin Gross Not applicable Where referred to throughout the Annual report, gross margin is calcutated
profit margin as gross profit divided by revenue.
Like-for- Movementin | - Revenue change | Like-for-like revenue is the change in revenue from stores that have been
like revenue revenue per from non-like- | open for at least a year, with a similar selling space at a constant foreign
the income for-tike stores exchange rate. As a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, this measure has
Statement Eorei not been utilised in the current year.
- Fareign
exchange
impact
Balance sheet measures
Headline net debt Net debt Reconcilialion of | Headline net debt ts defined as cash and cash equivalents, less bank
net debt averdrafts and other harrowings and both current and non-current
obligations under finance leases as defined cn a pre-IFRS 16 basis.
Lease liabilities recognised as a result of IFRS 16 are excluded from this
measure. A reconciliation of net debt on an IFRS 16 basis provided in
Note A8.
Other measures
Free cash flaw Net cash See Note A7 and | Free cash flow is defined as the net cash inflow from operating activities
inflow from | Strategic report | before the cash flow effect of non-underlying items and pension fund:ng,
operating page 18 and less net capitel expenditure. The companents af free cash flaw are
activities shown in Note A7 and on page 18, as part of the Strategic report.

.
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Al. Reconciliation of Headline to Statutory Group operating loss and Group loss before tax

2021
pre~IFRS 15 basis. [FRS 14 basis
Headline, before Headline pan-
non-undertying lems undertying Rems Headline IFR5 14
€m fpre-IFRS 181 [pre-IFRS 18] Ipre-FRS 16) adjustments Total
Revenue 886 : - 886 - 886
Cost of sales {358) - 1358) - (358}
Gross profit 528 - 528 - 528
Distribution costs (431) - (431) 12 1419
Administrative expenses 1138) - (136) (6] 140
Other incame - - - 4 4
Nen-underlying items - {49) [49) (18) {65)
Group operating loss {a9) {49) (88) 1] (92]
Finance costs (18) Co- [14) {8) 124)
Loss before tax (551 49 {104 (12] (116§
Incorme tax credit 26 9 35 1 36
Loss for the period 29) T40) 1891 (“1m (a0}
Attributable to:
Eguity holders of the parent (31) 1401 171 11 i82)
Non-controlling interests 2 - 2 - 2
29) 140 (69) (11 {80)
2020
pre-iFRS 14 basis IFRS 16 bass
Hezoling, before
non-ungertying ilems Headline non-underlying Headline IFRS 16
fm {pre-IFRS 14l iterns (pre-IFRS 18} Ipre-IFRS 18] adjusiments Total
Revenue 1.021 - 1.021 - 1.0
Cost of sales [441) - [441) - [441}
Gruss profit 580 - 580 - 380
Distnbution costs (545) - [545) 7 [538]
Administrative expenses (97) - {97) 5 (72)
Other income 2 - 2 - 2
Non-underlying items - (157 {157) (55) 1212)
Group operating loss [0} (157} 1217) [43) 1260
Finance costs 19) - [9) 1) {20
Loss before tax (&9] (157 (226) [54) 1280)
Incorne tax credit 16 18 34 7 41
Loss for the periad {53) {139] {192 147) 1239)
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent (53] (139] n92) (47 (239)
Non-controtling interests - - - - -
(53 (139 {192) (471 {2391
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Addilienalinformation

Glossary (unaudited) continued

A2. Reconciliation of Headline to Statutory segmental trading [loss)/profit and Group (loss)/profit

from trading operations

2021
pre-IFRS 16 basis IFRS 16 basis
Headline, before Headline nen-
non-undertying items underlying tems Headline
Em {pre-IFRS 141 {pre-IFRS 141 lpre-fFRS 161 iFRS 16 adjustments Total
Travel UK trading flossiprofit 132) - {32 3 (29
North America trading profit/{loss) & - 6 (4} 2
Rest of the World trading loss (13) - {13 (4] 17
Total Travel trading loss (39) - (39 (5 144)
High Street trading profit 19 - 19 17 36
Group (loss)/profit from
trading operations (20) - (20 12 (8]
Unallacated central costs (19) - (19) - [19)
Headline Group operating
{loss)/profit (39 - (39 12 27
Non-underlying items ' - (49) 49 sl (65)
Group operating loss (39) (49} (88) {4) {92
2020
pre-IFRS 16 basis IFRS 16 basis
Headline, bedore Headline non-
nor-underlying items undertying ilems. Headlwne
fm tpre-IFRS 341 {pre-IFRS 14l lore-tFRS 161 IFRS 14 adjusiments Talal
Travel UK trading loss (1) - (| - (n
North Arnerica trading [toss)/profit (18 - (18] 4 (14)
Rest of the World trading (loss|/profit 4 - (14) 2 12)
Travel trading lloss)/profit (33t - (33) 4 (27}
High Street trading (lossl/profit {10l - (a) 6 (4
Group (loss)/profit fram
trading operations (43) - 43) 12 {31}
Unallocated centrat costs (17) - (17 - (7
Headline Group operating
(toss}/profit (501 - [60) 12 148)
Non-underlying itermns - (157) {157) (55) 1212)
Group operating loss 140) (+57) 217 {43 [260]
A3. Reconciliation of Headline to Statutory tax [credit)/expense
2021 2020
Headline IFRS 1é Headline IFRS 18
Em lore-1FRS 16} adjustments IFRS 14 lpe-RS J8)  adustments IFRS 36
Loss before tax and non-underlying items ' (55) 4 51 (69] 1 (]
Tax on loss — Standard rate of UK carporation tax - - - 5] - (51
{19.00%; 2020: 19.00%)} ' l
Adjustment in respect of prior years (1 - n f6) - (6l
Total current tax credit i 11l - ()] n - i
Deferred tax - current year | (13) 2 {11 (7 - (7
Deferred tax - prior year .‘ 4] - 4] 2 - 2
Deferred tax - adjustment in respect of change in tax rates ' (8 - (8 - - -
Tax on Headline [oss)/profit (26) 2 (24) (16) - REIN
Tax on nor-underlying tems - current tax ; - - - (5] (4} 9]
Tax on non-underlying items - deferred tax ' 9 (3) (L Fd] (13) i3) (1é)
Total tax on [loss}/profit (35} 1) {38 [34) {7 (41)

158 WH Srmuth PLC Annual Report and Accaunts 2021



A4. Calculation of Headline and Statutory loss per share

2071
pre-IFRS 14 basis IFRS 16 basis
Headline, before Headline non-
non-undertying tems underiying tems Headline IFRS 16
€m lpre-IFRS 14 Ipre-AFRS 18] Ipre-FRS 14 adjustments Total
Loss for the year, ' (a1 (40) (71 (11) (82}
attributable to equity holders ul the parent [N_otc AL '
Weighted average shares inissue for basic earnings 131 131
per share {Note 10)
Weighted average shares in issue for diuted earnings 131 m
per share (Note 10} .
Basic loss per share [pence} (23.7)p (30.5)p (54.2)p (B.4lp [62.6)p
Diluted loss per share (pencel ) 23.7lp (30.5)p (54.21p 8.4)p 62.6ip
2020
pre-IFRS 14 basis IFRS 14 basrs
Headline, before Headline non-
nan-underlying items undertying lems Headline IFRS 16
fm lpre-IFRS 146} Ypre-IFRS 16 [pre-IFRS 18] adjusiments Total
Loss for the year, (53) 1139) (192} (47 {239)
atiributable 10 equity holders of the parent (Naote Al)
Weighted average shares in issue for basic earnings 120 120
per share INote 10)
Weighied average shares in issue for diluted earnings 120 20
per share [Note 10] 2
Basic loss per share [pence) [44.21p (115.8lp 160.0lp (39.2lp 199.2p &
Diiuted loss per share [pence) [44.2)p 1115.8)p [1400lp 1392)p 199.2p =
g
A5, Fixed charges cover 3
z
£m Note fiizg] 2020
Headline net finance costs [pre-IFRS 14) Al 16 9
* Net operating lease rentals [pre-IFRS 14] ANl 151 210
Total fixed charges ‘ 147 219
Headline loss before tax and nen-underlying iterns At 155) 169)
Headline profit before tax, non-underlying items and fixed charges 112 150
Fixed charges cover - times 0.7x 0.7x
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Additional informatign

Glossary (unaudited) continued

Ab. Non-underlying items on pre-tFRS 16 and IFRS 16 bases

2621 2020

Headiine Headline
tm Ipre-iFRS 18] IFRS 16 fpre-IFRS 16! IFRS 14
Costs relating fo business combinations . ;
- Transaction costs ; - -£ 1 1
- integration costs ¢ z 2; 9 9
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets : 3 3 3 3
Pension past service cost - - 14 14
Costs directly attributable to Covid-19 .
~ Impairment of property. plant and equipment 18 14 54 39
= Impairment of intangible assets . - - 1 1
~ Impairment of right-of-use assets ) - 8 - 95
~ Other property cosls ; 5 - 25 -
- Wnrite-down of inventories F 5 5 14 14
~ Restructuring costs 9 ¢ 25 25
~ Costs associated with refinancing 6 6 - -
- QOther 1 i2) 1 1
Non-underlying items, before tax ¥ 49 &5 197 212
Tax credit on non-underlying items i (9 2y (18] (25]
Non-underiying items, after tax ' . 40 53 139 187

Non-underlying items on a pre-IFRS 16 basis are calculated on a consistent basis with IFRS 16, with the exception of the below items.

A tax credit of £12m has been recogrised in relation to the above items [E9m pre-IFRS 16).

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

The impairment charge recognised on a pre-IFRS 16 basis differs from that recognised under IFRS 16. This is mainly due to a lower
asset base pre-IFRS 16, coupled wilh lower expecied slore cash ftows, with rental expenses being included in the forecast cash flows
[treated a5 financing costs under IFRS 16), and a higher discount rate. The calculalion af the Group’s weighted average cost of capital
differs under IFRS 14 versus pre-IFRS 16. The pre-tax discount rate used in the IFRS 16 calculation was 10.4 per cent and the pre-tax
discount rate used in the pre-IFRS 14 calculation was 13.9 per cent.

Right-of-use assets are not recognised on a pre-IFRS 16 basis.

Other property costs

Other property cests on a pre-IFRS 16 basis include provisions for onerous lease contracts; on an IFRS 16 basis, onerous lease
contracts are recognised as an impairment of the right-of-use asset. As a result of the impact of Covid-19. the Group has carried out
a review of leases where the obligations of those leases exceed the potential econarnic benefils expected to be received under them.
We anticipate that a number of stores will nat fully recover to pre-Cavid- 19 sales tevels and have accelerated our internaf forecasts
for the rate of sales decline in those locations, As a result, we have recognised onerous provisions of £5m for stores where we now
anticipate we will make a cash loss over the remaining term of their leases.

The Group's pre-IFRS 16 property provisions represent the present value of unavoidable future net lease obligations and related costs
of leasehold property [net of estimated sublease income and adjusted for certain risk factors] where the space is vacant, loss-making
ar currently not planned to be used for ongoing operations. The unwinding of the discount is treated as an imputed interest charge.
These provisions represent the best estimate of the liability at the time of the balance sheet date, the actual liabitity being dependent
on future events such as econonic environment and marketplace demand. Expectations will be revised each period until the actual
Liability arises, with any difference accounted for in the period in which the revision is made.
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A7 Free cash flow

m 2021 2020
Cash generated from operating activities [Note 21) , 113 9%
Interest paid {13) {13
Net cash inflow from operating activities 100 81
Cash flow impact of IFRS 14 [Note A9) ; (83} [66]
Add back: 1
- Cash impact of non-underlying items 38 20
- Pension funding 3 3
Deduct:
- Purchase of property, plant and equipment 37 (671
- Purchase of intangible assets ‘ (7) 12
14 {a1]

Free cash flow

AB. Headline net debt 7
The table below shows Headline ret debt [pre-IFRS 16). This includes lease liabilities that were previously presented as finance leases
lapplying the principles of IAS 17), and Group accounting policies as applicable prior to 1 September 2019, described in the Glossary
on page 154, but excludes additianal lease liabilities recagnised on application of IFRS 16,

€m 2021 2020
Borrowings ; :

- Revolving credit facility . - -
- Convertible bonds 1283} -
- Bank loans 1132} [400)
- Lease liabilities INote 14) 1470) (559)
Liabilities from financing activities tegs) (959)
Cash and cash equivalents 130 108
Net debt (IFRS 14] (Note 19) : (755) 1851)
Add back lease liabilities recognised under IFRS 14! 4Lbd 350
Headline net debt {pre-IFRS 16) . ) 291) (301)

1 Excludestease liabiities prevmusly recagnised as finance leases on a pre-EFRS 14 basis.

A9. Cash flow disclosure impact of IFRS 14

There is no impact of IFRS 16 on cash flows. although the classitication of cash Hlows has changed with an increase in net cash
inflows from operating actwities being offset by a decrease in net cash inflows from fingacing activities.

wn 200
Headline IFRS 16 Headline IFRS 18
£m Ipre<FRS 16} adjustment IFR5 16 Ipre-IFRS 14 adpusiment IFRS 1§
Net cash inflows from operating activities v 17 83 100 15 &b 81
Net cash outflows from investing activities _ (43| - (43 (3951 - (395
Net cash inflows/[outflows] from financing activities ’ 48 {83) .35) 440 [&6] 374
Net increase in cash in the period ! 22 - 22. 40 - &0
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Additionalinformalian

Glossary (unaudited) continued

A10. Balance sheet impact of IFRS 16
The halance sheet as at 31 August 2021 including and excluding the impact of IFRS 16 is shown betow:

2 2020
Headline IFRS 18 Headune RS 14

£m |pre-IFRS 16) adjustment IFRS 14 [pre-FFRS 16) adusiment IFRS 16
Goodwill and other intangible assets ] 424 4] 473 - 495 12 493
Property. plant and eguiprment . 147 . 7. 174 190 2 192
Rignt-of-use assets ! - azs 3z’ - 413 413
Investments in joint veniures ! 2 - 2 2 - 2

. 643 334 977. 687 413 1,100
Inventories i 135 - 135 150 - 150
Payables less receivables . (237) 23 (214) (226] 43 (183}
Working capital i (102) 23 79 (78] 43 (331
Derivatve financial asset ' - - -. - - -
Net current and deferred tax asset ‘ 4b 10 56E 17 1" 28
Provisions . (28] 14 {14} (27} 13 (14)
Operating assets employed ) 559 | 940. 601 480 1.081
Net debt ! (2911 1464) (755) {301) (550) (851)
Net assets excluding pension liability . 268 (83) 185' 300 §70) 220
Pension liability ; 3 - 3 [4) - {4
Deferred tax asset on pension liability I 1 e 1 1 - 1
Total net assets ’ 266 (83) 183 297 {70) 227
A11. Operating lease expense
Amounts recognised in Headline Group operating profit an a pre-IFRS 16 basis are as follows:
e 221 020
Net operating lease charges i 151 210

In the prior year, the Group adapted IFRS 16. IFRS 14 requires lessees to account for all leases under a singte on-balance sheet madel
as the distinction between operating and finance leases is removed. In arder to provide comparable information the Group has chosen
to present Headline measures of operating profit/iloss] and profit/{loss| before tax, as explained in Note 2 segmental analysis.

The table above presents the pre-IFRS 16 net operating lease charges, applying the principles of IAS 17, and Group accounting policies
as applicable prier to 1 Septernber 2019, as described in the Glossary on page 194,

The Group leases various properties under non-cancellable operating lease agreements The leases have varying terms, escalation
clauses and renewsl nights. The Group has a number of lease arrangements in which the rent payable is contingent on revenue.
Contingent rentals payabie, based on stare revenues, are accrued in line with revenues generated.

The average remaining lease length across the Group 1s four years.

Rentals payable and recevable under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are atso spread on a straight-line
basis over the lease term,

Ternporary rent reductions due to Cavid-19, affecting rent payments due an or before June 2022, have been recognised in the Income
staterment in the period they are received.
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Information for shareholders

Company Secretary and registered office
lan Houghton, WH Smith PLC, Greenbridge Road, Swindon, Wiltshire SN3 3RX Telephone 01793 616161,

WH Smith PLC is registered in England and Wales [number 5202036].

Company website
This Annual report and accounts together with other information, including the price of the Company's shares, Stock Exchange
announcements and frequently asked questions, can be found on the WH Smith PLC website at whsmithplc.co.uk,

Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting will be held at the offices of Herbert Smith Freehills LLP, Exchange House, Primrose Street, London
EC2A 2EG on Wednesday 19 January 2022 at 11.30am. A separate notice convening the meeting is betng sent to shareholders and
includes explanatory rotes on each of the resotutions being proposed. At the time of writing, UK public health regulatiens and
guidance allow us to return to an in-persgn meeting this year, with sharehoiders physically able to attend the AGM should they wish
to de so. We will continue to review our AGM arrangements in tight of the latest government Covid-19 guidance, and therefore
shareholders are encouraged to monitor the AGM page of the Comnpany’s website whsmithplc co.ukfinvestors/shareholder-centre/

agm for any updates.

Shareholder enquiries - the registrars

All enguiries relating to shareholdings should be addressed to the registrars, Computershare Investor Services PLC, The Pavilions,
Bridgwater Road. Bristol BS99 622, You can call the registrars on the shareholder helptine 0371 495 0100 or visit their website at
investorcentre.co.uk. A textphone facility for shareholders with hearing ditficutties is available by tetephoning 0370 702 0005,

Sharedealing services

This can be done through a stockbroker, bank ar building society.

Computershare, our registrars. also offer share dezling services for shareholders [in certain jurisdictions). For internet dealing, .
log on to computershare.com/dealing/uk and for telephane dealing call 6370 703 0084. You will need to have your Shareholder
Reference Number [SRN] to hand when making this call. This can be found on your Form of Proxy or email noufication of availability of
AGM documents.

Please note that dealing fees will apply and will vary between providers.
Financial calendar

The following dates are given for information purposes only. Please check the WH Smith PLC website at whsmithple.co.uk
negrer the relevant time for full details, and to ensure that no changes have been made.

Financiat year end 31 August 2021
Preliminary results announced 11 Novemnber 2021
Annual report posted December 2021
AGM 19 January 2022
Christmas trading statement 19 January 2022
Half-year end 28 February 2022
Interim results anncunced April 2022
Trading stalement June 2022
Financial year end 31 August 2022

ShareGIFT

If you only have a small number of shares which are uneconomic to sell, you may wish to consider donating thern to charity under
ShareGIFT, a charity share donabion scheme administered by the Orr Mackintosh Foundation. A ShareGIFT transfer form may be
obtained from our registrar Further information 2bout the scheme can be found on the ShareGIFT website at sharegift.org.
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Additional information

Information for shareholders continued

Warning to shareholders - boiler room scams.

In recent years, many companies have become aware that their shareholders have received unsolicited phone calls or
correspondence concerning investment matiers. These are typically from overseas-based ‘brokers’ who target UK shareholders,
offering to sell them what often turn out to be worthless or high risk shares in US or UK investments. These cperations are commonly
known as boiler rooms’. Informatian on how ta avoid share fraud or report a scam can be found on our website at whsmithple.co.uk.
You can also call the Financial Conduct Authority Consumer Helpline on 0800 111 6768 or go to fca.org.uk/scamsmart.

UK Capitat Gains Tax

Demerger 31 August 2006

Following the demerger of the Cornpany on 31 August 2006, in order to calculate any chargeable gains or losses arising on the
disposal of shares after 31 August 2006, the original tax base cost of your ordinary shares of 2'Yaip {adjusted if you held your shares on
24 September 2004 and 22 May 1998 to take into account the capital reorganisations of 27 September 2004 and 26 May 1998
respectively [see belowl] will have 1o be apportioned between the shareholdings of ordinary shares of 20p in the Company and ordinary

shares of 5p in Smiths News PLC.

The cost of your sharehalding of ordinary shares of 20p in the Company is calculated by multiplying the original base cost of your
ordinary shares of 2%p [adjusted where necessary to take into account the capital reorganisations of 27 September 2004 and 26 May
1998 [see below)) by 0.69585.

The cost of your shareholding of ordinary shares of 5p is calculated by multiplying the onginal base cost of your ardinary shares of
2%ip ladjusted where necessary 1o take into accaunt the capital reorganisations of 27 September 2004 and 26 May 1998 (see befowl]
by 0.30415.

As a result of the share consolidation on 22 February 2008, the nominat value of the Company's ordinary shares increased from
20p per ordinary share to 22%/sp per ordinary share.

Capital reorganisation 27 September 2004

It you acquired your shareholding on or before 24 September 2004, in order to calculate any chargeable gains or losses arising on the
disposal of shares after 24 Septerber, the ariginal tax base cost of your ordinary shares of 55%p ladjusted if you held your shares on
22 May 1998 to take into account the capital reorganisation of 26 May 1998 (see below]) will have to be apportioned between the
shareholdings of ordinary shares of 2'%:p and 'C’” shares resulting from the capital reorganisation.

The cost of your shareholding of ordinary shares of 2'%:p is calculated by multiplying the ariginal base cost of your ordinary shares of
55%sp fadjusted where necessary to take into account the capital reorganisation of 26 May 1998 [see belowl) by 0.73979.

Capital reorganisation 26 May 1998

Ifyou acquired your sharehotding an or before 22 May 1998, in order to calculate any chargeable gains or losses arising en the
disposal of shares aiter 22 May 1998, the original tax base cost of your ordinary shares of 50p witt have la be apportioned between the
shareholdings of ordinary shares of 55%5p and regeemable ‘B’ shares resulting from the capital recrganisation.

The cost of your shareholding of ordinary shares of 55%p is calculated by multiplying the original cost of your erdinary shares of 50p
by 0.90714.

March 1982 values
If you acquired your shareholding on or before 31 March 1982, ir arder Lo calculate any chargeakle gains or losses arising on disposal
of shares, the tax base cost of your ordinary shares used the 31 March 1982 base values per share as follaws:

Arising lrom an ariginal
sharehelding of '8°

'K ordinary shares ordinary shares
Ordinary shares of 20p 61.62p 5092p
Smiths News PLC ordinary shares of 5p 76.93p 22.25p

If you have a complicated tax position, or are otherwise in doubt about your tax circumstances, or +#f you are subject to taxina
Jurisdiction ather than the UK, you should consult your professional adviser:

‘Campany’ means WH Smith PLC, a public imited company incorperated in England and Wales with registered nurnber 520203¢;
and ‘Greup’ means the Company and its subsidiaries and subsidiary undertakings.
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Contact details

WH Smith PLC
Greenbridge Road
Swindon, Wiltshire SN3 3RX
United Kingdem

T 01793616143

W whsmithple.co.uk

WHSmith Travel

133 Houndsdilch
London EC34 78X
Uniled Kingdom

T 0203981 0900

W whsmithplc co.uk

WHSmith High Street
Greenbridge Road

Swindan, Wiltshire SN3 3L0
United Kingdom

T 01793 616161

W whsmith.co.uk

Investor Relations
T 02039811285
W whsmithpic.co.uk/investors

Media Relations
T D1793553354
W whsmithple.co.uk/media

Sustainability
W whsmithplc.co.uk/sustainability

Recruitment
W whsmithcareers.coluk

Customer Service

Freepost SCE4410

Swindon, Wiltshire SN3 3XS

United Kingdom

T 0793616161
customer.relations@whsmilh.co.uk
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